
 

NOTICE: Persons with disabilities needing accommodations for effective participation in this meeting should 
contact the City Clerk at (248) 524-3316 or via e-mail at clerk@troymi.gov at least two working days in 
advance of the meeting. An attempt will be made to make reasonable accommodations. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

TROY CITY COUNCIL 
 
 

REGULAR MEETING 
AGENDA 

 
 
 

OCTOBER 7, 2013 
CONVENING AT 7:30 P.M. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Submitted By 
The City Manager 

mailto:clerk@troymi.gov�




 

 

 
 
TO:   The Honorable Mayor and City Council 
   Troy, Michigan 
 
FROM:  Brian Kischnick, City Manager 
 
SUBJECT:  Background Information and Reports 
 
Ladies and Gentlemen: 
 
This booklet provides a summary of the many reports, communications and 
recommendations that accompany your agenda.  Also included are suggested 
or requested resolutions and/or ordinances for your consideration and 
possible adoption. 
 
Supporting materials transmitted with this Agenda have been prepared by 
department directors and staff members.  I am indebted to them for their 
efforts to provide insight and professional advice for your consideration. 
 
As always, we are happy to provide such added information as your 
deliberations may require. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
Brian Kischnick, City Manager 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

 

 
VISION: 
To honor the legacy of the past and build a strong, vibrant future and be an 
attractive place to live, work, and grow a business. 
 
GOALS: 
Provide a safe, clean, and livable city 
 Practice good stewardship of infrastructure  
 Maintain high quality professional community oriented police and fire protection 
 Conserve resources in an environmentally responsible manner 
 Encourage development toward a walkable, livable community 
 
Provide effective and efficient local government 

 Demonstrate excellence in community services 
 Maintain fiscally sustainable government 
 Attract and support a committed and innovative workforce 
 Develop and maintain efficiencies with internal and external partners 
 Conduct city business and engage in public policy formation in a clear and 

transparent manner 
 
Build a sense of community 
 Communicate internally and externally in a timely and accurate manner 
 Develop platforms for transparent, deliberative and meaningful community 

conversations 
 Involve all stakeholders in communication and engagement activities 
 Encourage volunteerism and new methods for community involvement 
 Implement the connectedness of community outlines in the Master Plan 2008 
 
Attract and retain business investment 
 Clearly articulate an economic development plan 
 Create an inclusive, entrepreneurial culture internally and externally 
 Clarify, reduce and streamline investment hurdles 
 Consistently enhance the synergy between existing businesses and growing 

economic sectors 
 Market the advantages of living and working in Troy through partnerships 

 

TROY CITY COUNCIL 
 

VISION STATEMENT AND GOALS 
Adopted: Monday, February 7, 2011 

 



 

 

 

 

 
CITY COUNCIL 

AGENDA 
October 7, 2013 – 7:30 PM 

Council Chambers 
City Hall - 500 West Big Beaver 

Troy, Michigan 48084 
(248) 524-3317 

INVOCATION:  Pastor Stephen Husava from Northfield Hills Baptist Church 1 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE: 1 

A. CALL TO ORDER: 1 

B. ROLL CALL: 1 

C. CERTIFICATES OF RECOGNITION AND SPECIAL PRESENTATIONS: 1 

C-1 Troy Community Coalition Executive Director Nancy Morrison Will Present 
Information on the Troy Community Coalition’s Upcoming Programs (Introduced 
by:  Cindy Stewart, Community Affairs Director) 1 

C-2 2013 MPERLA Award Recognizing Peggy Sears (Introduced by:  Mayor Dane 
Slater) 1 

C-3 2013 Distinguished Citizen Proclamation Recognizing Cindy Stewart, Community 
Affairs Director (Introduced by:  Mayor Dane Slater) 1 

C-4 Troy Historical Society will Present Their 2013 Strategic Plan for the Troy 
Historical Village (Presented by:  Loraine Campbell and David Zuza) 1 

C-5 Transit Center Status Report – October 2013 (Introduced by:  Steve Vandette, 
City Engineer) 2 

D. CARRYOVER ITEMS: 2 

D-1 No Carryover Items 2 



 

 

E. PUBLIC HEARINGS: 2 

E-1 Adoption of Brownfield Redevelopment Plan #6 for MJR Troy Grand – 100 E. 
Maple Road 2 

F. PUBLIC COMMENT FOR ITEMS ON THE AGENDA: 4 

G. CITY COUNCIL/CITY ADMINISTRATION RESPONSE/REPLY TO PUBLIC 
COMMENT: 5 

H. POSTPONED ITEMS: 5 

H-1 No Postponed Items 5 

I. REGULAR BUSINESS: 5 

I-1 Board and Committee Appointments: a) Mayoral Appointments – Downtown 
Development Authority; b) City Council Appointments – None 5 

I-2 Board and Committee Nominations: a) Mayoral Nominations – Downtown 
Development Authority; b) City Council Nominations –Parks and Recreation Board 6 

I-3 Request for Closed Session 9 

I-4 Request for Joint City Council/Planning Commission Meeting - November 26, 
2013 9 

J. CONSENT AGENDA: 10 

J-1a Approval of “J” Items NOT Removed for Discussion 10 

J-1b  Address of “J” Items Removed for Discussion by City Council 10 

J-2  Approval of City Council Minutes 10 

a) City Council Meeting Minutes-Draft – September 23, 2013 ................................ 10 

J-3 Proposed City of Troy Proclamations: 10 

a) 2013 Distinguished Citizen Proclamation Recognizing Cindy Stewart, 
Community Affairs Director ................................................................................. 10 



 

 

J-4 Standard Purchasing Resolutions: 10 

a) Standard Purchasing Resolution 1:  Award to Low Bidder – Electrical 
Services at City Hall ........................................................................................... 10 

J-5 Fireworks Permit – Macy’s at Oakland Mall 11 

J-6 Traffic Committee Recommendations and Minutes – September 18, 2013 11 

J-7 Private Agreement – Contract for Installation of Municipal Improvements – Adria 
Estates Site Condominium – Project No. 13.914.3 11 

K. MEMORANDUMS AND FUTURE COUNCIL AGENDA ITEMS: 12 

K-1 Announcement of Public Hearings:  None Submitted 12 

K-2 Memorandums (Items submitted to City Council that may require consideration at  
some future point in time):  None Submitted 12 

L. PUBLIC COMMENT FOR ITEMS NOT ON THE AGENDA: 12 

M. COUNCIL REFERRALS: 12 

M-1  No Council Referrals Advanced 12 

N. COUNCIL COMMENTS: 12 

N-1  No Council Comments Advanced 12 

O. REPORTS: 12 

O-1 Minutes – Boards and Committees: 12 

a) Zoning Board of Appeals-Final – July 16, 2013 .................................................. 12 
b) Traffic Committee-Final – July 17, 2013 ............................................................. 12 
c) Election Commission-Final – September 9, 2013 .............................................. 12 
d) Planning Commission-Draft – September 10, 2013 ........................................... 12 
e) Planning Commission-Final – September 10, 2013 ........................................... 12 
f) Zoning Board of Appeals-Draft – September 17, 2013 ...................................... 12 
g) Election Commission-Draft – September 26, 2013 ............................................ 12 

O-2 Department Reports: 12 



 

 

a) Transit Center Status Report – October 2013 .................................................... 12 

O-3 Letters of Appreciation:  None Submitted 12 

O-4 Proposed Proclamations/Resolutions from Other Organizations:  None Submitted 12 

O-5 Notice of Hearing for the Electric Customers of DTE Electric Company Case No. 
U-17322 13 

P. STUDY ITEMS: 13 

P-1  No Study Items 13 

Q. CLOSED SESSION: 13 

Q-1 Closed Session 13 

R. ADJOURNMENT: 13 

FUTURE CITY COUNCIL PUBLIC HEARINGS: 14 

SCHEDULED REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETINGS: 14 

Monday, October 21, 2013 Regular Meeting ......................................................... 14 
Monday, November 11, 2013 Regular Meeting ..................................................... 14 
Monday, November 25, 2013 Regular Meeting ..................................................... 14 
Monday, December 2, 2013 Regular Meeting ....................................................... 14 
Monday, December 16, 2013 Regular Meeting ..................................................... 14 

SCHEDULED SPECIAL CITY COUNCIL MEETINGS: 14 



CITY COUNCIL AGENDA October 7, 2013 
 

- 1 - 

INVOCATION:  Pastor Stephen Husava from Northfield Hills Baptist Church 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE:   

A. CALL TO ORDER: 

B. ROLL CALL: 
a)  Mayor Dane Slater 

Jim Campbell 
Wade Fleming 
Dave Henderson 
Maureen McGinnis 
Ed Pennington 
Doug Tietz 

 
b) Excuse Absent Council Members: 

 
Suggested Resolution 
Resolution #2013-10-      
Moved by       
Seconded by       
 
RESOLVED, That Troy City Council hereby EXCUSES the absence of            at the 
Regular City Council Meeting of October 7, 2013, due to           . 
 
Yes:       
No:       
Absent:       

C. CERTIFICATES OF RECOGNITION AND SPECIAL PRESENTATIONS:  
C-1 Troy Community Coalition Executive Director Nancy Morrison Will Present 

Information on the Troy Community Coalition’s Upcoming Programs (Introduced 
by:  Cindy Stewart, Community Affairs Director) 

 
C-2 2013 MPERLA Award Recognizing Peggy Sears (Introduced by:  Mayor Dane 

Slater) 
 
C-3 2013 Distinguished Citizen Proclamation Recognizing Cindy Stewart, Community 

Affairs Director (Introduced by:  Mayor Dane Slater) 
 
C-4 Troy Historical Society will Present Their 2013 Strategic Plan for the Troy 

Historical Village (Presented by:  Loraine Campbell and David Zuza) 
 



CITY COUNCIL AGENDA October 7, 2013 
 

- 2 - 

C-5 Transit Center Status Report – October 2013 (Introduced by:  Steve Vandette, City 
Engineer) 

 

D. CARRYOVER ITEMS: 
D-1 No Carryover Items 

E. PUBLIC HEARINGS: 
E-1 Adoption of Brownfield Redevelopment Plan #6 for MJR Troy Grand – 100 E. Maple 

Road 
 
Resolution A 
 
Suggested Resolution 
Resolution #2013-10-      
Moved by       
Seconded by       
 
WHEREAS, MJR Group, LLC intends to demolish and redevelop the vacant former Kmart 
Department Store and site, located at 100 E. Maple Road, with a new digital movie theater 
complex; and 
 
WHEREAS, The $16 million project will include a 74,000 square foot theater building with 16 
screens, a lobby area, concessions, and bar area along with site improvements of new asphalt, 
sidewalks, and landscaping surrounding the theater building; and  
 
WHEREAS, Approximately 70 new jobs are expected to be created serving 800,000 patrons 
annually; and 
 
WHEREAS, Demolition of the existing building will require certain environmental remediation 
activities; and 
 
WHEREAS, The City established the City of Troy Brownfield Redevelopment Authority (TBRA) 
pursuant to the Brownfield Redevelopment Financing Act, Michigan Public Act 381 of 1996, 
and as amended to promote the revitalization of environmentally distressed and blighted areas 
within the boundaries of the City of Troy; and 
 
WHEREAS, The Troy Brownfield Redevelopment Authority provides project assistance through 
its Local Site Remediation Revolving Fund (LSRRF) and through the reimbursement of eligible 
activities through tax increment financing; and 
 
WHEREAS, For the MJR Troy Grand project, the LSRRF would reimburse the cost of Due 
Care Activities, Demolition and associated activities, and the preparation of the Brownfield Plan 
in the total amount of $498,079.  The LSRRF would subsequently be reimbursed from tax 
increment financing revenues, based on the increased value of the redeveloped property, over 
the estimated eight-year payback period; and  
 



CITY COUNCIL AGENDA October 7, 2013 
 

- 3 - 

WHEREAS, Tax increment financing revenues would also reimburse the cost of the 
Environmental Site Assessments and Brownfield Plan Application Fee in the total amount of 
$11,585; and 
 
WHEREAS, That the Troy Brownfield Redevelopment Authority recommended to the City 
Council at its August 27, 2013 Special Meeting that the Brownfield Redevelopment Plan #6 for 
the proposed MJR Troy Grand located at 100 East Maple Road, Troy, Michigan, be approved 
and that the LSRRF loan shall require collateral and may include a financial guarantee from 
MJR Group, LLC or lien rights from the subject property. 
 
THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, That Troy City Council hereby APPROVES Version B of 
Brownfield Redevelopment Plan #6 - MJR Troy Grand located at 100 East Maple Road – not 
including the capture of tax increment revenue for an additional five years to continue building 
up the LSRRF;   
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, That Troy City Council HAS DETERMINED that the Brownfield 
Redevelopment Plan #6 Version B constitutes a public purpose under the Brownfield 
Redevelopment Financing Act, Michigan Public Act 381 of 1996 (MCL 125.2651) and as 
amended;  
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, That Troy City Council has REVIEWED the proposed 
Brownfield Redevelopment Plan #6 Version B, which provides the information that is statutorily 
required for Brownfield Plans, as set forth in Section 13 of the Brownfield Redevelopment 
Financing Act, Michigan Public Act 381 of 1996 (MCL 125.2663) and as amended;  
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, That Troy City Council has REVIEWED proposed Brownfield 
Redevelopment Plan #6 Version B, which details a proposed method of financing the costs of 
eligible activities, and FINDS that the method of financing is reasonable and in furtherance of 
the purposes of the Brownfield Redevelopment Financing Act, Michigan Public Act 381 of 1996 
and as amended;  
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, That Troy City Council has REVIEWED the estimated costs of 
the eligible activities, which are included in Brownfield Redevelopment Plan #6 Version B, and 
HAS DETERMINED that these costs are reasonable and in furtherance of the purposes of the 
Brownfield Redevelopment Financing Act, Michigan Public Act 381 of 1996 and as amended;  
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, That Troy City Council has REVIEWED the estimated amount 
of captured taxable value that would result from the adoption or approval of Brownfield 
Redevelopment Plan #6 Version B, and HAS DETERMINED that the amounts are reasonable; 
and 
 
BE IT FINALLY RESOLVED, That Troy City Council hereby AUTHORIZES the Mayor and City 
Clerk to execute the Agreement for Brownfield Redevelopment Plan #6 Version B - not 
including the capture of tax increment revenue for an additional five years to continue building 
up the LSRRF. 
 
Yes:       
No:       
Absent:       



CITY COUNCIL AGENDA October 7, 2013 
 

- 4 - 

 
Resolution B:  5-Year Extension of Tax Capture 
 
Suggested Resolution 
Resolution #2013-10-      
Moved by       
Seconded by       
 
WHEREAS, Troy City Council has approved Version B of Brownfield Redevelopment Plan #6 – 
MJR Troy Grand located at 100 East Maple Road – at its October 7, 2013 meeting;  
 
BE IT RESOLVED, That Troy City Council hereby APPROVES extending the capture of tax 
increment revenue for Brownfield Redevelopment Plan #6 Version B - MJR Troy Grand located 
at 100 East Maple Road – for an additional five years to continue building the LSRRF (as 
reflected in Version A). 
 
Yes:       
No:       
Absent:       

F. PUBLIC COMMENT FOR ITEMS ON THE AGENDA: 
In accordance with the Rules of Procedure for the City Council, Article 17 – Members of 
the Public and Visitors: 
Any person not a member of the City Council may address the Council with recognition of the 
Chair, after clearly stating the nature of his/her inquiry or comment. City Council requests that if 
you do have a question or concern, to bring it to the attention of the appropriate department(s) 
whenever possible. If you feel that the matter has not been resolved satisfactorily, you are 
encouraged to bring it to the attention of the City Manager, and if still not resolved satisfactorily, to 
the Mayor and Council. 

• Petitioners shall be given a fifteen (15) minute presentation time that may be extended with 
the majority consent of City Council. 

• Any member of the public, not a petitioner of an item, shall be allowed to speak for up to 
three (3) minutes to address any Public Hearing item. 

• Any member of the public, not a petitioner of an item, shall be allowed to speak for up to 
three (3) minutes total to address Postponed, Regular Business, Consent Agenda or Study 
items or any other item on the Agenda as permitted under the Open Meetings Act during the 
Public Comment for Items On the Agenda portion of the Agenda. 

• Any member of the public, not a petitioner of an item, shall be allowed to speak for up to 
three (3) minutes to address any topic not on the Agenda as permitted under the Open 
Meetings Act during the Public Comment for Items Not on the Agenda portion of the 
Agenda. 

• All members of the public who wish to address the Council at a meeting shall be allowed to 
speak only if they have signed up to speak within thirty minutes before or within fifteen 
minutes after the meeting’s start time. Signing up to speak requires each speaker provide 
his or her name and residency status (Troy resident, non-resident, or Troy business owner). 
If the speaker is addressing an Item (or Items) that appear on the pre-printed agenda, then 
the speaker shall also identify each such agenda item number(s) to be addressed. 



CITY COUNCIL AGENDA October 7, 2013 
 

- 5 - 

• City Council may waive the requirements of this section by a majority vote of the City 
Council members. 

• Agenda items that are related to topics where there is significant public input anticipated 
should initiate the scheduling of a Special meeting for that specific purpose. 

The following has been approved by Troy City Council as a statement of the rules of decorum for 
City Council meetings. The Mayor will also provide a verbal notification of these rules prior to 
Public Comment: 
 

The audience should be aware that all comments are to be directed to the Council rather 
than to City Administration or the audience. Anyone who wishes to address the Council is 
required to sign up to speak within thirty minutes before or within fifteen minutes of the start 
of the meeting. There are two Public Comment portions of the Agenda. For Items On the 
Agenda, speakers can sign up to address Postponed, Regular Business, Consent Agenda, 
or Study items or any other item on the Agenda. Speakers can sign up to address all other 
topics under Items Not on the Agenda.  Also, there is a timer on the City Council table in 
front of the Mayor that turns yellow when there is one minute of speaker time remaining, and 
turns red when the speaker's time is up.    
 
In order to make the meeting more orderly and out of respect, please do not clap during the 
meeting, and please do not use expletives or make derogatory or disparaging comments 
about any one person or group.  If you do so, then there may be immediate consequences, 
including having the microphone turned off, being asked to leave the meeting, and/or the 
deletion of speaker comments for any re-broadcast of the meeting.  Speakers should also be 
careful to avoid saying anything that would subject them to civil liability, such as slander and 
defamation.   
 
Please avoid these consequences and voluntarily assist us in maintaining the decorum 
befitting this great City. 
 

G. CITY COUNCIL/CITY ADMINISTRATION RESPONSE/REPLY TO PUBLIC 
COMMENT: 

H. POSTPONED ITEMS: 
H-1 No Postponed Items 
 

I. REGULAR BUSINESS: 
I-1 Board and Committee Appointments: a) Mayoral Appointments – Downtown 

Development Authority; b) City Council Appointments – None 
 
a) Mayoral Appointments:  Downtown Development Authority 
 



CITY COUNCIL AGENDA October 7, 2013 
 

- 6 - 

Suggested Resolution 
Resolution #2013-10- 
Moved by 
Seconded by 
 
RESOLVED, That the Mayor of the City of Troy hereby APPOINTS the following nominated 
person(s) to serve on the Boards and Committees as indicated:   

 
 

Downtown Development Authority 
Appointed by Mayor 
13 Regular Members 

4 Year Term 
 
 

Term Expires:  9/30/2017 Albert Papa (At Large) 
 Term currently held by: Albert Papa 
 

Yes:       
No:       
Absent:       
 
b) City Council Appointments:  None 
 
I-2 Board and Committee Nominations: a) Mayoral Nominations – Downtown 

Development Authority; b) City Council Nominations –Parks and Recreation Board 
 
a) Mayoral Nominations:   
 
Suggested Resolution 
Resolution #2013-10- 
Moved by 
Seconded by 
 
RESOLVED, That the Mayor of the City of Troy hereby FORWARDS the following nominated 
person(s) to serve on the Boards and Committees as indicated to the next Regular City 
Council Meeting for action:  
 
 

Downtown Development Authority 
Appointed by Mayor 
13 Regular Members 

4 Year Term 
 

Current Members: 

Last Name First Name App Resume 
Expire 

Appointment 
Expire Notes 1 Notes 2 

Bostick Dennis 1/31/2015 9/30/2016 In District  



CITY COUNCIL AGENDA October 7, 2013 
 

- 7 - 

Hay David 11/16/2013 9/30/2015 In District  
Jonna Arkan 10/22/2014 9/30/2016 In District  
Keisling Laurence 5/25/2014 9/30/2016 At Large  
Kiriluk Alan 10/12/2014 9/30/2016 In District  
Knight P. Terry 1/4/2014 9/30/2015 At Large Personnel Bd. exp 4/30/2015 
MacLeish Daniel 5/26/2014 9/30/2016 In District  
Papa Albert 8/5/2015 9/30/2013 At Large Requests Reappointment 
Randol Ward 10/12/2013 9/30/2014 In District  
Reschke Ernest 9/21/2012 9/30/2014 At Large  
Schroeder Douglas 9/30/2012 9/30/2014 At Large  
Slater Dane   At Large Mayor 
Vacancy   9/30/2015 In District Earle Van Dyke resigned. 

 

 
Nominations to the Downtown Development Authority: 
 
Term Expires:  9/30/2015  (In District) 
 Term currently held by: Vacant (Earle Van Dyke resigned) 
 
Interested Applicants: 

Last Name First Name App Resume 
Expire Notes 2 

Hoef Paul V. 11/21/2013 EDC exp 4/30/2015; LDFA exp 6/30/2015 
Howrylak Frank 2/1/2014 Charter Rev. Comm exp 4/30/2014 
Kempen Edward 2/1/2014 Planning Comm exp 12/31/2013 
Knight Barbara 1/4/2014 EDC exp 4/30/2015 
Kornacki Rosemary 11/15/2013 Brownfield exp 4/30/2014 
Mallin Aaron 10/10/2013  
Sawyer Jr. Thomas 12/11/2014 Municipal Bldg Auth exp 1/31/2013 
Schultz Robert 11/11/2013 Planning Comm exp 12/31/2014 
Swartz Robert 2/12/2015 Brownfield exp 4/30/2014; EDC exp 4/30/2018 
Vassallo Joseph 12/6/2013 Brownfield exp 4/30/2015 
Wilberding Bruce 2/8/2014 Brownfield exp 4/30/2016 

 

 
Yes:       
No:       
Absent:       
 
b) City Council Nominations:   
 



CITY COUNCIL AGENDA October 7, 2013 
 

- 8 - 

Suggested Resolution 
Resolution #2013-10- 
Moved by 
Seconded by 
 
RESOLVED, That Troy City Council hereby FORWARDS the following nominated person(s) 
to serve on the Boards and Committees as indicated to the next Regular City Council 
Meeting for action: 
 

Parks and Recreation Board 
Appointed by Council 

7 Regular Members and 1 Troy School Board Member: 
Regular Member: 3 Year Term  /  Troy School Board Member: 1 Year Term 

 
Current Members: 

Last Name First Name App Resume 
Expire 

Appointment 
Expire Notes 2 

Anderson Carol    
Fejes Kathleen 9/30/2012 9/30/2013 No Reappointment 
Gazetti Tod 9/14/2012 9/30/2013 No Reappointment 
Hauff Gary 2/6/2014 7/31/2014  
Huber Laurie 2/8/2014 9/30/2015  
Kaltsounis Orestis (Rusty 1/20/2014 9/30/2015 ZBA (Alt) exp 1/31/2015 
Kovacs Meaghan 3/25/2010 9/30/2014  
Stewart Jeffrey L. 6/27/2015 9/30/2016 Requests Reappointment 
Yelamanchi Aditya 6/5/2014 7/31/2013 Student 
Zikakis Janice 11/11/2013 9/30/2014  

 

 
Nominations to the Parks and Recreation Board: 
 
Term Expires:  9/30/2016  
 Term currently held by: Kathleen Fejes 
 
Term Expires:  9/30/2016  
 Term currently held by: Tod Gazetti 
   
Term Expires:  7/31/2014  
 Term currently held by: Aditya Yelamanchi 
 
Interested Applicants: 

Last Name First Name App Resume 
Expire Notes 2 

Baker Julia (Judy) 5/7/2015  



CITY COUNCIL AGENDA October 7, 2013 
 

- 9 - 

Boudon Frank 5/15/2015 STUDENT - Planning Comm. exp 7/31/2014 
Brandstetter Tim 5/1/2015 Traffic Comm. exp 1/31/2015 
Gauri Kul B. 11/22/2013  
Howrylak Frank 2/1/2015 Charter Revision Comm. exp 4/30/2014 
Knight P. Terry 1/4/2014 DDA exp 9/30/2015; Personnel Bd. exp 4/30/2015 
Rosenberg Michael 4/19/2015  
Steele John 9/27/2013 Civil Service Comm. exp 4/30/2014 
Toth Steve 10/3/2013 ACAB exp 9/30/2014 
Viola Vincent 11/16/2013  

 

 
Yes:       
No:       
Absent:       
 
I-3 Request for Closed Session 
 
Suggested Resolution 
Resolution #2013-10-      
Moved by       
Seconded by       
 
RESOLVED, That Troy City Council SHALL MEET in Closed Session pursuant to 
MCL15.268(h) (MCL15.243(g)). 
 
Yes:       
No:       
Absent:       
 
I-4 Request for Joint City Council/Planning Commission Meeting - November 26, 2013 
 
Suggested Resolution 
Resolution #2013-10-      
Moved by       
Seconded by       
 
RESOLVED, That Troy City Council hereby SCHEDULES a joint meeting between the Troy 
City Council and the Troy Planning Commission for Tuesday, November 26, 2013 from 6:00 
PM to 7:00 PM in the Council Board Room, 500 W. Big Beaver, Troy, MI 48084 for the purpose 
of discussing the following topics: 
 

1. City of Troy Master Plan amendments 
2. Infill development, including residential 
3. Big Beaver Road development not meeting increased density 
4. Sober Living Facilities 
5. Maximum building height in GB General Business District 



CITY COUNCIL AGENDA October 7, 2013 
 

- 10 - 

6. Other 
 
Yes:       
No:       
Absent:       

J. CONSENT AGENDA: 
J-1a Approval of “J” Items NOT Removed for Discussion 
 
Suggested Resolution 
Resolution #2013-10-      
Moved by       
Seconded by       
 
RESOLVED, That Troy City Council hereby APPROVES all items on the Consent Agenda as 
presented with the exception of Item(s)           , which shall be CONSIDERED after 
Consent Agenda (J) items, as printed. 
 
Yes:       
No:       
Absent:       
 
J-1b  Address of “J” Items Removed for Discussion by City Council  
 
J-2  Approval of City Council Minutes 
 
Suggested Resolution 
Resolution #2013-10-      
 
RESOLVED, That Troy City Council hereby APPROVES the following Minutes as submitted: 
 
a) City Council Meeting Minutes-Draft – September 23, 2013 
 
J-3 Proposed City of Troy Proclamations:   
a) 2013 Distinguished Citizen Proclamation Recognizing Cindy Stewart, Community Affairs 

Director 
 
J-4 Standard Purchasing Resolutions:   
 
a) Standard Purchasing Resolution 1:  Award to Low Bidder – Electrical Services at 

City Hall 
 
Suggested Resolution 
Resolution #2013-10-      
 
RESOLVED, That Troy City Council hereby AWARDS a contract to install new electrical 
services including cable and conduit to City Hall to the low total bidder, Corby Energy Services, 



CITY COUNCIL AGENDA October 7, 2013 
 

- 11 - 

Inc. of Belleville, MI, for an estimated total amount of $99,425.00 at unit prices contained in the 
bid tabulation opened September 5, 2013, a copy of which shall be ATTACHED to the original 
Minutes of this meeting. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, That the award is CONTINGENT upon the contractor’s 
submission of properly executed bid and contract documents, including Insurance Certificates, 
Performance, Labor and Material Bonds, Maintenance Bonds and all other specified 
requirements. 
 
J-5 Fireworks Permit – Macy’s at Oakland Mall 
 
Suggested Resolution 
Resolution #2013-10-      
 
RESOLVED, That Troy City Council hereby ISSUES a fireworks permit to Macy’s, located at 500 
W. Fourteen Mile Rd., for the use of fireworks at its annual holiday shopping kick-off on Friday 
November 1, 2013.  
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, That the Troy City Council hereby DIRECTS the Troy Fire 
Department to inspect the fireworks to be used along with the site to assure compliance with 
applicable codes and standards for such a fireworks display, and take the necessary precautions 
to ensure safety. 
 
J-6 Traffic Committee Recommendations and Minutes – September 18, 2013 
 
Suggested Resolution 
Resolution #2013-10-      
 
Item #5 – Establish Fire Lanes at 2000-2050 West Big Beaver 

 
RESOLVED, That the Traffic Committee RECOMMENDS establishing fire lanes at 2000-2050 
West Big Beaver Road.   
 
Item #6 – Establish Fire Lanes at 2001 W. Maple Road 
 
RESOLVED, That the Traffic Committee RECOMMENDS establishing fire lanes at 2001 West 
Maple Road.   
 
Item #7 – Establish Fire Lanes at 1305 Stephenson Highway 
 
RESOLVED, That the Traffic Committee RECOMMENDS establishing fire lanes at 1305 
Stephenson Highway.   
 
J-7 Private Agreement – Contract for Installation of Municipal Improvements – Adria 

Estates Site Condominium – Project No. 13.914.3 
 
Suggested Resolution 
Resolution #2013-10-      



CITY COUNCIL AGENDA October 7, 2013 
 

- 12 - 

 
RESOLVED, That the Contract for the Installation of Municipal Improvements (Private 
Agreement) between the City of Troy and Mondrian Properties, is hereby APPROVED for the 
installation of Sanitary Sewer, Storm Sewer, Water Main, Concrete Pavement and Sidewalks, 
and the Mayor and City Clerk are AUTHORIZED to execute the documents, a copy of which 
shall be ATTACHED to the original Minutes of this meeting. 
 

K. MEMORANDUMS AND FUTURE COUNCIL AGENDA ITEMS: 
K-1 Announcement of Public Hearings:  None Submitted 
 
K-2 Memorandums (Items submitted to City Council that may require consideration at 
 some future point in time):  None Submitted 
 

L. PUBLIC COMMENT FOR ITEMS NOT ON THE AGENDA: 

M. COUNCIL REFERRALS:  
Items Advanced to the City Manager by Individual City Council Members for 
Placement on the Agenda 

M-1  No Council Referrals Advanced 
 

N. COUNCIL COMMENTS: 
N-1  No Council Comments Advanced 
 

O. REPORTS: 
O-1 Minutes – Boards and Committees:   
a) Zoning Board of Appeals-Final – July 16, 2013 
b) Traffic Committee-Final – July 17, 2013 
c) Election Commission-Final – September 9, 2013  
d) Planning Commission-Draft – September 10, 2013 
e) Planning Commission-Final – September 10, 2013 
f) Zoning Board of Appeals-Draft – September 17, 2013 
g) Election Commission-Draft – September 26, 2013  
 
O-2 Department Reports:   
a) Transit Center Status Report – October 2013 
 
O-3 Letters of Appreciation:  None Submitted 
 
O-4 Proposed Proclamations/Resolutions from Other Organizations:  None Submitted 
 



CITY COUNCIL AGENDA October 7, 2013 
 

- 13 - 

O-5 Notice of Hearing for the Electric Customers of DTE Electric Company Case No. U-
17322 

 

P. STUDY ITEMS: 
P-1  No Study Items 
 

Q. CLOSED SESSION:  

Q-1 Closed Session 
 

R. ADJOURNMENT: 

Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
 
 
Brian Kischnick, City Manager 



CITY COUNCIL AGENDA October 7, 2013 
 

- 14 - 

 

FUTURE CITY COUNCIL PUBLIC HEARINGS: 
 
 

SCHEDULED REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETINGS: 
Monday, October 21, 2013 ............................................................................... Regular Meeting 
Monday, November 11, 2013 ........................................................................... Regular Meeting 
Monday, November 25, 2013 ........................................................................... Regular Meeting 
Monday, December 2, 2013 ............................................................................. Regular Meeting 
Monday, December 16, 2013 ........................................................................... Regular Meeting 

 

SCHEDULED SPECIAL CITY COUNCIL MEETINGS: 
 



stewartc
Text Box
C-01













PROCLAMATION IN RECOGNITION OF 
CINDY STEWART 

TROY’S DISTINGUISHED CITIZEN FOR 2013 
 
WHEREAS, Cindy Stewart has built a solid reputation as being a committed volunteer, serving many organizations with an 
enthusiasm and dedication that is respected by all who know her; and 
 
WHEREAS, One of the most important aspects in Cindy’s life is her family, husband Jeff (they celebrated 40 years in 
March), sons Jeff and Jason; daughters-in-law Cheryl and Heather; and grandchildren Calvin, Hailey, Nickolas and 
Olivia. Cindy and Jeff have been Troy residents for 15 years, since Cindy was hired as the Community Affairs Director; and  
 
WHEREAS, Cindy’s volunteer efforts in our community began with the Boys & Girls Club of Troy in 2000 when she became 
a volunteer on the Taste of Troy committee. She was recruited to be a member of the Boys & Girls Club Board of Directors in 
2005 and has served as Vice President in 2008 & 2009 and President of the Board of Directors in 2010 & 2011.  Cindy has 
been the Chairperson for the Taste of Troy event, the Club’s largest fundraiser, since 2002; and 
 
WHEREAS, Cindy was a Courageous Persuaders volunteer from 2001-2005, working to assist with Judge Michael 
Martone’s program where high school students produced 30 second commercials teaching middle school students about the 
dangers of alcohol. Since 2009, Cindy has worked as a volunteer probation officer at the 52-4 District Court; and   
 
WHEREAS, The Troy Community Coalition and Troy Youth Assistance are also very important to Cindy.  She has worked on 
the Coalition’s two major events, the Prayer Breakfast Committee since 2004 and Celebrity Night Dinner since 2007; and has 
served as a member of the TYA Board since 2009, helping with marketing and fundraisers; and 

WHEREAS, Cindy joined the Troy People Concerned Board of Directors in 2010, serving as Secretary since 2011. She is 
chair of the pasta dinner fundraiser, member of the marketing/pr and nominating committees, produces the annual report, 
assists with the Christmas Party at Fire Station 6, and stuffs backpacks for the Back to School event; and 

WHEREAS, For the past five years, Cindy has volunteered on the Dr. Charles A. Main, Pediatric Cancer Survivor 
Scholarship Fund Committee at Beaumont Hospital.  She became involved because their youngest son Jason was a patient 
of Dr. Main’s and is a 19 year cancer survivor; and 

WHEREAS, Cindy joined the Troy Historical Society Board of Directors in 2011, but she has volunteered at Historic Village 
events for the past 13 years. Most recently she served on the THS strategic planning committee;  
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, That the Troy City Council extends special recognition to Cindy Stewart, for her 
selfless and tireless service and dedication to this community; and 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, That the Troy City Council and all of Troy’s residents congratulate Cindy Stewart for being 
named Troy’s Distinguished Citizen for 2013 and wish her continued success in all future endeavors.  
 
Presented this 7th day of October 2013. 
 
 
 

stewartc
Text Box
C-03/J-03a



 

Troy Historical Society 2013 Strategic Plan  Page 1 
 

 

 

  

stewartc
Text Box
C-04



 

Troy Historical Society 2013 Strategic Plan  Page 2 
 

 

 

Outline 

 

 

 

I. Executive Summary          4 

 

II. History of Troy Historical Society and Troy Historic Village     8 

 

III. Overview of Planning Process       12 

 

IV. Situation Assessment        14 

 

V. Mission, Vision, and Values        22 

 

VI. Critical Issues         24 

 

VII. Goals and Strategies        28 

 

VIII. Implementation Schedule        34 

 

IX. Financial Projections        38 

 

X. Appendix          42 

 

 

 

 

 



 

Troy Historical Society 2013 Strategic Plan  Page 3 
 

 

 

  



 

Troy Historical Society 2013 Strategic Plan  Page 4 
 

I.  Executive Summary 

This 2013 Strategic Plan for Troy Historical Society (THS, Society) is the result of a planning process that 

began in January 2013.  A dedicated committee and Board of Trustees examined various issues from an 

external and internal perspective; reviewed and revised our mission, vision, and values; identified the 

most important critical issues facing the organization; established specific goals and strategies to define 

our future direction; developed specific implementation guidelines for the strategies; and prepared a 

three-year projection of revenues and expenses. 

Established in 1966, the Troy Historical Society has demonstrated its commitment to preserving Troy’s 

pioneer era and heritage by transforming itself from a club interested in history to a governance body 

overseeing the operations of the Troy Historic Village (THV, Village).  This major shift occurred in 2010 

when the City of Troy laid off the majority of staff and intended to close the Village due to the local 

economic recession.  Society members have contributed over $1.3 million to acquire, relocate, and 

construct almost all of the 11 historical facilities in the Village.  The Society maintains a close working 

relationship with the City of Troy through a renewable five-year management agreement. 

Practically all museums and cultural organizations face financial challenges due to a fluctuating economy 

and multiple demands on limited personal budgets.  Successful organizations have found that it is critical 

that museums become more engaging and interactive with their visitors.  They must use the facilities 

and artifacts as social objects to create a more memorable experience for visitors, and create dynamic 

and changing programs to attract returning patrons. 

The Village includes 12 buildings used for programs and services and over 9,500 artifacts and historically 

accessioned items.  Operating hours and days have continued to increase since the Society assumed 

operational responsibilities.  Currently the Society employs 3.6 full-time equivalent (FTE) staff.  Over 

12,000 students and chaperones from the tri-county area visited the Village during the 2012/13 school 

year.  A Master Site Plan for the Village was prepared in 2009 to include a barn, visitors’ center, and site 

improvements that will require an investment of over $5 million.  This site plan will enable the Village to 

capture the agricultural history of Troy, accommodate a larger volume of visitors, improve traffic flow, 

and further diversify its revenues through expanded programs and rental arrangements.  For fiscal year 

ending (FYE) June 30, 2013, the Society had approximately $260,000 in revenues and experienced a a 

positive change in net assets of approximately $6,000. 

Based on an external and internal assessment that was undertaken, five critical issues were identified  



 

Troy Historical Society 2013 Strategic Plan  Page 5 
 

that need to be addressed by the Troy Historical Society: 

 Financial Viability 

 Visitor Experience 

 Public Awareness 

 Adequate Resources 

 Organizational Culture 

Goals and strategies were created to address each of these issues: 

Financial Viability – Serve as responsible financial stewards and achieve an appropriate level of 

philanthropic contributions, revenue growth, grant funding, and visitor/customer volumes to sustain 

and grow the Village operations on a long-term basis. 

 Prepare three-year operational and capital budgets. 

 Diversify revenue mix. 

 Establish fund development program. 

 Improve accounting and data systems. 

 Reinforce importance of City of Troy financial support. 

Visitor Experience – Establish the Troy Historic Village as a unique cultural destination that is 

convenient, accessible, meaningful, relevant, affordable, and dynamic.  The Village is a popular 

gathering and happening place for residents in Troy and Southeast Michigan. 

 Identify needs of specific stakeholder and demographic groups. 

 Establish formal Program/Services Committee. 

 Create comprehensive programs and events calendar. 

 Expand access to Village. 

 Improve way finding and signage. 

 Incorporate new educational information technologies. 

 Use Village collections and artifacts as social objects. 

Public Awareness – Establish region-wide awareness of the Troy Historic Village programs and services. 

 Create and implement a strategic marketing plan. 

 Establish a clear communications plan. 

 Develop a dynamic and extensive public relations effort. 

 Establish extensive partnerships with high education institutions. 

 Establish more extensive partnerships with other cultural, social, and community organizations. 

 Increase advocacy and promotional efforts by the Society Board of Trustees members. 

 



 

Troy Historical Society 2013 Strategic Plan  Page 6 
 

Adequate Resources – Maintain sufficient financial, technical, and human resources to support the 

operations and capital projects of the Village. 

 Undertake ongoing training and development of Village staff to optimize their potential and 

visitor experience. 

 Hire experienced professionals in fund development, business operations, collections 

management, volunteer coordination, and marketing. 

 Undertake phased completion of the Village Master Site Plan which includes renovation of Niles-

Barnard House, acquisition of an historic barn, creation of a new visitors’ center, and site 

improvements. 

 Investigate and acquire innovative technologies to enhance education and visitor experiences. 

Organizational Culture – Continue the transformation of the Troy Historical Society and Board of 

Trustees to a governance organization dedicated to the preservation and growth of the Troy Historic 

Village.  Improve the level of expertise and performance of the staff and Board of Trustees through 

training, customer service, and community involvement. 

 Reinforce importance of commitment, enthusiasm, and involvement of staff and trustees. 

 Establish and implement improved policies and procedures addressing hiring, orientation, 

performance metrics, and documentation. 

 Annually review all Board committees to ensure effectiveness in structure, responsibilities, 

performance, productivity, and composition. 

 Emphasize the importance of partnerships with other community and regional organizations to 

enhance the strategic priorities and initiatives of the Village. 

 Expand Board of Trustee membership to include residents from other Southeast Michigan 

communities. 

 Facilitate ongoing interaction among Village staff, Board of Trustees, and general membership. 

A detailed schedule for the implementation of each goal and strategy was developed that includes 

specific accountabilities for the Society and Village staff.  Quarterly targets were identified for the 

current fiscal year strategies to ensure a timely review of progress by the Board of Trustees.  Grant 

funding from the DeVos Institute will be sought in FYE 2014 to assist in the implementation of the 

strategic goals, improve fundraising efforts, and increase board member engagement and productivity. 

A three-year financial operational budget was prepared that projects an increase in revenues from 

approximately $260,000 in FYE 2013 to over $462,000 in FYE 2016, with net income at breakeven levels.  

The increased revenues will be generated by higher program and visitor attendance and donor and 

corporate sponsorships.  Ongoing financial support from the City of Troy is critically important.  The 



 

Troy Historical Society 2013 Strategic Plan  Page 7 
 

increased revenues will support the hiring of new staff, increased marketing activities, and the expenses 

associated with new and expanded programs. 

 

 

  



 

Troy Historical Society 2013 Strategic Plan  Page 8 
 

II.  History of Troy Historical Society and Troy Historic Village 

The Troy Historical Society (THS) was organized in 1966 as a non-profit, project-driven club focused on 

the preservation of Troy’s pioneer era. THS spearheaded the development of the Troy Historic Village by 

saving threatened historic buildings in Troy and the region through gift or purchase, and raising funds to 

relocate and help restore the structures on the land around the City of Troy’s 1927 Township Hall. 

Between 1968 and 2011 the Troy Historic Village grew into a local history museum, which highlighted 

Troy’s past as an example of regional history.  Significant THS projects included: 

 

Date Project THS 
Contribution 

1969 Solomon Caswell House acquired by gift and moved to the open area behind 
the 1927 Township Hall  
 

$8,400 

1978 An on-site workshop was rebuilt and furnished as a Print Shop. 
The Wagon Shop was moved from Troy Corners to the Village.  
 

 
$3,000 

1980 Poppleton School was purchased and moved to the Village.  
 

$12,000 

1981 Volunteers Rod and Dave Harris completed the forge for the Wagon Shop.  
The Log Cabin was moved to the Village from Monroe County. 
 

 
$20,000 

1987 Troy Union School was donated by Robert Moser, moved to the Village, and 
re-designated Town Hall.  
 

$7,000 

1989-90 Construction of the General Store was completed.  
 

$82,000 

1997 THS and City of Troy purchased the old Troy Methodist Church and 
Parsonage and paid utilities and insurance on the buildings for 7 years. 
 

 
$200,755 

2003-04 The church and parsonage were relocated to the Village on August 20, 2003. 
Both buildings were restored. 
 

 
$150,000 

2005-07 THS purchased properties at 109 Lange and 90 W. Wattles Road and 
donated the land to the City to expand the Village to 4.89 acres. 
 

 
$375,605 

2007-09 THS retained Hopkins Burns Design Studio to complete an expanded Master 
Site Plan for the Village. 
 

 
$123,615 

2010-13 THS relocated the Niles-Barnard House to the Village and completed exterior 
repairs and sufficient interior repairs to receive conditional occupancy for 
staff, volunteers and potential donors. 
 

 
$370,000 

 Total THS Cash Contributions  1,352,375 



 

Troy Historical Society 2013 Strategic Plan  Page 9 
 

 

During the 40-year development of the Troy Historic Village, THS and the City of Troy have maintained a 

positive, cooperative, public-private partnership. THS worked methodically to preserve the community’s 

heritage by expanding the historic resources of the Village. The Society contributed additional funds for 

programs and special events. THS volunteers also donate, on average, 3,000 hours of volunteer service 

annually. The City of Troy accepted ownership of the land, buildings and collections and provided funds 

to maintain and manage the Village through a line item in the City budget. The Village staff who 

developed programs and services and provided administrative support were originally City employees.   

By 2009 the operations budget of the Village was $500,000 and the facility was staffed by two full-time 

and eight part-time employees. Over 26,000 people visited the facility that year, including 12,000 

students and chaperones who participated in regionally recognized education programs.  

Significant events in 2005 and 2010 changed the vision and work of the THS. In 2005, the 1837 Niles-

Barnard House was donated to the City under the condition that it be relocated to the Village within five 

years. This prompted THS to purchase land to expand the Village and to envision a cultural destination 

that would meet the needs of the 21st century. The Society retained historic preservation architects to 

develop a new site plan that included the Niles-Barnard House, an historic barn and visitors center,  new 

interpretive galleries, additional parking, and site improvements. The plan was unanimously approved 

by City Council in 2009 (see Appendix for Site Plan). Less than a year later, the City of Troy grappled with 

declining tax revenues due to the recession and the collapse of the housing market. As part of major 

cuts in 2010, the Village budget was reduced 60%, the majority of the staff were laid off, and the Village 

facilities were slated for closure on June 30, 2011. 

THS leadership determined that THS should offer to assume operational management of the Village 

facilities. In April 2011, the THS Board of Trustees and City Council approved a renewable five-year 

management agreement. The major provisions of the agreement (included in the Appendix) are:  

 The City retains ownership of the land, buildings, and collections. It is financially responsible for 

“core services” including utilities, insurance, the security system, repairs to the buildings, and 

seasonal maintenance of the grounds.  

 The City also provides a renewable capital repairs fund capped at $50,000 annually to maintain 

the buildings. 



 

Troy Historical Society 2013 Strategic Plan  Page 10 
 

 The City Manager assigns a liaison to facilitate payment of City-funded capital projects and 

communication with the THS leadership and Village staff. 

 THS hires a full-time professional executive director to manage the Village. 

 THS assumes fiscal responsibility for all Village staff, program expenses, collections management 

and expenses incurred in daily operations other than “core services.” 

 THS provides an annual report and audited financial statement to the City of Troy. 

In 2011 and 2012 THS transitioned to a nonprofit business with employees and management 

responsibilities. The organization implemented a lean budget, and developed new policies and 

procedures for bookkeeping, accounting, and human resources. Staff revived programs that had been 

reduced or eliminated in 2010, recruited and trained new volunteers, and created a new brand for the 

Village.  

The strategic planning process in FYE 2013 has been a catalyst for further transformation of the 

organizational culture of THS leadership and its vision for the Troy Historic Village. The Strategic 

Planning Committee, with regular input from the Board of Trustees and the Village staff, participated in 

an eight-month process of review, analysis, and discussion to develop goals and strategies that provide a 

pathway to fiscal and organizational sustainability for the Troy Historical Society and the Troy Historic 

Village.   

  



 

Troy Historical Society 2013 Strategic Plan  Page 11 
 

 

 

  



 

Troy Historical Society 2013 Strategic Plan  Page 12 
 

III.  Overview of Planning Process 

The strategic planning process for the Troy Historical Society began in January 2013.  Participants 

included a Planning Committee that was created under the Board of Trustees, as well as the full Board.  

Each phase of the planning process, the timeframe, and members of the Planning Committee are 

presented below. 

Critical IssuesAssessment
Goals / 

Strategies
Implementation

Financial 
Projections

• External
• Industry Trends
• Service Area
• Competition

• Internal
• Organization
• Attendance
• Marketing
• Operations
• Financials
• Facilities

• SWOT
• Strengths
• Weaknesses
• Opportunities
• Threats

• Mission

• Values

• Vision

• Alignment 
with Issues

• Priorities

• Action Steps

• Timeframes / 
Schedule

• Accountabilities

• Revenue Mix

• Expense 
Assumptions

• Strategy 
Implementation

Phases of Strategic Planning

January /

March

2013

March /

May

2013

May /

June

2013

June /

July

2013

July /

August

2013

 

 

Members of Troy Historical Society Planning Committee: 

 David Zuza, Chairperson and Facilitator (Board of Trustees) 

 John Lavender, Chairperson of Finance Committee (Board of Trustees) 

 Ward Randol, Finance Committee (Board of Trustees) 

 Mary Kerwin (Board of Trustees) 

 Cindy Stewart (Board of Trustees) 

 Loraine Campbell, Executive Director of Troy Historic Village (Staff) 

 Matthew Hackett, Program Director of Troy Historic Village (Staff) 

 Julie Martz (Village Volunteer) 

  



 

Troy Historical Society 2013 Strategic Plan  Page 13 
 

 

  



 

Troy Historical Society 2013 Strategic Plan  Page 14 
 

IV.  Situation Assessment 

External Assessment 

Financial contributions to historical museums and other arts and culture organizations are starting to 

rebound nationally following a significant decline that began in 2008. However, philanthropy through 

corporate support in Michigan has not rebounded as quickly.  

 In 2012 national charitable contributions to the arts and culture sector increased 1.5%. Source: 

“Charitable Giving Report How Nonprofit Fundraising Performed in 2012” (Blackbaud Idea Lab). 

Similar increases were reported by the Alford Group in 2011. 

 Almost 40% of respondents in a study “2013 Michigan Fundraising Conditions Survey” 

(Montgomery Consulting Inc.) reported that their organization did not achieve their 2012 

fundraising goals.  

 The Detroit’s Emergency Financial Manager’s proposal to consider the Detroit Institute of Arts 

collections as financial assets that could be liquidated or capitalized to reduce the City’s debt 

poses a significant issue for all cultural organizations that hold collections in the public trust. 

Arts and culture organizations, traditionally focused on the preservation of collections, are now 

challenged to provide meaningful, self-directed experiences that engage increasingly diverse audiences 

and that create public spaces for gathering, sharing, and learning. The transformation from collections-

focused institutions to public-oriented facilities requires new business models and organizational 

cultures. 

 Museums of all kinds are looking for ways to involve a broader mix of prospective donors and 

engage them in new ways. (Ford Bell, President of the American Alliance of Museums) 

 Nina Simon, Director the Santa Cruz Museum of Art and History, uses artifacts and programs as 

social objects, or catalysts for discussion, conversation and sharing. She uses the analogy of dog-

walkers who find themselves interacting with strangers. They don’t necessarily talk about the 

dog, but the dog is the social object that facilitates their interaction. In “participatory museums” 

artifacts are the social objects that work like dogs. 

 Cultural institutions including the Boston Children’s Museum and the Buffalo Science Museum 

have embraced new missions and business strategies focused on building relationships with 21st 



 

Troy Historical Society 2013 Strategic Plan  Page 15 
 

century self-directed visitors through innovative, engaging experiences. Unlike casual visitors, 

these free-choice learners tend to develop long-term relationships with the museum. 

Arts and culture institutions in Southeast Michigan experienced significant financial challenges during 

the recession and the decline of the automobile industry in the Motor City. The reorganization and 

revitalization of these institutions play a significant role in the cultural vitality of the region. 

 The Detroit Historical Museum and the Dossin Great Lakes Museum have both completed major 

renovations and the installation of new interactive permanent exhibits. They also offer free 

admission. 

 The Detroit Science Center, closed for over a year, has reopened under new ownership as the 

Michigan Science Center. 

 The Detroit Zoo and the Detroit Institute of Arts now receive funding for operations through 

regional millages.  Residents of Wayne, Oakland and Macomb counties enjoy free admission to 

the DIA because of this support. 

 The Henry Ford dominates the region as the recognized historical destination. It is also very 

large and, compared to other destinations, costly to visit. The Troy Historic Village is frequently 

referenced as a “little Greenfield Village”.  

Locally the City of Troy is rebounding from the collapse of the housing market. Additionally, there is 

encouraging commercial activity in the City. There is also new leadership in local government. 

 New residential housing and commercial developments are generating new building permit 

revenues. 

 There is a renewed spirit of cooperation among City Council members, and between the Mayor, 

Council and City administration. 

 While the Troy electorate supported the DIA millage in 2012, the electorate of the City of Troy 

remains fiscally conservative.    



 

Troy Historical Society 2013 Strategic Plan  Page 16 
 

Internal Assessment 

Resources of the Troy Historic Village 

The Troy Historical Village includes thirteen structures on 4.89 acres of land at the northwest corner of 

Wattles Road at Livernois. Twelve buildings are used for Village programs and services. One structure, a 

former residence at 109 Lange Street, was purchased for its land and the eventual expansion of the 

Village. It is currently used for storing City equipment. The land, buildings and collections of the Village 

are owned by the City of Troy. 

The Village collections include 9,553 accession records: 

 Archive records: 1,538  

 Library records:     376  

 Object records:   5,708  

 Photo records:   1,931 

Because of limited collections staff, there is a backlog of collections material to be accessioned and 

properly catalogued. 

 

Resources of the Troy Historical Society 

 The Troy Historical Society was established in 1966 as a Michigan nonprofit, tax-exempt 

corporation under Sec 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code. The Society does not own land, 

buildings, or collections, but does own office equipment and teaching supplies. These materials 

are kept at the Troy Historic Village, which THS uses as its business address.  

 There are currently 189 THS memberships, including individuals, families and life members. THS 

membership dues are tax deductible. 

 The Troy Historical Society publishes a quarterly full-color newsletter, The Village Press, and 

maintains a basic website that links to the Troy Historic Village website. 

 The THS Board of Trustees includes 18 volunteers who serve staggered, three-year terms. (See 

Appendix) 

 All Troy Historic Village volunteers are asked to become Troy Historical Society members. 

 

  



 

Troy Historical Society 2013 Strategic Plan  Page 17 
 

Finances 

 The financial statements of the Troy Historical Society, including the current fiscal year budget, 

the last two fiscal years, and projections to FYE2016 are included in the Appendix. In 2013 the 

Society adopted accrual accounting as its annual revenues exceeded $250,000.  

 Prior to assuming operational management of the Village, the Society’s income was based on 

memberships, donations through an annual appeal, and revenue from an annual fundraiser. For 

many years the Society generated approximately $20,000 annually from the Hand and Eye 

Show, a successful craft show held in November. After revenues from the show declined in the 

2000’s the Society worked with Village staff to host the Troy Traffic Jam, a classic car show 

fundraiser held in the Village. In 2007 three corporate sponsored the show and the event was 

expanded and moved to the Columbia Center at the corner of Big Beaver and Livernois. In 2013 

over 200 cars were exhibited and over 1,000 people attended the event. 

 Through activities in the Village, THS has expanded its sources of revenues.  Earned income is 

derived from programs, facilities rentals, gift shop sales, admissions and memberships. The 

Society has been awarded grants from the Kresge Foundation, the Michigan Council for the 

Humanities, and smaller regional foundations. THS has also begun to reach out to local 

businesses and regional corporations for sponsorships. Because of limited human and fiscal 

resources during the transition, a formal fund development plan coordinated with grant writing, 

membership, development, and marketing has not yet been initiated. 

    

Operational Description 

 Hours of Operation 

 During the transition from the City of Troy to THS, the public hours of operation at the Troy 

Historic Village were limited to Tuesday, Wednesday and Thursday from 10am - 3pm. However, 

the staff conducted revenue-generating education programs for schools five days a week during 

the school year. 

 Public hours were expanded during the summer of 2013 to weekdays 10am - 3pm and Saturdays 

9am - 2pm.  The Village staff plans to continue weekday hours throughout the year. They are 

currently seeking visitor input regarding preferred weekend and evening hours.  

  



 

Troy Historical Society 2013 Strategic Plan  Page 18 
 

Staff 

 The staff of the Troy Historic Village currently includes the equivalent of 3.64 full time 

employees. See Appendix for a listing by job category. 

Operating Systems 

 While under City administration, the staff of the Troy Historic Village had access to the services 

and expertise of various City departments including, Human Resources, Purchasing, DPW, and 

the City Attorney. Those services are no longer available. During the first two years of their 

agreement, the Troy Historical Society leased computers, phones and IT support from the City. 

 The Troy Historical Society has developed bookkeeping and accounting procedures; an 

employee handbook; and has updated and expanded volunteer recruitment, orientation, and 

training. THS continues to develop and refine policies and procedures and to define volunteer 

and staff roles. 

Organizational Structure 

 An attorney who serves on the Society’s Board of Trustees reviews the bylaws annually. The 

Society amended various provisions in its bylaws, including its purposes and fiscal year, when 

they assumed operational management of the Village. 

 The Board of Trustees is a well-intentioned, dedicated group of volunteers. They are aware that 

the responsibilities of the organization and their roles as individual trustees have changed 

significantly. The Board needs to expand its expertise in key areas including accounting, finance, 

fund-development, marketing, IT, social media, public relations, and insurance. The Board is also 

committed to reflect a culturally, ethnically, and generationally diverse group.   

  In July 2011 the Board of Trustees proposed a committee structure that focused on different 

operational functions of the organization and the Troy Historic Village. To date the Finance and 

Village Store Committees meet regularly and contribute significant work to the organization.  

The Board must recruit additional volunteers to serve on other committees and to assume 

leadership roles in them.    

 The provisions of the five-year management agreement between the City of Troy and the Troy 

Historical Society have been adequate, but communication with City staff has been inconsistent. 



 

Troy Historical Society 2013 Strategic Plan  Page 19 
 

There are also residents in the community who are unaware of the Troy Historic Village and its 

programs and services. 

Programs and Services 

 The Village staff provided quality education programs to 12,012 students and chaperones from 

the tri-county area during the 2012/13 school year. These programs are the most significant 

mission-focused service provided at the Village and are currently the largest source of earned 

revenue for the Troy Historical Society. At a time when many school districts are restricting or 

eliminating fieldtrips, school visitation to the Village increased. An Attendance Summary for 

Education and Enrichment Programs is provided in the Appendix. 

 A year-long, diverse calendar of enrichment programs offered to the public at the Village 

includes: 

 Evening talks 

 Afternoon teas 

 Adult and youth workshops and classes 

 Story hours for preschoolers and young children 

 Summer Fun Days for youth 

 Currently, programs are initiated and designed by Village staff without input from a Programs 

Committee.  Staff and volunteers have also identified the need for an Educational Advisory 

Board composed of regional educators and museum professionals.  

 The Village offers opportunities for students and adults through: 

 Community service projects for groups and individuals 

 College undergraduate internships 

 The Troy Historical Society Volunteer program 

 The use of buildings and grounds by photographers and film crews 

Marketing/ Communications/ Public Relations 

 The Village Press, the Troy Historical Society’s quarterly publication, was redesigned to brand 

the Troy Historic Village, its programs and services, and to highlight the initiatives of the Troy 

Historical Society. The volunteer editor, who serves on the Board of Trustees, meets regularly 

with the Executive Director and communicates with the part-time marketing coordinator who 



 

Troy Historical Society 2013 Strategic Plan  Page 20 
 

compiles the content, completes layouts, and works with the local printer. The publication is 

circulated by e-mail and regular mail. Back issues are available on the Troy Historic Village 

website. 

 

 The City of Troy Community Affairs Director serves on the Board of Trustees and publicizes all 

Village programs and events in Troy Today, the City’s quarterly magazine which is delivered to 

31,000 households and posted on the City’s website, calendar and Facebook page. 

 

 A part-time marketing coordinator improved the Village website, expanded its Facebook page, 

and has made positive strides to expand the facility’s online presence.  

 

 The marketing coordinator has developed a preliminary marketing plan, but the organization 

would benefit from market research and marketing tools. Currently, the Village and Society 

mailing lists do not include stakeholder identification and feedback information.  

Site/Facilities 

 The Troy Historic Village is a charming amenity with great potential. The buildings are in good 

repair, clean, carefully and accurately furnished and wheelchair accessible (see the Appendix for 

a complete list). The Troy Garden Club has maintained and added to the beautiful gardens. 

During the summer of 2013, the Village staff tested new interpretive signage and participatory 

experiences in the buildings and collected visitor feedback and suggestions. Wayfinding signs in 

the City to the Village are inadequate and outdated. 

 

 The Village has only small, furnished gathering places. It lacks a large, flexible gathering space 

suitable for social gatherings, food service and larger meetings. The Society rents a 20’ x 40’ 

banquet tent during the summer to provide an additional gathering space. The Village parking 

lots accommodate only 48 vehicles. Limited overflow parking is available on Lange St. The Troy 

Historical Society maintains agreements with Brookfield Academy, Walsh College and Zion 

Christian Church for off-site parking for special events and then provides a free shuttle service 

for the public during these occasions. However these options are less convenient for visitors and 

incur additional expenses for the Society. 



 

Troy Historical Society 2013 Strategic Plan  Page 21 
 

 Implementation of the Master Site Plan approved in 2009 will provide additional parking and 

gathering spaces for larger groups, and for expanded programs and services.  The estimated cost 

for the full implementation of this plan exceeds $5,000,000. 

 

  



 

Troy Historical Society 2013 Strategic Plan  Page 22 
 

V.  Mission / Values / 2020 Vision 

Mission Statement 

The Troy Historical Society stimulates discovery and cultivates life-long appreciation of history by sharing 

and preserving heritage through creative, meaningful experiences that engage our stakeholders. 

Values  

The Troy Historical Society will provide a welcoming environment that: 

 Engages visitors and stakeholders in positive learning experiences and social interactions;  

 Respects the significance of history as we seek knowledge, understanding, and relevance in our 

lives; 

 Recognizes the importance of archival and material collections as social objects and catalysts for 

sharing information and ideas; 

 Embraces innovation and encourages passion and creativity in our work; 

 Encourages the objective analysis, civil discussion, and evaluation of controversial issues;  

 Promotes a culture of stewardship where all adhere to the highest standards of historic 

preservation, manage resources with integrity and transparency, and treat all stakeholders with 

dignity and respect.  

Vision 

Our 2020 Vision for the Troy Historic Village 

 The Troy Historic Village embraces and supports four key characteristics: 

o PRESERVATION, PRESENTATION, and ACCESS to historical artifacts, archives, and 

resources; 

o EDUCATION of visitors and key stakeholder groups; 

o ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT for the City of Troy and region; 

o COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT for social interaction and open community dialogue on 

issues of importance. 

 The Village provides an exciting and dynamic visitor experience, including hands-on interactions; 

new technologies for information and education; convenient hours; and attentive, friendly, and 

knowledgeable staff and volunteers. 



 

Troy Historical Society 2013 Strategic Plan  Page 23 
 

 The Village makes history come alive and meaningful to everyone.  Our facilities, artifacts, 

resources serve as valuable social tools for the community, facilitating active discussion, 

interaction, and human connectedness. 

 The Village’s programs and services are extensive and diverse, attractive to all age groups, 

ethnic backgrounds, and educational interests. 

 The Village is widely known throughout southeast Michigan as an exciting cultural destination 

and serves as an economic development resource for the City of Troy.  It is a unique community 

resource in attracting new businesses and employees. 

 The Village’s diverse program and service offerings, well managed and governed operations, 

high visitor and customer volumes, and well-supported fund development and investment 

efforts ensure that the Village is financially viable and self-sustaining for the long term. 

 

Our 2020 Vision for the Troy Historical Society 

 Board of Trustees and Committee members serve as ambassadors for the Troy Historic Village 

and are fully engaged in their communities including government, service clubs, business 

groups, and other organizations. 

 Board of Trustees and Committee members actively share information about the Village, and 

enlist financial and volunteer support for programs and services that make history come alive. 

 Board of Trustees members provide professional and technical guidance in the governance of 

Village operations, and reflect a wide diversity of skills, experience, ethnic and racial 

composition, and perspectives. 

 Board of Trustees and Committee members establish and actively support a healthy and robust 

fund development effort that sustains the Village and completes all site development projects, 

including a barn and visitors’ center. 

 Troy Historical Society members are also Villagers who use access to the human and material 

resources at the Troy Historic Village to expand their knowledge and understanding of history 

and who appreciate the significance of cultural heritage in their lives. 

  



 

Troy Historical Society 2013 Strategic Plan  Page 24 
 

VI.  Critical Issues 

Critical Issues were identified based on the findings from the Situation Assessment.  They represent both 

an external and internal perspective, and consider the strengths and weaknesses of the Troy Historical 

Society and Troy Historic Village.  Most importantly, however, they reflect the key opportunities and 

threats facing the organization. 

Five Critical Issues were identified during the planning process and a description of each is presented 

below.  Reinforcing the importance of these issues, the Goals and the associated Strategies were 

developed to address them specifically. 

Critical Issue 1:  Financial Viability 

The operations of the Troy Historic Village and the responsibilities of the Troy Historical Society changed 

significantly when the City of Troy ended its operational and full financial responsibilities for the Village 

in 2010.  Annual operating costs for the Village were over $500,000 which supported 2 full time and 8 

part time staff members and convenient daily operating hours including weekends.  The Troy Historical 

Society assumed full operational responsibilities for the Village in July 2011 and the associated financial 

oversight and governance. 

It is increasingly difficult for all cultural organizations to maintain financial viability since the financial 

model is more challenging than conventional business models.  Unlike food, clothing, and shelter, 

spending money on visiting a cultural site is much more discretionary.  Numerous other entertainment 

and educational options compete for the interest, time, and money of visitors. 

In order to support and expand the operations of the Troy Historic Village, improve the experience for 

visitors, and increase the level of awareness in Troy and Southeast Michigan, increased investments in 

staff and initiatives will have to be made.  These investments will require the Troy Historical Society to 

expand and diversify its revenues, including earned income from programs and services; philanthropic 

support from local citizens and businesses; grants from governments and foundations; and other 

sources such as facility rentals. 

 

  



 

Troy Historical Society 2013 Strategic Plan  Page 25 
 

Critical Issue 2:  Visitor Experience 

Maintaining sustained interest and support for the Troy Historic Village depends on providing ongoing 

meaningful and relevant visitor experiences.  The historic artifacts and buildings in the Village are 

significant; however static collections cannot attract a high and sustainable volume of return visits.  

Fresh, creative, and innovative programs and services are the means of bringing visitors back to the 

Village on an ongoing basis. 

Through the strategic planning process, it was recognized that our Village artifacts and buildings could 

serve as social objects to engage our visitors.  This insight was gained from Nina Simon, Executive 

Director at the Santa Cruz Museum of Art & History in California.  She observed that museum artifacts 

can bring diverse people together to interact and converse, much like strangers walking dogs 

comfortably engage in conversation when in the park or on the street.  In essence, the pets serve as 

conversational “ice breakers” and museum artifacts can function in a similar way. 

Critical Issue 3:  Public Awareness 

Many people have observed that the Troy Historic Village is not widely known, which contributes to low 

visitor traffic and event participation.  Contact information from visitors has not been adequately 

captured and used for newsletters or meeting announcements, further limiting awareness of the Village 

and events.  Other than utilizing social media, little active marketing and advertising of the Village has 

taken place.  Public relations efforts are supported by a key staff member from the City of Troy, but no 

Village staff member currently has the responsibilities or expertise in this area.  Improvements have 

recently been made in marketing and communication efforts, but Village staff members assigned these 

responsibilities have limited experience. 

Significant opportunities are available to improve the public awareness of the Troy Historic Village, but 

progress will require an investment of both financial and staff resources.  THS must create a contact 

database generated from visitors to better inform them about future events and use it in research when 

considering new programs, services, or public relations campaigns.  Focused advertising is another way 

to increase awareness of the Village.  Building more extensive relationships with local media outlets 

(television, radio, and news organizations) will further increase exposure and awareness of the Village, 

but will require additional staff resources. 

Increased public awareness of the Troy Historic Village is dependent on: convenient hours; experiences 

that connect visitors with their heritage and each other; fresh, dynamic, and interesting programs; 



 

Troy Historical Society 2013 Strategic Plan  Page 26 
 

committed and active Village members, volunteers, and staff; and focused and extensive marketing, 

public relations, and communications efforts built on understanding each of our distinct stakeholders. 

Critical Issue 4:  Adequate Resources 

There are three types of resources that THS will need to maintain and develop in order to successfully 

sustain it in the future.  The first resource is the people associated with the Village – staff, trustees, 

volunteers, and members.  Currently, human capital is limited in the areas of fund development, 

accounting/finance, facilities maintenance, marketing/public relations, human resources, training and 

development, and volunteer management.  This expertise can be enhanced through a combination of 

new hires and training and development.  The need exists at both the staff and trustee level. 

The second resource requiring attention is facilities development on site.  In 2009, a Master Site Plan 

was prepared for the Troy Historic Village, identifying the addition of a barn and visitors center and 

several other site improvements.  The barn and visitors center complex would complete the profile of 

Troy’s history as an agricultural community. It would also provide additional space to accommodate 

larger groups; improve the flow of visitor traffic on the site; and increase other revenue generating 

opportunities. 

The third most important resource for the Troy Historic Village is financial.  Whether it is hiring new 

staff, retaining appropriate training and consulting resources, investing in marketing activities, or 

acquiring additional facilities, THS will need increased financial resources in the future.  These financial 

resources will support increased operations of the Village (i.e., support the costs of increasing operating 

hours) and the various targeted capital needs. 

Critical Issue 5:  Organizational Culture 

The staff of the Troy Historic Village continues to offer educational programs and support the operations 

similar to when the Village was operated by the City of Troy.  The Troy Historical Society has assumed 

significantly increased responsibilities since the transition from the city and continues to evolve and 

improve its governance effectiveness.  Dedicated individuals have offered their time, expertise, and 

personal income to sustain the operational and capital needs of the Village. 

The internal Situation Assessment revealed that the performance effectiveness of the Board of Trustees 

and its committees can be improved.  Board member recruitment needs to become a year-round effort, 

targeting individuals who express a willingness to volunteer their time and also provide specialized 

expertise such as fundraising, accounting, or marketing.   



 

Troy Historical Society 2013 Strategic Plan  Page 27 
 

  



 

Troy Historical Society 2013 Strategic Plan  Page 28 
 

 

VII.  Goals and Strategies 

1. Financial Viability 

Goal  Serve as responsible financial stewards and achieve an appropriate level of philanthropic 

contributions, revenue growth, grant funding, and visitor/customer volumes to sustain and grow 

the Village operations on a long-term basis. 

 

Strategies 

 Establish flexible and dynamic three-year budgets for operations and capital needs. 

 Diversify and grow revenue mix, including increased facility rentals, program/service 

offerings, planned giving/donations/sponsorships, and grant funding. 

 Establish a formal Fund Development Program and hire a Fund Development professional.  

This Plan will incorporate all forms of philanthropy and fundraising, special events, and 

other efforts in a comprehensive, coordinated, and measurable format. 

 Create a dynamic and diverse Fund Development Committee under the Board of Trustees. 

 Improve accounting and data systems and increase the number of accounting, finance, and 

investment professionals on the Finance Committee and Board of Trustees. 

 Hire a business manager to handle accounting/bookkeeping functions, facility rentals, and 

other related responsibilities. 

 Continue regularly scheduled communication and ongoing interaction with City of Troy 

leadership and staff, and further clarify responsibilities and roles for the operating fund in 

the City/THS agreement and site plan development. 

 Reinforce that City financial support is an investment in cultural resources, not merely an 

expense, and demonstrate the value through presentations for City Council and staff. 

 Encourage individual and corporate sponsorships for the Village exhibits, events, and artifact 

collections. 

 

 



 

Troy Historical Society 2013 Strategic Plan  Page 29 
 

2.  Visitor Experience 

Goal Establish the Troy Historic Village as a unique cultural destination that is convenient, accessible, 

meaningful, relevant, affordable, and dynamic.  The Village is a popular gathering and happening 

place for residents in Troy and Southeast Michigan. 

Strategies 

 Focus on distinct needs of specific stakeholder and demographic groups. 

 Establish a formal, robust, and extensive Programs/Services Committee with wider 

stakeholder and community involvement.  Actively seek and find additional forms of 

outreach to new groups that are demographically diverse and reflect the various cultures in 

Troy and Southeast Michigan. 

 Develop a comprehensive programs and events calendar. 

 Expand access to Village resources, services and facilities. 

 Improve wayfinding, signage and engaged visitor experiences.  Initiate multi-language 

interpretation. 

 Incorporate new technologies and other ways of increasing educational content of buildings 

and displays. 

 Utilize the extensive historical collections and artifacts as social objects. 

 Explore online and distance learning opportunities. 

  



 

Troy Historical Society 2013 Strategic Plan  Page 30 
 

3.  Public Awareness 

Goal Establish region-wide awareness of the Troy Historic Village programs and services. 

 

Strategies 

 Create a Strategic Marketing Plan focused on primary market and targeted customer/ 

stakeholder research, programs/service offerings, pricing, and promotions/advertising.   

 Establish a clear Communications Plan which incorporates the Village Press and other tools.  

Establish clear graphic standards for communication pieces, signage, and other display items 

in the Village. 

 Create a dynamic Public Relations Plan which includes all major news media, publications, 

and organizations in Southeast Michigan. 

 Establish more formal and extensive partnerships with public and private universities, 

colleges and community colleges.  These partnerships provide internships, fellowships, 

resource materials for academic research, student and faculty presentations, collaborative 

programs and educational resource opportunities. 

 Establish more formal and extensive partnerships with other cultural, social, and community 

organizations to develop greater mutual support, exposure, and resource sharing. 

 Establish standards for Board of Trustees to advocate and promote the activities and 

regional significance of the Troy Historic Village by attending governmental meetings and 

participating in community and regional professional and social organizations.  

 Create new and better wayfinding signage for easy recognition of the Village throughout the 

City of Troy’s main thoroughfares. 

 

 

 

 

  



 

Troy Historical Society 2013 Strategic Plan  Page 31 
 

4.  Adequate Resources 

Goal Maintain sufficient financial, technical and human resources to support the operations and 

capital projects of the Village. 

Strategies 

 Optimize the potential of Village staff through professional development and training to 

ensure outstanding visitor experiences and professional management of the Village. 

 Hire, as needed, experienced professionals skilled in fund development, business 

operations, collections management, volunteer coordination, and marketing. 

 Undertake phased completion of the Village Master Site Plan which includes renovation of 

the Niles-Barnard House, acquisition of an historic barn, creation of a new Visitors’ Center, 

and site improvements. 

 Investigate and acquire innovative technologies for the Village to enhance education and 

visitor experiences. 

 

  



 

Troy Historical Society 2013 Strategic Plan  Page 32 
 

5.  Organizational Culture 

Goal Continue the transformation of the Troy Historical Society and Board of Trustees to a 

governance organization dedicated to the preservation and growth of the Troy Historic Village.  

Improve the level of expertise and performance of the staff and Board of Trustees through 

training, customer service, and community involvement. 

Strategies 

 Staff and Trustees are committed, enthusiastic, and involved in the Troy Historic Village. 

 Establish plans and procedures, in compliance with THS Bylaws, for: 

o Standards and criteria for hiring Village staff  

o Standards and criteria for recruiting volunteers, committee members,  and the 

Board of Trustees  

o Orientation, performance metrics, and documentation for all staff, Board members 

and other volunteers.    

Accountability ensures timely and ongoing completion of established responsibilities.   

 Review all Board committee structures, responsibilities, and member composition on at 

least an annual basis to enhance productivity and performance.  

 Explore partnerships with other community and regional organizations to enhance the 

strategic priorities and initiatives of the Village.   

 Expand Troy Historical Society and THS Board of Trustees composition to include residents 

from Southeast Michigan.  Identify skills that enhance Board functionality and governance.  

Recruit new committee and Board members with those skills. 

 Facilitate ongoing interaction among Village staff, Board of Trustees and general 

membership through shared training sessions and social functions. 

 

  



 

Troy Historical Society 2013 Strategic Plan  Page 33 
 

 

 

  



 

Troy Historical Society 2013 Strategic Plan  Page 34 
 

VIII.  Implementation Schedule 

An implementation schedule for each of the strategic initiatives for the Troy Historical Society indicates 

when they would be started and the individual or group within the Society/Village responsible for the 

implementation.  The schedule for the current fiscal year (FYE 2014) has been subdivided into quarters 

to allow for a more timely review of implementation progress and for reports to the THS Board. 

Additional assistance for implementation of the strategic initiatives has been requested from the DeVos 

Institute. In 2011-12, THS leadership participated in a series of capacity-building seminars provided by 

the DeVos Institute and used the Institute’s strategic planning guidelines to develop this plan. In 

September, the Institute will select regional arts and culture organizations that will be provided a skilled 

third-party review of their current strategic plans, implementation requirements, fundraising skills 

development, and Board member engagement and productivity.  This consulting assistance is supported 

by the Ford Foundation, Knight Foundation, and the Kresge Foundation. 

The implementation schedule for the 2013 Strategic Plan follows. 

  



 

Troy Historical Society 2013 Strategic Plan  Page 35 
 

  

FY
E 

20
15

FY
E 

20
16

A
cc

o
u

n
ta

b
il

it
y

G
o

al
 1

:  
Fi

n
an

ci
al

 V
ia

b
ili

ty
1Q

2Q
3Q

4Q

D
e

ve
lo

p
 T

h
re

e
-Y

e
ar

 B
u

d
ge

ts
X

Fi
n

an
ce

 C
o

m
m

it
te

e
 

D
iv

e
rs

if
y 

R
e

ve
n

u
e

 M
ix

X
X

X
X

X
X

Ex
e

cu
ti

ve
 C

o
m

m
it

te
e

 a
n

d
 E

xe
cu

ti
ve

 D
ir

e
ct

o
r

H
ir

e
 a

 F
u

n
d

 D
e

ve
lo

p
m

e
n

t 
P

ro
fe

ss
io

n
al

X
X

Ex
e

cu
ti

ve
 D

ir
e

ct
o

r

C
re

at
e

 a
 F

u
n

d
 D

e
ve

lo
p

m
e

n
t 

C
o

m
m

it
te

e
X

P
re

si
d

e
n

t 
o

f 
B

o
ar

d
 o

f 
Tr

u
st

e
e

s

Es
ta

b
li

sh
 a

 f
o

rm
al

 F
u

n
d

 D
e

ve
lo

p
m

e
n

t 
P

ro
gr

am
X

X
Ex

e
cu

ti
ve

 D
ir

e
ct

o
r,

 F
u

n
d

 D
e

ve
lo

p
m

e
n

t 
C

o
m

m
it

te
e

Im
p

ro
ve

 A
cc

o
u

n
ti

n
g 

an
d

 D
at

a 
Sy

st
e

m
s/

P
ro

ce
ss

X
X

X
X

X
X

Fi
n

an
ce

 C
o

m
m

it
te

e
, E

xe
cu

ti
ve

 D
ir

e
ct

o
r

In
cr

e
as

e
 N

u
m

b
e

r 
o

f 
A

cc
o

u
n

ti
n

g/
Fi

n
an

ce
 P

ro
fe

ss
io

n
al

s
X

X
X

B
o

ar
d

 D
e

ve
lo

p
m

e
n

t 
C

o
m

m
it

te
e

 

H
ir

e
 a

 B
u

si
n

e
ss

 M
an

ag
e

r
X

X
Ex

e
cu

ti
ve

 D
ir

e
ct

o
r 

/ 
Fi

n
an

ce
 C

o
m

m
it

te
e

C
o

m
m

u
n

ic
at

e
 w

it
h

 C
it

y 
o

f 
Tr

o
y 

o
n

 q
u

ar
te

rl
y 

b
as

is
X

X
X

X
Ex

e
cu

ti
ve

 D
ir

e
ct

o
r

C
o

m
m

u
n

ic
at

e
 V

al
u

e
 o

f 
C

it
y'

s 
In

ve
st

m
e

n
t

X
X

X
X

X
X

Ex
e

cu
ti

ve
 D

ir
e

ct
o

r,
 B

o
ar

d
 o

f 
Tr

u
st

e
e

s

En
co

u
ra

ge
 S

p
o

n
so

rs
h

ip
X

X
X

X
X

X
Ex

e
cu

ti
ve

 D
ir

e
ct

o
r,

 F
u

n
d

 D
e

ve
lo

p
m

e
n

t 
C

o
m

m
it

te
e

FY
E 

20
15

FY
E 

20
16

A
cc

o
u

n
ta

b
il

it
y

G
o

al
 2

:  
V

is
it

o
r 

Ex
p

e
ri

e
n

ce
1Q

2Q
3Q

4Q

C
re

at
e

 D
at

ab
as

e
 a

n
d

 F
o

cu
s 

o
n

 S
ta

ke
h

o
ld

e
r 

G
ro

u
p

s
X

X
Ex

e
cu

ti
ve

 D
ir

e
ct

o
r,

 V
il

la
ge

 S
ta

ff

Es
ta

b
li

sh
 P

ro
gr

am
s/

Se
rv

ic
e

s 
C

o
m

m
it

te
e

X
X

Ex
e

cu
ti

ve
 D

ir
e

ct
o

r,
 V

il
la

ge
 S

ta
ff

C
re

at
e

 E
d

u
ca

ti
o

n
al

 A
d

vi
so

ry
 B

o
ar

d
X

Ex
e

cu
ti

ve
 D

ir
e

ct
o

r

C
o

m
p

re
h

e
n

si
ve

 P
ro

gr
am

s 
an

d
 E

ve
n

ts
 C

al
e

n
d

ar
X

Ex
e

cu
ti

ve
 D

ir
e

ct
o

r,
 V

il
la

ge
 S

ta
ff

Ex
p

an
d

 A
cc

e
ss

 t
o

 V
il

la
ge

 R
e

so
u

rc
e

s
X

X
X

X
X

X
Ex

e
cu

ti
ve

 D
ir

e
ct

o
r

Im
p

ro
ve

 W
ay

 F
in

d
in

g,
 S

ig
n

ag
e

 a
n

d
 V

is
it

o
r 

Ex
p

e
ri

e
n

ce
X

X
X

X
X

X
Ex

e
cu

ti
ve

 D
ir

e
ct

o
r

In
ce

as
e

 E
d

u
ca

ti
o

n
al

 C
o

n
te

n
t 

o
f 

B
u

il
d

in
gs

X
Ex

e
cu

ti
ve

 D
ir

e
ct

o
r

In
cr

e
as

e
 U

se
 o

f 
A

rt
if

ac
ts

 a
s 

So
ci

al
 O

b
je

ct
s

X
X

X
X

X
X

Ex
e

cu
ti

ve
 D

ir
e

ct
o

r,
 V

il
la

ge
 S

ta
ff

C
re

at
e

 O
n

li
n

e
 a

n
d

 D
is

ta
n

ce
 L

e
ar

n
in

g 
O

p
p

o
rt

u
n

it
ie

s
X

Ex
e

cu
ti

ve
 D

ir
e

ct
o

r

FY
E 

20
14

FY
E 

20
14



 

Troy Historical Society 2013 Strategic Plan  Page 36 
 

F
Y

E
 2

0
1

5
F

Y
E

 2
0

1
6

A
cc

o
u

n
ta

b
il

it
y

G
o

a
l 

3
: 

 P
u

b
li

c
 A

w
a

re
n

e
ss

1
Q

2
Q

3
Q

4
Q

S
tr

a
te

g
ic

 M
a

rk
e

ti
n

g
 P

la
n

X
E

x
e

cu
ti

v
e

 D
ir

e
ct

o
r

C
o

m
m

u
n

ic
a

ti
o

n
s 

P
la

n
/E

st
a

b
li

sh
 C

le
a

r 
G

ra
p

h
ic

 S
ta

n
d

a
rd

s
X

E
x

e
cu

ti
v

e
 D

ir
e

ct
o

r

P
u

b
li

c 
R

e
la

ti
o

n
s 

P
la

n
X

E
x

e
cu

ti
v

e
 D

ir
e

ct
o

r

P
a

rt
n

e
rs

h
ip

s 
w

it
h

 H
ig

h
e

r 
E

d
u

ca
ti

o
n

a
l 

O
rg

a
n

iz
a

ti
o

n
s

X
E

x
e

cu
ti

v
e

 D
ir

e
ct

o
r

P
a

rt
n

e
rs

h
ip

s 
w

it
h

 o
th

e
r 

C
u

lt
u

ra
l 

S
o

ci
a

l/
C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y
 O

rg
.

X
X

X
X

X
X

E
x

e
cu

ti
v

e
 D

ir
e

ct
o

r

C
re

a
te

 A
d

v
o

ca
cy

 S
ta

n
d

a
rd

s 
fo

r 
B

o
a

rd
 o

f 
T

ru
st

e
e

s 
X

P
re

si
d

e
n

t 
o

f 
B

o
a

rd
 o

f 
T

ru
st

e
e

s

P
ro

m
in

e
n

t 
S

ig
n

a
g

e
 f

o
r 

V
il

la
g

e
 i

n
 C

it
y

 o
f 

T
ro

y
X

E
x

e
cu

ti
v

e
 D

ir
e

ct
o

r

F
Y

E
 2

0
1

5
F

Y
E

 2
0

1
6

A
cc

o
u

n
ta

b
il

it
y

G
o

a
l 

4
: 

 A
d

e
q

u
a

te
 R

e
so

u
rc

e
s

1
Q

2
Q

3
Q

4
Q

P
ro

fe
ss

io
n

a
l 

D
e

v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t/

T
ra

in
in

g
 f

o
r 

S
ta

ff
 a

n
d

 B
o

a
rd

X
X

X
X

X
X

E
x

e
cu

ti
v

e
 D

ir
e

ct
o

r,
 P

re
si

d
e

n
t 

o
f 

B
o

a
rd

 o
f 

T
ru

st
e

e
s

H
ir

e
 N

e
w

 S
ta

ff
:

   
- 

F
u

n
d

 D
e

v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t

X
X

E
x

e
cu

ti
v

e
 D

ir
e

ct
o

r

   
- 

B
u

si
n

e
ss

 O
p

e
ra

ti
o

n
s

X
X

E
x

e
cu

ti
v

e
 D

ir
e

ct
o

r

   
- 

C
o

ll
e

ct
io

n
s 

M
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t

X
X

E
x

e
cu

ti
v

e
 D

ir
e

ct
o

r

   
- 

V
o

lu
n

te
e

r 
C

o
o

rd
in

a
to

r
X

E
x

e
cu

ti
v

e
 D

ir
e

ct
o

r

   
- 

C
a

re
ta

k
e

r/
G

ro
u

n
d

s
X

X
E

x
e

cu
ti

v
e

 D
ir

e
ct

o
r

   
- 

M
a

rk
e

ti
n

g
X

E
x

e
cu

ti
v

e
 D

ir
e

ct
o

r

P
h

a
se

d
 C

o
m

p
le

ti
o

n
 o

f 
th

e
 V

il
la

g
e

 M
a

st
e

r 
S

it
e

 P
la

n
X

E
x

e
cu

ti
v

e
 D

ir
e

ct
o

r,
 V

il
la

g
e

 S
ta

ff

E
v

a
lu

a
te

/A
cq

u
ir

e
 N

e
w

 E
d

u
ca

ti
o

n
 T

e
ch

n
o

lo
g

ie
s

X
E

x
e

cu
ti

v
e

 D
ir

e
ct

o
r

D
e

v
e

lo
p

 f
ra

m
e

w
o

rk
 a

n
d

 p
ro

ce
ss

 f
o

r 
m

a
n

a
g

in
g

 v
o

lu
n

te
e

rs
X

F
Y

E
 2

0
1

5
F

Y
E

 2
0

1
6

A
cc

o
u

n
ta

b
il

it
y

G
o

a
l 

5
: 

 O
rg

a
n

iz
a

ti
o

n
a

l 
C

u
lt

u
re

1
Q

2
Q

3
Q

4
Q

In
cr

e
a

se
 B

o
a

rd
/S

ta
ff

 E
n

th
u

si
a

sm
 a

n
d

 I
n

v
o

lv
e

m
e

n
t

X
X

X
X

X
X

P
re

si
d

e
n

t 
o

f 
B

o
a

rd
, 

E
x

e
cu

ti
v

e
 D

ir
e

ct
o

r

R
e

v
ie

w
 P

la
n

s,
 P

o
li

ci
e

s,
 P

ro
ce

d
u

re
s 

fo
r 

B
o

a
rd

 F
u

n
ct

io
n

s
X

P
re

si
d

e
n

t 
o

f 
B

o
a

rd
 o

f 
T

ru
st

e
e

s

R
e

v
ie

w
 B

o
a

rd
 C

o
m

m
it

te
e

 S
tr

u
ct

u
re

s/
P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

ce
X

P
re

si
d

e
n

t 
o

f 
B

o
a

rd
 o

f 
T

ru
st

e
e

s

In
cr

e
a

se
 N

u
m

b
e

r 
a

n
d

 T
y

p
e

s 
o

f 
R

e
g

io
n

a
l 

P
a

rt
n

e
rs

h
ip

s
X

X
X

X
X

X
E

x
e

cu
ti

v
e

 D
ir

e
ct

o
r,

 P
re

si
d

e
n

t 
o

f 
B

o
a

rd
 o

f 
T

ru
st

e
e

s

Im
p

ro
v

e
 T

e
ch

n
ic

a
l 

E
x

p
e

rt
is

e
 o

n
 B

o
a

rd
X

X
X

X
X

X
P

re
si

d
e

n
t 

a
n

d
 B

o
a

rd
 D

e
v

e
lo

p
m

e
n

t 
C

o
m

m
it

te
e

C
re

a
te

 S
h

a
re

d
 T

ra
in

in
g

 O
p

p
o

rt
u

n
it

ie
s 

fo
r 

B
o

a
rd

/S
ta

ff
X

X
X

X
X

X
E

x
e

cu
ti

v
e

 D
ir

e
ct

o
r,

 P
re

si
d

e
n

t 
o

f 
B

o
a

rd
 o

f 
T

ru
st

e
e

s

F
Y

E
 2

0
1

4

F
Y

E
 2

0
1

4

F
Y

E
 2

0
1

4



 

Troy Historical Society 2013 Strategic Plan  Page 37 
 

  



 

Troy Historical Society 2013 Strategic Plan  Page 38 
 

IX.  Financial Projections 

When the City of Troy was responsible for the management and operations of the Troy Historic Village 

prior to the Troy Historical Society assuming these responsibilities in 2010, total operating expenses 

were approximately $500,000.  Immediately after the governance and operational responsibility transfer 

to the Society, expenses were significantly reduced to approximately $250,000.  Due to increased 

program revenues, donations, and sponsorships over the past several years, revenues have grown and 

are expected to reach almost $340,000 in the current fiscal year (FYE June 30, 2014). 

Revenue projections through FYE 2016 are expected to increase each year and reach over $460,000 in 

FYE 2016.  This growth is generated by increased visitor volumes, but more significantly by substantial 

increases in donations and corporate sponsorships.  The financial reality of Village operations is that it 

will continue to require operational financial support from the City of Troy for the next several years 

until the Society can establish a substantial based of earned revenues and philanthropic support. 

Staff salaries represent the largest expense of Village operations, representing just under 70% of total 

expenses in the FYE 2014 budget.  This represents an increase of approximately $60,000 from FYE 2013, 

or an increase of 34%.  This reflects the hiring of a new fund development manager and business 

operations manager.  Total projected expenses in FYE 2016 will total approximately $450,000, reflecting 

additional hiring of new staff (collections manager and volunteer coordinator), increased advertising, 

enhanced program offerings, and ongoing investments in new technologies. 

Detailed projections of revenues and expenses through FYE 2016 follow. 

  



 

Troy Historical Society 2013 Strategic Plan  Page 39 
 

 R
e

ve
n

u
e

 a
n

d
 E

xp
e

n
se

 P
ro

je
ct

io
n

s,
 F

Y
E 

2
0

1
2

-2
0

1
6

EA
R

N
ED

 R
EV

EN
U

ES
4

0
%

1
2

0
,5

3
2

  
4

3
%

1
3

1
,6

7
7

   
   

  
3

9
%

1
3

1
,6

0
5

   
   

   
3

5
%

1
3

7
,5

0
0

   
   

  
3

4
%

1
5

9
,0

0
0

   
   

  

Sc
h

o
o

l P
ro

gr
am

s
27

%
81

,2
66

   
   

   
   

 
28

%
85

,2
07

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
25

%
86

,0
00

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

22
%

86
,0

00
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

86
,0

00
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

P
u

b
li

c 
P

ro
gr

am
s

4%
13

,3
67

   
   

   
   

 
6%

18
,4

99
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

5%
16

,0
00

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

5%
18

,0
00

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
25

,0
00

   
   

   
   

   
   

  

Fa
ci

li
ti

e
s 

R
e

n
ta

ls
4%

11
,2

65
   

   
   

   
 

4%
11

,6
08

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
3%

11
,0

00
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
4%

14
,0

00
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

25
,0

00
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

A
d

m
is

si
o

n
s

1%
2,

71
2

   
   

   
   

   
1%

2,
75

9
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
1%

3,
25

0
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
1%

3,
50

0
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
4,

00
0

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

V
il

la
ge

 S
to

re
 R

e
ce

ip
ts

4%
11

,3
62

   
   

   
   

 
4%

11
,8

44
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

4%
12

,6
00

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

3%
13

,0
00

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
15

,0
00

   
   

   
   

   
   

  

O
th

e
r

0%
56

0
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

1%
1,

75
9

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

1%
2,

75
5

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

1%
3,

00
0

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

4,
00

0
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 

C
O

N
TR

IB
U

TI
O

N
S

1
4

%
4

1
,1

7
2

   
  

1
7

%
5

0
,0

5
0

   
   

   
 

2
2

%
7

5
,7

5
0

   
   

   
  

2
2

%
8

7
,0

0
0

   
   

   
 

2
1

%
9

8
,0

0
0

   
   

   
 

D
o

n
at

io
n

s
11

%
34

,4
34

   
   

   
   

 
14

%
42

,1
60

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
20

%
67

,0
00

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

19
%

75
,0

00
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

80
,0

00
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

Fu
n

d
ra

is
in

g 
Ev

e
n

ts
1%

2,
07

8
   

   
   

   
   

1%
2,

76
0

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

1%
2,

75
0

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

1%
5,

00
0

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

10
,0

00
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

M
e

m
b

e
rs

h
ip

s
2%

4,
66

0
   

   
   

   
   

2%
5,

13
0

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

2%
6,

00
0

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

2%
7,

00
0

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

8,
00

0
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 

C
O

R
P

O
R

A
TE

 (
Sp

o
n

so
rs

h
ip

s)
3

%
7

,6
5

0
   

   
 

7
%

2
0

,4
0

0
   

   
   

 
9

%
3

0
,0

0
0

   
   

   
  

1
5

%
6

0
,0

0
0

   
   

   
 

2
2

%
1

0
0

,0
0

0
   

   
  

FO
U

N
D

A
TI

O
N

S 
(G

ra
n

ts
)

1
9

%
5

8
,0

0
9

   
  

8
%

2
5

,6
9

2
   

   
   

 
8

%
2

5
,5

0
0

   
   

   
  

8
%

3
0

,0
0

0
   

   
   

 
6

%
3

0
,0

0
0

   
   

   
 

2
5

%
7

5
,0

0
0

   
  

2
5

%
7

5
,0

0
0

   
   

   
 

2
2

%
7

5
,0

0
0

   
   

   
  

1
9

%
7

5
,0

0
0

   
   

   
 

1
6

%
7

5
,0

0
0

   
   

   
 

TO
TA

L 
R

EV
EN

U
ES

3
0

2
,3

6
3

  
3

0
2

,8
1

9
   

   
  

3
3

7
,8

5
5

   
   

   
3

8
9

,5
0

0
   

   
  

4
6

2
,0

0
0

   
   

  

$ 
C

h
a

n
g

e
$4

56
$3

5,
03

6
$5

1,
64

5
$7

4,
14

5

%
 C

h
a

n
g

e
0.

2%
11

.6
%

15
.3

%
19

.0
%

FY
E 

20
15

FY
E 

20
16

P
ro

je
ct

e
d

FY
E 

20
12

FY
E 

20
13

A
ct

u
al

B
u

d
ge

t

FY
E 

20
14



 

Troy Historical Society 2013 Strategic Plan  Page 40 
 

 EX
P

EN
SE

S

SA
LA

R
IE

S 
&

 T
A

X
ES

5
1

%
1

5
0

,8
9

4
  

6
4

%
1

7
7

,3
4

6
   

   
  

18
%

6
8

%
2

3
0

,4
5

3
   

   
   

30
%

6
9

%
2

8
4

,3
6

5
   

   
  

23
%

6
5

%
3

0
5

,1
8

1
   

   
  

A
D

V
ER

TI
SI

N
G

4
%

1
2

,3
7

9
   

  
1

%
3

,3
2

4
   

   
   

   
 

2
%

8
,0

7
5

   
   

   
   

  
4

%
1

5
,0

0
0

   
   

   
 

7
%

3
5

,0
0

0
   

   
   

 

FU
R

N
IT

U
R

E,
 F

IX
TU

R
ES

 &
 E

Q
U

IP
M

EN
T

6
%

1
6

,4
1

0
   

  
6

%
1

6
,8

4
8

   
   

   
 

5
%

1
6

,8
4

2
   

   
   

  
4

%
1

8
,0

0
0

   
   

   
 

4
%

2
0

,0
0

0
   

   
   

 
FF

&
E

30
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
12

,4
27

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

Eq
u

ip
m

e
n

t 
R

e
n

ta
ls

16
,4

10
   

   
   

   
 

16
,8

19
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

4,
41

5
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   

P
R

O
G

R
A

M
 S

U
P

P
LI

ES
 &

 F
EE

S
4

%
1

2
,4

7
8

   
  

5
%

1
2

,7
2

8
   

   
   

 
3

%
1

1
,0

0
0

   
   

   
  

3
%

1
3

,0
0

0
   

   
   

 
4

%
1

7
,0

0
0

   
   

   
 

P
R

O
FE

SS
IO

N
A

L 
FE

ES
1

0
%

2
8

,9
7

3
   

  
8

%
2

1
,8

1
1

   
   

   
 

8
%

2
7

,7
0

0
   

   
   

  
8

%
3

2
,0

0
0

   
   

   
 

8
%

4
0

,0
0

0
   

   
   

 
P

ro
fe

ss
io

n
al

 F
e

e
s

23
,7

17
   

   
   

   
 

14
,0

07
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

18
,5

00
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 

H
o

n
o

ra
ri

a
2,

63
1

   
   

   
   

   
2,

66
9

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

4,
00

0
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   

P
e

rf
o

rm
e

rs
2,

62
5

   
   

   
   

   
5,

13
5

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

5,
20

0
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   

IN
TE

R
N

ET
 &

 W
EB

SI
TE

0
%

1
4

9
   

   
   

  
0

%
1

4
9

   
   

   
   

   
 

2
%

6
,5

0
0

   
   

   
   

  
2

%
6

,5
0

0
   

   
   

   
 

1
%

6
,5

0
0

   
   

   
   

 

A
U

D
IT

2
%

6
,9

0
3

   
   

 
2

%
4

,8
6

0
   

   
   

   
 

2
%

5
,2

0
0

   
   

   
   

  
1

%
5

,5
0

0
   

   
   

   
 

1
%

6
,0

0
0

   
   

   
   

 

ST
O

R
E 

P
U

R
C

H
A

SE
S

3
%

7
,5

7
9

   
   

 
2

%
6

,2
7

4
   

   
   

   
 

2
%

6
,7

7
5

   
   

   
   

  
2

%
7

,0
0

0
   

   
   

   
 

2
%

8
,0

0
0

   
   

   
   

 

P
R

IN
TI

N
G

1
%

3
,5

6
5

   
   

 
1

%
3

,1
4

4
   

   
   

   
 

1
%

4
,4

0
0

   
   

   
   

  
1

%
5

,0
0

0
   

   
   

   
 

1
%

6
,0

0
0

   
   

   
   

 

SU
P

P
LI

ES
1

%
3

,7
5

0
   

   
 

2
%

5
,2

3
3

   
   

   
   

 
1

%
4

,0
0

0
   

   
   

   
  

1
%

4
,5

0
0

   
   

   
   

 
1

%
6

,0
0

0
   

   
   

   
 

R
EP

A
IR

S 
&

 M
A

IN
TE

N
A

N
C

E
3

%
7

,6
4

5
   

   
 

4
%

1
0

,7
6

8
   

   
   

 
1

%
2

,6
0

0
   

   
   

   
  

1
%

5
,0

0
0

   
   

   
   

 
1

%
7

,0
0

0
   

   
   

   
 

O
TH

ER
3

%
9

,5
9

2
   

   
 

5
%

1
2

,8
8

0
   

   
   

 
4

%
1

4
,3

1
0

   
   

   
  

4
%

1
5

,0
0

0
   

   
   

 
3

%
1

5
,0

0
0

   
   

   
 

N
il

e
s-

B
ar

n
ar

d
 H

o
u

se
35

,6
06

   
   

   
   

 

TO
TA

L 
EX

P
EN

SE
S

2
9

5
,9

2
2

  
2

7
5

,3
6

6
   

   
  

3
3

7
,8

5
5

   
   

   
4

1
0

,8
6

5
   

   
  

4
7

1
,6

8
1

   
   

  
$ 

C
h

a
n

g
e

-$
20

,5
56

$6
2,

48
9

$7
3,

01
0

$6
0,

81
5

%
 C

h
a

n
g

e
-6

.9
%

22
.7

%
21

.6
%

14
.8

%

N
ET

 P
R

O
FI

T 
/ 

LO
SS

6
,4

4
1

   
   

 
2

7
,4

5
3

   
   

   
 

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

(2
1

,3
6

5
)

   
   

   
(9

,6
8

1
)

   
   

   
  



 

Troy Historical Society 2013 Strategic Plan  Page 41 
 

 

  



 

Troy Historical Society 2013 Strategic Plan  Page 42 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

X.  Appendix 

1. Troy Historical Society and City of Troy Agreement 

2. THS Board of Trustees 

3. Visitor Attendance Statistics (1994 – 2012) 

4. Troy Historic Village Staffing 

5. Peer Museum Analysis 

6. Troy Historic Village Master Site Development Plan 

a. Map 

b. Goals 

c. Phases / Capital Estimates 



 

Troy Historical Society 2013 Strategic Plan  Page 43 
 

  



 

Troy Historical Society 2013 Strategic Plan  Page 44 
 

1. Troy Historical Society and City of Troy Agreement 



 

Troy Historical Society 2013 Strategic Plan  Page 45 
 

  



 

Troy Historical Society 2013 Strategic Plan  Page 46 
 

 

 

 

AGREEMENT BY AND BETWEEN 

 THE CITY OF TROY AND THE TROY HISTORICAL SOCIETY  

 FOR USE, OPERATION AND MANAGEMENT OF   

 THE TROY MUSEUM & HISTORIC VILLAGE 

 

This Agreement is made this _____ day of __________, 2011 by and between 
the City of Troy, a Michigan Municipal Corporation, whose address is 500 W. Big 
Beaver Road, Troy, Michigan 48084, (“TROY”) and the Troy Historical Society, a 
Michigan non-profit corporation, whose address is 60 W. Wattles, Troy, Michigan 
48098, (“THS”), and collectively referred to as the “parties” hereby agree as follows: 

 
RECITALS 

 
A. WHEREAS, TROY has owned and operated a museum of local and regional 

history, now known as the Troy Museum & Historic Village (“Museum”) since 
1968. In the intervening years, the Museum has grown into a 4-acre campus with 
eleven (11) historic structures and has become a regional cultural destination; 
and 
 

B. WHEREAS, both the Museum and THS have adopted a Mission and Vision 
Statement by which the Museum and THS function (Exhibit 1); and 
 

C. WHEREAS, the Museum has provided outstanding programs regarding everyday 
life in historic times and access to buildings and displays in a historical setting to 
thousands of school children and the public for the purpose of providing 
educational and enrichment opportunities; and 
 

D. WHEREAS, THS is a 501(c ) (3) non-profit corporation incorporated in 1966 to 
support the formation of the TROY  Museum with volunteer services and 
significant financial donations in its mission to assist TROY in developing the 
Museum site, including, but not limited to, the movement  of historical buildings to 
the Museum grounds and the restoration of those buildings; and  
 

E. WHEREAS,  due to current economic conditions and budgetary constraints, 
TROY will no longer be able to keep the Museum open to the public after June 
30, 2011; and  
 



 

Troy Historical Society 2013 Strategic Plan  Page 47 
 

F.   WHEREAS, it is the mission of both TROY and THS is to continue to offer such 
outstanding  historical programs and access to the collections of exceptional 
historical buildings to educate students and the public regarding our history; and 
 

G. WHEREAS, TROY and THS have entered into discussions regarding allowing 
THS to use and manage the Museum property without compensation from TROY 
except as set out in this Agreement; and 
 
WHEREAS,  the parties desire to enter into this Agreement to facilitate the mutual 

goals of the parties. 

 

 

 NOW THEREFORE, THE PARTIES AGREE AS FOLLOWS: 

 

1. NON-PROFIT STATUS. THS represents and warrants that it is a Michigan non-profit 

corporation exempt from tax under Sec. 501 (c) (3) of the Internal Revenue Code and 

that it has the power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and to 

perform its obligations hereunder, and the execution, delivery and performance of 

this Agreement have been authorized by all necessary action, including the 

approvals and ratification by the THS Board of Trustees prior to the effective date 

hereof.  This Agreement shall only be effective if THS continues its status as a Michigan 

non-profit corporation with the same or similar mission and vision attached hereto as 

Exhibit 1. 

 

2. USE OF CITY PROPERTY.  TROY, in consideration of the mutual covenants and 

agreements contained herein, and for other valuable consideration, will allow THS the 

non-exclusive use of its property commonly known as the Troy Museum & Historic 

Village, located at 60 W. Wattles, TROY, Michigan 48084 (“Museum”), legally described 

on Exhibit 2, which is a locally designated Historic District.  The property includes the 

following structures:  
 

 Troy Township Hall, built on site in 1927, currently houses Museum offices, THS   
Museum Store and records, Pioneer Room for classes and meetings, reference 
library, and collections storage areas; 
 



 

Troy Historical Society 2013 Strategic Plan  Page 48 
 

 Log cabin, built circa 1840 in Monroe County, Michigan; 
 

 Caswell House, which is included on the National Register of Historic Places, was 
built in 1832 in Troy; 

 

 Poppleton School, a one-room, red brick schoolhouse built in 1877 in Troy;  
 

 A replica of Cutting’s General Store, originally located at Troy Corners, two miles 
north of the Museum, resembles its appearance in 1918. The Museum Archive is 
located on the second floor; 
 

 The Village Print Shop, an on-site, rebuilt water meter testing station, appointed to 
1910, containing two turn-of-the-century printing presses; 
 

 Wagon Shop, built at Troy Corners circa 1859, containing a functioning 
blacksmith’s forge and woodworking shop; 
 

 Troy Parsonage, built at Troy Corners circa 1880 and appointed with 1912 
furnishings, also has a collections workshop in the basement;  

 

 Troy Historic Church (formerly United Methodist Church of Troy), built at Troy 
Corners in 1837; 
 

 Town Hall, built circa 1864 in Troy as a one-room school now functions as an 
interactive learning area; 

 

 Gazebo, replica of a nineteenth century structure, serves as a focal point for music 
and activities in the Village; 

 

 Niles-Barnard House, built in 1837 at Troy Corners, now awaits interior restoration; 
 

 The residence at 109 Lange St., purchased for future Museum expansion and 
presently used by TROY and Museum for storage. 

 

 

      The use of the term “Museum” also refers to the land and improvements contained on the 

property known as 60 W. Wattles, Troy, Michigan 48084.  The Museum is to be occupied and 



 

Troy Historical Society 2013 Strategic Plan  Page 49 
 

used for the sole purpose of promoting the mission and vision of TROY and THS through 

mission and vision focused historical programs and under the requirements set out in this 

Agreement.  THS is limited to the use of the Museum for the period of July 1, 2011 to June 30, 

2016 unless this Agreement is terminated as set out in Paragraph 21 or unless those dates are 

amended under the procedures set out in Paragraph 20 of this Agreement. 

 

      The Museum shall remain the property of TROY at all times.  At any time, employees of 

TROY acting as agents on behalf of TROY, may enter onto the  

Premises for maintenance, service and inspection or for any other purpose set out in this 

Agreement. 

 

3. USE OF CITY COLLECTIONS AND OTHER EQUIPMENT AND ASSETS  

ON MUSEUM PROPERTY. TROY, in consideration of the mutual covenants and  

agreements contained herein, and for other valuable consideration, will allow THS the non-

exclusive use of its collections and assets located on the Museum property, including but not 

limited to, the following: historic furnishings; documentary and photographic artifacts (archives); 

domestic and agricultural implements: textiles and clothing, vehicles and other objects indicative 

of the lifestyles, customs, dress and resources of the residents, businesses, and government of 

the area. These items are either exhibited or stored in designated areas on site.  

 

TROY will also allow THS the non-exclusive use of its other Museum’s 

 equipment and assets, located on the Museum property, including but not limited to, 

office furniture and equipment, picnic tables, books, reference materials and other 

property used in the administration of the Museum. TROY has provided an inventory of 

all relevant equipment and assets on the Museum which may be used by THS 

(Exhibit 3). 

 

4. APPOINTMENT OF THS TO USE, MANAGE AND OPERATE THE MUSEUM.  

Based upon the prior experience of THS in assisting with the operation of the 



 

Troy Historical Society 2013 Strategic Plan  Page 50 
 

Museum, effective July 1, 2011, TROY grants to THS the right, subject to TROY’S 

approval as set out in this Agreement, to use, manage and operate the Museum and 

THS accepts the use, management and operation of the Museum in accordance with 

the terms of this Agreement. 

 

5. START-UP FUNDING BY TROY.  TROY agrees to provide a maximum amount  

of $50,000.00 as start-up funding for the purpose of allowing THS to retain consultants, 

and purchase equipment, supplies and materials to effectuate the transition from a 

TROY managed facility to a THS managed facility.  Funds shall be transferred on an as 

needed basis from TROY to THS upon documentation of the need for the service, 

equipment, supplies or materials. THS shall supply documentation to TROY of its efforts 

to obtain the best pricing available for quality services, equipment, supplies and 

materials. Request for funding shall be supplied to the Assistant City Manager/Finance 

& Administration.  All funding above $50,000.00 shall be the responsibility of THS 

unless otherwise set forth in this Agreement. 

 

6. NO COMPENSATION TO THS.  THS understands and acknowledges that  

TROY shall not and has no duty to compensate THS for any services performed under 

this Agreement except as set forth in this Agreement.  

 

7. DUTIES AND RESPONSIBILITIES OF THS. The duties and responsibilities of THS 

include all aspects of the use, operations and management of the Museum.  At the 

effective date of this Agreement, THS will maintain public hours of operation that will not 

exceed Monday through Sunday from 9:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m.  Additionally, facility rentals 

and/or special programs will conclude no later than 10:30 p.m.  Events outside of these 

hours will be scheduled only with prior approval of TROY’s contact person.  

 

Except as otherwise set out in this Agreement, THS will have sole discretion and 

authority to manage the day-to-day operations of the Museum, in accordance with the 

mission and vision of the Museum and THS, including, but not limited to the following:   

 



 

Troy Historical Society 2013 Strategic Plan  Page 51 
 

a. Employees, staffing and volunteers in compliance with Paragraph 8; 
b. Days and hours of operation; 
c. Customer service performance standards; 
d. Admission rates after consulting with TROY’S contact person; 
e. Rental rates for use of the premises by the public after consulting with TROY’S 

contact person; 
f. Collections and other operational policies and procedures; 
g. Present exhibits;  
h. Programs, products and interpretive services that are in keeping with the mission 

and vision statements of the Museum and THS; 
i. Care, preservation and use of Museum collections and historic buildings, in 

compliance with standards set by the American Association of Museums and the 
U.S. Department of Interior Standards for Historic Rehabilitation, consistent with 
current Museum policies;  

j. Provide inventory and merchandise for the Museum store;  
k. Oversee rental of the use of the Museum property to avoid damage by the public; 
l. Care, use and cleaning of Museum assets including, but not limited to, office 

furnishings and equipment. 
 

8. MUSEUM STAFF AND VOLUNTEERS. By the effective date of this Agreement  

and during the duration of this Agreement, THS shall employ a full-time Museum 

Director. THS will endeavor to select a Museum Director with history or museum 

studies, archival and/or other appropriate qualifications.  If THS retains other 

employees, such as but not limited to, a curator, archivist, interpreters or other 

professional staff, THS will endeavor to select individuals with appropriate qualifications. 

THS shall insure that all employees, staff members and volunteers be subject to a 

background check.  THS shall supply a list of current employees and volunteers on a 

quarterly basis to TROY’S contact person.  TROY may conduct its own background 

check of those employees and volunteers.  If TROY objects to THS employment or use 

of a specific individual, THS will cooperate with TROY to remove that individual from 

service on the Museum property. 

 

No volunteer shall be under the age of 14 years old.  Any volunteers that are between 

the ages of 14 and 18 years old, such as, but not limited to, school programs youth 

volunteers or Boy Scouts or Girls Scouts, shall be supervised at all times by Museum 

staff and/or an adult present at the site on behalf of the volunteers.  No minor volunteers 

shall be present during any activities or programs at which alcohol is served. 



 

Troy Historical Society 2013 Strategic Plan  Page 52 
 

 

9. ALLIANCES. THS, after consulting with TROY’S contact person, may enter into 

partnerships, collaborations, or other relationships with entities other than TROY to 

enhance the Museum’s mission-focused visitor experience, enhance operations, 

diversify sources of private or public funding, reduce costs, or realize other benefits or 

operational efficiencies. 

 

10. MUSEUM REVENUES. THS will retain all revenues earned from the Museum’s  

operations, including, but not limited to: admission fees; program revenues; museum 

store revenue; facilities or property rentals for private functions or use; revenues 

provided, or funds received, from federal, state or county sources; and all other 

revenues, funds, grants, donations or pledges, in cash or in kind (such as donations of 

property or securities) from any private or public source. Further, any revenues related 

to artifact or collections-related activities shall accrue to the THS. THS will continue to 

maintain and operate a Museum store and keep THS files and financial records at the 

Museum. All funds received by THS from Museum operations will be used to further and 

promote the general welfare and interests of the Museum. 

 

11. PROTECTION OF COLLECTIONS. THS recognizes that Museum archives and 

 collections are not financial assets and will adhere to the American Association of 

Museums Code of Ethics (1991), attached hereto as Exhibit 4, regarding the acquisition, 

accessioning, deaccessioning, and disposal of collections materials. Any property of 

TROY’S shall not be used as collateral by THS. THS shall not deaccess or dispose of 

any building or collection materials without TROY’s prior permission. New accessions 

donated to or purchased by THS will become the property of TROY.  If TROY 

authorizes the sale of any building or collection materials, any proceeds from the sale of 

any building or collection materials will be used only for the acquisition of new artifacts, 

or archival materials, or for the care of existing collections.  

 

12. SECURITY.  THS shall allow members of the Troy Police Department and/or any 



 

Troy Historical Society 2013 Strategic Plan  Page 53 
 

 other federal or state law enforcement agency onto the property at any time to ensure 

security of the premises. 

 

13. DUTIES AND RESPONSIBILITIES OF TROY.  

 

A. Utilities and Maintenance. To insure the continued integrity of the Museum  
assets, buildings and collections, whether or not the Museum is open to the public, 

and in recognition of TROY’S continued ownership of all Museum assets and 

collections, TROY will provide an annual operations appropriation to THS for the 

duration of this Agreement, which will be allocated for the following costs of 

maintaining the Museum at least at the level it was maintained from July 1, 2010 to 

June 30, 2011: 

 

1. Utilities to all Museum buildings, including heat, electricity and water;  
2. Maintain liability insurance for TROY;  
3. Building maintenance at the level of the 2010 fiscal year; 
4. Grounds maintenance, including mowing, snow removal, and fall clean-up at the 

level of the 2010 fiscal year; 
5. Trash removal from barrels on days the Museum is open to the public and 

emptying of dumpster on a regular basis. 
6. TROY will provide and pay for three (3) analog phone lines for security, fax and 

fire. THS will have the use of five (5) Troy computers and IP phones for Fiscal 
Year 2011/2012 and THS will pay a total of $13,925.00 for those services in 
quarterly installments of $3,481.25 each on October 1st, January 1st, April 1st and 
July 1st. During the term of this Agreement or if this Agreement is extended 
under  Paragraph 20, THS will notify TROY in writing, by January 15th of each 
year if THS intends to renew, change or discontinue using Troy computers and 
IP phones. After the July 1, 2012 payment under this Paragraph, if THS 
continues to use computers or IP phones, the new quarterly payments will be 
adjusted in accordance with Troy’s fiscal year budget for computers and IP 
phones.   

7. TROY will provide the use of a copier until the lease on that copier expires on 
November 30, 2011.  THS will pay for the lease cost of the copier of $108.30 per 
month until the expiration of that lease. Five (5) days before the expiration of the 
copier lease, TROY shall be given possession of the copier.  If TROY chooses 
to continue to lease the copier under a new lease agreement and THS notifies 
TROY that it wished to continue to have use of the copier, THS will be provided 
with the use of the copier at the month rate set out in any new lease agreement. 
If TROY does not enter into a renewal lease agreement for the copier, THS will 

be required to provide for its own copier, unless TROY and THS make other 



 

Troy Historical Society 2013 Strategic Plan  Page 54 
 

arrangement for use of another copier as long as THS makes the monthly 

payments for the copier lease in accordance with TROY’S fiscal year budget. 

If other arrangements are made with TROY, the copier will be returned to TROY 

at the termination of this Agreement or when THS no longer desires to use the 

copier. When any copier supplied by TROY is returned to TROY, THS will no 

longer be responsible for monthly payments. 

  

All remaining costs of using, managing and operating the Museum will be the 

responsibility of THS. 

 

 

B. Repairs and Improvements. TROY will provide a separate capital  
fund, through the annual budget process, to insure that the Museum grounds and all 

buildings, which are included in a locally designated Historic District, are maintained 

in compliance with Chapter 13, the local preservation ordinance, State of Michigan 

statutes and the U.S. Department of Interior Standards for Historic Rehabilitation. All 

appropriations to the fund will be used by the THS, with TROY’s prior approval, to 

make repairs and improvements, as approved by TROY’s Historic District 

Commission and in consultation with TROY’S contact person. In the event of 

catastrophic damage, TROY will work in consultation with THS and the Historic 

District Commission to implement appropriate restorations in compliance with the 

Department of Interior Standards for Historic Restoration. The fund will be renewed 

each year to a minimum balance of $50,000, with any fund balance remaining at 

year’s end carried over to the next year.  All monies in this fund shall remain the 

property of TROY. 

 

C. Miscellaneous Items.  
 

1. TROY shall continue to pay licensing fees for the Museum for 
performance rights organizations such as the American Society of 
Composers, Authors and Publishers (ASCAP), Broadcast Music 
Incorporated (BMI) and Society of European Stage Authors and 
Composers (SESAC). 



 

Troy Historical Society 2013 Strategic Plan  Page 55 
 

 

2. TROY shall transfer maintenance of Museum collections electronic 
database (PastPerfect) to THS.   

 

14. KRESGE FOUNDATION GRANT TRANSFER. TROY agrees to transfer to THS 

$20,000.00 in grant monies previously awarded to the TROY Museum and Historic 

Village by the Kresge Foundation for operation of the Museum and Historic Village but 

only if Kresge Foundation approves the transaction in writing. That grant money is due 

to be released to TROY in August, 2011.  THS acknowledges that it is required by both 

this Agreement and the conditions of the grant to use that grant money for operation of 

the Museum in accordance with its mission and vision statement.  

 

15. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND REPORTS.  By July 31st of each year, THS shall 

furnish an annual report of its activities with respect to the Museum, to TROY. This report shall 

include the following subject matters: 

 
a. Itemized revenues and expenses; 
b. Fund raising activities; 
c. Number of visitors during the reporting period; 
d. The schedule of hours of operation of the Museums during the reporting period 

and the average number of hours per week that the Museum was open to the 
public during the reporting period; 

e. List of major accessions and deaccessions. 
 

By November 30th of each year, THS shall deliver a copy of its annual financial 
statements for the previous fiscal year, audited, compiled or reviewed by an 
independent certified public accountant, to TROY.  
 

16. Insurance. THS shall carry general liability insurance,  personal property insurance, 

workers compensation, and  motor vehicle liability,  and for any actions, claims, liability or 

damages caused to others arising out of the performance of this Agreement in amounts 

approved by TROY and set forth in the attached Exhibit 5 – Sample Certificate of Insurance.  

TROY shall be named as an additional insured on the general liability insurance using the 

following wording: “City of Troy, all elected and appointed officials, all employees and 



 

Troy Historical Society 2013 Strategic Plan  Page 56 
 

volunteers, boards, commissions and/or authorities and their board members, employees, and 

volunteers are additional insureds” on ISO form B or broader.  

 

TROY shall be notified of any cancellation or material change of any insurance 

within 30 days.  The cancellation clause shall read: 

 

 “Should any of the above-described policies be canceled or materially  

       changed before the expiration date thereof, the issuing company will  

   provide 30 days written notice to the additional insured.” 

 

 Cancellation of the insurance shall be considered a material breach of this 

Agreement, and the Agreement shall become null and void unless THS immediately provides 

proof of renewal of continuous coverage to TROY.  All insurance carriers shall be licensed and 

admitted to do business in the State of Michigan and acceptable to TROY. 

 

Proof of insurance meeting these requirements shall be provided to TROY within 24 

 hours after execution of this Agreement. 

 

THS is responsible for any deductibles for any of the policies. THS shall furnish to  

TROY three (3) complete copies of the acceptable Certificates of Insurance.  If any of the 

policies expire during the term of the Agreement, THS shall deliver renewal certificates and/or 

policies to TROY at least ten (10) days prior to the expiration date.  

 

17. INDEMNIFICATION. To the fullest extent permitted by law, THS agrees to  

defend, pay on behalf of, indemnify, and hold harmless TROY, its elected and appointed 

officials, employees and volunteers and others working on behalf of TROY,  against any and all 

claims, demands, suits, or loss, including all costs connected therewith, and for any damages 

which may be asserted, claimed or recovered against or from TROY,  its elected and appointed 



 

Troy Historical Society 2013 Strategic Plan  Page 57 
 

officials, employees, volunteers or others working on behalf of TROY, by reason of personal 

injury, including bodily injury or death and/or property damage, including loss of use thereof, 

which arises out of or is in any way connected or associated with the execution of activities by 

THS as outlined in this Agreement or as relating to or resulting from those activities. 

 

18. ALCOHOL AND TOBACCO USE. THS shall prohibit the use of tobacco on  

the Museum property at all times. The use of alcohol on Museum property shall be prohibited 

unless there is a valid permit issued by the Michigan Liquor Control Commission. Persons who 

refuse to cooperate with this requirement shall be removed from the premises by THS and/or 

law enforcement personnel. 

 

19. DUTY TO NOTIFY AND COOPERATE. The parties shall provide notice within  

twenty-one (21) days of the receipt of any claim for damages or injuries.  The parties 

shall cooperate with the defense of any claims subject to the indemnification provisions 

of Paragraph 17. 

 
20. TERM OF AGREEMENT.  This Agreement shall remain in effect for a five 
(5) year period beginning on July 1, 2011 unless terminated by either party as set out in 
Paragraph 21.  Within sixty (60) days prior to the end of the term of this Agreement, 
THS shall notify TROY that it desires to continue to perform the services described in 
the original Agreement.  At that time, Troy City Council may decide to renew the 
Agreement for an additional five (5) year period.  Thereafter, Troy City Council has three 
(3) options to renew the Agreement for five (5) year periods.  
  

21. TERMINATION AND SURRENDER OF PREMISES.  TROY or THS for any 

Reason may terminate this Agreement upon one hundred twenty (120) days written notice to 

the other party. Notice shall be provided as set out in Paragraph 29. THS 

shall peaceably surrender the Museum premises to TROY immediately when requested to do 

so by TROY in the same condition as the date of first use of the Museum premises by THS, 

excepting normal wear and tear.   

 

22. TAXES.  THS agrees to pay any and all sales, use or other taxes that may be 



 

Troy Historical Society 2013 Strategic Plan  Page 58 
 

 legally due and owing to any governmental agency as a result of its use, operation, occupation 

and/or management of the Museum. 

 

23. ACCOUNTING.  For the purpose of ascertaining revenues and expenditures,  

THS agrees to maintain records showing all income, expenditures and other receipts with 

respect to THS’s use, operation and/or management of the Museum. TROY shall have the right 

to examine THS’s records at any time. THS further agrees to meet with the City Manager of 

TROY or his/her designee when requested, but at least once a calendar year, for the purpose of 

jointly evaluating the continued use, operation and/management of the Museum.  THS shall 

further provide to TROY an annual verification or certification status as a Michigan Non-Profit 

Organization.  THS will provide an annual report to TROY and include financial reporting of 

revenues, expenditures and programming reviews and set out in Paragraph 15. 

 

24. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR RELATIONSHIP.  THS is an independent  

contractor and as such shall have full authority and responsibility to discharge the duties 

imposed upon it hereunder without restrictions other than those imposed by or pursuant 

to this Agreement. Nothing contained in this Agreement shall constitute the parties as 

partners or joint venturers for any purpose, it being the express intention of the parties 

that no such partnership or joint venture exists and that each party has only those 

duties to the other that are specified in this Agreement. 

 

25. DOCUMENTATION.  TROY and THS agree that they will execute and deliver  

any documents which may be necessary to implement this Agreement.  

 

26. NO AUTHORITY TO BIND OTHER PARTY. THS, its Board of Trustees and its 

Officers, shall not have any right or authority to bind or obligate TROY, nor shall 

TROY have any right or authority to bind or obligate THS, without the other party's prior 

written consent. 

 

27. NON-ASSIGNABILITY. THS’s privilege to use, operate and manage the  



 

Troy Historical Society 2013 Strategic Plan  Page 59 
 

Museum premises shall be solely in connection with this Agreement. THS shall not transfer or 

assign this Agreement or any rights hereunder. This Agreement is non-assignable in whole or in 

part. 

 

28. CONTACT PERSONS. TROY will contact the President of THS regarding issues 

of concern regarding use, operation and management of the Museum premises and this 

Agreement. In the absence or unavailability of the President, TROY will contact the individual 

named by the President as his/her designee. For concerns regarding the day to day use, 

operation and management of the Museum premises, THS will contact the City Manager or an 

individual named as his/her designee.  

 

It is the intent of this Agreement that THS will cooperate with TROY in accommodating TROY’s 

concerns regarding management of the Museum, including, but not limited to, the amount of 

fees charged for admission so that members of the general public will not be prohibited 

financially from visiting the Museum, using its facilities and/or participating in its programs.  If, 

after consultation with TROY’s contact person, there is a dispute between TROY and THS 

regarding a management, funding or admission issue, the parties agree to abide by the decision 

of the Assistant City Manager/Finance & Administration.  

 

 
29. NOTICES.  All notices required under this Agreement shall be in writing and be  

sent by certified mail addressed to the respective party at the address indicated below or at 

such other address as the parties shall designate in writing.  A change in address may be 

effected by a letter sent via first class mail by either party to the other.  Notices regarding 

termination shall be sent by certified mail return receipt requested.  In the alternative, notices of 

termination may be given by personal service on the party.   

     

  To the CITY- 

City Manager 

TROY City Hall 

500 W. Big Beaver Rd. 



 

Troy Historical Society 2013 Strategic Plan  Page 60 
 

TROY, MI 48084 

 

 

With copies to- 

 

TROY City Clerk 

TROY City Hall 

500 W. Big Beaver Rd. 

TROY, MI 48084 

 

and  

 

      TROY City Attorney 

      TROY City Hall 

500 W. Big Beaver Rd. 

TROY, MI 48084 

 

      To THS -  

      

Troy Historical Society 

Attention:  President 

60 W. Wattles Rd.  

TROY, MI 48098 

 

30. ENTIRE AGREEMENT; AMENDMENT; WAIVER. This Agreement is and shall 



 

Troy Historical Society 2013 Strategic Plan  Page 61 
 

be deemed to be the complete and final expression of the agreement among the parties 

as to the matters contained in and related to this Agreement and supersedes any 

previous understandings, dealing and communications, including negotiations, 

discussions, representations, warranties, information, documents and agreements, 

among the parties pertaining to such matters. This Agreement shall not be modified or 

amended except pursuant to a written agreement signed by both parties. Any waiver of 

any party's rights or obligations under this Agreement must be in writing and must be 

signed by the party against which such waiver is to be enforced. No party's failure to 

exercise a right or to invoke a remedy in any particular circumstance shall be construed 

as a waiver of such right or remedy, and no waiver by either party of any right or 

remedy in one situation shall constitute a waiver of such party's rights or remedies in 

any other subsequent situation, whether similar or not. 
 

31. SEVERABILITY.  If any court, agency, commission, legislative body or other 
authority of competent jurisdiction declares invalid, illegal or unenforceable any 
portion of this Agreement or its application to any person, that decision shall not affect 
the validity of the remaining portions of this Agreement. 
 
32. NO THIRD PARTY BENEFICIARIES. Except to the extent expressly  
contemplated in this Agreement, the obligations undertaken by TROY and THS 
in this Agreement are for the benefit of TROY and THS only, and neither any creditor 
of TROY and THS, nor any other party, shall have the right to rely on or enforce the 
provisions of this Agreement as a thirty-party beneficiary or otherwise. 
33. COMPLIANCE WITH THE LAW. THS shall comply with all Federal and State  

laws, and TROY’s Code of Ordinances. THS shall comply with all permit and licensing 

requirements, including, but not limited to, acquiring any permits or licenses required under 

those laws.  

     

34. NON-DISCRIMINATION. THS shall not discriminate in the hiring of any 

employees or contractors, in its use of volunteers or in its use of the Premises, directly or 

indirectly on the basis of age, race, color, religion, national origin, sex, height, weight, disability, 

familial relationship, political orientation or any other illegal basis. 

 
35. GOVERNMENTAL IMMUNITY. By entering into this Agreement, TROY in no way gives up 
its right to claim governmental immunity or any other defense provided to governmental entities 
under Federal or State law, on behalf of itself, all elected and appointed officials, all employees 
and volunteers, those working as agents or on behalf of TROY, its boards, commissions and/or 
authorities, or board members, employees, and volunteers. 

 
36. SECTION HEADINGS. The Section headings contained in this Agreement 



 

Troy Historical Society 2013 Strategic Plan  Page 62 
 

have been inserted only as a matter of convenience and for reference and will not be 
construed to define, limit or describe the scope or intent of any provision of this 
Agreement 
 
37. GOVERNING LAW.  This Agreement shall be governed by and interpreted in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Michigan. In the event any provision of this 
Agreement is in conflict with any statute or rule of any law in the State of Michigan or is 
otherwise unenforceable for any reason whatsoever, then that provision shall be 
deemed severable from or enforceable to the maximum extent permitted by law, as the 
case may be, and that provision shall not invalidate any other provision of this 
Agreement. Venue for any action brought under this Agreement shall lie in Oakland 
County Circuit Court, Michigan.  
  
38. CERTIFICATION OF AUTHORITY TO SIGN AGREEMENT.  The persons signing this 

Agreement on behalf of the parties hereto certify by their signatures that they are  

duly authorized to sign on behalf of said parties and that this Agreement has been authorized by 

said parties. 

 

WITNESSES:   

 

_________________________ 

 

_________________________ 

CITY OF TROY, 

a Michigan Municipal Corporation 

 

By:       

 Louise E. Schilling, Mayor 

 

By:       

 Tonni Bartholomew, City Clerk 

 
  



 

Troy Historical Society 2013 Strategic Plan  Page 63 
 

  



 

Troy Historical Society 2013 Strategic Plan  Page 64 
 

  

2. 2013 Troy Historical Society Board of Trustees 

 



 

Troy Historical Society 2013 Strategic Plan  Page 65 
 

  



 

Troy Historical Society 2013 Strategic Plan  Page 66 
 

Troy Historical Society 
Board of Trustees 2012-13 

Last Name First 
Name 

Officers Affiliations 

Anderlie Gloria  Long-time resident, Oakland County, Michigan 

Barnard Cheryl 

 

President Retail Associate; Medical Transcriber, Great Lakes Medical 
Evaluations 

Chambers Barbara  Code Enforcement Officer, City of Clawson; member, Troy 
Historic District Commission 

Iceman Alison Newsletter 
Ed. 

Environmental Services Specialist, HealthCure 

Iceman Judy Vice 
President 

Administration and Sales, SunTel Services; troop leader, Girl 
Scouts of America, five years 

Jackson Sherrill  Instructor, Troy Nature Society; Retired Project Manager, EDS;       
Docent, Detroit Zoological Society 

Jarrait James  Retired teacher 

Kerwin Mary  Development and Special Events Director, Boys & Girls Club of 
Troy 

Lavender John Treasurer Retired Networking Consultant, IBM; volunteer instructor, 
Troy Senior Computer Center; President, St. Augustine 
Lutheran Church & School Foundation  

Lavender Sue Membership 
Chair 

Retired bookkeeper; Recording Secretary, State Board 
Lutheran Child and Family Service Auxiliary; member and Past 
Treasurer, Oakland County Quilt Guild 

Nowosatko Michael  Small business owner; graphic designer; Committee Chairman, 
Troop 1701, Boy Scouts of America  

Randol Ward Asst. 
Treasurer 

Attorney, Dickinson Wright LLC; member, Troy Downtown 
Development Authority 

Rounds Fred  Retired engineer, General Motors 

Siess Judy  Retired, Michigan Family Independence Agency; past Board 
member, YWCA of Metro Detroit 

 

 

 

 

  

 



 

Troy Historical Society 2013 Strategic Plan  Page 67 
 

Stewart Cynthia Community Affairs Director, City of Troy; Past President, Board 
of Directors, Boys & Girls Club of Troy; Board of Directors, Troy 
People Concerned; Board of Directors, Troy Youth Assistance  

Strong Jonathan  Account Vice President, Financial Advisor, UBS; active leader, 
Boy Scouts of America; member, Troy Chamber of Commerce  

Toth Ann  Middle School teacher, Holy Name Catholic School 

Zuza David  Independent Distributor, LIFEVANTAGE; Economic 
Development Committee, Troy Chamber of Commerce; 
strategic planner 

 

 



 

Troy Historical Society 2013 Strategic Plan  Page 68 
 

  

3. Troy Historic Village Attendance Summary 



 

Troy Historical Society 2013 Strategic Plan  Page 69 
 

 

  



 

Troy Historical Society 2013 Strategic Plan  Page 70 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Attendance Summary 1994- present 

          FY Year 
 

Ed. Programs 
  

Public Programs 
  

Total Attendance 
 

  
On site + Outreach 

  
and Visitors 

    
          
          1993/94 

 
4275 

  
11,247 

  
15,522 

 1994/95 
 

N/A 
  

N/A 
  

N/A 
 1995/96 

 
N/A 

  
N/A 

  
N/A 

 1996/97 
 

N/A 
  

N/A 
  

N/A 
 1997/98 

 
8541 

  
4528 

  
13,069 

 1998/99 
 

11,125 
  

6,562 
  

17,687 
 1999/00 

 
10,639 

  
7,283 

  
17,922 

 2000/01 
 

9,612 
  

6,973 
  

16,585 
 2001/02 

 
9,308 

  
6,510 

  
15,818 

 2002/03 
 

10,741 
  

6,403 
  

17,144 
 2003/04 

 
10,964 

  
9,917 

  
20,881 

 2004/05 
 

10,722 
  

12,111 
  

22,833 
 2005/06 

 
10,568 

  
15,457 

  
26,025 

 2006/07 
 

10,984 
  

13,862 
  

24,846 
 2007/08 

 
11,035 

  
14,246 

  
25,281 

 2008/09 
 

12,252 
  

13,767 
  

26,019 
 2009/10 

 
N/A 

  
N/A 

  
N/A 

 2011/12 
 

11,767 
  

7,566 
  

19,333 
 2012/13 

 
12,012 

  
6,788 

  
18,800 

  



 

Troy Historical Society 2013 Strategic Plan  Page 71 
 

 

 

 

 

 

  



 

Troy Historical Society 2013 Strategic Plan  Page 72 
 

  

4. Troy Historic Village Staff 



 

Troy Historical Society 2013 Strategic Plan  Page 73 
 

  



 

Troy Historical Society 2013 Strategic Plan  Page 74 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Troy Historic Village Staff 

FYE2013 

Staff Position Number of 
Staff 

Full Time Equiv. Primary Responsibility 

Executive Director 1 1.0 Administration 

Program Directors 2 1.1 Adult and youth programs and 
services development , scheduling, 
and evaluation 

Volunteer management 

Sr. Historic Interpreters 3 1.05 Provide programs for school groups 

Jr. Historic Interpreters 1 .03 Preschool programming 

Marketing Coordinator 1 .40 Website, social media, print 
materials layouts 

Facilities Attendants 2 .06 

 

On site supervision during facilities 
rentals 

 



 

Troy Historical Society 2013 Strategic Plan  Page 75 
 

  



 

Troy Historical Society 2013 Strategic Plan  Page 76 
 

  

5. Peer Museum Analysis 



 

Troy Historical Society 2013 Strategic Plan  Page 77 
 

 

 



 

Troy Historical Society 2013 Strategic Plan  Page 78 
 

  D
e

st
in

at
io

n
M

e
m

b
e

r
A

d
u

lt
Se

n
io

r
Y

o
u

th
C

h
il

d
W

e
e

k
Sa

t
Su

n
A

d
d

it
io

n
al

 In
fo

rm
at

io
n

Tr
o

y 
H

is
to

ri
c 

V
il

la
ge

Fr
e

e
3.

00
$3

 
$2

 <
 6

 F
re

e
Tu

e
 -

Th
u

 1
0-

3
Fr

e
e

 p
ar

ki
n

g

B
ir

m
in

gh
am

 H
is

to
ri

ca
l

Fr
e

e
5.

00
65

+ 
- 

$3

6 
- 

18
 

$3
<5

 f
re

e
W

e
 -

 F
ri

 1
 -

4
1 

- 
4

C
e

m
e

te
ry

 w
al

k 
$1

0p
re

/$
15

 g
at

e
. N

o
 M

A
P

 

d
u

ri
n

g 
C

iv
il

 W
ar

 e
xh

ib
it

C
ra

n
b

ro
o

k 
In

st
 o

f 
Sc

ie
n

ce
Fr

e
e

12
.5

0

65
+ 

- 

$9
.5

0

13
+ 

- 

$1
2.

50

2 
- 

12
   

$9
.5

0

M
o

n
 -

 T
h

u
rs

 

10
 -

 5
 a

n
d

  F
ri

 

10
 -

 1
0

10
 -

 5
12

 -
 4

Fr
i 5

 -
 1

0 
p

m
 A

d
u

lt
 $

5.
50

; C
h

il
d

/S
e

n
io

r 
$4

.5
0;

 

M
A

P
 F

ri
d

ay
 e

ve
 o

n
ly

.  
  W

in
te

r,
 c

lo
se

d
 

M
o

n
d

ay
.

D
e

tr
o

it
 C

h
il

d
re

n
's

 

M
u

se
u

m
Fr

e
e

$5
 

$5
 

$3
 <

 2
 f

re
e

M
o

n
 -

 F
ri

 9
-4

10
 -

 4
 

D
e

tr
o

it
 H

is
to

ri
ca

l 

M
u

se
u

m
Fr

e
e

6.
00

60
+ 

-$
 4

5 
- 

17
  

$4
< 

4 
Fr

e
e

W
e

d
 -

Fr
i  

9:
30

 -
 

3:
00

10
 -

 5
12

 -
 5

P
ar

ki
n

g 
- 

$4
   

   
   

 D
o

ce
n

t-
le

d
 t

o
u

rs
 d

ai
ly

 1
2 

- 
3;

   
  

B
lu

e
 S

ta
r;

   
 3

rd
 S

u
n

d
ay

 f
re

e

D
e

tr
o

it
 S

ci
e

n
ce

 C
e

n
te

r
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  

D
o

ss
in

 G
re

at
 L

ak
e

s 

M
u

se
u

m
Fr

e
e

Fr
e

e
Fr

e
e

Fr
e

e
Fr

e
e

sc
h

o
o

l t
o

u
rs

 

b
y 

ap
p

t.
11

 -
 4

11
 -

 4
fr

e
e

 p
ar

ki
n

g

M
I H

is
to

ri
ca

l M
u

se
u

m
$6

 
$4

 
2*

M
o

n
 -

 F
ri

 9
:0

0 
- 

4:
30

10
 -

 4
1 

- 
5

* 
(C

h
il

d
re

n
's

 a
d

m
is

si
o

n
 o

p
ti

o
n

al
) 

P
ar

ki
n

g 
fe

e
 

to
 M

D
O

T

M
I W

o
m

e
n

's
 H

is
to

ri
ca

l 

C
e

n
te

r 
&

 H
al

l o
f 

Fa
m

e
Fr

e
e

$2
.5

0 
$2

 
$1

 
<5

 f
re

e

W
e

d
 -

 S
at

 1
2-

4 
 1

st
 S

u
n

 2
 -

 4
21

3 
W

 M
ai

n
 S

t.
, L

an
si

n
g 

48
93

3 
(5

17
) 

48
4-

18
80

R
o

ch
e

st
e

r 
H

il
ls

 M
u

se
u

m
$5

 6
0+

 -
 $

3

k 
- 

12
 

$3

p
re

-k
 

Fr
e

e
Fr

i 1
 -

 4
1 

- 
4

A
D

M
IS

SI
O

N
S



 

Troy Historical Society 2013 Strategic Plan  Page 79 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

FA
C

IL
IT

IE
S 

R
EN

TA
LS

 

Fa
ci

lit
y 

R
e

n
ta

l 
Ti

m
e

 
A

d
d

it
io

n
al

 
A

d
d

it
io

n
al

 S
er

vi
ce

s,
 A

rr
an

ge
m

e
n

ts
 

  
  

  
  

  

Tr
o

y 
H

is
to

ri
c 

V
ill

ag
e 

W
ed

d
in

g 
- 

$
6

0
0

 
4

 h
o

u
rs

, 
to

ta
l 

$
6

0
/h

r 
W

e
d

d
in

g 
co

st
 in

cl
u

d
es

 1
 h

o
u

r 
re

h
ea

rs
al

 

  
  

  
  

  

D
o

ss
in

 G
re

at
 L

ak
e

s 
M

u
se

u
m

 
D

eR
o

y 
H

al
l -

 $
5

0
0

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

En
ti

re
 M

u
se

u
m

 -
 

$
1

,5
00

 

4
 h

o
u

rs
 +

 
2

.5
 

se
t/

cl
ea

n
 

u
p

 
  

To
u

rs
 -

 $
2

5
/h

r/
d

o
ce

n
t;

  A
V

 p
ac

ka
ge

 -
 $

2
5

/h
r;

 
A

V
+ 

- 
$

5
0

/h
r;

 S
to

re
 $

2
5

/h
r 

  
  

  
  

  

Em
er

so
n

 U
U

 C
h

u
rc

h
 

W
ed

d
in

g 
-$

4
2

5
   

   
   

R
eh

ea
rs

al
 -

 $
7

5
   

   
   

   
   

  
$

7
5

/h
r,

 
m

in
. 2

 h
r 

  

  
  

  
  

  

O
ak

w
o

o
d

 W
ed

d
in

g 
C

h
ap

el
, 

C
la

ss
ic

   
 2

7
50

 N
. B

al
d

w
in

, 
O

xf
o

rd
, M

I 4
83

71
   

   
   

   
   

   
(2

48
) 

4
31

-7
5

56
 

(2
6 

- 
18

0
 g

u
es

ts
) 

- 
$

65
0

 

2
 h

o
u

rs
 

  

M
in

is
te

r 
- 

$
1

7
5

; i
n

vi
ta

ti
o

n
s;

 c
an

d
le

s;
 

gu
es

tb
o

o
ks

; b
al

lo
o

n
s;

 h
o

rs
e

-d
ra

w
n

 c
ar

ri
ag

e;
 

p
h

o
to

s 
$

2
2

5
 a

n
d

 u
p

; t
u

xe
d

o
 -

$
9

9
 

  
  

  
  

  

O
ak

w
o

o
d

 W
ed

d
in

g 
C

h
ap

el
, 

In
ti

m
at

e 
U

p
 t

o
 2

5
 g

u
es

ts
 -

 
$

4
7

5
 

1
 1

/2
 h

o
u

rs
 

  

M
in

is
te

r 
- 

$
1

7
5

; i
n

vi
ta

ti
o

n
s;

 c
an

d
le

s;
 

gu
es

tb
o

o
ks

; b
al

lo
o

n
s;

 h
o

rs
e

-d
ra

w
n

 c
ar

ri
ag

e;
 

p
h

o
to

s 
$2

2
5

 a
n

d
 u

p
; t

u
xe

d
o

 -
$

9
9

 

  
  

  
  

  

R
o

ch
es

te
r 

H
ill

s 
M

u
se

u
m

 
$

60
0

 -
 r

es
id

en
t 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
$

70
0

 -
 n

-r
 

3
 h

o
u

rs
 

$
2

0
0

/h
r 

  

 



 

Troy Historical Society 2013 Strategic Plan  Page 80 
 

 

 

H
al

f-
D

ay
 P

ro
gr

am
s

St
u

d
e

n
ts

A
d

u
lt

s
Lu

n
ch

O
th

e
r 

In
fo

rm
at

io
n

Tr
o

y 
H

is
to

ri
c 

V
il

la
ge

$5
$5

C
ra

n
b

ro
o

k 
In

st
it

u
te

 o
f 

Sc
ie

n
ce

$8
$1

0
$4

.7
5

M
in

. g
ro

u
p

 =
 2

0;
 1

 f
re

e
 c

h
ap

e
ro

n
e

/3
 (

P
-k

 &
 K

) 
1/

5 
G

ra
d

e
 1

 a
n

d
 a

b
o

ve

Tw
o

 p
ro

gr
am

s 
= 

$1
2,

 t
h

re
e

 =
 $

14
, 4

 =
 $

16

D
e

tr
o

it
 H

is
to

ri
ca

l M
u

se
u

m
$5

$5
n

o
R

e
se

rv
e

 lu
n

ch
ro

o
m

 =
 $

15

D
H

M
 S

to
ry

 L
iv

in
g

D
H

M
 H

is
to

ri
c 

M
ac

ki
n

ac
 o

n
 T

o
u

r
o

n
e

 w
e

e
k 

(i
n

 M
ar

ch
 2

01
1)

D
SC

, s
ch

o
o

l a
ge

$6
e

xh
ib

it
s,

 p
lu

s 
th

re
e

 d
e

m
o

s/
sh

o
w

s 
in

 t
h

re
e

 t
h

e
at

e
rs

D
SC

, p
re

-K
 t

h
ro

u
gh

 K
$5

K
id

s 
To

w
n

 +
 IM

A
X

 o
r 

p
la

n
e

ta
ri

u
m

M
ic

h
ga

n
 H

is
to

ry
 M

u
se

u
m

$5
$5

 f
o

r 
h

o
m

e
-s

ch
o

o
le

d
 s

tu
d

e
n

ts
, p

ar
e

n
ts

 a
n

d
 s

ib
li

n
gs

 f
re

e

R
o

ch
e

st
e

r 
H

is
to

ry
 M

u
se

u
m

$5
$5

Fu
ll

-D
ay

 P
ro

gr
am

s
St

u
d

e
n

ts
A

d
u

lt
s

Tr
o

y 
H

is
to

ri
c 

V
il

la
ge

$7
$7

D
SC

$1
0

Ex
h

ib
it

s,
 t

h
re

e
 d

e
m

o
s 

+ 
IM

A
X

 o
r 

p
la

n
e

ta
ri

u
m

En
h

an
ce

d
 P

ro
gr

am
s

C
iv

il
 W

ar
 C

am
p

 (
TH

V
)

$1
5

$1
5

W
at

e
r 

te
st

in
g 

(C
IS

)
$1

2
$1

4

A
rc

h
ae

o
lo

gy
 (

C
IS

)
$1

0

O
u

tr
e

ac
h

 P
ro

gr
am

s
Sm

al
l

La
rg

e

TH
V

u
p

o
n

 r
e

q
u

e
st

C
IS

$2
25

 (
m

ax
. 3

0)
$3

00
 (

m
ax

. 1
50

)

D
SC

$3
00

/1
st

 h
r 

+ 
$1

50
 a

d
d

l

V
ir

tu
al

 P
ro

gr
am

s

C
IS

$1
25

Fe
e

 p
e

r 
cl

as
sr

o
o

m
 -

 3
0 

st
u

d
e

n
ts

 m
ax

im
u

m

R
EV

EN
U

E 
A

N
A

LY
SI

S:
 S

TU
D

EN
T 

P
R

O
G

R
A

M
S



 

Troy Historical Society 2013 Strategic Plan  Page 81 
 

 

 

 

P
U

B
LI

C
 P

R
O

G
R

A
M

S

Le
ct

u
re

s
M

e
m

b
e

rs
N

o
n

m
e

m
b

e
rs

O
th

e
r 

p
u

b
li

c 
p

ro
gr

am
s

Tr
o

y 
H

is
to

ri
c 

V
il

la
ge

Fr
e

e
$5

B
ir

m
in

gh
am

 H
is

to
ri

ca
l M

u
se

u
m

N
o

t 
o

ff
e

re
d

N
o

t 
o

ff
e

re
d

C
e

m
e

te
ry

 t
o

u
r 

- 
$1

0

C
ra

n
b

ro
o

k 
In

st
it

u
te

 o
f 

Sc
ie

n
ce

Fr
e

e
$1

0

D
e

tr
o

it
 H

is
to

ri
ca

l S
o

ci
e

ty
Fr

e
e

$1
0

Fi
lm

s 
- 

fr
e

e
 w

it
h

 a
d

m
is

si
o

n

R
o

ch
e

st
e

r 
A

vo
n

 H
is

to
ri

ca
l S

o
c.

Fr
e

e
Fr

e
e

Le
ct

u
re

s 
o

p
e

n
 t

o
 t

h
e

 p
u

b
li

c.

Se
as

o
n

al
/S

p
e

ci
al

 E
ve

n
ts

A
d

u
lt

s
St

u
d

e
n

ts
Se

n
io

rs
Ev

e
n

ts

Tr
o

y 
H

is
to

ri
c 

V
il

la
ge

$5
 -

 $
8

$0
 -

 $
4

$5
 -

 $
8

$5
 -

 H
al

lo
w

e
e

n
; $

6 
- 

Fa
rm

 F
e

st
iv

al
; $

8 
- 

C
h

ri
st

m
as

B
ir

m
in

gh
am

 H
is

to
ri

ca
l M

u
se

u
m

N
o

t 
o

ff
e

re
d

N
o

t 
o

ff
e

re
d

N
o

t 
o

ff
e

re
d

C
ra

n
b

ro
o

k 
In

st
it

u
te

 o
f 

Sc
ie

n
ce

N
o

t 
o

ff
e

re
d

N
o

t 
o

ff
e

re
d

N
o

t 
o

ff
e

re
d

D
e

tr
o

it
 H

is
to

ri
ca

l M
u

se
u

m
$6

$0
 in

 c
o

st
u

m
e

Tr
e

at
s 

in
 t

h
e

 S
tr

e
e

ts
; V

ic
to

ri
an

 C
h

ri
st

m
as

 T
e

a 
- 

$2
5

R
o

ch
e

st
e

r 
H

il
ls

 M
u

se
u

m
$5

$3
$3

R
e

ve
n

u
e

 A
n

al
ys

is
: P

u
b

li
c 

P
ro

gr
am

s



 

Troy Historical Society 2013 Strategic Plan  Page 82 
 

 

 

 M
e

m
b

e
rs

h
ip

s
B

as
ic

U
p

gr
ad

e
St

u
d

e
n

t
Se

n
io

r
Fa

m
il

y
N

o
n

p
ro

fi
tB

u
si

n
e

ss
To

p
 L

e
ve

l
N

e
w

sl
e

tt
e

r
O

th
e

r 
b

e
n

e
fi

ts
, f

e
at

u
re

s

Tr
o

y 
H

is
to

ri
c 

V
il

la
ge

$2
0 

$3
0 

$5
0 

$1
00

 $
20

0 
- 

li
fe

ye
s

Fr
e

e
 a

d
m

is
si

o
n

; o
n

e
-t

im
e

 

st
o

re
 d

is
co

u
n

t;
 n

e
w

sl
e

tt
e

r

B
ir

m
in

gh
am

 

H
is

to
ri

ca
l S

o
ci

e
ty

$4
0 

$4
00

 -
 

h
e

ri
ta

ge
ye

s

A
n

n
u

al
 p

u
b

li
ca

ti
o

n
; n

e
w

 

m
e

m
b

e
rs

 o
n

e
 f

re
e

 p
u

b
li

ca
ti

o
n

C
ra

n
b

ro
o

k 
In

st
 o

f 

Sc
ie

n
ce

$5
0 

$8
5 

$4
5 

$6
5 

$3
50

 

ye
s 

+ 
e

-

n
e

w
s

M
e

m
b

e
rs

 M
at

te
r 

Ev
e

n
ts

; A
ST

C
 

re
ci

p
ro

ci
ty

 (
30

0+
)

D
e

tr
o

it
 H

is
to

ri
ca

l 

M
u

se
u

m
$4

0 
$2

0 
$6

5 
$5

00
 

ye
s

$5
 o

ff
 a

ll
 r

e
n

e
w

al
s;

 T
im

e
 

Tr
av

e
le

rs
 r

e
ci

p
ro

ca
l p

ro
gr

am
 

(1
87

 m
e

m
b

e
rs

);
 D

o
ss

in
 

M
ar

it
im

e
 G

ro
u

p
 +

 $
20

M
I H

is
to

ri
ca

l 

M
u

se
u

m
$4

0 
$6

0 
$1

00
 

ye
s

Fr
ie

n
d

s 
o

f 
M

ic
h

ig
an

 H
is

to
ry

M
I W

o
m

e
n

's
 

H
is

to
ri

ca
l C

e
n

te
r 

&
 H

al
l o

f 
Fa

m
e

$3
0 

$4
0 

$1
5 

$5
0 

$7
5 

$7
5 

Sp
o

n
so

r 
- 

$1
00

ye
s

N
e

w
sl

e
tt

e
r;

 f
re

e
 a

d
m

is
si

o
n

; 

10
%

 g
if

t 
sh

o
p

 d
is

co
u

n
t;

 f
re

e
 

gr
o

u
p

 t
o

u
r 

&
 r

o
o

m
 r

e
n

ta
l

R
o

ch
e

st
e

r 
A

vo
n

 

H
is

to
ri

ca
l S

o
ci

e
ty

$1
8 

$3
5 

$2
5 

$7
5 

$2
50

 
ye

s
N

e
w

sl
e

tt
e

r

R
o

ch
e

st
e

r 
H

il
ls

 

M
u

se
u

m
 a

t 

V
an

H
o

o
se

n
 f

ar
m

30
; 3

 

yr
s 

fo
r 

$7
5

40
; 3

 y
rs

 

fo
r 

$1
05

50
; 3

 

yr
s 

fo
r 

$1
35

$2
50

 
ye

s

Fr
e

e
 a

d
m

is
si

o
n

 t
o

 f
ac

il
it

ie
s 

an
d

 

so
m

e
 p

ro
gr

am
s

M
EM

B
ER

SH
IP

S



 

Troy Historical Society 2013 Strategic Plan  Page 83 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  



 

Troy Historical Society 2013 Strategic Plan  Page 84 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

6. Troy Historical Society Master Site Development Plan 



 

Troy Historical Society 2013 Strategic Plan  Page 85 
 

  



 

Troy Historical Society 2013 Strategic Plan  Page 86 
 

 

 

 



 

Troy Historical Society 2013 Strategic Plan  Page 87 
 

  



 

Troy Historical Society 2013 Strategic Plan  Page 88 
 

TROY MUSEUM MASTER PLAN GOALS 

October 7, 2008 

Site Improvements 

Cohesive use of entire site 

Clear entry and circulation 

Environmentally sensitive (Green) stormwater management 

Provide additional onsite parking to support daily educational functions and options for 

overflow parking from special events 

 

Expanding the Visitor Experience 

Welcoming and safe entry 

Relocating of the Niles-Barnard House and inclusion into the interpretive program 

Relocation of a barn and inclusion into the interpretive program 

Provide a large gathering and meeting place 

Provide opportunities for education 

Challenges 

 Locations and orientations of existing buildings 

50 foot setback of buildings and parking around perimeter of site 

Areas with poor drainage 

  



 

Troy Historical Society 2013 Strategic Plan  Page 89 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

Troy Historical Society 2013 Strategic Plan  Page 90 
 

 

 

 

 

 



 

Troy Historical Society 2013 Strategic Plan  Page 91 
 

 

 

 



 

Troy Historical Society 2013 Strategic Plan  Page 92 
 

 

 

 

 

 



 

Troy Historical Society 2013 Strategic Plan  Page 93 
 

 

 

 

 

 



 

Troy Historical Society 2013 Strategic Plan  Page 94 
 

 

 

 



1 
 

 
October 3, 2013 
 
 
TO:   Honorable Mayor and City Council 
 
FROM: Brian Kischnick, City Manager 
  Lori Bluhm, City Attorney 
  Mark Miller, Director of Economic and Community Development 
  Glenn Lapin, Economic Development Specialist  
  Steven J. Vandette, City Engineer/Project Manager 
 
SUBJECT: Transit Center Status Report – October 2013 
 
This memo provides an update on the status of Transit Center project. 
 
Construction 
 
Transit Center construction is nearly 100% complete, with only a handful of items remaining.  Those 
items include final inspection of the elevators by the state, programming of the passenger information 
display inside the building and installation of the last remaining signs.  The Transit Center is in the 
process of receiving final inspections and approvals from the Building Department, Fire Department 
and AMTRAK.  It is estimated that all necessary approvals will be received by the end of this month. 
 
Since the addition of the crash wall last spring there have been no major surprises.  The building, 
bridge, platform and all other construction items proceeded smoothly and within budget.  Even with 
the crash wall, the project is being completed ahead of the original October 31, 2013 completion date, 
as set under the terms of the federal grant.      
 
As you may recall, the construction contract with Tooles/Clark is based on a guaranteed maximum 
price (GMP).  Any cost above the GMP is born by Tooles/Clark; any cost below represents money 
saved.  It is estimated that when the Transit Center is fully complete, the final cost will be 
approximately $100,000 below the $6.4 million dollar grant received from the FRA.  The attached 
spreadsheet shows a remaining balance of approximately $670,000, but additional payments are still 
in process and final payment to the engineers and contractor have not been made.      
 
AMTRAK Lease 
 
The AMTRAK Lease is nearly complete and ready for approval after many months of negotiations 
with AMTRAK and MDOT.  Operation and Maintenance costs were the primary focus of our attention 
as we worked to sort out how these costs would be handled under the federal Passenger Rail 
Investment and Improvement Act (PRIIA).  In the end we were successful with AMTRAK agreeing to 
reimburse the City for all operation and maintenance cost for the facility and commons area.  Under 

CCOOUUNNCCIILL    RREEPPOORRTT  
 

  

bittnera
Text Box
C-05/O-02a



2 
 

PRIIA, AMTRAK will be reimbursed these costs by MDOT.  We anticipate that the lease agreement 
will be presented to council for approval in the near future, as soon as the AMTRAK attorneys 
complete their review and any last remaining details are addressed. 
 
Funding 
 
In September, after working through many technical details with SMART, MDOT and the Federal 
Transit Administration (FTA), a request by SMART to repurpose $1.625 million in appropriations was 
entered into FTA's Transportation Electronic Award Management (TEAM) system.  This appropriation 
includes $1.3 million secured by Congressman Gary Peters for the Transit Center and a $325,000 
match from MDOT.  It is requested that these funds be used if needed for land acquisition. 
 
Status of the Lawsuit 
 
The City has filed its application for leave to appeal to the Michigan Supreme Court.  It is unknown 
when the Michigan Supreme Court will issue its decision. 
 
Property Acquisition Plan 
 
The City’s legal strategies for insuring continuous ownership of the property can be discussed in a 
closed session. 
      
Transit Center Business Opportunities 
 
City Management, in partnership with the Troy Chamber of Commerce, continues to advance the 
business opportunity components of the Troy Transit Center.  The following progress has been made 
in recent weeks: 
 

• A marketing brochure has been completed.  The brochure highlights demographic information, 
ridership data and other relevant information for potential sponsors.  A copy is attached. 

• Suggested sponsorship levels have been formulated to help guide interested parties.  These 
suggested sponsorship levels include a Platinum Level for naming rights, along with Gold, 
Silver and Bronze levels.  Our intent is to provide flexibility in order to meet the needs of the 
potential business sponsor and the transit center.  A copy is attached. 

• A sponsorship informational packet has been assembled, including the brochure, site plan, 
rendering and suggested sponsorship levels.  These packets are being provided to interested 
parties. 

• Both the Troy Chamber and City Management are actively contacting potential business 
sponsors directly to assess interest.  Transit Center tours with prospective businesses have 
begun.  These tours are being arranged to show the significant construction progress being 
made and to encourage sponsorship participation. 

• To date, approximately 9 tours have either taken place or have been scheduled.  Feedback 
from these tours has been very positive.  Verbal commitments of approximately $6,000 have 
been made to date. 
 
 
G:\Transit Center\Status Reports to Council\October_2013_Status Report.doc 



Creating an  
Environment for Investment…

Mark Miller 
Director of Economic &  
Community Development
MillerMF@troymi.gov
248.524.3330

Glenn Lapin 
Economic  
Development Specialist
G.Lapin@troymi.gov
248.524.3314

Cindy Stewart  
Community  
Affairs Director
Cindy.Stewart@troymi.gov
248.524.1147

City of Troy  
Economic & Community Development Team

500 W. Big Beaver Road • Troy, Michigan  48084  •  www.troymi.gov

Transit 
Center

Troy 
MulTI-Modal

Troy Chamber of Commerce

Ara Topouzian, President & CEO 
ara@troychamber.com
248. 641.0197  •  www.troychamber.com

Sponsorships  
Available



Did You Know?
•  Nationally, AMTRAK ridership is at a record high with 

31.2 million passengers for the 2012 fiscal year.
•  AMTRAK Ridership has increased by 50% since 2000.
•  More than 20,000 AMTRAK passengers utilized the 

former, unimproved transit stop in 2012.
•  18,200 SMART Bus riders are expected to stop 

adjacent to the new Transit center annually.
•  The new Multi-Modal Troy Transit Center is located 

across Coolidge from the Oakland-Troy Airport.
•  The new Troy transit facility will offer the modern 

facilities and parking necessary to accommodate 
today’s passengers.

Troy is a place where families and 
businesses thrive.  a community of 
more than 81,000 residents recognized 
for its excellent quality of life, this 
“safest city in oakland County” with 
an a+ rated school system and city 
services was named by Family Circle 
Magazine as one of the Top Ten Best 
Towns for Families.  

as one of detroit’s northern suburbs, 
Troy is home to 6,400 flourishing 
businesses — including some of the 
most advanced technology companies 
in the world — that employ 129,000 
people. a strategic location also puts 
residents and visitors within easy 
reach of a wide variety of recreational 
and cultural opportunities. Troy’s 
unique location in the heart of oakland 
County, only 20 minutes from detroit 
with access to I-75, I-696 and M-59, 
offers residents and businesses a 
tremendous competitive advantage, 
including attractive neighborhoods, 
excellent schools, prime shopping and 
employment opportunities.

Ridership Demographics
In 2012, the AMTRAK route from Pontiac to Chicago had 495,000 passengers.
In 2011, MDOT Intercity Passenger Rail Survey indicated that at the  
Troy area rail station:  

•  The median passenger age was 44.4 years,  
with 61% male and 39% female ridership

• Median passenger household income was $81,300
•  The station generated over $2.8 million  

in economic impact  
in 2011, with a  
$47.08 impact  
per passenger

Resident and Business Population
•  81,000 Population -  

Largest in Oakland County
•  175,000 Daytime Population (SEMCOG)
•  6,400 Businesses
•  7 Million sq ft of Retail Space
•  21 Million sq ft of Office Space
•  16 Million sq ft of Manufacturing Space

› › › Learn more at www.troymi.gov

Distance to Major Markets
(Miles)

Downtown Detroit .......... 23

Ann Arbor ....................... 51

Jackson .......................... 79

Kalamazoo ................... 142

Michigan City, IN .......... 228

Chicago, IL ..................284

AMTRAK Wolverine Route
High Speed Trains up to 110 mph!



TROY TRANSIT CENTER SPONSORSHIP OPPORTUNITIES 

Platinum Level 
• Naming Rights 
• Ten-Year Opportunity 
• Negotiated Terms for Signage, Recognition, Product Placement, etc. 
• City Council Recognition 

 
Gold Level 

• $5,000 per year 
• Five-Year Opportunity 
• Prominent Signage Placement 
• Recognition on Sponsorship Wall 
• Terms may be negotiated 
• City Council Recognition 

 
Silver Level 

• $2,500 per year 
• Three-Year Opportunity 
• Signage Placement 
• Recognition on Sponsorship Wall 
• Terms may be negotiated 
• City Council Recognition 

 
Bronze Level 

• $1,000 per year 
• Three-Year Opportunity 
• Recognition on Sponsorship Wall 

 
Custom Level 

• All terms to be negotiated 
 



City of Troy Reimbursement Request Number 16
Multi-Modal Transit Facility
MDOT Contract Number 2011-0231
MDOT Project Number 113143
AGENDA: CAB

 Invoice 
Number 

 Architectual 
and 

Engineering 
 Pre 

Construction 
 General 

Conditions 
 Management 

Services 
 Consultant 

Fee  Total CMR 

 Total 
Professional 

Services 
 % 

Comp.  Hard Costs 

 Owner 
Reimbursable 

Soft Costs  Total 
 % 

Comp.  Grand Total 
 % 

Comp. 

MDOT Contract  Award 1,958,004.00   6,527,208.00       8,485,212.00           
City of Troy Project Reduction1 (380,410.24)     (1,484,065.76)     (1,864,476.00)          

City of Troy Contract Award2       648,648.76           34,563.00    390,494.00        320,878.00        183,010.00           928,945.00 1,577,593.76   4,463,550.00   579,592.24        5,043,142.24       6,620,736.00           
Cost Transfer       125,454.28                          -                        -                           -                           -                              -   125,454.28      -                     (125,454.28)      (125,454.28)         -                             
Prior Costs Incurred       730,193.44           34,518.08    305,659.18        313,335.01        148,400.00           801,912.27 1,532,105.71   3,530,476.45   245,976.31        3,776,452.76       5,308,558.47           

Current Costs:
Hubbell Roth & Clark                            -   -                     -                         -                             
Transfer DTE Energy3                            -   -                     -                         -                             
Tooles-Clark 22,978.76     29,194.95         22,562.00                    74,735.71 74,735.71        568,434.11       568,434.11          643,169.82              
Transfer AT&T3                            -   -                     -                         -                             
Transfer Ground Penetrating Radar Systems4                            -   -                     -                         -                             
Transfer Level 3 Communications, LLC 5                            -   -                     -                         -                             
Transfer ITC Transmission6                            -   -                     -                         -                             
Sprint PCS -                         -                             
Consumers Energy -                         -                             
Simplex Grinnell -                         -                             

-                         -                             
Total Current Costs -                    -                     22,978.76     29,194.95         22,562.00        74,735.71           74,735.71        568,434.11       -                      568,434.11          643,169.82              

Total Project Costs Incurred to Date 730,193.44     34,518.08         328,637.94   342,529.96      170,962.00      876,647.98         1,606,841.42   94.4% 4,098,910.56   245,976.31        4,344,886.87       86.2% 5,951,728.29           89.9%

Remaining Balance 43,909.60        44.92                 61,856.06     (21,651.96)       12,048.00        52,297.02           96,206.62        364,639.44       208,161.65        572,801.09          669,007.71              

Current Reimbursement 643,169.82              

1Per Council Resolution #2012-01-009, total cost not to exceed $6,272,500
2 Not to exceed contracts
3Relocation of overhead utilities to underground
4 GPR search for underground utilities
5 Telecommunications facility inspection
6 De-energize Troy-Wheeler 120kV transmission circuit

Professional Services: Construction:
Construction Manager at Risk (CMR):

13-Sep-13



 

 
 

1 
 

CCIITTYY  CCOOUUNNCCIILL  AAGGEENNDDAA  IITTEEMM  
 Date:             September 27, 2013              

 
To:   Brian Kischnick, City Manager     
  
From:  Mark F. Miller, Director of Economic and Community Development 
  Glenn Lapin, Economic Development Specialist 
 
Subject: Public Hearing:  Adoption of Brownfield Redevelopment Plan #6 for MJR 

Troy Grand – 100 E. Maple Road 
 
 
The following is a summary of the proposed plan.  Details may be found in the provided 
back-up materials. 
 
Project Overview 
 
Due to State statute notification timing requirements, City Council voted at its 
September 23, 2013 meeting to continue the Public Hearing to the October 7, 2013 City 
Council Meeting.  At the October 7, 2013 meeting, BRA Redevelopment Plan #6 may 
be voted on.  An option to extend the tax capture for an additional five years to build the 
Local Site Remediation Revolving Fund (LSRRF) is also offered. 
 
MJR Group, LLC intends to demolish and redevelop the vacant former Kmart 
Department Store and site, located at the southeast corner of E. Maple Road and 
Livernois, with a new digital movie theater complex.  The old Kmart Building totals 
approximately 118,201 square feet.  The new theater complex will be 74,000 square 
feet with 16 screens including an Epic Studio.  Individual theater seating capacity will 
range from 101 seats to 440 seats (3200 total seats).  The new theater complex will 
include a lobby area, concessions, and bar area.  The $16 million project will also 
include the installation of new asphalt, sidewalks, and landscaping surrounding the 
theater building. Approximately 70 new jobs are expected to be created serving 800,000 
patrons annually. 
 
 
Brownfield Redevelopment Plan #6 Purpose   
 
In order to promote the revitalization of environmentally distressed and functionally 
obsolete areas within the boundaries of the City of Troy, the City established the City of 
Troy Brownfield Redevelopment Authority (TBRA) pursuant to the Brownfield 
Redevelopment Financing Act, Michigan Public Act 381 of 1996, and as amended.  The 
primary purpose of this Brownfield Redevelopment Plan is to promote the 
redevelopment and private investment of the 100 E. Maple Road property within the 
City of Troy.  Inclusion of this property within this Plan will facilitate financing of eligible 

stewartc
Text Box
E-01



 

 
 

2 
 

CCIITTYY  CCOOUUNNCCIILL  AAGGEENNDDAA  IITTEEMM  
 environmental remediation activities associated with the project.  By facilitating the 

redevelopment of Brownfield properties, this Plan is intended to promote economic 
growth for the benefit of Troy residents. 
 
Eligible Activities 
 
Demolition of the current vacant building will require the removal of fluorescent light 
tubes, PCB ballasts, mercury vapor bulbs and mercury switches, fire extinguishers, 
CFC refrigerants, hydraulic lifts, facility owned pad mounted transformer (includes 
packaging, transportation and disposal/recycling), asbestos abatement activities and air 
monitoring, and removal, disposal, and sampling oversight associated with the five 
hydraulic hoists. 
 
The entire project also includes the completion of Phase I and Phase II Environmental 
Site Assessments (ESA), Baseline Environmental Site Assessment (BEA), and Due 
Care Plan. 
 
Reimbursable Costs 
 
The TBRA provides project assistance through its LSRRF and through the 
reimbursement of eligible activities through tax increment financing.   
 
For the MJR Troy Grand project, the LSRRF would reimburse the cost of Due Care 
Activities, Demolition and associated activities, and the preparation of the Brownfield 
Plan in the total amount of $498,079.  The LSRRF would subsequently be reimbursed 
from tax increment financing revenues, based on the increased value of the 
redeveloped property, over the estimated eight-year payback period.  
 
Tax increment financing revenues would also reimburse the cost of the Environmental 
Site Assessments and Brownfield Plan Application Fee in the total amount of $11,585. 
 
Estimate of Captured Taxable Value and Tax Increment Revenues 
 
The taxable value of the real property was $1,025,640 for the current tax year; no 
personal property is associated with the site.  The estimated taxable value of the 
completed development is $4,500,000.  This assumes a one-year phase-in for 
completion of the redevelopment, which has been incorporated into the tax impact and 
cash flow assumptions for this plan.  An annual increase in taxable value of 1% has 
been used for the calculation of future tax increments in this plan. 
 
 
 
 



 

 
 

3 
 

CCIITTYY  CCOOUUNNCCIILL  AAGGEENNDDAA  IITTEEMM  
 Duration of Brownfield Plan 

 
The duration of Brownfield Redevelopment Plan #6 Version A is the period required 
to reimburse all eligible activities including an additional five years of capture to 
continue building the LSRRF.   
 
The duration of Brownfield Redevelopment Plan #6 Version B proposes to reimburse 
all eligible activities not including an additional five years of capture to continue 
building the LSRRF.     
 
Troy Brownfield Redevelopment Authority Action 
 
At its August 27, 2013 Special Meeting, a resolution was made and approved by the 
TBRA to recommend approval of Brownfield Redevelopment Plan #6 including an 
additional five years of tax capture to continue building the LSRRF.  A copy of the draft 
meeting minutes is attached. 
 
Recommendation 
 
City Management recommends to the City Council that Brownfield Redevelopment Plan 
#6 Version B for the proposed MJR Troy Grand, located at 100 East Maple Road, Troy, 
Michigan, be approved.  A sample resolution is provided for your consideration. 
 
City Council may determine whether or not the capture of Brownfield Redevelopment 
Plan #6 tax increment revenue shall continue for an additional five years in order to 
continue building the LSRRF (as reflected in Version A). A sample resolution is provided 
for your consideration.  
 
 
 
_____________________________________              _________________________ 
City Attorney’s Review as to Form and Legality             Date 
 
 
Attachments 
 

1. Troy Brownfield Redevelopment Plan #6 Version A – MJR Troy Grand 
2. Troy Brownfield Redevelopment Plan #6 Version B – MJR Troy Grand 
3. Troy Local Site Remediation Revolving Fund Application 
4. Troy Brownfield Redevelopment Authority Draft Minutes from the August 27, 

2013 Special Meeting  
5. Public Notice language 
6. BRA Affidavit of Obsolescence 



 

 

ISO 9001 REGISTERED 

 

ENVIRONMENTAL CONSULTING AND ENGINEERING SERVICES NATIONWIDE I WWW.PMENV.COM 
 

Q U A L I T Y      S E R V I C E      S O L U T I O N S  

 

P R O V I D I N G  S E R V I C E S  N A T I O N W I D E  

 
C o r p o r a t e  H e a d q u a r t e r s   –   L a n s i n g  M i c h i g a n  

Toll free: 800-485-0090 – Corporate fax: 877-884-5775 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

TROY BROWNFIELD 
REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 

 
 

BROWNFIELD PLAN 
(Version A: Includes 5 year additional capture to LSRRF,  

as approved by the BRA) 
 

August 23, 2013 
 

FOR THE PROPOSED MJR TROY GRAND 
LOCATED AT 100 EAST MAPLE ROAD,  

TROY, MICHIGAN 
 

 
 

 
Prepared on Behalf of: 
  
MJR Group, LLC 
41000 Woodward Avenue, Suite 135 East 
Bloomfield Hills, Michigan 48304 
Contact Person:  Mr. Michael Mihalich 
Telephone: (248) 548-8282 
 
Prepared By: 
 
PM Environmental, Inc. 
4080 West Eleven Mile Road 
Berkley, Michigan 48072 
Contact Person:  Michael T. Kulka, P.E., C.P. 
Telephone:  (248) 336-9988 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Brownfield Plan for the Proposed MJR Troy Grand at 100 East Maple Road, Troy, MI 
PM Project No. 02-6518-1; August 23, 2013 

 

 

 PM Environmental, Inc. 
Table of Contents  

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 
PROJECT SUMMARY 1 

I. INTRODUCTION AND PURPOSE 2 

II. GENERAL DEFINITIONS AS USED IN THIS PLAN 2 

III. BROWNFIELD PROJECT 3 

 SUBJECT PROPERTY ................................................................................................. 3 

 PROJECT DESCRIPTION ............................................................................................ 4 

 BROWNFIELD PLAN ELEMENTS ................................................................................ 4 

 A. Description of Costs to Be Paid for With Tax Increment Revenues and 
Summary of Eligible Activities ....................................................................................... 4 

 B. Estimate of Captured Taxable Value and Tax Increment Revenues ................. 5 

 C. Method of Financing and Description of Advances by the Municipality ............. 5 

 D. Maximum Amount of Note or Bonded Indebtedness ......................................... 5 

 E. Duration of Brownfield Plan .............................................................................. 5 

 F. Estimated Impact of Tax Increment Financing on Revenues of Taxing     
Jurisdictions .................................................................................................................. 6 

 G. Legal Description, Property Map, Statement of Qualifying Characteristics and 
Personal Property ......................................................................................................... 6 

 H. Estimates of Residents and Displacement of Families ...................................... 6 

 I. Plan for Relocation of Displaced Persons ......................................................... 7 

 J. Provisions for Relocation Costs ........................................................................ 7 

 K. Strategy for Compliance with Michigan’s Relocation Assistance Law ............... 7 

 L. Description of Proposed Use of Local Site Remediation Revolving Loan Fund. 7 

 M. Other Material that the Authority or Governing Body Considers Pertinent ......... 8 

 
 
APPENDICES 
 
Appendix A Legal Description  
Appendix B Functional Obsolescence Documentation 
Appendix C Site Maps 
Appendix D Tax Increment Financing Estimates  
Appendix E Asbestos Inspection 
Appendix F Baseline Environmental Assessment  
 



Brownfield Plan for the Proposed MJR Troy Grand at 100 East Maple Road, Troy, MI 
PM Project No. 02-6518-1; August 23, 2013 

 

PM Environmental, Inc. 
Page 1 

 

 
PROJECT SUMMARY 
 
 
Project Name: 
 

MJR Troy Grand 
 

Project Location: 
 

The property is located in Township Two (2) North (T. 2N), 
Range eleven (11) east (R. 11E), Section 34, Troy, Oakland 
County, Michigan.  
 

Type of Eligible  
Property: 
 

Property is determined to be functionally obsolete by City 
Assessor Nino Licari, MMAO (4), PPE.   
 
The property is also considered a Facility 
 

Eligible Activities: 
 

Developer TIF Reimbursed Activities: 
Environmental Assessments, BRA Application Fee 
 
Local Site Remediation Revolving Fund TIF Reimbursed 
Activities: Due Care Activities, Demolition (including Building 
and Site Demolition, Asbestos Abatement Activities, Air 
Quality Monitoring, and Lighting Removal/Disposal, Brownfield 
Plan Preparation 
 

Reimbursable Costs: 
 

Developer TIF Reimbursement: $11,585 for Environmental 
Site Assessments and Brownfield Plan Application Fee 
 
Local Site Remediation Revolving Fund TIF Reimbursement: 
$498,079 for Eligible Activities 
  

Years to Complete  
Payback to RLF: 
 

Approximately 8 years 

Estimated Capital  
Investment: 
 

Approximately $16 Million 

Project Overview:     MJR Group, LLC intends to demolish and redevelop the 
currently vacant underutilized property with a new Digital Cinema.  The new Cinema will 
include 74,000 square feet with 16 Screens including an Epic Studio. Seating capacity will 
range from 101 seats to 440 seats.  The new theater will include a lobby area, concessions, 
and bar area. The project will include installation of new asphalt, sidewalks, and landscaping 
surrounding the theater building.    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Brownfield Plan for the Proposed MJR Troy Grand at 100 East Maple Road, Troy, MI 
PM Project No. 02-6518-1; August 23, 2013 

 

PM Environmental, Inc. 
Page 2 

 

I. INTRODUCTION AND PURPOSE 
 
In order to promote the revitalization of environmentally distressed and blighted areas within 
the boundaries of the City of Troy (“the City”), the City has established the City of Troy 
Brownfield Authority (TBRA) pursuant to the Brownfield Redevelopment Financing Act, 
Michigan Public Act (PA) 381 of 1996, as amended.  
 
The primary purpose of this Brownfield Plan (“Plan”) is to promote the redevelopment of and 
private investment in certain “Brownfield” properties within the City.  Inclusion of property within 
this Plan will facilitate financing of environmental response and other eligible activities at 
eligible properties, and will also provide tax incentives to eligible tax payers willing to invest in 
revitalization of eligible sites, commonly referred to as Brownfields.  By facilitating 
redevelopment of Brownfield properties, this Plan is intended to promote economic growth for 
the benefit of the residents of the City. 
 
The Property is currently zoned MRF – Maple Road (form based zones), is commercially 
developed, and located in an area of the City of Troy characterized by commercial and 
residential Properties.  
 
The identification or designation of a developer or proposed use for the eligible property that is 
subject to this Plan shall not be integral to the effectiveness or validity of this Plan.  This Plan is 
intended to apply to the eligible property identified in this Plan and, to identify and authorize the 
eligible activities to be funded.  Any change in the proposed developer or proposed use of the 
eligible property shall not necessitate an amendment to this Plan, affect the application of this 
Plan to the eligible property, or impair the rights available to the Authority under this Plan. 
 
This plan is intended to be a living document which may be modified or amended as necessary 
to achieve the purposes of Act 381.  The applicable sections of Act 381 are noted throughout 
the plan for reference purposes. 
 
This Brownfield Plan contains information required by Section 13(1) of Act 381. 
 
This Brownfield Plan is of a single phase associated with the redevelopment of the property.   
 
II. GENERAL DEFINITIONS AS USED IN THIS PLAN 
 
Terms used in this Brownfield Plan are defined as provided in the following statutes, as 
appropriate: 
 
The Brownfield Redevelopment Financing Act, 1996 Mich. Pub. Acts. 381, M.C.L. § 125.2651 
et seq., as amended. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Brownfield Plan for the Proposed MJR Troy Grand at 100 East Maple Road, Troy, MI 
PM Project No. 02-6518-1; August 23, 2013 

 

PM Environmental, Inc. 
Page 3 

 

III. BROWNFIELD PROJECT  
 
SUBJECT PROPERTY 
 
The subject property consists of one (1) legal parcel with a street address of 100 East Maple 
Road, Troy, Michigan.  The tax ID number of the subject property is 88-20-34-101-023. The 
parcel number and legal description are also included in Appendix A. 
 
The parcels and all tangible personal property located thereon will comprise the eligible 
property and is referred to herein as the “Property”. 
 
The subject property included in this plan can be considered “eligible property” as defined by 
Section 2 of Act 381, as amended because (a) it is located within the City of Troy; and (b) the 
Property is determined to be functionally obsolete as determined by City Assessor Nino Licari, 
MMAO (4), PPE.   
 
100 East Maple Road (88-20-34-101-023) 
 
Standard and other historical sources indicate the subject property was developed prior to 
1940 for agricultural purposes.  Agricultural activities ceased between 1957 and 1963, and the 
central portion of the current building was constructed in 1964.  Additions were constructed in 
1968, 1992, and 2000.  The property was occupied by various retail stores, restaurants, and 
automotive service operations from 1964 until 2009.  The building has been unoccupied since 
between 2009 and 2011.   
 
The subject building totals approximately 118,201 square feet, and contains a former service 
area, former retail areas, storage areas, utility rooms, offices, and restrooms.  Interior finish 
materials in the former service area include metal deck ceilings, cinderblock walls, and 
concrete floors. Interior finish materials in the remainder of the building include metal deck 
ceilings, two foot by four foot ceiling tiles, two foot by two foot ceiling tiles, cinderblock walls, 
drywall walls, wood paneling, concrete floors, and 12 inch by 12 inch floor tiles. The property 
also has five in-ground hoists and an underground vault in the former service area. Asphalt 
paved driveways and parking areas surround the building.   
 
Identification of the Property as “Functionally Obsolete” 
 
The subject property has been determined functionally obsolete by City Assessor, Nino Licari, 
MMAO (4), PPE. 
 
A 2013 Valuation Report and Record Card provided by the City are included in Appendix B, 
showing the property’s obsolescence status.  
 
Identification of the Property as a “Facility” 
 
PM Environmental, Inc. (PM) has completed a Baseline Environmental Assessment (BEA) for 
the vacant retail property (Parcel ID #88-20-34-101-023) located at 100 East Maple Road in 
Troy, Oakland County, Michigan (hereafter referred to as the “subject property”). 
 
Contaminant concentrations identified on the subject property indicate exceedances to the Part 
201 Residential and Nonresidential DW cleanup criteria. Therefore, the subject property is a 



Brownfield Plan for the Proposed MJR Troy Grand at 100 East Maple Road, Troy, MI 
PM Project No. 02-6518-1; August 23, 2013 

 

PM Environmental, Inc. 
Page 4 

 

"facility" in accordance with Part 201 of P.A. 451, as amended, and the rules promulgated 
thereunder. 
 
The Baseline Environmental Assessment text, figures, and tables stating the property is a 
facility is located in Appendix F. 
 
PROJECT DESCRIPTION 
 
MJR Group, LLC intends to demolish and redevelop the currently vacant underutilized property 
with the new Digital Cinema, MJR Troy Grand.  MJR Troy Grand will include 74,000 square 
feet with 16 Screens including an Epic Studio. Seating capacity will range from 101 seats to 
440 seats.  The new theater will include a lobby area, concessions, and bar area. The project 
will include installation of new asphalt, sidewalks, and landscaping surrounding the theater 
building.  
 
Demolition of the current building will require the removal of fluorescent light tubes, PCB 
ballasts, mercury vapor bulbs and mercury switches, fire extinguishers, CFC refrigerants, 
hydraulic lifts, and facility owned pad mounted transformer (includes packaging, transportation 
and disposal/recycling), asbestos abatement activities and air monitoring, and the removal, 
disposal, and sampling oversight associated with the five (5) hydraulic hoists.  
 
This entire project also includes the completion of Phase I and Phase II Environmental Site 
Assessments (ESA), Baseline Environmental Site Assessment (BEA), and Due Care Plan.  
 
The project is estimated to begin demolition mid to late summer of 2013, with project 
completion before the end of the year.  
 
BROWNFIELD PLAN ELEMENTS 
 
A. Description of Costs to Be Paid for With Tax Increment Revenues 

 
Tax increment financing revenues will be utilized to reimburse the City of Troy’s Local Site 
Remediation Revolving Loan Fund (LSRRLF), for loan reimbursements made to MJR Group, 
LLC for eligible activities completed during development of the Property and as defined in this 
Plan. The activities funded through the LSRRLF are listed in section “M” of this plan.  

 
Tax Increment Revenues will also pay the Developer for Environmental Site Assessments and 
the TBRA application fee.  
 
The TBRA administrative fees, 3% simple interest on unreimbursed costs, and capture to 
continue building the LSRRLF will also be funded utilizing tax increment revenues.  
 
These costs are presented in section “G” of this plan and Table 1 (eligible activities) and 2 (tax 
increment financing projections) in Appendix D. 

 
B. Summary of Eligible Activities 
 
LSRRLF will be reimbursed for Due Care Activities, Demolition and associated activities, and 
Preparation of the Brownfield Plan.  These activities are further outlined in section “M” of this 
plan and included in Appendix D.  



Brownfield Plan for the Proposed MJR Troy Grand at 100 East Maple Road, Troy, MI 
PM Project No. 02-6518-1; August 23, 2013 

 

PM Environmental, Inc. 
Page 5 

 

 
The Developer will be reimbursed for eligible activities that include environmental site 
assessments and the TBRA application fee.  These costs are presented in Table 1 of Appendix 
D. 
 
C. Estimate of Captured Taxable Value and Tax Increment Revenues 
 
The taxable value of the real property was $1,025,640 for the current tax year; no personal 
property is associated with the site. The estimated taxable value of the completed development 
is $4,500,000 at completion of the development. This assumes a one-year phase-in for 
completion of the redevelopment, which has been incorporated into the tax impact and cash 
flow assumptions for this plan. An annual increase in taxable value of 1% has been used for 
calculation of future tax increments in this plan.  The taxable value estimates and tax increment 
projections are shown in Table 2 of Appendix D.  
 
The TBRA will continue capturing tax increment revenues for 5 years following payback, to 
build the LSRRLF.  The estimated captured taxable value and tax increment revenues for the 
eligible property for each year of the plan are presented in Table 2 in Appendix D. 
 
D. Method of Financing and Description of Advances by the Municipality 
 
LSRRLF reimbursements will be made by the City to the developer, MJR Group, LLC in an 
amount not to exceed $498,079 for completed eligible expenses based on the receipt of proper 
documentation. 
 
The invoicing procedure is summarized as follows: 
 

1. MJR pays an invoice for the eligible expenses 
2. The invoices with proof of payment of eligible expenses are then submitted to the 

City 
3. The City then cuts a check from the LSRRF to MJR for those eligible expenses 
4. The LSRRF is repaid through TIF Capture 

 
E. Maximum Amount of Note or Bonded Indebtedness 
 
The City of Troy will not incur a financial note or bonded indebtedness for this project.  
Therefore, a reporting on indebtedness is not required. 
 
F. Duration of Brownfield Plan 
 
The duration of this Plan should be not less than the period required to reimburse all eligible 
activities plus five years for additional capture to continue building the LSRRLF. The approval 
date of the Brownfield Plan by the City council will mark the beginning of the reimbursement 
period, unless modified at the discretion of the City as allowed under Act 381, as amended. In 
no event, however, shall this Plan extend beyond the maximum term allowed by Section 13(1) 
(a) of Act 381, as amended for the duration of this Plan, currently limited to 30 years. 



Brownfield Plan for the Proposed MJR Troy Grand at 100 East Maple Road, Troy, MI 
PM Project No. 02-6518-1; August 23, 2013 

 

PM Environmental, Inc. 
Page 6 

 

 
G. Estimated Impact of Tax Increment Financing on Revenues of Taxing     

Jurisdictions 
 
The following tables show the anticipated impact of tax increment financing (TIF) on revenues 
of taxing jurisdictions. Developer reimbursements for environmental assessment activities will 
occur within the first year of TIF reimbursement (totaling $11,585), and LSRRLF 
reimbursement will occur within 8 years from the start of tax TIF reimbursements.  An 
additional year is anticipated for repayment of interest, with an additional 5 years of capture to 
continue building the LSRRLF.  
 
Description of Eligible Activities (see Table 1) Estimated Costs 

1. Environmental Assessment Activities (Developer Reimbursement)   $                           10,085  
2. BRA Application Fee (Developer Reimbursement)  $                            1,500  
3. Due Care Activities (LSRRLF Reimbursement)  $                           13,004  
4. Demolition (LSRRLF Reimbursement)  $                         479,095  
5. Preparation of Brownfield Plan (LSRRLF Reimbursement)   $                             5,980  
Total           $                         509,664  

 
 

     Total Activities to be Captured by TIF   Estimated Costs 

Developer Reimbursement      $                           11,585  
Local Site Remediation Revolving Loan Fund Reimbursement  $                         498,079  
LSRRLF 3% Interest Capture  $                           65,891  
5 Years capture to build LSRRLF  $                         364,769  
TBRA Administrative Fee      $                           21,964  
Total           $                         962,288  

       Detailed tax increment financing tables and a list of eligible expenses are located in Appendix 
D. 
 
H. Legal Description, Property Map, Statement of Qualifying Characteristics and 

Personal Property 
 

The legal description of the property included in this plan is attached in Appendix A.   
 
A 2013 Valuation Report and Record Card provided by the City are included in Attachment B, 
showing the property’s obsolescence status.  
 
A property location map, site map, and preliminary development plans are attached in 
Appendix C of this plan.  
 
I. Estimates of Residents and Displacement of Families 
 
No displacement of residents or families is expected as part of this project. 
 



Brownfield Plan for the Proposed MJR Troy Grand at 100 East Maple Road, Troy, MI 
PM Project No. 02-6518-1; August 23, 2013 

 

PM Environmental, Inc. 
Page 7 

 

J. Plan for Relocation of Displaced Persons 
 
No displacement of residents or families is expected as part of this project. 
 
K. Provisions for Relocation Costs 
 
No relocation is expected as part of this project. 
 
L. Strategy for Compliance with Michigan’s Relocation Assistance Law 
 
No relocation is expected as part of this project. 
 
M. Description of Proposed Use of Local Site Remediation Revolving Loan Fund 
 
The LSRRLF will be used to finance “eligible activities” (as defined by Section 2 of Act 381, as 
amended) as permitted under the Brownfield Redevelopment Financing Act that includes: 
Preparation of the Brownfield Plan, Due Care Activities, and Demolition as described in this 
Plan. A complete listing of these activities is included in Table 1 of Appendix D.  
 
The following eligible activities and budgeted costs are intended as part of the development of 
the property and are to be financed solely by the developer prior to reimbursement from the 
LSRRLF.   
 

1. Preparation of the Brownfield Plan $5,980 
 

2. Due Care Activities totaling approximately $13,004; this includes the removal and 
disposal of five hoists, removal and disposal of associated contaminated soil at 
approximately 5 yards per hoist, and hoist removal monitoring and assessment 
activities.   
 

3. Demolition costs totaling approximately $479,095; this includes building and site 
demolition, demolition oversight, asbestos abatement activities and air monitoring 
associated with the building demolition, and the proper removal of fluorescent light 
tubes, PCB ballasts, mercury vapor bulbs and mercury switches, fire extinguishers, 
CFC refrigerants, hydraulic lifts, and facility owned pad mounted transformer (includes 
packaging, transportation and disposal/recycling).  

 
All activities are intended to be “eligible activities” under Act 381, as amended.  The total cost 
of eligible activities that are subject to payment or reimbursement from LSRRLF will not exceed 
$498,079. In addition, the LSRRLF will capture 3% simple interest on the unreimbursed eligible 
expenses, which will total approximately $65,891.  Reimbursements will also not exceed the 
provided invoices/proof of expenses; the developer will only be reimbursed for the costs that 
are incurred. A 15% contingency has been built in to each individual line item estimate. 
 
The LSRRLF will continue to capture taxes for five years following eligible expense and interest 
reimbursement to further build the LSRRLF.  In addition, the TBRA will capture 1% of 
unreimbursed eligible expenses as an administrative fee for the authority.  
 



Brownfield Plan for the Proposed MJR Troy Grand at 100 East Maple Road, Troy, MI 
PM Project No. 02-6518-1; August 23, 2013 

 

PM Environmental, Inc. 
Page 8 

 

N. Other Material that the Authority or Governing Body Considers Pertinent 
 
The asbestos inspection conducted by the landlord is included in Appendix E. The asbestos 
inspection of the property occurred when the building and its electrical systems were still active 
and therefore limited dismantling of the electrical, heating, and ventilation systems was 
conducted to complete the initial inspection activities. Consequently, it is possible that asbestos 
containing linings or insulation (i.e., transite asbestos or paper insulation, etc.) may exist within 
these systems not accessed during the initial survey but would still need abatement during 
building demolition activities. The 15% contingency that has been built into the Brownfield Plan 
should account for any additional asbestos containing materials uncovered during demolition. 
 



Appendix A 



Assessing Report for 88-20-34-101-023
Parcel Number 88-20-34-101-023
Property Address 100 E MAPLE -120
Property Address 
Apt

-120

Property Address 
Zip

48083-2761

Owner Name 1 GERSHENSON REALTY & INVESTMENT
Owner Name 2
Neighborhood 
Code

VLCOM

State Equalized 
Value (SEV)

2175240

Taxable Value 1025640
Summary Land 
Value

4350480

Property Class 201
School District TROY
Principal 
Residence 
Exemption

0

Last Sale Amount 0
Last Sale Date
Owner Street 
Address

31500 NORTHWESTERN STE 100

Owner City FARMINGTON
Owner State MI
Owner Zip Code 48334
Taxpayer Street 
Addr
Frontage 0
Depth of Parcel 0
Summary Res 
Floor Area

0

Num Res 
Buildings

0

Summary Res 
Garage Area

0

Summary Res 
Year Built

0

Summary Res 
Style Alph

0

Summary Res 
Num Bed

0

Summary Res 
Num Half Bath

0

Summary Res 
Num Full Bath

0

Summary Res 
Basement Area

0

Num CI Buildings 1
Summary CI Floor 
Area

118201

Summary CI 
Stories

1

Summary CI Year 
Built

1964

Legal Description T2N, R11E, SEC 34 PART OF W 1/2 OF NW 1/4 BEG AT PT DIST N 89-59-30 E 235 FT & S 00-02-15 W 60 FT FROM NW SEC COR, TH N 89-
59-30 E 324 FT, TH S 00-02-15 W 205 FT, TH N 89-59-30 E 198 FT, TH N 00-02-15 E 205 FT, TH N 89-59-30 E 48 FT, TH S 00-02-15 W 300 FT, 

Subscribe to City 
News & Updates 

Search City of Troy GO

Live Here Work Here Play Here Government Resources Contact Calendar

Page 1 of 2City of Troy, MI > ParcelDataSearch > ParcelDataSearchReport

6/12/2013http://www.troymi.gov/ParcelDataSearch/ParcelDataSearchReport.aspx?pin=88-20-34-10...



Resources
• Public Records • Press Releases
• Newsletters • Maps
• Forms • Newspapers
• Permits

Government
• Employment • Public Hearings
• City Council Meeting • Elections
• Code and Charter • FAQ
• City Manager • Web Broadcasts
• City Council Agenda

Contact
• Directions to City Hall
• Phone Directory

Calendar
• Weekly View
• Suggest New Item

City of Troy
Copyright © 2013
500 W. Big Beaver Rd · Troy, Michigan 48084 · Ph: 248.524.3300 City Hall Hours: 8am-4:30pm

TH N 89-59-30 E 125 FT, TH S 00-02-15 W 445 FT, TH S 89-59-30 W 870 FT, TH N 00-02-15 E 595 FT, TH N 89-59-30 E 175 FT, TH N 00-02-15 
E 150 FT TO BEG 12.48 A 6-13-96 FR 020 & 021

Page 2 of 2City of Troy, MI > ParcelDataSearch > ParcelDataSearchReport

6/12/2013http://www.troymi.gov/ParcelDataSearch/ParcelDataSearchReport.aspx?pin=88-20-34-10...



Appendix B 



Valuation Report
DB: Bsaassessing-2013

06/28/2013
01:18 PM

   2,175,240   2,175,240   2,175,240         1,025,640    1,025,640            0
2013 Assessed       MBOR      S.E.V.            Capped   ->Taxable<-     PRE/MBT
           0           0           0                 0       24,030            0
2013     New  Eq. Adjustment    Loss         Additions   Tax Adjustment   Losses
   2,175,240   2,175,240   2,175,240         1,001,610      2.40
2012 Assessed       MBOR      S.E.V.      Base for Cap    C.P.I.
Est. TCV/Total Floor Area = 36.81
2013 Est. T.C.V. 88-20-34-101-023                                  =   4,350,480

Total Estimated True Cash Value of Commercial/Industrial Buildings =           0

                                             Total Depreciated Cost =          0
Eff.Age:42   Phy.%Good/Abnr.Phy./Func./Econ./Overall %Good: 35 /100/0  /100/0.0
                                      Reproduction/Replacement Cost =  7,334,231

 118,201 Sq.Ft. of Sprinklers @  1.72,  County Mult.:1.42  Cost New =    288,694

Total Floor Area: 118,201             Base Cost New of Upper Floors =  7,045,536

County Multiplier: 1.42, Final Square Foot Cost for Upper Floors = 59.606

Refined Square Foot Cost for Upper Floors: 41.98
 Ave. Floor Area: 118,201       Perimeter: 1551       Perim. Multiplier: 0.812
Average Height per Story: 19               Height per Story Multiplier: 1.055
1  Stories                                Number of Stories Multiplier: 1.000

Adjusted Square Foot Cost for Upper Floors = 49.00
(10) Heating system: Package Heating & Cooling    Cost/SqFt:  0.00   100%

Base Rate for Upper Floors = 49.00

Class: C    Quality: Average    Percent Adj: +0
<<<<<                     Calculator Cost Computations                     >>>>>
Costs are taken from the Store, Discount cost schedules.

Cost Estimates for Commercial/Industrial Building/Section:  1        Built 1964

                        12.48 Total Acres    Total Est. Land Value =   4,350,480
B-123 SQ F B-123 SQ FT     543810 SqFt  8.00000  100                   4,350,480
Description   Frontage  Depth  Front  Depth  Rate %Adj. Reason             Value
                               * Factors *
Land Value Estimates for Land Table B-123.B-123

6-13-96 FR 020 & 021
TO BEG 12.48 A
W 870 FT, TH N 00-02-15 E 595 FT, TH N 89-59-30 E 175 FT, TH N 00-02-15 E 150 FT
00-02-15 W 300 FT, TH N 89-59-30 E 125 FT, TH S 00-02-15 W 445 FT, TH S 89-59-30
 TH N 89-59-30 E 198 FT, TH N 00-02-15 E 205 FT, TH N 89-59-30 E 48 FT, TH S
00-02-15 W 60 FT FROM NW SEC COR, TH N 89-59-30 E 324 FT, TH S 00-02-15 W 205 FT
T2N, R11E, SEC 34 PART OF W 1/2 OF NW 1/4 BEG AT PT DIST N 89-59-30 E 235 FT & S

Map #: 88-20-34-101-023       CITY OF TROY                  TROY, MI 48083-2761           
Property Class: 201                                         100 E MAPLE -120              
88-20-34-101-023              2013 Est. T.C.V.              GERSHENSON REALTY & INVESTMENT

licarila
Highlight

licarila
Highlight

licarila
Highlight



*** Information herein deemed reliable but not guaranteed***

OAKLANDCounty:CITY OF TROYJurisdiction: Printed onParcel Number: 88-20-34-101-023

1,247,628C1,247,628T3,190,4801,015,2402,175,2402010

1,268,837C2,834,520A2,834,520659,2802,175,2402011

1,001,610C2,175,24002,175,2402012

1,025,640C2,175,24002,175,2402013

Taxable
Value

Tribunal/
Other

Board of
Review

Assessed
Value

Building
Value

Land
Value

Year

D/W/P: Asphalt Paving                1.61     1.42    306115     0             0

                               * Factors *
Description   Frontage  Depth  Front  Depth  Rate %Adj. Reason             Value
B-123 SQ F B-123 SQ FT     543810 SqFt  8.00000  100                   4,350,480
                        12.48 Total Acres    Total Est. Land Value =   4,350,480

Land Value Estimates for Land Table B-123.B-123

Who     When       What

Level
Rolling
Low
High
Landscaped
Swamp
Wooded
Pond
Waterfront
Ravine
Wetland
Flood Plain

X

Topography of 
Site

Dirt Road
Gravel Road
Paved Road
Storm Sewer
Sidewalk
Water
Sewer
Electric
Gas
Curb
Street Lights
Standard Utilities
Underground Utils.

X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X

Public
Improvements

VacantImprovedX

The Equalizer.  Copyright (c) 1999 - 2009.
Licensed To: City of Troy, County of 
Oakland, Michigan

01/04/12: REMOVED ALL BLDG IMPROVEMENTS. 
1964 VINTAGE S/B DEMO'D.  NL

Comments/Influences

T2N, R11E, SEC 34 PART OF W 1/2 OF NW 1/4
BEG AT PT DIST N 89-59-30 E 235 FT & S
00-02-15 W 60 FT FROM NW SEC COR, TH N
89-59-30 E 324 FT, TH S 00-02-15 W 205 FT
 TH N 89-59-30 E 198 FT, TH N 00-02-15 E
205 FT, TH N 89-59-30 E 48 FT, TH S
00-02-15 W 300 FT, TH N 89-59-30 E 125 FT
 TH S 00-02-15 W 445 FT, TH S 89-59-30 W
870 FT, TH N 00-02-15 E 595 FT, TH N
89-59-30 E 175 FT, TH N 00-02-15 E 150 FT
TO BEG 12.48 A
6-13-96 FR 020 & 021

Tax Description

GERSHENSON REALTY & INVESTMENT
31500 NORTHWESTERN STE 100
FARMINGTON MI 48334

Owner's Name/Address

100 E MAPLE -120

Property Address

0PM2000-241610/24/2000MECHANICAL, HEAT2013 Est TCV 4,350,480 TCV/TFA: 36.81

0PM2000-241710/24/2000MECHANICAL, AIRMAP #: 88-20-34-101-023

20,000PB2005-002801/18/2005COMMERCIAL, ADD/ALTERP.R.E.   0%  

20,000PB2005-009902/18/2005COMMERCIAL, ADD/ALTERSchool: TROY

AmountNumberDateBuilding Permit(s)Zoning: B-2 (Class: 201 COMM IMP

Prcnt.
Trans.

Verified
By

Liber
& Page

Terms of SaleInst.
Type

Sale
Date

Sale
Price

GranteeGrantor

06/28/2013

licarila
Highlight



Bsmnt Insul.Thickness

 (40) Exterior Wall:

 (39) Miscellaneous:

 (14) Roof Cover:

 (13) Roof Structure:   Slope=0 

Incandescent
Fluorescent
Mercury
Sodium Vapor
Transformer

Flex Conduit
Rigid Conduit
Armored Cable
Non-Metalic
Bus Duct

Few
Average
Many
Unfinished
Typical

XFew
Average
Many
Unfinished
Typical

X

Fixtures:Outlets:

 (11) Electric and Lighting:

Hand Fired
Boiler

Coal
Stoker

Gas
Oil

X

 (10) Heating and Cooling:

 (9) Sprinklers:

Urinals
Wash Bowls
Water Heaters
Wash Fountains
Water Softeners

Total Fixtures
3-Piece Baths
2-Piece Baths
Shower Stalls
Toilets

Few
None

Average
Typical

Many
Above Ave.

 (8) Plumbing:

 (7) Interior:

 (6) Ceiling:

 (5) Floor Cover:

 (4) Floor Structure:

 (3) Frame:

BlockBrick/StonePoured ConcX

Footings (2) Foundation:

 (1) Excavation/Site Prep:

<<<<<                     Calculator Cost Computations                     >>>>>
Class: C    Quality: Average    Percent Adj: +0

Base Rate for Upper Floors = 49.00

(10) Heating system: Package Heating & Cooling    Cost/SqFt:  0.00   100%
Adjusted Square Foot Cost for Upper Floors = 49.00

1  Stories                                Number of Stories Multiplier: 1.000
Average Height per Story: 19               Height per Story Multiplier: 1.055
 Ave. Floor Area: 118,201       Perimeter: 1551       Perim. Multiplier: 0.812
Refined Square Foot Cost for Upper Floors: 41.98

County Multiplier: 1.42, Final Square Foot Cost for Upper Floors = 59.606

Total Floor Area: 118,201             Base Cost New of Upper Floors =  7,045,536

 118,201 Sq.Ft. of Sprinklers @  1.72,  County Mult.:1.42  Cost New =    288,694

                                      Reproduction/Replacement Cost =  7,334,231
Eff.Age:42   Phy.%Good/Abnr.Phy./Func./Econ./Overall %Good: 35 /100/0  /100/0.0
                                             Total Depreciated Cost =          0

  **  **  Calculator Cost Data  **  **
Quality: Average    Adj: %+0  $/SqFt:0.00
Heat#1: Package Heating & Cooling     100
Heat#2: Package Heating & Cooling     0%
Ave. SqFt/Story: 118201
Ave. Perimeter: 1551
Has Elevators:

         *** Basement Info ***
Area:
Perimeter:
Type:
Heat: Hot Water, Radiant Floor

          * Mezzanine Info *
Area #1:
Type #1: Open               (No Rates)
Area #2:
Type #2: Office             (No Rates)

          * Sprinkler Info *
Area: 118201
Type: Average

LowAve.XAbove Ave.High

Construction Cost

Comments:

Overall Bldg
Height

19

Year Built
Remodeled

1964
2005

Depr. Table    : 3%
Effective Age  : 42
Physical %Good: 35
Func. %Good   
Economic %Good: 100

Class: C
Floor Area: 118,201
Stories Above Grd: 1
Average Sty Hght : 19
Bsmnt Wall Hght  

Desc. of Bldg/Section: 
Calculator Occupancy: Store, Discount                         

*** Information herein deemed reliable but not guaranteed***

Commercial/Industrial Building/Section 1 of 1 Printed onParcel Number: 88-20-34-101-023 06/28/2013



Appendix C 









TRANS.

CJ
CJ

CJ

CJ

CJ

CJ

CJ

CJ

CJ

CJCJ

C
J

C
J

CJ

CJ

CJ

CJ

CJ

CJ

CJCJ

CJCJCJ

CJCJCJ

CJCJ

CJCJ

CJ

CONDIMENTS
CONDIMENTS

POP

POP

CASH x2

CANDY

CASH x2

CANDY

CASH x2

CANDY

CASH x2

CANDY

CASH x2

CANDY

CASH x2

CANDY

POP

CASH x2

CANDY

CASH x2

CANDY

POP

POP
POP

WARMER

POPPOP
WARMERWARMER

POPPER
POPCORN

POP

POPPER
POPCORN

POP POP

WARMER

POP

ICEE x2 ICEE x2

CJ

CJ

CJ

CJ

CJ

CJ CJ

CJ

CJ

CJ

CJ

CJ

CJ CJ

POPPER
POPCORN

DOGS
HOT

PIZZADOGS
HOT

FRIDGE FRIDGE
MACHINE
ICE

MACHINE
ICE

FREEZER FREEZER FREEZER FREEZER FREEZER

3-COMP SINK

HAND SINK

RACK

MACHINE

STORAGE

ICE

BAG-IN-BOX

RACK
STORAGE STORAGE STORAGE

RACKRACK RACK
STORAGE

STORAGE

RACKRACK
STORAGE STORAGE

FR
EE

ZE
R

R
AC

K
ST

O
R

AG
E

R
AC

K
ST

O
R

AG
E

ST
O

R
AG

E
R

AC
K

R
AC

K

R
AC

K

ST
O

R
AG

E

R
AC

K
ST

O
R

AG
E

ST
O

R
AG

E
ST

O
R

AG
E

R
AC

K

R
AC

K
R

AC
K

ST
O

R
AG

E
R

AC
K

ST
O

R
AG

E
ST

O
R

AG
E

R
AC

K
ST

O
R

AG
E

R
AC

K
ST

O
R

AG
E

R
AC

K
ST

O
R

AG
E

R
AC

K
ST

O
R

AG
E

R
AC

K
ST

O
R

AG
E

R
AC

K
ST

O
R

AG
E

R
AC

K
ST

O
R

AG
E

R
AC

K
ST

O
R

AG
E

R
AC

K
ST

O
R

AG
E

RACK
STORAGE

RACK

21
1'

-1
1"

 O
VE

R
AL

L 
D

EP
TH

W
ES

TL
AN

D
 1

72
'-4

" O
VE

R
AL

L 
D

EP
TH

432'-8" OVERALL LENGTH
WESTLAND 419'-3" OVERALL LENGTH

MJR TROY GRAND 16 SCREEN THEATER
SCALE: NOT TO SCALE DATE: MAY 29, 2013

Phone: (616) 785 - 5656       
Fax: (616) 785 - 5657 
www.ParadigmAE.com      

550 3 Mile Road N.W.
Suite B
Grand Rapids, MI  49544

STUDIO #1
283 SEATS

STUDIO #2
224 SEATS

STUDIO #3
101 SEATS

STUDIO #4
155 SEATS

STUDIO #5
198 SEATS

STUDIO #16
289 SEATS

STUDIO #15
211 SEATS

STUDIO #10
211 SEATS STUDIO #9

297 SEATS

EPIC STUDIO #8
440 SEATS

STUDIO #7
101 SEATS

STUDIO #11
101 SEATS

STUDIO #14
101 SEATS

ST
U

D
IO

 #
13

15
5 

SE
AT

S
ST

U
D

IO
 #

12
15

5 
SE

AT
S

STUDIO #6
155 SEATS

BAR
46'-7"L x 23'-0"w

MARKETPLACE BAR
39'-10"L x 21'-9"w

WAITING AREA
650 S.F.
30'-4"L x 21'-5"w

LOBBY
8,242 S.F
113'-0"L x 78'-0"w

MGR
OFFICE

CASH
OFFICE

OFFICE

ASST.
MGR
OFFICE

F.P.
ROOM

STORAGE

ELEC.

CONC.
STORAGE

LOUNGE

COMPACTOR
ENCLOSURE

STORAGE

STORAGE

ST
O

R
AG

E
ST

O
R

AG
E

ST
O

R
AG

E
ST

O
R

AG
E

ST
O

R
AG

E

JANITOR JANITOR

MEN'SUNISEX

WOMEN'S MEN'S

WOMEN'S



Appendix D 



Item/Activity Total Estimated 
Cost Comments

Phase I  $                2,400 
Phase II/BEA/Due Care Plan  $                7,685 

BRA Application Fee  $                1,500 
Developer Reimbursed Total  $              11,585 

Hoist removal, disposal (5 hoists)  $                6,785 
Hoist removal monitoring and assessment  $                5,141 
Contaminated soil removal and disposal associated with hoist removal (approximate 25 yards)  $                1,078 

Building Demolition  $            140,000 
Site Demolition  $            128,000 
Demolition Oversight  $              17,710 
Asbestos Abatement  $            131,100 
Air Quality Monitoring and Oversight associated with Asbestos Abatement  $              17,538 
Temporary Power required to conduct Asbestos Abatement  $              17,147 
Removal of fluorescent light tubes, PCB ballasts, mercury vapor bulbs and mercury switches, fire 
extinguishers, CFC refrigerants, hydraulic lifts, and facility owned pad mounted transformer (includes 
packaging, transportation and disposal/recycling)

 $              27,600 

Brownfield Plan  $                5,980 
Local Site Remediation Revolving Loan Fund Reimbursed Total  $            498,079 
Project Subtotal (Developer and LSRRLF Reimbursement)  $            509,664 

TIF Capture for LSRRLF  $            364,769 
3% Simple Interest of unreimbursed costs  $              65,891 
TBRA Administrative Fee  $              21,964 
Total Cost of Eligible Activities to be Funded through TIF  $            962,288 

Capture to City Brownfield Redevelopment Authority

Table 1- 100 East Maple, Troy - Estimated Costs of Eligible Activities 

Baseline Environmental Assessment Activities

Preparation of Brownfield Plan and Act 381 Workplan

Due Care Activities

Demolition

Local Site Remediation Revolving Loan Fund Reimbursed Activities

Developer Reimbursed Activities

Brownfield Authority Application Fee



Tax Increment Financing Estimates
Table 2

100 East Maple, Troy, MI

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026
Current Taxable Value 1,025,640$    1,025,640$    1,025,640$    1,025,640$    1,025,640$    1,025,640$    1,025,640$    1,025,640$    1,025,640$    1,025,640$    1,025,640$    1,025,640$    1,025,640$    1,025,640$    
Estimated Tax Increment Value (estimated increase of 1%/year) 4,500,000$    4,500,000$    4,545,000$    4,590,450$    4,636,355$    4,682,718$    4,729,545$    4,776,841$    4,824,609$    4,872,855$    4,921,584$    4,970,800$    5,020,508$    
Incremental Difference (New Taxes-Existing) 3,474,360$    3,474,360$    3,519,360$    3,564,810$    3,610,715$    3,657,078$    3,703,905$    3,751,201$    3,798,969$    3,847,215$    3,895,944$    3,945,160$    3,994,868$    

Local Taxes - Millage
County Operating 4.1900 14,558$         14,558$         14,746$         14,937$         15,129$         15,323$         15,519$         15,718$         15,918$         16,120$         16,324$         16,530$         16,738$         202,117$       
Library 0.7 2,432$           2,432$           2,464$           2,495$           2,528$           2,560$           2,593$           2,626$           2,659$           2,693$           2,727$           2,762$           2,796$           33,767$         
County Parks 0.2415 839$              839$              850$              861$              872$              883$              894$              906$              917$              929$              941$              953$              965$              11,649$         
H/CL Metro Auth 0.2146 746$              746$              755$              765$              775$              785$              795$              805$              815$              826$              836$              847$              857$              10,352$         
OCPTA Smart 0.5900 2,050$           2,050$           2,076$           2,103$           2,130$           2,158$           2,185$           2,213$           2,241$           2,270$           2,299$           2,328$           2,357$           28,460$         
City General 6.5000 22,583$         22,583$         22,876$         23,171$         23,470$         23,771$         24,075$         24,383$         24,693$         25,007$         25,324$         25,644$         25,967$         313,547$       
City Capital 1.5300 5,316$           5,316$           5,385$           5,454$           5,524$           5,595$           5,667$           5,739$           5,812$           5,886$           5,961$           6,036$           6,112$           73,804$         
City Refuse 1.0500 3,648$           3,648$           3,695$           3,743$           3,791$           3,840$           3,889$           3,939$           3,989$           4,040$           4,091$           4,142$           4,195$           50,650$         
ISD Extra Voted 3.1687 11,009$         11,009$         11,152$         11,296$         11,441$         11,588$         11,737$         11,886$         12,038$         12,191$         12,345$         12,501$         12,659$         152,852$       
ISD Operating 0.2003 696$              696$              705$              714$              723$              733$              742$              751$              761$              771$              780$              790$              800$              9,662$           
OCC 1.5844 5,505$           5,505$           5,576$           5,648$           5,721$           5,794$           5,868$           5,943$           6,019$           6,096$           6,173$           6,251$           6,329$           76,428$         
Total Local Taxes (capturable) 19.9695 963,288$       

Debt Millages (not capturable)
School Debt Service 4.9600 17,233$         17,233$         17,456$         17,681$         17,909$         18,139$         18,371$         18,606$         18,843$         19,082$         19,324$         19,568$         19,815$         239,260$       
City Debt 0.7000 2,432$           2,432$           2,464$           2,495$           2,528$           2,560$           2,593$           2,626$           2,659$           2,693$           2,727$           2,762$           2,796$           33,767$         
Total Debt Millages (not capturable) 5.6600 273,027$       

Total Millages 25.6295

Total Capturable Millages 19.9695

Annual Incremental Capture Local Taxes 69,381$         69,381$         70,280$         71,187$         72,104$         73,030$         73,965$         74,910$         75,864$         76,827$         77,800$         78,783$         78,776$         
TBRA Administrative Fee* 4,981$           4,453$           3,803$           3,139$           2,458$           1,762$           1,049$           320$              -$              -$              -$              -$              -$              21,964$         
Incremental Capture after Administrative Fees 64,400$         64,929$         66,477$         68,049$         69,646$         71,268$         72,916$         74,590$         75,864$         76,827$         77,800$         78,783$         78,776$         
Total Cumulative Tax Capture 64,400$         129,329$       195,806$       263,854$       333,501$       404,769$       477,685$       552,275$       628,138$       704,965$       782,765$       861,548$       940,324$       

Capture for Reimbursement to Developer
Unreimbursed Eligible Expenses 11,585$         -$              -$              -$              -$              -$              -$              -$              -$              -$              -$              -$              -$              -$              

Capture for LSRRLF
Unreimbursed Eligible Expenses 498,079$       445,263$       380,334$       313,858$       245,809$       176,163$       104,895$       31,978$         (42,611)$       -$              -$              -$              -$              -$              

Interest, 3% Simple Interest 14,942$         13,358$         11,410$         9,416$           7,374$           5,285$           3,147$           959$              65,891$         
Interest Running Total 28,300$         39,710$         49,126$         56,500$         61,785$         64,932$         65,891$         23,280$         -$              -$              -$              -$              
Reimbursed Interest to LSRRLF 42,611$         23,280$         -$              -$              -$              -$              65,891$         

TBRA LSRRLF Fund Capture
       Local Tax Capture -$              -$              -$              -$              -$              -$              -$              -$              52,584$         76,827$         77,800$         78,783$         78,776$         364,769$       

*Administrative fee is 1% of the unreimbursed LSRRLF expenses

3. Due Care Activities 8 Years: LSRRLF Reimbursement Complete
4. Demolition
5. Preparation of Brownfield Plan
Total 

Developer Reimbursement

TBRA Administrative Fee
Total 

 $                               364,769 

962,288$                               

 $                               509,664 

Local Site Remediation Revolving Loan Fund Reimbursement
LSRRLF 3% Interest Capture  $                                 65,891 
5 Years capture to build LSRRLF

Total Activities to be Captured by TIF

9 Years: LSRRLF Interest Capture Complete

1 Year: Developer Reimbursement Complete

10,085$                                 
1,500$                                   

13,004$                                 

 $                                   5,980 

Description of Eligible Activities (see Table 1)

2. BRA Application Fee
1. Environmental Assessment Activities

Estimated Costs

479,095$                               

 $                                 21,964 

Estimated Costs
 $                                 11,585 
 $                               498,079 



Appendix E 



Testing Engineers & Consultants, Inc.
1343 Rochester Road· PO Box 249 • Troy, Michigan 48099.{)249

(248) 588-6200 or (313) T-E-S-T-i-N-G • Fax (248) 588-6232
www.testingengineers.com

TEe Report Number: 53362-01
Date Issued: April 19, 2013

Mr. Mark Perkoski
Maple & Livernois, LLC
31500 Northwestern Highway
Suite 100
Farmington Hills, Michigan 48334

Telephone: (248) 785-2300
Email: mark@gershensomealty.com

Re: Asbestos Survey Report. Project: Former K-Mart Building located at 100 East Maple Road;
Troy, MI 48083.

Dear Mr. Perkoski:

Enclosed please find our report of a pre-demolition asbestos survey at the above referenced
location. We hope that you fmd this report complete and self-explanatory.

We are pleased to provide this service. Should you have any questions regarding this report or
require additional llformation, please contact this office at your convenience.

Respectfully Yours,
TESTING ENGINEERS & CONSULTANTS, INC.

/~ee~
Scott M. Chandler, CIH, LEED AP
Manager
Industrial Hygiene Services

SC/rfm
Enclosure

~M.?~
Jennifer M. Pendley
Assistant Manager
Industrial Hygiene Services

Copyright 2007 Testing Engineers & Consultants, Inc. Alt rights reserved.

All services undertaken are subject 10 the following policy. Reports are submitted for exclusive use of the clients to whom they are addressed. Their significance is
subject to the adequacy and representative character ofthe samples and the comprehensiveness of the tests, examinations and surveys made. No quotation from
reports or use arTEe's name is permitted except as expressly authorized by TEC in wriling.

CONSULTING ENGINEERS & FULL-SERVICE PROFESSIONAL TESTING AND INSPECTION
OFFICES IN ANN ARBOR, DETROIT, AND TROY

FOUNDED IN 1966



Testing Engineers & Consultants, Inc.

Table of Contents

Section:

1

2

2.1

2.2

2.3

2.4

3

4

Appendices:

A

B

C

D

Executive Summary

Introduction

Summary of Findings

Homogenous Material Listing

Recommendations for ACM

List by Functional Space

List by Homogenous Material

Bulk Sample Report, Laboratory Data and Chain of Custody Docurnent(s)

Functional Space Listing

DefInitions of Terms and Assessment Criteria

Bulk Sampling Protocol and Analytical Methods

Summary of Regulatory Requirements

Photographs



Testing Engineers & Consultants, Inco
Maple and Livernois, LLC
Mr. Mark Perkoski
April 19,2013

TEC Report Number: 53362-01

Executive Summary

Testing Engineers & Consultants, Inc. (TEC) was retained by Maple & Livernois, LLC to perform a
National Emission Standard for Hazardous Air Pollutants (NESHAP) style asbestos survey of the former
K-Mart building located at 100 East Maple Road; Troy, MI 48083. A vacant, one story commercial
building (former K-Mart) is located on the site.

The following known or assumed asbestos-containing materials were identified in the survey area:

SMffSIIMMF/NFOfM tOlDHM# Homol!eneous a ena eSCrIDlIOn
15 Mastic on HM# 14 NF MM
16 9" x 9" Gray Floor Tile NF MM
17 Mastic on HM# 16 NF MM
18 Mudded Pipe Fittings on Fiberglass Straight Pipe F TSI
20 12" x 12" Gray wi Gray Streak Floor Tile NF MM
21 Mastic on HM# 20 NF MM
23 Mastic on HM# 22 NF MM
26 Mastic on HM# 25 NF MM
27 Original Drywall and Joint Compound NF MM
29 Roof Drain Conductor Insulation F TSI
36 Mastic on HM# 35 NF MM
41 Tagged Fire Door NF MM
44 Woven HVAC Expansion Fabric NF MM
45 Black and Yellow Carpet Adhesive NF MM
47 Interior Boiler Insulation F TSI
48 Boiler Flue Exhaust Insulation F TSI

HM # Homogeneous Material Number
FINF Friable or Non-Friable
SM Surfacing Material
TSI Thermal Systems Insulation
MM Miscellaneous Material

Executive Summary Page I



Testing Engineers & Consultants, Inc.
Maple and Livernois, LLC
Mr. Mark Perkoski
April 19, 2013

TEC Report Number: 53362-01

Section 1 Introduction

This report is based on requirements of the National Emission Standard for Hazardous Air Pollutants
(NESHAP) for renovation and/or demolition projects. NESHAP requires that building owners conduct
surveys for asbestos-containing materials (ACM) in buildings that are to be renovated or demolished.
The Environmental Protection Agency defmes an asbestos-containing material as one which contains
greater than one percent asbestos, using standardized analytical methods (polarized light microscopy).
Building materials containing greater than one percent asbestos are referred to as asbestos-containing
building materials (ACBM).

This survey addresses friable and non-friable suspect asbestos-containing building materials to meet
NESHAP requirements for renovation and/or demolition activities. Friable materials are those that can
be crumbled, pulverized or reduced to powder by hand pressure when dry. This includes products such
as spray-applied fireproofing on structural steel members, spray-applied acoustical ceiling materials, and
thermal systems insulation. Because friable materials are more likely to release asbestos fibers into the
air when disturbed than non-friable materials, they are considered a greater health concern.

All other materials such as floor tile, adhesives, plaster, stucco, and sheet rock mudding compounds are
considered non-friable materials. Non-friable materials can become friable through various mechanical
means such as crushing, sanding, sawing, and shot-blasting or by natural means such as weathering.

On April 11 and 12,2013, Richard Michalski (A25681) s State of Michigan accredited Building
Inspector from TEC, performed an asbestos survey of the building in accordance with NESHAP and
project requirements.

All identified suspect asbestos-containing materials are summarized in Section 2.1. Information
regarding all suspect materials including locations, recommended response actions and quantities are
described in Section 2.2 through 2.4.

DISCLAIMER

Tllis report was prepared for the express use and benefit of Maple and Livernois, LLC, its agents and
employees. The information in this report or portions thereof may be required to be included in
notifications to residents, employees, contractors, regulators or other visitors to the building. This repOli
is not intended to be used by the owner or its agents as a specification or work plan for any of the work
suggested or recommended herein.

This report is based upon conditions observed at the property and information made available to the
surveyor. This report does not intend to identify all hazards nor indicate that other hazards or unsafe
practices do 110t exist at the prenlises.

Section 1 Introduction Page 1



Testing Engineers & Consultants, Inc.
Maple and Livernois, LLC
Mr. Mark Perkoski
April 19, 2013

TEC Report Number: 53362-01

TEC made their best effort to determine the location of inaccessible ACBM. TEC shall not be
responsible for identifying all ACBM located behind walls and/or columns, beneath flooring, above
solid ceilings, underground or any other inaccessible areas.

Polarized light microscopy (PLM) is not consistently reliable in detecting asbestos in a small percentage
of samples that contain asbestos. Certain flooring materials (floor tile, linoleum) may contain very small
asbestos fibers that are not visible by PLM. The fibers may also be bound or obscured by the organic
matrix of the material. Thus, negative PLM results are not guaranteed by the laboratory. TEC
recommends that any samples reported as <I % or below limit of detection should be further tested by
transmission electron microscopy (TEM) to positively determine if the material is an ACM.

Standard PLM also is not consistently reliable in detecting asbestos in vermiculite insulation due to its
heterogeneous nature. TEC recommends that any vermiculite insulation samples reported as below limit
of detection should be further tested for asbestos using the California Air Resources Board Method 435,
which includes a fine milling of the sample to create a homogeneous mixture.

Section 1 Introduction Page 2



Testing Engineers & Consultants, Inc.
Maple and Livernois, LLC
Mr. Mark Perkoski
April 19,2013

TEC Report Number: 53362-01

Section 2 Summary of Findings for Suspect Materials

Section 2 consists of several tables summarizing the findings of the building survey performed by TEC.
Descriptions of each table are found below.

Section 2.1 consists of a table of all suspect building materials identified by the building inspector in the
survey area. The materials are listed by Homogeneous Material Number (HM#). Each suspect material
is assigned a unique HM#. The table also describes the material type (surfacing material, thermal
systems insulation or ruiscellaneous material), its friability and whether it is an ACM.

Section 2.2 is a table summarizing our recommendations for each ACM or assumed ACM identified in
the survey area. Please note that the recommendations provided are based upon the condition of
the ACM identified at the time of the inspection as well as our understanding of the scope of work.

The table in Section 2.3 describes suspect ACM found in each Functional Space Number (FS#)
identified in the survey area. For survey purposes, a building is divided into smaller units called
Functional Spaces. A Functional Space is defined as a room, group of rooms, or other spatially
distinct building unit as designated by an accredited asbestos building inspector. Each
Functional Space is assigned a number and a description is provided. During the survey, the
building inspector identifies the suspect ACM that are present in the functional space or that may
be impacted during renovation work, in the case oflimited surveys. All materials listed in this
section were determined to be in good condition except where noted in the table.

Section 2.4 is organized by Homogeneous Material Number (HM#) and depicts which
Functional Spaces contain them. Other information, such as quantities, ACM designation,
friability and material category are also included in this table.

See Appendix A for definitions of terms used in the tables throughout Section 2.

Section 2 Summary of Findings Page 1



Section 2.1

Homogenous Material Listing



Testing Engineern & Consultants, Inc. Maple and Livernois, LLC Section 2.1
Fonner K-Mart Building

HM Listing

HM# Homogelleous Material Description ACM? FINF SM/TSIIMM
1 Drywall and Joint Compound No NP MM
2 4" Covebase Adhesive No NP MM
3 Round Fiberglass HVAC Duct Nnn-suspect
4 Gray Window Caulk No NP MM
5 12" x 12" White wfran Speck Floor Tile No NP MM
6 Adhesive on HM# 5 No NP MM
7 2' x 4' GyPsum Suspended Ceiling Tile No F MM
8 2' x 4' Gray Suspended Ceiling Tile No F MM
9 12" x 12" Off-white wi Blue Streak Floor Tile No NP MM
10 Adhesive on HM# 9 No NP MM
11 Fiherglass Straight Pipe and Fitting Insulation Non-suspect
11 Fiberglass Straight Pipe and Fiberglass Fitting Insulation Non-suspect
12 Metal-Jacketed Door Insulation No F MM
13 2' x 4' White Bumhy Suspended Ceiling Tile No F MM
14 12" x 12" Cream Busy Floor Tile No NP MM
15 Mastic on HM# 14 Yes NY MM
16 9" x 9" Gray Floor Tile Yes NY MM
17 Mastic on HM# 16 Yes NF MM
18 Mudded Pipe Fittings on Fiberglass Straight Pipe Yes F TSI
19 Joint Compound on Plywood No NP MM
20 12" x 12" Gray wi Gray Streak Floor Tile Yes NY MM
21 Mastic on HM# 20 Yes NY MM
22 12" x 12" Pink Busy Floor Tile No NP MM
23 Mastic on HM# 22 Yes NF MM
24 Green Linoleum with Burlap Backing No NP MM
25 12" x 12" Dark Gray Floor Tile No NP MM
26 Mastic on HM# 25 Yes NY MM
27 Original Drywall and Joint Compound Yes NY MM
28 2' x 4' Pinhole Suspended Ceiling Tile No F MM
29 Roof Drain Conductor !nsuaUion Yes F TSI
30 Coating on Fiherglass Ceiling Panel No F SM
31 12" x 12" Red Brick "Sticky-back" Floor Tile No NP MM
32 I' xl' Randon Hole Glued-on Ceiling Tile No F MM
33 Glue Pod on HM# 32 No NP MM
34 Wallboard No NP MM
35 12" x 12" Cream Floor Tile No NP MM
36 Mastic on HM# 35 Yes NY MM
37 I' xl' Randon Pin Hole Glued-on Ceiling Tile No F MM
38 Glue Pod on HM# 37 No NP MM
39 Fiberglass Straight Pipe wi Tar Layer No F TSI
40 Popcorn Texturing Material No F SM
41 Tagged Fire Door Yes (Assumed) NY MM
42 12 11 x 12" Multi-colored "Stie -Back" Floor Tile No NP MM
43 Square Fiberglass HVAC Duct Insulation Non~suspect

44 Woven HVAC Expansion Fabric Yes NY MM
45 Black and Yellow Carpet Adhesive Yes NY MM
46 Yellow Carpet Adhesive No NP MM
47 Interior Boiler Insulation Yes (Assumed) F TSI
48 Boiler Flue Exhaust Insulation Yes F TSI
49 White Sink Undercoating No NP MM

TPr U pnnrt Nllmhp.r· ')::rUi2-0 I I of 2



Testing Engineers & Consultants, Inc. Maple and Livernois, LLC
Fonner K-Mart Building

HM Listing

Section 2.1

HM# HOlllogelleol/s Material Descriptloll ACM? FINF SMlTSIIMM

50 Asphalt and Gravel Roofing Material No NF MM
51 Rubber Membrane Roofing Material No NF MM
52 Exterior Door Frame Caulk No NF MM

2. of 2



Section 2.2

Recommendations for ACM



Testing Engineers & Consultants inc. Maple and Livernois, LLC
Fonner K-Mart Building

Recommendations for ACM

Section 2.2

HM#

15
16
17
18
20
21
23
26
27
29
36
41
44
45
47
48

footnotes:

HomogeJleous Material Descriptio" Amount V/lirs EPA CateNory

Mastic on HM# 14 75,500 SF Category 1Non-Friable ACM

9" x 9" Gray Floor Tile 575 SF Category I Non-Friable ACM
Mastic 00 HM# 16 575 SF Category I Non-Friable ACM

Mudded Pipe Fittings on Fiberglass Straight Pipe 285 SF Friable ACM
12" x 12" Gray wi Gray Streak Floor Tile 800 Sf CategOl)' 1Non-Friable ACM

Mastic on I-lM# 20 800 SF Category 1Non-Friable ACM
Mastic on HM# 22 1,800 SF Category I Noo-friable ACM
Mastic on HM# 25 850 SF Category I Noo-friable ACM

Original Drywall and Joint Compound 4,500 SF Category 11 Non-Friable ACM
RoofDrain Conductor Tnsualtion 32 EA Friable ACM

Mastic on HM# 35 175 Sf Category I Non-Friable ACM
Tagged fire Door 1 EA Category 11 Non-Friable ACM

Woven HVAC Expansion Fabric 45 SF Friable ACM
Black and Yellow Carpet Adhesive ISO SF Category I Non-Friable ACM

interior Boiler insulation 200 SF Friable ACM
Boiler Flue Exhaust Insulation 150 SF Friable ACM

ReconunentlaJioll

Remove Prior to Demolition
Remove Prior to Demolition
Remove Prior to Demolition
Remove Prior to Demolition
Remove Prior to Demolition
Remove Prior to Demolition
Remove Prior to Demolition
Remove Prior to Demolition
Remove Prior to Demolition
Remove Prior to Demolition
Remove Prior to Demolition
Remove Prior to Demolition
Remove Prior to Demolition
Remove Prior to Demolition
Remove Prior to Demolition
Remove Prior to Demolition

t. For asbestos-containing malerials which are currently in good condition and are to remain in place during demolition, they must remain non-friable during aU phases of demolition when
using allowable demolilion techniques (bulldozers, implosion, wrecking balls, cranes or hydraulic excavators). No visible emissions allowed during any stage of demolition. Demolition debris
conlaining Category [and U non-friable ACM does not require disposal at a facility licensed to accept asbestos waste.

2. Ifall ACM are removed prior to demolition, the remainder ofthe demolition debris may be either recycled (if appropriate) or disposed as general construction debris at a facility licensed to
accept this waste.

3. Asbestos-containing materials removed in a non-friable maimer and which remain non-friable during handling, transporting and disposal, can be disposed as general conslruction debris at a
facility licensed to acceplthis waste. Contact disposal facility and inquire about the policies regarding acceptance of Category I and 11 non-friable ACM.

TEC Report Number: 53362-01 lofl



Section 2.3

List by Functional Space



Testing Engineers & Coosultants, Inc. Maple and Livernois, LLC
Fonner K-Mart Building
List by FUllctional Space

Section 2.3

iY# - FS Descriptio" _ noo, - FS.Notis _ _ HM# - Jlu7twgenwUs MiitUial DiSiiJption 11M Nol;:; _ "AiiiiJlmrUnlrs ACM1
I Entrance 1 I Dl}'Wail and Joint Compound 72S SF No
1 Entrance 1 2 4" Covcbasc Adhesive 10 LF No
I Enlr.wcc 1 3 Rouud Fiberglass HVAC Duct NA Non-suspect
I Entrancc 1 4 Gray Window Caulk 2 SF No
I Entrance I 5 12"" 12" White wfl'an Speck Floor Tile 350 SF No
I Entrance 1 6 Adhesive on HM# 5 350 SF No
2 Food Service Area 1 1 Drywall wlcl Joint Compound 825 SF No
2 Food Service Area 1 2 4" Covcbasc Adhesive 60 LF No
2 Food Service Area 1 3 Rawld Fiberglass HVAC Duct NA Non-suspect
2 Food Service Area 1 7 2'" 4' Gypswu Suspended Ceiling Tile 375 SF No
2 Food Service Area I 8 2' x 4' Gray Suspended Ceiling Tile 475 SF No
2 Food Service Area 1 9 12" x 12" Orr-white wI Blue Streak Floor Tile 675 SF No
2 Food Service Area 1 to Adhcsive on HM# 9 675 SF No
2 Food Servicc Area 1 11 Fiberglass Strolight Pipe and Fitting Insulation NA Non-suspect

15 Mastic on llM# 14 75,500 SF Yes

13 2'" 4' White Bumby Suspended Ceiling Tile Replaccment tiles 675 SF No
14 12" " 12" Cream Busy Floor Tile 75,500 SF No

3 Round Fiberglass HVAC Duet NA No
Includes Pharmacy 12 Metal-Jacketed Door Insnlntion 1 EA No

Dressing Rooms and Sales
1 Drywall Md Joint Compound Displays 3,750 SF No
2 4" Covebase Adhesive 135 Ui No

y"
y"
Ycs
No
Yes
Yes
No
y"
No
No
y"

12" x 12" Pink Busy Floor Tile 1,800 SF
Mastic on HM# 22 1,800 SF

Green Linoleum with Burlap Backing 400 SF
12" X 12" Dark Gmy Floor Tile 775 SF

Mastic ou HM# 25 775 SF

Materiifroulld under wall
malerial at lhc Ilerimctcr of
north llDd south sidc and small

9" x 9" Gray Floor Tile office 400 SF
Mastic on HM# 16 400 SF

Mudded Pille Fittings on Fiberglass Straight Pille 52 EA
Joint Compound on Plywood 325 SF

12" x 12" Gray wI Gray Streak Floor Tilc HOO SF
Mastic on HM# 20 HOU SF

22
23
2.
25
26

.!§.

.!l
1.
12:
.<!l.
21

3 Retail Area
3 Retail Area
3 Retail Area
3 Retail Area
3 . Retail Area
3 Retail Area
3 Uctail Area

3 Retail Area
3 Retail Area
3 Retail Area
3 Retail Area
3 Retail Area
3 Retail Area
3 Retail Area
3 RetaiJ Area
3 Relail Area
3 Retail Area
3 Retail Area

Extcrior Willis and various arcas
3 Retllil Area 1 27 Origiual Drywall and Joint Compound .llbove SCI' 4,500 SF Yes
3 Retail Area 1 28 2' x 4' Pinhole Suspended Ceiling Tile 125 SF No
3 Retail Area I 29 Roof Drain Conductor InsualtioD 15 EA Yes
3 Retail Arc<l 1 31 12"" 12" Red Brick "Sticky-back" Floor Tile Small Office area 45 SF No
4 Garden Department 1 J DrywalllllJd Joint Compound 1,875 SF No
4 Garden Department 1 2 4" Covebase Adhesive 42 LF No
4 Garden Department I 11 Fiberglass Stnli!Wt Pipe and Fiberglass Fitting Insulation NA Non-suspect
5 Automotive Service Area I Includes Restroom I Drywall and Joint Compound 55 SF No
5 Automotive Service Area 1 2 4" Covcbase Adhesive Restroom 18 LF No
5 Automotive Serviee Area 1 4 Gray Window Caulk 2 SF No
5 Automotive Serviee Area 1 12 Metal-Jacketed Door Insulation Restroom I EA No
5 Automotive Service Arca I 18 Mudded Pille FittinJ::,s on FiberAlass Strai~ht Pille 1U EA Yes
5 Automotive Serviee Area I 30 Coating 011 Fiberglass Ceiling Panel 2,400 SF No

TEC Report Number: 53362-0 I lof3



Testing Engineers & Consultants, inc. Maple and Livernois, LLC
Former K-Mart Building
List by Functional Space

Section 2.3

~# - FS Descrie~io~l__ MOD' - FS Notes - HM# 11o",o'l!n~o1lSMalU;al DucriptiJJn JIM Noles
5 Automotive Scrvice Area I 40PopcoruTexturing Material On Straight Pipe Insul
S Automotive Service Storage Room I 12 Metal-Jacketed Door lrumlation

Anuumt Units ACM'
135 SF No

lEA No
24 EA V"

450 SF No
45 LF No

tEA No

225 SF No
225 SF V"

16U 51/ V"Mnteriallocated on far west side

Intcnnediate Hallway/Security Area I 14 12" x 12" Cream Busy Floor Tile
Intermediate I-lallwlly/Secul'ity Area 1 IS Mastic on HM# 14

5 Automotive Service Storllge noom I 18 Mudded Pille Fittings on Fiberglass Straight Pipe
7 Intennediate Hallway/Security Area I I Drywnll and Joint Compound
7 lntennediate Hallway/Security Area 1 2 4" Covebase Adhesive
7 lntenucdiatc Hallway/Security Area t 12 Metal-}~ekeled Door Insulatio!1_ Food StomAc Room

Mlltcriallocated ill Storage room
and each cnlmllcc7

7

7 Intermediate HalhvaylS«ul'ity Area 1 16 9" x 9" Gray Floor Tile

7 Intermediate I-lalhvaylSecurily Area 1 17 Mastic on .WHI6 M.. teriallocated 00 rar west side 160 SF Yes
7 Intermediate HallwaylSecurily Arcll 1 20 ~_"_x 12" GClIY w/ Gray Streak Floor Tile Food Storagc Room 160 SF Yes
7 Intermcdinte Hnllwny/SecurHy Area I 21 Mastic on HM# 20 Food Storage Roonl 160 SF Yes
7 Intermediate Hallway/Security Area I 32 l' x I' Randon Hole Glued-on Ceiling Tile Hallway at each Entrauce 175 SF No
7 Intermediate Hallway/Security Area 1 33 Glue Pod on HM# 32 Hallway 175 SF No
7 lutermcdiate HallwaY/Security Area J 34 Wallboard Hallway 175 SF No
7 Intennediate Hallway/Security Area 1 35 12" x 12" Cream Floor Tile Food StomBo Roow 140 SF No
7 Intermediate HallwaY/S«urity Area I 36 Mastic on HM# 35 Food Storage Room 140 SF Yes
7 lntcnncdiate Hallway/Security Area I 37 I' x I' Randall Pill Hole Glucd-on Ceiling Tile Food Storage Room 140 SF No
7 Intennediate Hallway/Security Aren I 38 Glue Pod on HM# 37 FoodStoragc Room 140 SF No
8 iJllermediate Hallway/Security Room 2 11 FibcrKlnss Straight Pipe and Fibcrglilss Fittiug lusulatiOIl NA Non-suspect
g lnlennediate Hallway/Security Room 2 43 Square Fiberglass HVAC Duct Insulation NA Non-suspect
9 Rear StomBe Area 1 I Drywall and Joint Compound Receiving Office 80 SF No
9 Rcar Storage Area I 18 Mudded Pipe Fittings on Fiberglass Straight Pipe Ih.-ceiving area 6 EA Yes
9 Real' Storage Area I 29 RuorDrllin Conductor Insualtion Receiving area 1 EA Yes
9 Rear Storage Area I Area divided by concrete block wall 34 Wnllboard 375 SF No
9 Rear Storage Area 1 Includes Receiving Offices 39 Fiberglass Straight Pipe w/ Tar Layer South side 225 LF No
9 Rellr Storage Area I 41 Tagged Fire Door ReceivinG Office 1 EA Yes (Assumed)
9 Rear Storage Area I 42 12" X12" Multi-colored "Sticky-Back" Floor Tile 35 SF No
10 Rcar Storage Area 2 Area divided by concrete block wall 18 Mudded Pipe l~i"inA$ 011 FibcrJ!:lass Strai~ht Pille 69 EA Yc:s
10 Rcar Slorage Area 2 29 Roor Drain Conductor InSllaltioll 3 EA Yes
10 Rear Stumge Area 2 34 Wallboard 175 SF No
11 Stomgc Room I 2 4" Covebasc Adhesive 25 LF No
11 Storage Room I 12 Metal-Jacketed Door Insulation 1 EA No
II Stomge Room I 14 12" x 12" Cream Busy Floor Tile 145 SF No
11 Storage Room 1 15 Mastic on HM# 14 145 81;' Yes
II Stomge Room 1 18 Mudded Pille Fittings OD Fiberglass Straight Pipe 3 EA Yes
12 Fan and Compressor Room J I Drywall and Joint CompoWld 45 SF No
12 FanandCompressorRoom I 12 Metal-Jackctcd Door Insulation 3 EA No
12 Fan and Compressor Room 1 18 Mudded Pille Fittings on Ji'ibcrglass Straigbt Pipe 3S EA Yes
12 Fan and Compressor Room I 29 RoufDrllin Conductor Iusualtioll 1 EA Yes
12 F.:IlI and Compressor Room J 44 Woven HVAC Expansion Fabric on I unit 15 SF Yes
13 Office Arca I 1 Drywall and Joint Compowld 575 SF No
13 Office Area 1 2 4" Covcbase Adhesive 135 LF No
13 Office Arca I 12 Metal-Jacketed Door Insulation 2 EA No
i3 Office Area 1 13 2' x 4' While Dumby Suspcnded Ceiling Tile 450 SF No
13 OffiecArca 1 14 12"xI2"CreamBusyFloorTilc 325 SF No
13 Office Arcn I IS Mllstic on HM# 14 325 SF Yes

TEC Report NllIIIber: 53362-0 I 200



Testing Engineers & Consultants, Inc. Maple and Livtrllois, LLC
FOlmer K-Mart Buildi.ug
List by FWlctional Space

Section 2.3

FS DiiC"rijilwll FlO;;-FS Nota J1MII-JIomogeIU!D11S MinDiliJ DiiCripl10n HM Noles AiiiO;u;t-uliits ACM?
I Office Area 1 32
I ornCt Area I 33
I Office Area 1 4S

I OfficcArca I 46
I Boiler Room 1 11
I Boiler Room I 12
I Boiler Room 1 18
I Boiler Room 1 47
I Doilel' Hoom 1 4.
5 Restroom Area I I
5 Restroom Area I 2
5 Reslroom Area I 3
5 Restroom Area I 11, Restroom Area I 12, Restroom Area I 13, Restroom Area I 14, Restroom Arc:. 1 IS
5 n.estroom Area 1 I.
5 Restroom Area 1 2', Restroom Area I 49
6 Electrical Panel Room I 11
7 Extcrior E '0
7 Exterior E Sl
7 Exterior E '2

TEC Report Number: 53362-01

l' x I' Randoll Hole Glucd-on Ceiling Tile Above scr 825 SF No
Glue Pod ou HM# 32 825 SF No

Blad. and Yellow Cllr,lI~t Adhesive Front lind Back Office 150 SF Yes
YeUowCarpelAdhcsive 175 SF No

Fiberglass SlJaight Pipe and Fiberglass Fitting Insulation NA Non-suspect
Metal·Jaeketed Door Insulation I EA No

Mudded Pipe Fittings Oil Fiberglass Straigllt Pipe 60 EA Yes
Interior Boiler Insulation 200 SF Yes (Assumed)

Boiler Irlue Exbausiinsulation Mag Material 125 SF Yes
Drywnll and Joim Compound 1,250 SF No

4" Covebase Adhesive 65 LF No
Round Fiberglass HVAC Duct NA Non-suspect

Fiberglass Straight Pipe and Fiberglass Fitting Insulation NA Non-suspecl
Metal-Jacketed Door Insulation 5 EA No

2' x 4' White Bumby Suspended Ceiling Tile 175 SF No
12" 1( 12~ Cream Busy Floor Tile 375 SF No

M.:r..slic on HMN 14 375 SF Yes
Mudded Pipe Fittin~s 011 Fibere.lass Straie.lit Pipe 4 EA YeS

Roof Drain Conductor lnsnallion 2 EA Yes
White Sink Undercoating I sink 4 SF No

Fiberglass Straight Pipe and Fiberglass Fittiug Insulation NA Non-suspect
Asphalt and Gravel Roofing Material 60.000 SF No
Rubber Membrane Roofing Material 20.000 SF No

Exterior Door Frame Caulk 6 SF No

30f3



Section 2.4

List by Homogenous Material



TcSling Enginccrs & COlisulllU1tS. Inc. Maille and Livernois, LLC
Fonner K-MIlIt Buildiug

LiSI by HM

Section 2.4

~N JIUlIIugl!llf!l)IlS MaLulul Do·crlpLioll _. JIM NOla _ _ FSII FS Dcscrqllwn 1',(J(Jr FS NuLo· Alnullnt Units IlCMP

1 DrywulJ a.ud Joint CompowId I Entrance I 725 SF No
2 4- Covcbasc Adhesive 1 Entrance 1 10 LF No
3 Rowld Fiberglass HVAC Duct I EnlrallCC 1 NA Noo-suspect
4 Gmy Window C::lUlk I Entmncc I 2 SF No
, Ir x 12" White wrrilll Speck noorTito I EnlrwlCC I 350 SF No
6 Adhesive all. HMfJ 5 I Entrancc t 350 SF No
I Dlywall and Joint Compound 2 Food Scrvice Area 1 825 SF No
2 4" CovdJasc Adhcsive 2 Food Servieo Area 1 60 LF No
3 ROWld Fibccglass HVAC Duct 2 Food Service Arc::l1 I NA ~on-suspcct

7 2' x 4' Gypsum Suspended Ceiling Tile 2 Food Service ArC'd I 375 Sf' No
8 2' x 4' Gray Suspended Ceiling Tile 2 Food Scrvi" Area I 475 SF No
9 12" x 12" OfT-white w/ Dlue Streak Floor Tile 2 Food Service Area 1 675 SF No
to Adhesive on HMII- 9 2 Food Service Area , 675 SF No
II Fiberl5.lu:;:; Straight PiP'? and Fitting Insulation 2 Food Service Arell I NA Non-suspect
I Drywall and Joint Compound Dressing Rooms and Sules Displays 3 Remil Area I 3,750 SF No
2 4" Covebase Adhesive 3 Relail Area 1 135 LF No
3 Round Fibers.!a5S HVAC Duel 3 Rctuil Area I NA Non-suspect

12 Melal-JtlCketed Door Insulation J Relail Area I Includes Phlli'UUlC}' I fA No
13 2' x 4' Wbile Ownby Suspended Ceiling Tile Replacement tiles 3 Rtlail Area 1 675 SF No
14 12" x 12" Cream Busy FioorTile 3 Retail Area 1 75,500 SF No
15 Mastic on HM# 14 3 Retail Arta I 75,500 SF Yes

Material founll ullllcr WHD wllterlal at the
flcrimeter of north aoll south sille lind

IG 9" x 9" Gray Floor Tile snlall uffice 3 Rttllil Arta 1 400 SI~ Yes
17 Mastic on IIM# 16 3 Retail Area 1 400 SI~ Yes
18 Mudded Pipe Fittings 00 Iliberglau Straight I'lpe 3 RellaiJ Area 1 52 EA Yes
19 Joint Compound on Plywood 3 Retail Area I 325 SF No
2U 12":0; 12" Grayw/GrllY Streak Floor Tilc 3 Retllil Arta 1 800 SF Yes
21 M:lSticon HMII 20 3 U.etBilArca 1 800 SF Yes
22 12" x 12" Pink Busy Floor Tile 3 Relail Area I 1,800 SF No
23 Mastic 00 HM# 22 3 RetliU Area I 1,80U Sil Yt..t
24 Green Linoleum with Burlap BackinG 3 RCl.ail Area 1 400 SF No
25 12" x IZW Dark Gray Floor Tile 3 Retail Area 1 775 SF No
26 Maslie on Hl\1# 25 3 Retail Area I 775 SF Yes
27 Original Drywall aud Joint COlUltOUlll1 ExicriorwllUS 3 Retail Area I 4,500 SF Yes
28 2' x 4' Pinhole Susrcndell Ceiling Tile 3 Relail Area I 125 SF No
29 Roof Drain Conductor lnsullltioll J Uetail Area I 15 I~A Yes
J"l 12" x 12" Red Brick "Sticky-back" Floor Tilo Small Office urea 3 Relail Area I 45 SF No
I Drywall and Joint Compound 4 Garden Department I 1,875 SF No
2 4" Covebasc Adhesive 4 Garden Depurtment I 42 LF No
II Fiberglass Straight Pipc and l'iberylass Fittillg Im;ulation 4 Garden Department I NA Non-suspect
I Drywalllllld Joint Compowid 5 Automotive Service Area I Includes Restroom 55 SF No
2 4" Covcbasc Adhesive Restroom 5 Automotive Service Area 1 18 LF No
12 Melal-Jacketed Door1nsuiUlioll Restroom 5 AulOlllotive Service Area 1 I EA No
4 Gmy Window Caulk 5 AUlomoLive Service Area 1 2 SF No
J8 Mulltl~d Pille Fittings on J7ilJer!!lass Stl'pighl J'ine 5 Automotive Service Area 1 JO EA Yes
30 CoalinB on Fiberglass CeilitlK Panel 5 Automotive Service Area 1 2,400 SF No
40 Popcorn Texturing Material On Slrnight Pipe Insulation 5 Automotive Service Area I 135 SF No
12 MetaJ-JackeledDoorJnsulation 6 AutoworiveServiceStorllaeRoom 1 I EA No
IS Mudded Pille Fittings Oil Fibergl.w StJ"uight I'iue 6 Automotive Servin Storage Room 1 24 EA Yes
1 Dlywall and Joinl Compound 7 Imcrmcdiute HailwaylSccurity Area I 450 SF No
2 4" Covcbasc Adhesive 7 Intermediato l-Iullwny/Sccurity Area I 45 LF No
12 Melal-Jacketed Door Insulation Food Storoj.!,e Room 7 Intermediate Hallway/Security Area I I EA No

FINF SMrfSUMM

NC MM
NF MM

NF MM
NF MM
NF MM
NF MM
NF MM

F MM
F MM

NF MM
NF MM
C· TSI

NF MM
NF MM

F MM
F MM

NF MM
NF MM

NF MM
NF MM
F TSI

NF MM
N" MM
NI' MM
NF MM
Nl~ MM
NF MM
NF MM
N" MM
NF MM
F MM
F TSI

NF MM
NF MM
NF MM

NF MM
NF MM
F MM

NF MM

.,' 1'SI
F SM
F SM
F MM
I' TS'

NF MM
NF MM
C MM

TEC Report Number: 53362-0 I lof3



Tcsling Engineers & COllsult:Ulls, lne. Maple aud Livernois, LLC
110nner K-Mart Building

ListbyHM

Section 2.4

9" x 9" Gloor 1?loor Tile M:l!criallucaletl 011 farwcsl side 7 Inlel'Wooiale HaUway/Security Area 1 160 S[l' Ycs
Maslic 011 I·IMN 16 Malcrialloeatctl 011 rar wcst side 7 Intermediate HaliwayfSecurity Area I 160 SF' Yes
I' X I' Rundon Hole Glued-on Ceilinij Tile Hallway at each Enlrance 7 l.lltennodialc Hallway/SC1;urity Area I 175 SF No
Gluo Pod on HM/I 32 HaUway 7 Intenncdiate Hailway/SccW'"ity Arell 1 175 SF No
Wallbollfd Hallway 7 IJllcnm:diute Hullway/Security Area 1 175 SF No

, 111cludcs Receiviug
Fibcrglass Slrnip.ht Pipe w/ Tar Lllycr Soulh side 9 Rear Storage An:a I Offices 225 LF No
Tag~ Fire Door _Reccivilll:. Office 9 RcaI' Storage Area 1 I EA Yes (Assumed)

MlI!criailoctltcd. in Slorage cooUland caeb
12" x 12" Creulll Busy floor Tile eotronee 7 Intermedinl!: HailwaylSecnrity Areu 1 225 SF No
Mastic un J-1M1I14 7 Inlermel1illle HaUw:Ly/Seeurily Area 1 225 SF Yes

FINF S/II/fSUMM

NF MM
NF MM
NF MM
NF MM
F MM

NF MM
NF MM
NI' MM
NF MM
NF MM
NF MM
F MM

NF MM

NF MM
I' TSI

I" TSI

NF MM

F TS'
Nl~ Ml\1
NF MM

F TSI
F TSI

NI; MM
NF MM
NF MM
NF MM
F MM
F TSI

NF MM
F MM
I' TS'
I' TSI

Nl' MM
NF MM
NF MM
F MM
F MM

NF MM
NF MM
F MM

NF MM
Nit' MM
NF MM

F MM
F TSI
F TSI

ACIIUAmount UnwJi10tJr FS NtJto·FSII FS DescriptjlJnJIM Nolo;

I'll: l' RWLdon Pin Holc Glued-Oil Ceilillg 1ile Food StOt:lgc Room 7 lnlcnnediatc HailwaylSceuritx Area 1 140 SF No
Glue Pod aLI HM# 37 Food Storugo Room 7 IJllermcdiale Hallway/Securily Areu I 140 SF No
Pibcqdass Sln.Light Pipo and Fiberaluss Fittiuglnsuilltioll II Intennediale Hailway/SccW'"itx Room 2 NA Non-suspcCI
Squurc Piberll.!ass HVAC Duct Insolatioll S Intermediate Hallway/Security Room 2 NA Non-suspect
Drywull and Joint Compound Rcccivinll. Office 9 Rear StOnJl:e Area I 80 SF No

4"CovelJ::llleAdhcsive 13 OfficoAreu 1 135 Lv No
Mclal-Jackelcd Door lusullllioll 13 Office Area 1 2 EA No
2'x4'WhiteBulllloYSusrcndcdCeilingTiJe 13 OfficeAtc::l I 450 SF No
12" x lr Cream Busy floor Tile 13 Office Area 1 325 SF No
Muslic ou HM" 14 J3 Office Arca 1 325 Sl~ Yes
I' x I' Randon Hole Glued-on Ceiling Tile Abovo SCT 13 Office Area I 825 SF No
Gluc Pod on HMII32 13 Office Area I 825 SF No
lII:ld. alld Yellow Cal'jlct Adhesivc li'ronl aJllI Duel. Office 13 Office Area I 150 SF Ya
Yellow Carpet Adhesivo 13 Offico Area 1 175 SF No
Fibcl'xlllSS Slrai!.;hl Pipe and Fibcrxluss Filtingillsoilifion 14 Boilee Room 1 NA NOli-suspect
MClal-Juckctcd Door lnsulatiou 14 Boiler Room IlEA No
Mudl1ed Pipe Fittings 011 (1'illen:lass Stnlighl J1iHC 14 Doilel'Room 1 (jQ EA Yes
Inlel'ior Hoiler lnsullllioll 14 Boilcl' Hoom 1 200 SF Ycs (Assulllel1)

12" x 12" Grny wi GrllY Slrclll( F1uurTile FOOlJ SlUl"'.lge Ruol1l 7 11Ilcrnlcllillic Hlllhvay!Securily Area 1 160 SF Yes
Mnslic on 11M//. 20 Foull Slomge Room 7 lntcrmedilltc HallwaylSceurity Area 1 160 gil' Yes
12" x 12" Cream Floorl'i1e Food StOl"UgCl Room 7 lnlcrmediulo Hallway/Security Area 1 140 SF No
Mastic 00 I1MfI 35 Food Stornl:C !loom 7 10lermcdillte HaUway/Securlly Area I 140 SF Ycs

MllIhlel1llille Fillings olll"i(jergl:l~~Straight Pillc Heeciving nrc;! 9 Uear StorugeAren 1 6 EA Yes
RoorDrul1l Conlluelor JlIsullllion Rcedving lIrea 9 near Slorllge Area IlEA Yes

Area divided by
Wallboard 9 ReW" Storage Area I concrclc block wall 375 SF No

12" x Ir Mulli-eolorcd "Slicky-Back" Floor Tile 9 Rear Storage Area I 35 SF No
Area dividcd by

Mudded l'illC l'illings un Fiberglass Sh'aightl'iue 10 Hear Storllgc Arc:J 2 concrele IJlock wull 69 Ir.A Yes
ltoorVrllill Conl1oclor IlisunUiOIi 10 Uear StoraGc Area 2 3 EA Yes
Wallboard 10 Rear Storugc Area 2 175 SF No
4" Covebase Adhesivc 11 Slor:JBe Room 1 25 LF No
Irx 12" Cre::lm Busy Floornle II StorngeRoom I 145 SF' No
Maslic (In 11M" 14 ] I Stornge Room 1 145 SII Yes
Melal-Jacketed Door Insulation 11 Stocago Room IlEA No
Mul1licll I'Jpe Fittings 011 l?ilocn:hlss Slraigbll'ipe 11 Storllge Room 1 3 EA Yes
Drywall lIud Join! Compouud 12 Fnn WId Comprl:SSOr Room I 45 SF No
Mellll-Jackclctl Door lnSUllitioll 12 FaulUld Compressor Room I 3 EA No
Mudded Iljuc I?itl'ings on li'iloen:llI~~ Slraight Pille 12 111111 aud COmJlfes~ol"Room I 35 EA Yell
Rouf Drain ComluclOf luSlilIllioli 12 Villi and Compressor Uoom IlEA Yes
Wovell I:IVAC EIIJ:lnsioli [l'alo.'ic on 1 unit 12 FaD aDd Compressor Room I 15 Sit Yes
Drywlllllllld Joint Compound 13 Office Area 1 575 SF No

JlulllugcnwulI Matcrj,,' D~t:r1pflUlI

TEC Report Number. 53362-0 I 20f3



Tesling Engineers & COIlSultaUls, Inc. Maple and Livcrnoi~.LLC
Fonncr K-Mart Building

List by HM

Scction 2.4

till lIomogcnf!l)/u MaluioJ Descrlptio/' HAl Nutes nN FS Description Floor FS Nulo' Amuunt UniJg ACMl

18 Boiler 1'llIc Exh:allst lnslll.atioll Mag M:aterial 14 noiler Room 1 125 SF Yes
I Dlywull wld JointColUPound 15 RestroomArc:a I 1,250 SF No
Z 4" CovcbascAdhcsivc 15 Restroom Area 1 65 LF No
3 Round Fiberglass HVAC Duel IS Restroom Area J NA Non-suspect
1 Fi\)crglass Str-light Pipe WId Fibc~g lnsululion 15 Restroom At"C3 I NA Non·suspcct
2 Metal-Jacketed Door lllsuilltion 15 Restroom Area I 5 EA No

13 2';x4'Whilcl3umbySll~pcndcdCcilillgTi1c 15 Restroom Area I 175 SF No
14 Ir x 12" Creum Busy FloorTilc IS Restroom Area I 375 SF No
IS l\b,lic on liMN 14 J5 I{estroom Acea 1 315 S'" Yes
18 Mudded Pipc Fittings 011 Fiberglll.u Straight l'illC JS I{estroom Area I 4 EA Yes
~9 UOOrDl'iliu Conduclor InsunlliOll 15 Restroum Aren 1 2 EA Yes
19 Whitu Sink Undcrcoalinll. I sink 15 Restroom Area 1 4 SF No
~lass Sttaight Pipe and Fibcn$lass Fitting ln~ulaljOIl 16 Electrical Panel Room I NA NOll-su~pecl

)0 ASp"hall and Gravel Roofing MalCl'ial 11 Exterior E 60,000 SF No
it Rubber Mcrnbr.lllc Roofing Material 17 Exterior E 20,000 SF No
52 8xterior Door Frame Caulk 11 Exterior E 6 SF No

FINF ~'M/rSUMM

I' TSI
NF MM
NF MM

F MM
F MM

NF MM
NF MM

" TSI
F TSI

NF MM

NF MM
NF MM
N1' MM

TEC Repol't Number: 53362-01 3 aD



Section 4

Functional Space Listing



Testing Engineers & Cnnsultants, Inc. Maple and Livernois, LLC Section 4
Former K-Marl Building
Functional Space Listing

FSH FS Description Floor

I Entrance I

2 Food Service Area I

3 Retail Area I

4 Garden Department I

5 Automotive Service Area I

6 Automotive Service Storage Room I

7 Intennediate Hallway/Security Area I

8 Intermediate Hallway/Security Room 2

9 Rear Storage Area

10 Rear Storage Area 2

II Storage Room 1

12 Fan and Compressor Room I

13 Office Area I

14 Boiler Room I

IS Restroom Area I

16 Electrical Panel Room I

17 Exterior E

I nf' 1



Appendix A

Definitions of Terms and Assessment Criteria



Definitions of Terms and Assessment Criteria

This survey report organizes infonnation on each suspect ACBM that was identified. This
appendix describes how to interpret the data found in this report.

Material description contains the description of the suspect homogeneous asbestos-containing building materiaL

Material Serial Number is used to reference the material for reinspections, etc.

ACM Asbestos-Containing Materials. Materials containing greater than I percent (> I%) asbestos.

ACBM Asbestos-Containing Buildhlg Materials means surfacing ACM, thennal system insulation ACM, or
miscellaneous ACM that is found in or on interior structural members or other parts of a building.

Asbestos type and content describes the type of asbestos and its percentage in the materiaL

Asbestos Results for positive materials are shown as a percentage. Samples having less than I% asbestos are
reported as contairllng "Trace" amounts ofasbestos and samples with no detected asbestos are reported as "BLD" or
below limit ofdetection.

Sample number(s) identifies a particular material sample obtained from a specific sample location. Sample
nmnbers are used prhnarily for laboratory identification.

Sample Location identifies where the samples ofthis material were obtained.

Material Category categorizes each material as surfacing, TSI or miscellaneous.
Surfacing Materials (SM) - Asbestos-containing materials that are sprayed-on, troweled-on or otherwise applied to
surfaces, such as acoustical plaster on ceilings and frreproofmg on structural members, or other materials on surfaces
for acoustical, fireproofing, or other purposes.

Thermal Systems Insulation (TSI) - Asbestos-containing materials applied to pipes, fittings, boilers, breaching, tanks,
ducts or other interior structural components to prevent heat loss or gain or water condensation.

Miscellaneous Materials (MM) - Asbestos-containing materials applied to or a part of building components that are
not classified as surfacing materials or thennal systems insulation.

Quantity & Units reports approxhnate total quantity per unit of measure for each materiaL

Building(s) & Floor(s) specifies where a material is located.

Material Location describes where the material is found throughout the building.

Friability identifies the material as Friable, Non-friable or Jacketed (for thennal systems insulation only) if asbestos
is present.

Friable (F) - An asbestos-containing material that can be crumbled, pulverized or reduced to powder, when dry, by
hand pressure, such as spray applied fU'eproofmg on structmal steel members, spray applied acoustical ceiling
materials or damaged thermal systems insulation. Friable materials are of greatest concern due to their potential
fiber release.

Non-Friable (NF) - An asbestos-containing material where the asbestos is bound tightly in a matrix or sealed by a
protective layer. Non-friable materials can become fi-iable by being rendered to a crumbled, pulverized or powdered
state, when dty, by crushing, sanding, sawing, shot-blasting, severe weathering or by other mechanically induced
means. Common examples of non-friable materials are adhesives, floor tiles, transite and roofmg materials.



Jacketed (J) - An asbestos-containing material applied to thennal systems insulation and "jacketed" with a
protective outer layer such as canvas or metal to keep the material in good condition. Undamaged jacketed ACBM
is considered non-friable. If the jacketing is damaged, the material is considered fi·iable.

Damage Category describes the type of damage, if any, to the material. The following damage categories are used:
None, Physical, Air, and Water.

Material Assessment identifies the condition ofthe material in relation to physical and water damage, delamination
of the material from its substrate, the extent of the damage and the potential for damage from bUilding conditions,
such as, accessibility by building occupants, influence of vibration, etc. The six standard assessment categories
ranked by hazard potential, with the fll"St being the lowest hazard are as follows: I) Friable ACBM or TSI in Good
Condition with Low Potential for Damage, 2) Friable ACBM or TSI in Good Condition with Moderate Potential for
Damage 3) Friable ACBM or TSI in Good Condition with Potential for Significant Damage, 4) Damaged Friable
ACBM or TSI with Low Potential for Damage, 5) Damaged Friable ACBM or TSI with Moderate Potential for
Damage, 6) Damaged Friable ACBM or TSI with Potential for Significant Damage, and 7) Significantly Damaged
ACBM or TSI. Only friable materials are assessed under AHERA regulations. Non-friable materials are not
assessed.

Material Condition

Good - Material with no visible damage or deterioration, or showing only very limited damage or deterioration.

Damaged - The damage or deterioration ofthe material results in inadequate cohesion or adhesion with crumbling,
blistering, water stains, marring or otherwise abraded over less than on-tenth (1/10) of the surface if the damage is
evenly distributed or one-fourth (1/4) ifthe damage is localized.

Significant Damage - The damage or deterioration of the material results in inadequate adhesion or cohesion and the
damage is extensive and severe with one or more of the following characteristics: I) Cnunbling or blistering over at
least one-tenth (1/10) ofthe surface if evenly distributed, one-fourth (1/4) ifthe damage is localized; 2) Areas ofthe
material hanging from the surface, delaminated, or showing adhesive failure; 3) Water stains, gouges or marred.

Recommended Response suggests the appropriate options for controlling or maintaining ACBM in a safe manner.
For non-school buildings, TEC selects between five options:

Operations & Maintenance (O&M) - A program of work practices to maintain friable ACBM in good condition,
ensure cleanup ofasbestos fibers previously released, and prevent further release by minimizing and controlling
friable ACBM disturbance or damage.

Repair - The restoration of damaged or deteriorated asbestos-containing building materials to an intact condition.
Once the intact condition is established, the material should be included in an O&M program. The material is
usnally only required to be removed ifit is significantly damaged, prior to demolition of the building or if it will be
disturbed by renovation activities.

Abate Due to Condition - This material is significantly damaged and is unsafe in its current condition. The access
to tlle area should be restricted to persoll1lel equipped with appropriate personal protection. This material should be
properly removed by a licensed conh'actor using workers h'ained in the safe removal of asbestos.

Abate Prior to Renovation - This material should be properly removed prior to planned renovation activities by a
licensed contractor using workers trained in the safe removal of asbestos. This recommendation is usually made
only on survey reports prepared prior to planned renovation activities.

Abate Prior to Demolition - This material shonld be properly removed prior to planned demolition activities by a
licensed contractor using workers h'ained in the safe removal of asbestos. This recommendation is nsually made
only on survey reports prepared prior to planned demolition activities.

For school buildings, AHERA provides five response actions to choose from:

Removal - The taking ant or stripping of snbstantially all ACBM from danlaged Area, a functional space or a
homogenous area in a school building.



Repair - Returning damaged ACBM to an undamaged condition or to intact state so as to prevent fiber release.

Encapsulation - Means the treatment of ACBM with material that surrounds or embeds asbestos fibers in an
adhesive matrix to prevent the release of fibers, as the encapsulant creates a membrane over the surface (bridging
encapsulant) or penetrates the material and binds its components together (penetrating encapsulant).

Enclosure - An airtight, impermeable, pennanent banier around ACBM to prevent the release of asbestos fibers into
the air.

Operations and Maintenance - see defInition above.

Comments & Damage Description contains any additional infonnation and or specific details of material damage
are noted here.

EPA Category provides the appropriate material category as outlined in the NESHAPS regulation. The options are
friable, Category I and Category II non-friable ACM.

Friable - Materials containing greater than I% asbestos are always considered Regulated Asbestos-containing
Materials (RACM) that require removal prior to building renovation or demolition activities that impact the
material.

Category I non·friable ACMmeans asbestos-containing packings, gaskets, resilient floor covering, and asphalt
roofmg prodncts containing more than I percent asbestos.

Category II non-friable ACMmeans any material, excluding Category I non-friable ACM, containing more than I
percent asbestos that, when dIy, cannot be crumbled, pulverized, or reduced to powder by hand pressure.

Needs Determination - Materials tbat the individual designing the abatement and demolition project needs to inspect
and evaluate to detennine the potential for the material to become RACM and/or evaluate the asbestos content for
the composite and individual layers of the material. For sheet rock with mudding compounds only, the EPA allows
nsing the composite sample resnlt. If the composite resnlt by Point Counting the sample is below 1% asbestos, the
material is not RACM.



AppendixB

Bulk Sampling Protocol and Analytical Methods



Bulk Sampliug Protocol aud Analytical Methods

Bulk samples of suspect asbestos-containing building materials were obtained using standard industrial
hygiene tecimiques including wetting the material to minimize fiber release.

Our sampling strategy for suspect liiable surfacing materials was based on the guidelines outlined in the
EPA publication Asbestos in Buildings: Simplified Sampling Scheme for Friable Surfacing Materials,
and the procedures outlined in 40 CFR 763, Subpart E (AHERA). For non-friable suspect materials,
AHERA requires the building inspector to determine the appropriate number of samples to obtain and
analyze. Usually one to three samples of non-friable materials are collected.

For each homogeneous material identified by visual inspection as suspect material, random samples are
obtained. A single bulk sample is randomly selected from each homogeneous material for first-round
testing. If the sample is positive, the remaining samples are not analyzed; if the sample is negative, the
other samples are submitted for study. Every sample must be reported negative if the material is to be
considered non-asbestos-containing.

The bulk samples were delivered to an independent laboratory that participates in the bulk sample
proficiency analysis program conducted by the United States Environmental Protection Agency and is
accredited by the National Voluntary Laboratory Program (NVLAP). The samples were analyzed using
Polarized Light Microscopy (PLM) with dispersion staining to estimate tile percent of asbestos
composition by volume. Samples with no observable asbestiform minerals are designated as None
Detected. Samples in which asbestifonll minerals are observed, but exist in concentrations of less than
one percent, are designated as present in Trace amounts; all other samples are designated as asbestos
containing Witll the appropriate percent of asbestos noted.



AppendixC

Summary of Regulatory Requirements



Summary of Regulatory Requiremeuts

This appendix provides a summary of building owner and manager requirements illlder various asbestos regulations
promulgated by the Michigan Occupational Safety and Health Administration (MIOSHA) and the Enviromnental
Protection Agency (EPA) to protect building occupants and employees from exposure to asbestos.

Survey Requirements

Prior to any renovation activity, MIOSHA and EPA regulations require that a complete asbestos survey be
performed to determine if asbestos is present in any suspect asbestos-containing material that will be present in the
construction or work area. This survey report addresses accessible materials. It is recommended that prior to
renovation activities, inaccessible areas that could contain asbestos materials be inspected.

Notification and Posting Requirements

Regulatory agencies feel that the building owner or manager should be responsible for knowing and cOlmnunicating
the locations ofasbestos in their buildings to building employees, outside contractors and tenants to prevent
exposure to asbestos.

Under tbe Michigan Occupational Safety and Health Act (Act 154), building owners and managers are required to
provide annual notifications regarding known asbestos-containing materials in their buildings to building employees,
tenants, vendors and outside contractors. Therefore, specific information contained in this survey report is required
to be included in the notification.

MIOSHA requires building employees, outside contractors, vendors and construction contractors bidding on or
performing work in buildings be provided with notification regarding asbestos-containing materials in their work
areas. MIOSHA also requires that asbestos warning sigus be posted in mechanical rooms.

DemolitionlRenovation Requirements

The National Emission Standard for Hazardous Air Pollutants (40 CFR Part 61; Subpart M) provides specific
notification requirements for both renovations and demolitions ofbnildings. Either the owner, operator (contractor)
or their representatives must file the notices. According to NESHAP, an operation is considered a demolition if the
overall project involves the wrecking or taking out of any load SUppOltlng strnctural members at the subject facility.
Notification is required even ifthere are no asbestos-containing materials in the facility. Notification must be
provided to the Michigan Department of Enviromnental Quality (MDEQ), Air Quality Division no later than 10
working days prior to the scheduled demolition.

For the scheduled demolition of structures having RACM, the RACM must be removed prior to demolition. RACM
are either friable asbestos-containing materials, Category I non-friable ACM that has become friable or will become
friable (such as floor coverings), or Category II non-friable ACM that has a high probability of becoming friable
during the demolition process notification would be required 10 working days prior to beginning asbestos removal
and demolition.

If a facility to be demolished contains less than the cutoff amount ofRACM, this would be termed a demolition
below the cutoff and notification would be required 10 working days prior to beginning demolition.

In a demolition above the cutoff, both the removal and demolition operations should be repOlted on the same
notification fann and all required information submitted at least 10 days prior to the beginning ofthe asbestos
removal. For all work outside Wayne County, a completed copy of the notification fOffilmust be sent to the Air
Quality Division of the MDEQ as well as to the United States Enviromnental Protection Agency (Region V). For
work in Wayne Connty (including the city of Detroit), completed fonns must be sent to the NESHAP Asbestos
Progr8lll Detroit Field Office, MDEQ, AQD.

NESHAP defines llplanned renovations ll as a renovation operation or a number of renovation operations in which
RACM will be removed or stripped within a given period of time and can be predicted. For p],umed renovations
above the cutoff (where amounts ofRACM to be removed equals or exceeds 260 linear feet on pipes, or at least 160
square feet on other facility components), NESHAP requires notification no later than 10 working days before
removing or disturbing the RACM.



Michigan Act 135 (Section 220(1-4) or (8) also requires notification when removing asbestos-containing materials
greater than 10 linear feet or 15 square feet. For projects involving the removal ofRACM prior to demolition, a
copy of the same fonn must also be submitted to the Michigan Department Licensing and Regulatory Affairs
(LARA) Asbestos Program Office at least 10 days prior to the scheduled removal.

Removal Requirements

Under EPA regulations, asbestos-containing materials must be properly removed by licensed asbestos abatement
contractors prior to renovation or demolition activities that would disturb friable materials or cause non-friable
materials to become friable and a regulated material. All ACM should be collected, processed, packaged,
transported and disposed ofaccording to applicable federal, state and local regulations, which includes but is not
limited to NESHAP 40 CFR Section 61.150 and the Asbestos Standards for ConstlUction 29 CFR 1926.1101.

Repair of Damaged Materials and Cleanup of Debris

MIOSHA requires that asbestos-containing debris be innnediately cleaned up. It is recommended that damaged
materials that may release fibers be repaired as soon as possible to prevent fiher release and potential exposures.

Training Requirements

MIOSHA requires employers whose employees are likely to or required to disturb asbestos to receive an asbestos
training course. Refresher training is required to be provided armually.



Appendix F



 

 

BASELINE ENVIRONMENTAL 
ASSESSMENT 

100 East Maple Road | Troy, Michigan 
PM Project Number 02-6518-2 
 

Prepared by: 

PM Environmental, Inc. 
4080 West 11 Mile Road 
Berkley, Michigan 48072 

Prepared for: 

MJR Group, LLC 
41000 Woodward Avenue, Suite 135 East 
Bloomfield Hills, Michigan 48304 



 
 1 EQP 4025 (06/2013) 
 

        MICHIGAN DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY – REMEDIATION AND  
REDEVELOPMENT DIVISION PO BOX 30426, LANSING, MICHIGAN  48909-7926,  
Phone 517-373-9837, Fax 517-373-2637 

 
    Baseline Environmental Assessment Submittal Form 
 
This form is for submittal of a Baseline Environmental Assessment (BEA), as defined by Part 201, Environmental Remediation and Part 213, Leaking 
Underground Storage Tanks, of the Natural Resources and Environmental Protection Act, 1994 PA 451, as amended, for the purpose of establishing an 
exemption to liability pursuant to Section 20126(1)(c) and Section 21323a(1)(b) for a new owner or operator of property that is a facility as defined by Section 
20101(1)(s) or Property as defined by Section 21303(d). The BEA report must be conducted either prior to or within 45 days after becoming the owner or 
operator, whichever is earliest.  This form and the BEA report must be submitted within 6 months of becoming the owner or operator whichever is earliest.  A 
separate BEA is required for each legal entity that is or will be a new owner or operator of the property. To maintain the exemption to liability, the owner and 
operator must also disclose the BEA to any subsequent purchaser or transferee before conveying interest in the property pursuant to Section 20126(1)(c) and 
Section 21323a(1)(b). An owner or operator of a facility or Property also has due care obligations under Section 20107a and Section 21304c with respect to 
any existing contamination to prevent unacceptable exposure; prevent exacerbation; take reasonable precautions; provide reasonable cooperation, 
assistance, and access to authorized persons taking response activities at the property; comply with land use restrictions associated with response activities; 
and not impede the effectiveness of response activities implemented at the property. Documentation of due care evaluations and response activities need to 
be available, but not submitted, to the DEQ within 8 months of becoming the owner or operator of a facility. 
 
Section A:  Legal Entity Information          
Name of legal entity that will own or operate the property: 
   MJR Group, LLC 

Contact for BEA questions if different from submitter 
Name & Title:  Christie Santiago – Senior Project Mgr. 

Address: 41000 Woodward Avenue, Suite 135 East 
City: Bloomfield Hills                          State: MI          Zip:  48304 

Company: PM Environmental, Inc. 

Contact person (Name & Title): Michael Mihalich – Member of 
MJR Group, LLC 
Telephone: (248) 548-8282 E-Mail: mmihalich@mjrtheatres.com 
 

Address: 4080 West Eleven Mile Road 
City:   Berkley                        State:  MI          Zip:  48072 
Telephone:  248.336.9988 E-Mail:  santiago@pmenv.com 

Section B:  Property Information 
Street Address of Property: 100 East Maple Road                                 
 
City:  Troy                                  State:  MI      Zip: 48083 

County: Oakland 
 
City/Village/Township: Troy 
 
Town:   2N          Range: 11E              Section: 34 
Quarter: NW         Quarter-Quarter: NW    
 
Decimal Degrees Latitude: 42.547 north  
Decimal Degrees Longitude: -83.1453 west 
 
Reference point for latitude and longitude:    
     Center of site       Main/front door        
      Front gate/main entrance       Other     
 
Collection method:     
      Survey        GPS        Interpolation    

Property Tax ID (include all applicable IDs): 88-20-34-101-023 
 
Address according to tax records, if different than above (include 
all applicable addresses):  
   
City:                       State:  Zip: 

Status of submitter relative to the property (check all that apply):    
                     Former         Current       Prospective 
Owner       
Operator      

Section C:  Source of contamination at the property (check all that are known to apply): 
Facility regulated under Part 201, other source, or source unknown 
Part 201 Site ID, if known: 
 

Leaking Underground Storage Tank regulated pursuant to Part 213 
Part 211/213.  Facility ID, if known:   
 

Oil or gas production and development regulated pursuant to Part 615 or 625 
 

Licensed landfill regulated pursuant to Part 115   
 

Licensed hazardous waste treatment, storage, or disposal facility regulated pursuant to Part 111 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
Section D:  Applicable Dates (provide date for all that are relevant):      MM/DD/YYYY 
Date All Appropriate Inquiry (AAI) Report or Phase I Environmental Assessment Report completed:                 06/25/2013          
Date Baseline Environmental Assessment Report conducted:  07/26/2013 
Date submitter first became the owner:  
Date submitter first became the operator (if prior to ownership): 07/24/2013 
Anticipated date of becoming the owner for prospective owners:  
Anticipated date of becoming the operator for prospective operators: 
If former owner or operator of this property, prior dates of being the owner or operator: 

FOR DEQ USE ONLY 
BEA SUBMITTAL # 
 
____________________

_ 



 
 2 EQP 4025 (06/2013) 
 

 

Section E:  Check the appropriate response to each of the following questions:             YES          NO 
1. Is the property at which the BEA was conducted a “facility” as defined by Section 20101(1)(s) or a 

Property as defined by Section 21303(d)?              
 
2. Is the All Appropriate Inquiry (AAI) compliant with 40 CFR 312, or is the Phase I Environmental 

Assessment compliant with ASTM E1527-05?          
 
3. Was the BEA, including the AAI and sampling, conducted either prior to or within 45 days of the date of 

becoming the owner, operator, or of foreclosure, whichever is earliest.?      
            

4. Is this BEA being submitted to the department within 6 months of the submitter first becoming the owner 
or operator, or foreclosing?   

 
5. Does the BEA provide sufficient rationale to demonstrate that the data are reliable and relevant to define 

conditions at the property at the time of purchase, occupancy, or foreclosure, even if the BEA relies on 
studies of data prepared by others or conducted for other purposes?   

 
6. Does this BEA contain the legal description of the property addressed by the BEA? 
 
7. Does this BEA contain the environmental analytical results, a scaled map showing the sample locations, 

and the basis for the determination that the property is a facility as defined by Section 20101(1)(s) or the 
basis for the determination that the property is a Property as defined by Section 21303(d)?  

 

           
 

           
 

             
 
 
 
 

            
 
 

           
 
 

            
 
 

                     
                                              

Section F:  Environmental Consultant Signature:           
I certify to the best of my knowledge and belief, that this BEA and all related materials are true, accurate, and complete.  I 
certify that an All Appropriate Inquiry (AAI) was conducted in conformance with the scope and limitations of the All 
Appropriate Inquiry Rule, 40 CFR 312 or a Phase I Environmental Site Assessment (Phase I) in conformance with the scope 
and limitations of the ASTM E1527-05.  I certify that the property is a facility as defined by Section 20101(1)(s) or a Property 
as defined by Section 21303(d) and have provided the sampling and analyses that support that determination.  I certify that 
any exceptions to, or deletions from, the All Appropriate Inquiry Rule or ASTM E1527-05 are described in Section 1 of the 
BEA report.  

 
Signature:  ____________________________________________     Date:  ______________________ 

 

Printed Name:  Christie L. Santiago 

Company: PM Environmental, Inc. 

Mailing Address: 4080 West Eleven Mile Road              City:  Berkley                          State:   MI     Zip:  48072 

Telephone:     248.336.9988                                                                      E-Mail:     santiago@pmenv.com  
Section G:  Legal Entity Signature: 
With my signature below, I certify that to the best of my knowledge and belief, this BEA and all related materials are true, 
accurate, and complete.   

 
Signature:  ________________________________________     Date:  _________________________ 
                  (Person legally authorized to bind the legal entity) 

Printed Name: Michael Mihalich 

Title and Relationship of signatory to submitter: Member of MJR Group, LLC 

Address:  41000 Woodward Avenue, Suite 135 East       City:  Bloomfield Hills                   State:     MI    Zip:  48304 

Telephone:  (248) 548-8282                                E-Mail:  mmihalich@mjrtheatres.com 
 

 
Submit the BEA report and this form to the DEQ District Office for the county in which the property is located.   

A district map is located at www.michigan.gov/bea or www.michigan.gov/deqrrd. 

http://www.michigan.gov/bea
http://www.michigan.gov/deqrrd


 
 
 

 

ISO 9001 REGISTERED 

Detroit 
4080 W. 11 Mile Rd 
Berkley, MI 48072 

f:  877-884-6775 

t:  248-336-9988 

Lansing 
3340 Ranger Road 
Lansing, MI 48906 

f:  877-884-6775 

t:  517-321-3331 

 

Grand Rapids 
77 Monroe Center, NW 
Suite 602 
Grand Rapids, MI 49503 

f:  877-884-6775 

t:  616-285-8857 

 
 
 

 
ALABAMA I FLORIDA I ILLINOIS I MICHIGAN I MISSISSIPPI I NEW JERSEY I NORTH CAROLINA I OHIO I TENNESSEE I WWW.PMENV.COM 

 

Q U A L I T Y      S E R V I C E      S O L U T I O N S  

 

 
 
 
July 26, 2013 
 
District Clerk 
Michigan Department of Environmental Quality 
Southeast Michigan District Office 
27700 Donald Court 
Warren, MI 48092-2793 
 
RE: Baseline Environmental Assessment for the  

Vacant Retail Property 
 Located at 100 East Maple Road, Troy, Michigan  
 Parcel Identification No. 88-20-34-101-023 

PM Environmental, Inc. Project No. 02-6518-2 
  
Dear District Clerk: 
 
Enclosed is a copy of the Baseline Environmental Assessment prepared for the above 
referenced subject property in accordance with Section 20126(1)(c) of Part 201, Environmental 
Remediation, of the Natural Resources and Environmental Protection Act (NREPA), P.A. 451 of 
1994 (Part 201), as amended. 
 
If you have any questions regarding the information in this report, please contact us at 248-336-
9988. 
 
Sincerely, 
PM ENVIRONMENTAL, INC. 

  
Christie Santiago Michael T. Kulka, P.E. 
Senior Project Engineer    Principal 
 
cc:  Michael Mihalich – MJR Group, LLC 
 
Enclosure 
 



 
 
 

 

ISO 9001 REGISTERED 

 
ALABAMA I FLORIDA I ILLINOIS I MICHIGAN I MISSISSIPPI I NEW JERSEY I NORTH CAROLINA I OHIO I TENNESSEE I WWW.PMENV.COM 

 

Q U A L I T Y      S E R V I C E      S O L U T I O N S  

 

Detroit 
4080 W. 11 Mile Rd 
Berkley, MI 48072 

f:  877-884-6775 

t:  248-336-9988 

Lansing 
3340 Ranger Road 
Lansing, MI 48906 

f:  877-884-6775 

t:  517-321-3331 

 

Grand Rapids 
77 Monroe Center, NW 
Suite 602 
Grand Rapids, MI 49503 

f:  877-884-6775 

t:  616-285-8857 

 
 
 

 
July 26, 2013 
 
Mr. Michael Mihalich 
MJR Group, LLC 
41000 Woodward Avenue, Suite 135 East 
Bloomfield Hills, Michigan 48304 
 
RE: Baseline Environmental Assessment for the  

Vacant Retail Property 
 Located at 100 East Maple Road, Troy, Michigan  
 Parcel Identification No. 88-20-34-101-023 

PM Environmental, Inc. Project No. 02-6518-2 
   
Dear Mr. Mihalich: 
 
Enclosed is a copy of the above-referenced document prepared in accordance with Section 
20126(1)(c) of Part 201, Environmental Remediation, of the Natural Resources and 
Environmental Protection Act (NREPA), P.A. 451 of 1994 (Part 201), as amended.   
 
THIS BASELINE ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT WAS PERFORMED FOR THE 
EXCLUSIVE USE OF MJR GROUP, LLC, WHO MAY RELY ON THE REPORT’S CONTENTS. 
 
If you have any questions regarding the information in this report, please contact our office at 
248-336-9988. 
 
Sincerely, 
PM ENVIRONMENTAL, INC.  

  
Christie Santiago Michael T. Kulka, P.E. 
Senior Project Engineer    Principal 
 
Enclosure 



Baseline Environmental Assessment of the Vacant Retail Property 
Located at 100 East Maple Road, Troy, Michigan 

PM Project No. 02-6518-2; July 26, 2013 

 

 

PM Environmental, Inc. 

Table of Contents Page i 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
1.0 INTRODUCTION AND DISCUSSION ............................................................................. 1 

1.1  Owner/Operator Information ........................................................................... 1 
1.2  Intended Use of the Subject Property ............................................................. 1 
1.3 Summary of All Appropriate Inquiry Phase I Environmental Assessment .................. 1 

1.3.1 Phase I ESA Exceptions or Deletions ............................................................. 3 
1.3.2 Phase I ESA Data Gaps ................................................................................. 3 

1.4  Summary of Site Investigation ........................................................................ 3 
1.4.1 Summary of Previous Site Investigations ........................................................ 3 
1.4.2 Summary of Current Site Investigations .......................................................... 4 
1.4.3 Geology and Hydrogeology ............................................................................ 7 

2.0 LOCATION OF CONTAMINATED MEDIA ON THE SUBJECT PROPERTY .................. 7 
2.1  Soil and Groundwater Analytical Results ........................................................ 7 
2.2  Soil Gas Analytical Results ............................................................................. 9 
2.3  Subject Property Site Status ..........................................................................10 

3.0 PROPERTY INFORMATION .........................................................................................10 
3.1  Legal Description of Subject Property ............................................................10 
3.2 Map of Subject Property ..........................................................................................10 
3.3 Subject Location and Analytical Summary Maps .....................................................10 
3.4 Subject Property Location Map ................................................................................10 
3.5 Subject Property Address ........................................................................................10 
3.6 Subject Spatial Data ................................................................................................11 

4.0 FACILITY STATUS OF SUBJECT PROPERTY ............................................................11 
4.1 Summary Data Tables .............................................................................................11 
4.2 Laboratory Reports and Chain of Custody Documentation ......................................11 

5.0 IDENTIFICATION OF BEA AUTHOR ............................................................................11 
6.0 AAI REPORT OR ASTM PHASE I ESA .........................................................................12 
7.0 REFERENCES ..............................................................................................................12 
 
 



Baseline Environmental Assessment of the Vacant Retail Property 
Located at 100 East Maple Road, Troy, Michigan 

PM Project No. 02-6518-2; July 26, 2013 

 

 

PM Environmental, Inc. 

Table of Contents Page ii 

FIGURES 
 
Figure 1: Property Vicinity Map 
Figure 2: Generalized Diagram of the Subject Property and Adjoining Properties 
Figure 3: Soil Boring/Temporary Monitoring Well/Soil Gas Location Map with Soil 

Analytical Results 
Figure 4: Soil Boring/Temporary Monitoring Well/Soil Gas Location Map with Groundwater 

Analytical Results 
Figure 5: Soil Boring/Temporary Monitoring Well/Soil Gas Sample Location Map with Soil 

Gas Analytical Results 
 
TABLES 
 
Table 1: Summary of Soil Analytical Results – Volatile Organic Compounds, Polynuclear 

Aromatic Compounds, Polychlorinated Biphenyls, and Metals 
Table 2: Summary of Groundwater Analytical Results – Volatile Organic Compounds,  

Polynuclear Aromatic Compounds, Polychlorinated Biphenyls, and Metals 
Table 3: Summary of Soil Vapor Analytical Results – Volatile Organic Compounds 
Table 4: TEC Table 1 Soil Analytical Data Summary  
Table 5: TEC Table 2 Groundwater Analytical Summary  
 
APPENDICES 
  
Appendix A: Phase I ESA Report and Previous Site Investigations 
Appendix B: Laboratory Analytical Results 
Appendix C: Boring Logs 
Appendix D: Assessing Records and Legal Description 
Appendix E: Professional Qualification Statements 
Appendix F: Proposed Site Plan 

 
 
 
 



Baseline Environmental Assessment of the Vacant Retail Property 
Located at 100 East Maple Road, Troy, Michigan 

PM Project No. 02-6518-2; July 26, 2013 

 

 

PM Environmental, Inc. 

Page 1 

1.0 INTRODUCTION AND DISCUSSION 
 
PM Environmental, Inc. (PM) has completed a Baseline Environmental Assessment (BEA) for 
the vacant retail property (Parcel ID #88-20-34-101-023) located at 100 East Maple Road in 
Troy, Oakland County, Michigan (hereafter referred to as the “subject property”).  The subject 
property consists of a 12.48-acre parcel of land, located at the southeast corner of Main Street 
and East Maple Road (Figure 1).  The subject building totals approximately 118,201 square 
feet, and contains a former service area, former retail areas, storage areas, utility rooms, 
offices, and restrooms.   Asphalt paved driveways and parking areas surround the building, with 
landscaped areas adjacent to the right-of-ways.  Currently the subject property is vacant.  
 
Standard and other historical sources indicate the subject property was developed prior to 1940 
for agricultural purposes.  Agricultural activities ceased between 1957 and 1963, and the central 
portion of the current building was constructed in 1964.  Additions were constructed in 1968, 
1992, and 2000.  The property was occupied by various retail stores, restaurants, and 
automotive service operations from 1964 until 2009.  The building has been unoccupied since 
approximately 2010.  Historical interior waste streams associated with the former automotive 
service operations would have consisted of general hazardous substances and/or petroleum 
products.   
 

1.1  Owner/Operator Information 
 
MJR Group, LLC, 41000 Woodward Avenue, Suite 135 East, Bloomfield Hills, Michigan, began 
leasing the property from the current owner on July 24, 2013. 
 

1.2  Intended Use of the Subject Property 
 
MJR Group, LLC, intends to redevelop the subject property and construct a movie theater 
complex.  Refer to Appendix F for the proposed site plan.     
 

1.3 Summary of All Appropriate Inquiry Phase I Environmental Assessment 
 
PM performed a Phase I ESA for the subject property, dated June 25, 2013, in conformance 
with the scope and limitations of American Society for Testing and Materials (ASTM) Practice E 
1527-05 (i.e., the ‘ASTM Standard’).  A copy of the June 25, 2013, Phase I ESA, including 
photographs of the subject property, is included in Appendix A. 
 
The following recognized environmental conditions (RECs) were identified in PM’s June 25, 
2013, Phase I ESA: 
 

 The subject property was formerly occupied by various automotive service operations 
from 1964 until approximately 2010.  Historical interior waste streams associated with the 
former automotive service operations would have consisted of general hazardous 
substances and/or petroleum products.  Based upon review of the previous subsurface 
investigations, groundwater contamination is present which exceeds the current Part 201 
Residential and Nonresidential Generic Cleanup Criteria.  Based on these analytical 
results, the subject property would be classified as a “facility,” as defined by Part 201 of 
P.A. 451 of the Michigan Natural Resources Environmental Protection Act (NREPA), as 
amended.  Additionally, concentrations of vinyl chloride in groundwater have been 
identified above Michigan Department of Environmental Quality (MDEQ) Residential 



Baseline Environmental Assessment of the Vacant Retail Property 
Located at 100 East Maple Road, Troy, Michigan 

PM Project No. 02-6518-2; July 26, 2013 

 

 

PM Environmental, Inc. 

Page 2 

Groundwater Vapor Intrusion Screening Levels, but below the Nonresidential Vapor 
Intrusion Screening Levels.  
 

 During the site reconnaissance, PM observed five in-ground hydraulic hoists in the former 
service area.  In-ground hoists have an underground reservoir for hydraulic fluids, which 
can contain petroleum products and polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs).  Although 
previous site investigations indicate contamination associated with the hoists was not 
detected above MDEQ Part 201 Generic Cleanup Criteria in 2010, the potential exists 
that a release occurred from the hydraulic hoist systems and/or underground reservoirs 
since 2010.   
 

 PM observed staining in areas associated with the former automotive service operations.  
Although previous site investigations indicate contamination was not detected above 
MDEQ Part 201 Generic Cleanup Criteria in areas of staining in 2010, the potential exists 
for general hazardous substances and/or petroleum products to have seeped through the 
concrete into subsurface soils since 2010. 

 
 PM observed an underground vault in the former service area.  At the time of the site 

reconnaissance, the vault contained an unknown liquid.  The underground vault may 
have contained hazardous substances and/or petroleum products.  The structural 
integrity of the vault is unknown.  Although previous site investigations indicate 
contamination was not detected above MDEQ Part 201 Generic Cleanup Criteria 
associated with the vault in 2010, the potential exists that a release occurred from the 
underground vault since 2010.   
 

The following adjoining and/or nearby REC has been identified: 
 

 The northwest adjoining property, identified as 20 East Maple Road, was occupied by a 
gasoline service station from between 1957 and 1963 until between 1980 and 1981.  PM 
was unable to determine if the underground storage tanks (USTs) have been removed 
from the property.  Based on the close proximity to the subject property, the potential 
exists that a release has occurred on this property and migrated onto the subject 
property. 

 
A historical REC (HREC), as defined in the ASTM Standard, is an environmental condition that 
in the past would have been identified as a REC, but has been adequately addressed and 
therefore no longer represents a REC.  The following HREC was identified: 
 

 In PM’s professional opinion, the previous site investigations adequately assessed the 
release associated with the former 1,000-gallon used oil UST on the subject property.  
Limited soil and groundwater contamination was identified above current MDEQ Part 213 
Drinking Water (DW) and Groundwater Surface Water Interface (GSI) Risk Based 
Screening Levels (RBSLs); however, based on the limited, discontinuous groundwater at 
the subject property, these pathways are not applicable, and the release was granted 
closure in 2011.  Based on the limited residual contamination, removal of the UST, and 
closed LUST status, PM has identified the former UST and LUST status as a HREC.  

 



Baseline Environmental Assessment of the Vacant Retail Property 
Located at 100 East Maple Road, Troy, Michigan 

PM Project No. 02-6518-2; July 26, 2013 

 

 

PM Environmental, Inc. 

Page 3 

1.3.1 Phase I ESA Exceptions or Deletions 
 
During the completion of the June 25, 2013, Phase I ESA, there were no exceptions or deletions 
from the Federal All Appropriate Inquiry Rule under 40 CFR 312, or the ASTM Standard.  To the 
best of PM’s knowledge, no special terms or conditions applied to the preparation of the Phase I 
ESA. 

1.3.2 Phase I ESA Data Gaps 
 
PM did not identify any significant data gaps during the completion of the June 25, 2013, Phase 
I ESA. 
 

1.4  Summary of Site Investigation 
 

1.4.1 Summary of Previous Site Investigations  
 
PM reviewed the following reports pertaining to previous environmental investigations 
completed at the subject property.  Copies of the previous site investigations reports, including 
sample location maps and analytical summary tables, are included in Appendix C of the June 
25, 2013, Phase I ESA Report (Appendix A).  
 

Name of Report Date of 
Report Company that Prepared Report 

Modified Phase I ESA 10-6-2009 Soil and Materials Engineers, Inc. (SME) 
Phase II ESA 7-14-2010 Testing Engineers & Consultants, Inc. (TEC) 

Tier 1 LUST Closure Report 1-7-2011 Materials Testing Consultants, Inc. 
 
The following table provides a brief summary of the previous investigation completed on the 
subject property.  Additional details regarding the locations where soil and groundwater 
contamination exceed the applicable Part 201/Part 213 Nonresidential Risk-Based Screening 
Levels (RBSLs)/cleanup criteria are also included below. 
 
Open or Closed LUST Site: Closed 
Release Identification(s): C2428-90 / C-2385-90 
Release Date(s) January 1, 1990 / October 15, 1990 
Is soil contamination present above an 
applicable regulatory level? No 

Is soil contamination delineated in all 
directions? Not applicable 

Is groundwater contamination present 
above an applicable regulatory level? Yes 

Is groundwater contamination delineated 
in all directions? Yes 

Significant deficiencies identified? No 
Additional information: See below 

 
The scope of work for the 2009 Modified Phase I ESA included interviews with knowledgeable 
contacts, review of municipal records, and a site reconnaissance.  The report identified similar 
regulatory database listings and municipal information as identified by this Phase I ESA.  The 
2009 Modified Phase I ESA identified RECs including the former open LUST status, the 
potential for former and/or current USTs to be present, the unknown waste management 
practices associated with a vault in the automotive service garage, presence of in-ground hoists 



Baseline Environmental Assessment of the Vacant Retail Property 
Located at 100 East Maple Road, Troy, Michigan 

PM Project No. 02-6518-2; July 26, 2013 

 

 

PM Environmental, Inc. 

Page 4 

and the potential for associated releases, stained concrete within the automotive service 
garage, and the unknown waste management practices associated with the potential former 
onsite septic system.  PM did not identify any deficiencies with the 2009 report; however, the 
scope of work did not include a review of historical sources sufficient to document the former 
use of the subject property and adjoining properties, or the potential for a former septic system 
to be present. 
 
The 2011 LUST Closure Report indicated that a release was discovered from the former 1,000-
gallon used oil UST located west of the automotive service garage.  The release was reported in 
January 1990 based on visual indications and was reported again in October 1990 based on the 
results of laboratory analysis indicating detectable concentrations of total petroleum 
hydrocarbons (TPH) from samples collected during the removal.  Approximately 221 cubic yards 
of potentially impacted soil was excavated and disposed in 1992.  Subsurface investigation 
activities conducted in 2009 included the advancement of five soil borings, and the collection 
and laboratory analysis of soil and groundwater samples for volatile organic compounds 
(VOCs), polynuclear aromatic compounds (PNAs), PCBs, cadmium, chromium, and lead, or 
some combinations thereof.  Analytical results did not identify concentrations of target 
parameters above applicable MDEQ Part 213 RBSLs.  Limited soil and groundwater 
contamination was identified above current MDEQ Part 213 Drinking Water (DW) and 
Groundwater Surface Water Interface (GSI) RBSLs; however, based on the limited, 
discontinuous groundwater at the subject property, these pathways were not applicable, and the 
release was granted closure in 2011.   
 
Based upon review of the previous subsurface investigations to investigate former service 
operations, groundwater contamination is present which exceeds the current Part 201 
Residential and Nonresidential Generic Cleanup Criteria.  Based on these analytical results, the 
subject property would be classified as a “facility,” as defined by Part 201 of P.A. 451 of the 
Michigan Natural Resources Environmental Protection Act (NREPA), as amended.  Additionally, 
concentrations of vinyl chloride in groundwater have been identified above MDEQ Residential 
Groundwater Vapor Intrusion Screening Level, but below the Nonresidential Vapor Intrusion 
Screening Level.   
 
Refer to Section 2.1 for additional details regarding the results of the previous subsurface 
investigations conducted by TEC.   
 

1.4.2 Summary of Current Site Investigations  
 
On June 28, 2013, PM completed a scope of work consisting of the advancement of five soil 
borings (SB-1 through SB-5), installation of four temporary monitoring wells (TMW-1 through 
TMW-3 and TMW-5), installation of one sub-slab soil gas sampling point (SSG-1), and the 
collection of soil, groundwater, and soil gas samples.  The soil and groundwater samples were 
submitted for laboratory analysis of VOCs, PNAs, PCBs, cadmium, chromium and lead, or some 
combination thereof; while the soil gas sample was submitted for VOCs. 
 

1.4.2.1 Subsurface Investigation 
 
Soil borings were advanced to assess the RECs identified in the Phase I ESA completed by PM 
in June 2013.  Specifically, the Phase II ESA activities were conducted in the following areas of 
the subject property:  



Baseline Environmental Assessment of the Vacant Retail Property 
Located at 100 East Maple Road, Troy, Michigan 

PM Project No. 02-6518-2; July 26, 2013 

 

 

PM Environmental, Inc. 

Page 5 

Description of Soil Boring/Temporary Monitoring Well Locations 

Location and 
Total Depth 
(feet bgs) 

Soil 
Sample 
Depth 

(feet bgs) 

TMW 
Screen and 

DTW 
(feet bgs) 

Analysis Objectives Sample Selection 
(justification) 

PSB/TMW-1 
(15.0) 

Not 
Applicable 

2.05-7.05 
(2.2) 

VOCs and 
PNAs 

Assess potential 
contaminant 

migration from 
the former 
northwest 

adjoining gas 
station 

Soil: Due to the absence 
of visual/olfactory evidence 
of contamination, a soil 
sample was not collected  
GW: Sampled 

PSB/TMW-2 
(16.0) 

Not 
Applicable 

1.0-6.0 
(3.0) 

VOCs and 
PNAs 

Assess potential 
contaminant 

migration from 
the former 
northwest 

adjoining gas 
station 

Soil: Due to the PID 
readings ranging from 0.3 
ppm to 1.9 ppm within the 
saturated zone, a soil 
sample was not collected 
GW: Sampled 

PSB/TMW-3 
(10.0) 9.0-10.0 0.90-5.90 

(1.12) 

VOCs, 
PNAs, 
PCBs, 

cadmium, 
chromium, 
and lead 

Assess the 
historical service 
operations and 
hydraulic hoists 

Soil: Due to the absence 
of visual/olfactory evidence 
of contamination, a sample 
was collected at the 
sand/clay interface 
GW: Sampled 

PSB-4 
(15.0) 10.0-11.0 Not 

Applicable 

VOCs, 
PNAs, 
PCBs, 

cadmium, 
chromium, 
and lead 

Assess the 
historical service 

operations, 
hydraulic hoists, 

and 
underground 

vault 

Soil: Due to the absence 
of visual/olfactory evidence 
of contamination, a sample 
was collected at the 
sand/clay interface 
GW: Not sampled 

PSB/TMW-5 
(15.0) 12.0-13.0 0.0-5.0 

(0.90) 

VOCs, 
PNAs, 
PCBs, 

cadmium, 
chromium, 
and lead 

Assess the 
historical service 

operations, 
hydraulic hoists, 

and 
underground 

vault 

Soil: Due to the absence 
of visual/olfactory evidence 
of contamination, a sample 
was collected at the 
sand/clay interface 
GW: Sampled 

GW – Groundwater      TMW – temporary monitoring well 
DTW – Depth to Water     bgs – below ground surface 
PID – Photoionization Detector 
   

1.4.2.2 Soil Gas Investigation 
 
On June 28, 2013, PM installed one temporary sub-slab sampling points (SSG-1) and collected 
one soil gas sample to assess the indoor air inhalation pathway at the subject property.  The 
sample was collected in general accordance with MDEQ Guidance Document for the Vapor 
Intrusion Pathway, dated May 2013. 
 



Baseline Environmental Assessment of the Vacant Retail Property 
Located at 100 East Maple Road, Troy, Michigan 

PM Project No. 02-6518-2; July 26, 2013 

 

 

PM Environmental, Inc. 

Page 6 

Description of Soil Gas Sampling Locations 
 

Location Sample 
Depth Analysis Objectives 

SSG-1 Sub-slab VOCs Assess potential vapor intrusion in the area of MW-4 
 

1.4.2.4 Subsurface Investigations Techniques and QA/QC 
Procedures  

 
The soil borings were advanced to the desired depth using a model 6610DT Geoprobe® drill rig.  
Soil sampling was performed for soil classification, verification of subsurface geologic 
conditions, and for investigating the potential and/or extent of soil and groundwater 
contamination at the subject property.  Soil samples were generally collected on a continuous 
basis using a 5-foot long macro-core sampler.  
 
During drilling operations, the drilling equipment was cleaned to minimize the possibility of cross 
contamination.  These procedures included cleaning equipment with a phosphate free solution 
(i.e., Alconox®) and rinsing with distilled water after each sample collection.  Drilling and 
sampling equipment was also cleaned in this manner prior to initiating field activities. 
 
Soils collected from discrete sample intervals were screened using a photoionization detector 
(PID) to determine if VOCs were present.  Soil from specific depths was placed in plastic bags, 
sealed, and allowed to volatilize. The headspace within each bag was then monitored with the 
PID.  The PID is able to detect trace levels of organic compounds in the air space within the 
plastic bag.  The PID utilizes a 10.2 electron volts (eV) lamp.  Soil samples were collected from 
the soil borings based upon the highest PID reading, visual/olfactory evidence, a change in 
geology, surficial soil, and/or directly above saturated soil. 
 
Soil samples for VOC analysis were preserved with methanol, in accordance with 
Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) method 5035, and then placed in appropriately labeled 
containers with Teflon lined lids and/or sanitized glass jars, placed in an ice packed cooler, and 
transported under chain of custody procedures for laboratory analysis within applicable holding 
times.   
 
Temporary monitoring wells were installed in select soil borings to collect groundwater samples 
for chemical analysis.  A new well assembly was used for each temporary well, consisting of a 
5-foot long, one-inch diameter, 0.010-inch slot, schedule 40, PVC screen and a 1-inch diameter 
PVC casing. After the screen for the well was set to the desired depth, natural sands were 
allowed to collapse around the well screen.  The well was developed using either a new 
disposable 0.9-inch diameter bailer or peristaltic pump equipped with new, chemically inert, 3/8-
inch diameter polyethylene and silicon tubing.  Well development was performed by purging 
until clear, turbid free groundwater was observed coming from the well.   
 
Groundwater samples were placed in appropriately labeled containers, placed in an ice packed 
cooler, and transported under chain of custody procedures for laboratory analysis within 
applicable holding times. 
 
Soil gas sampling activities were conducted in general accordance with the guidelines 
established by the ASTM in the Standard Practice for Vapor Encroachment Screening on 
Property Involved in Real Estate Transactions Designation E 2600-10 (ASTM Standard Practice 



Baseline Environmental Assessment of the Vacant Retail Property 
Located at 100 East Maple Road, Troy, Michigan 

PM Project No. 02-6518-2; July 26, 2013 

 

 

PM Environmental, Inc. 

Page 7 

E 2600-10) and MDEQ May 2013 Guidance For The Vapor Intrusion Pathway.  This included 
purging three gas point/sand pack volumes at low-flow (200 ml/minute) from each soil gas 
monitoring point, followed by the collection of one soil gas sample, using summa canister 
methods, for laboratory analysis of VOCs.  The summa canisters were regulated with a flow rate 
of 200 ml/minute, which was pre-set at the laboratory.  
 
The sub-slab sampling point was installed into the void created by a hammer drill in the 
concrete slab foundation and were confirmed to be secure and sealed.  Additionally, an isolation 
chamber was utilized during soil gas sample collection was placed over each soil gas sample 
location to confirm the system was tight and representative samples were collected.  Helium gas 
(i.e., as a tracer gas) was pumped into each bucket chamber and monitored in the field during 
the collection of each soil gas sample to assess the integrity of the surface seal and piping 
associated with each sample point. 
 
Three soil samples and four groundwater sample were submitted to Merit Laboratories, Inc. in 
East Lansing, Michigan.  One soil gas sample was submitted to Accutest Laboratories in 
Dayton, New Jersey for chemical analysis.  Tables 1 through Table 3 and Figures 3 through 5 
summarize the soil, groundwater, and soil gas analytical results.  Complete laboratory reports 
are presented in Appendix B. 
 
Upon completion of the investigation, the temporary well materials were removed from the soil 
boring and the soil borings were abandoned by placing the soil cuttings back into the borehole, 
filling the void with bentonite chips, hydrating the chips, resurfacing and returning the area to its 
pre-drilling condition. 
 

1.4.3 Geology and Hydrogeology 
 
A review of the 7.5 Minute, Birmingham, Michigan Quadrangle (Figure 1) prepared by the 
United States Geological Survey (USGS), dated 1968 (photo revised 1971), indicates that the 
subject property is approximately 669 feet relative to the National Geodetic Vertical Datum 
(NGVD).  The immediate subject site area appears to be relatively flat with no discernible slope.   
 
The general native soil stratigraphy consisted of up to 12.0 feet of sand followed by clay to 16.0 
feet bgs.  Previous assessment activities indicated up to 7.0 feet of sand followed by clay to at 
least 12.0 feet bgs.  Groundwater was encountered in all soil borings within the sand unit at 
depths ranging from 0.90 to 2.2.  Based on the 2013 assessment activities completed at the 
subject property documenting a saturated thickness ranging from 3.0 to 11.0 feet thick, the 
groundwater would meet the definition of an “aquifer” as defined in MDEQ Peer Review Draft 
Operation Memorandum No. 4 Attachment 10 “Groundwater Not in an Aquifer” dated February 
2007.    
 
The soil boring logs are included in Appendix C, which consist of site specific geology, sample 
depths, and temporary monitoring well details. 
 
2.0 LOCATION OF CONTAMINATED MEDIA ON THE SUBJECT PROPERTY 

 
2.1  Soil and Groundwater Analytical Results 
 

The analytical results for soil and groundwater samples collected by PM were compared with 
the MDEQ cleanup criteria as presented in Attachment 1 to MDEQ Operational Memorandum 



Baseline Environmental Assessment of the Vacant Retail Property 
Located at 100 East Maple Road, Troy, Michigan 

PM Project No. 02-6518-2; July 26, 2013 

 

 

PM Environmental, Inc. 

Page 8 

Number 1 “Part 201 Cleanup Criteria and Part 213 Risk-Based Screening Levels,” September 
28, 2012 using the applicable RBSL.  The analytical results are summarized in Tables 1 and 2 
(including CAS #) and in Figures 3 and 4.  Appendix B contains the laboratory analytical report. 

Summary of Soil and Groundwater Exceedances 

Location and 
Total Depth 
(feet bgs) 

Soil 
Sample 
Depth 

(feet bgs) 

TMW 
Screen 

and DTW 
(feet bgs) 

Analysis Objectives 

Exceedance 
of applicable MDEQ Part 

201 Cleanup Criteria 

Soil GW 

PSB/TMW-1 
(15.0) 

Not 
Applicable 

2.05-7.05 
(2.2) 

VOCs and 
PNAs 

Assess potential 
contaminant 

migration from the 
former northwest 

adjoining gas station 

Not 
Applicable None 

PSB/TMW-2 
(16.0) 

Not 
Applicable 

1.0-6.0 
(3.0) 

VOCs and 
PNAs 

Assess potential 
contaminant 

migration from the 
former northwest 

adjoining gas station 

Not 
Applicable None 

PSB/TMW-3 
(10.0) 9.0-10.0 0.90-5.90 

(1.12) 

VOCs, 
PNAs, 
PCBs, 

cadmium, 
chromium, 
and lead 

Assess the historical 
service operations 

and hydraulic hoists 
None 

Vinyl 
Chloride:  

DW 

PSB-4 
(15.0) 10.0-11.0 Not 

Applicable 

VOCs, 
PNAs, 
PCBs, 

cadmium, 
chromium, 
and lead 

Assess the historical 
service operations 

and hydraulic hoists 
None Not 

Applicable 

PSB/TMW-5 
(15.0) 12.0-13.0 0.0-5.0 

(0.90) 

VOCs, 
PNAs, 
PCBs, 

cadmium, 
chromium, 
and lead 

Assess the historical 
service operations 

and hydraulic hoists 
None None 

 
Soil analytical results from the 2013 site assessment activities indicate that no VOCs, PNAs, or 
PCBs were identified above the laboratory method detection levels (MDLs).   Concentrations of 
cadmium, chromium, and lead were identified above the laboratory MDLs; however, 
concentrations were below the Michigan Statewide Default Background Levels.   
 
Groundwater analytical results from the 2013 site assessment activities indicate that no PNAs, 
PCBs, cadmium, chromium, and lead were identified above the laboratory MDLs.  A 
concentration of the VOC species vinyl chloride was identified at TMW-3 above the Residential 
and Nonresidential Drinking Water Generic Cleanup Criteria.  All other VOCs samples collected 
were non-detect.    
 



Baseline Environmental Assessment of the Vacant Retail Property 
Located at 100 East Maple Road, Troy, Michigan 

PM Project No. 02-6518-2; July 26, 2013 

 

 

PM Environmental, Inc. 

Page 9 

Historical Data Summary 
 
Previous site investigation reports, including analytical results for soil and groundwater samples 
collected at the subject property are included in Appendix C of the June 2013 Phase I ESA 
(Appendix A).   
 
A summary of the most recent soil data obtained for the subject property by TEC during March 
and May 2010 indicates a concentration of cadmium at SB-5 above the Michigan Statewide 
Default Background levels and the Groundwater Surface Water Interface Protection (GSIP) 
Criteria, based on the more conservative MDEQ chromium VI valence comparison.  However, 
because the property is not known to historically been involved in metal plating operations, the 
MDEQ criterion for chromium III valence may be a more reasonable comparison.  The observed 
concentration at SB-5 is below the MDEQ GSIP (6.9 E+9 µg/Kg) criterion for chromium III.  
Figure 3 depicts the soil sample locations along with a summary of the associated TEC soil 
analytical results.   TEC Table 1 “Soil Analytical Data Summary,” includes a summary of soil 
analytical data along with a comparison to the applicable Part 201 cleanup criteria, and is 
included as Table 4 of this BEA. 
 
Groundwater analytical results indicate groundwater concentrations of vinyl chloride, chromium, 
and lead are present above the MDEQ DW and/or GSI cleanup criteria.  However, since no 
significantly elevated chromium and lead concentrations were identified in soils on the site, it is 
likely the elevated chromium and lead results in groundwater is a result of residual silty 
sampling conditions in temporary monitoring wells.  Analytical data collected in May 2010 from 
permanent monitoring wells, which were installed with a filter pack and properly developed, 
showed no significant metal impact.  Therefore, the chromium and lead impact is not 
representative of a metal release at the subject property.  Groundwater impact is defined in all 
directions horizontally, and is vertically defined by the confining clay unit present across the 
subject property.  Figure 4 depicts temporary and permanent monitoring well locations from 
which groundwater samples were collected at the subject property along with a summary of 
TEC’s March and May 2010 groundwater analytical results.   TEC Table 2 “Groundwater 
Analytical Data Summary”, includes a summary of the groundwater analytical data along with a 
comparison to the applicable Part 201 cleanup criteria, and is included as Table 5 of this BEA. 
 

2.2  Soil Gas Analytical Results 
 
The analytical results for the soil gas samples collected by PM on June 28, 2013 were 
compared with the MDEQ May 2013 Guidance for the Vapor Intrusion Pathway Guidance 
Document.   
 
The analytical results are summarized in the table below: 

 
Summary of Soil Gas Exceedances 

 
Location Sample Depth Analysis Objectives Soil Gas 

Exceedance 

SSG-1 Sub-slab VOCs Assess potential vapor 
intrusion in the area of MW-4  None 

  



Baseline Environmental Assessment of the Vacant Retail Property 
Located at 100 East Maple Road, Troy, Michigan 

PM Project No. 02-6518-2; July 26, 2013 

 

 

PM Environmental, Inc. 

Page 10 

The soil gas analytical results from the sample location (SSG-1) that was collected by PM on 
June 28, 2013 are summarized in Table 3 and on Figure 5.  Appendix B contains the laboratory 
report. 
 
Concentrations of various VOCs were identified in the soil gas sample above laboratory MDLs, 
but below the Residential and Nonresidential Screening Levels.   

 
2.3  Subject Property Site Status 

 
Contaminant concentrations identified on the subject property indicate exceedances to the Part 
201 Residential and Nonresidential DW cleanup criteria.  Therefore, the subject property is a 
"facility" in accordance with Part 201 of P.A. 451, as amended, and the rules promulgated 
thereunder.   
 
3.0 PROPERTY INFORMATION 
 

3.1  Legal Description of Subject Property 
 
Assessing records bearing a legal description of the subject property are included in Appendix 
D. 
 

3.2 Map of Subject Property 
 
A map of the subject property which depicts the property/parcel boundaries is included as 
Figure 2. 
 

3.3 Subject Location and Analytical Summary Maps 
 
Figure 2 provides a scaled map of the subject property with site structures.   
 
Figure 3 provides a summary of the March 2010 and June 2013 soil analytical data collected by 
TEC and PM.    
 
Figure 4 provides a summary of the March and May 2010 and June 2013 groundwater 
analytical data collected by TEC and PM.    
 
Figure 5 provides a summary of the June 2013 soil gas analytical data collected by PM.   
 
The previous site investigation reports identified in Section 1.4.1 is included in Appendix C of 
PM’s June 2013 Phase I ESA (Appendix A). 
 

3.4 Subject Property Location Map 
 
Figure 1 provides a scaled area map depicting the subject property location in relation to the 
surrounding area. 

 
3.5 Subject Property Address 

 
As indicated in Section 1.0, the subject property (Parcel ID #88-20-34-101-023) is located at 
100 East Maple, Troy, Oakland County, Michigan (Figure 1).   



Baseline Environmental Assessment of the Vacant Retail Property 
Located at 100 East Maple Road, Troy, Michigan 

PM Project No. 02-6518-2; July 26, 2013 

 

 

PM Environmental, Inc. 

Page 11 

 
3.6 Subject Spatial Data 

 
As depicted in Figure 1, the subject property is located in the northwest quarter of the northwest 
quarter of Section 34 in Township two North (T2N), Range 11 East (R11E), Troy, Oakland 
County, Michigan.   
 
According to the MDEQ Groundwater Mapping Project Website, the subject property is located 
at latitude 42.547 north and a longitude of -83.1453 west. 
 
4.0 FACILITY STATUS OF SUBJECT PROPERTY 

As indicated in Section 2.0, based upon documented exceedances of the Part 201 Residential 
and Nonresidential DW cleanup criteria; the subject property is a facility under Part 201 of P.A. 
451, and the rules promulgated thereunder.   
 

4.1 Summary Data Tables 

The analytical results for the soil and groundwater samples collected by PM were compared 
with the MDEQ GCC as presented in Attachment 1 to MDEQ Operational Memorandum 
Number 1 “Part 201 Cleanup Criteria and Part 213 Risk-Based Screening Levels,” September 
28, 2012, using the applicable cleanup criteria.  The analytical results are summarized in Tables 
1 and 2.  CAS numbers associated with each target analyte identified above the laboratory 
MDLs and maximum contaminant concentrations are also presented in Tables 1 and 2.   
 
The soil gas analycial results, including CAS numbers associated with each target analyte, are 
summarized in Table 3 along with a comparison to the MDEQ May 2013 Guidance for the Vapor 
Intrusion Pathway Guidance Document.   
 
The analytical results for the most recent soil and groundwater samples collected from the 
subject property by TEC are presented in Tables 4 and 5.  Those tables include the following: 
 
Table 4: TEC Table 1 Soil Analytical Data Summary  
Table 5: TEC Table 2 Groundwater Analytical Data Summary  

 
Previous site investigation reports, including summary data tables, are included in Appendix A.  
 

4.2 Laboratory Reports and Chain of Custody Documentation 

Soil, groundwater, and soil gas samples collected by PM were submitted under chain of custody 
procedures and within applicable holding times.  Refer to Appendix B for the laboratory 
analytical report and associated chain of custody documentation. 
 
Laboratory chain of custody documentation for TEC is included in the previous site investigation 
reports included in Appendix C of PM’s June 2013 Phase I ESA (Appendix A).  
 
5.0 IDENTIFICATION OF BEA AUTHOR 

This BEA was conducted on July 26, 2013, by Ms. Christie L. Santiago, Senior Project Engineer 
and Mr. Michael T. Kulka, P.E., Principal, PM Environmental, Inc., which is prior to or within 45 



Baseline Environmental Assessment of the Vacant Retail Property 
Located at 100 East Maple Road, Troy, Michigan 

PM Project No. 02-6518-2; July 26, 2013 

 

 

PM Environmental, Inc. 

Page 12 

days of becoming the property owner or operator.  Qualification statements are provided as 
Appendix E.  
 
I declare that, to the best of my professional knowledge and belief, I meet the definition of 
Environmental Professional as defined in §312.10 of 40 CFR 312 and I have the specific 
qualifications based on education, training, and experience to assess a property of the nature, 
history, and setting of the subject property.  I have developed and performed the all appropriate 
inquires in conformance with the standards and practices set forth in 40 CFR Part 312. 

   
Christie Santiago  Michael T. Kulka, P.E. 
Senior Project Engineer     Principal 
 
6.0 AAI REPORT OR ASTM PHASE I ESA 

As indicated in Section 1.3, PM performed a Phase I ESA of the subject property, June 25, 
2013, in conformance with the scope and limitations of ASTM Practice E 1527-05 for the subject 
property (Parcel ID: 88-20-34-101-023) located at 100 East Maple, Troy, Michigan 48083.  The 
scope of the Phase I ESA included consideration of hazardous substances as defined in 
Section 20202(1)(x) of P.A 451 of 1994, as amended, and constituted the performance of an All 
Appropriate Inquiry in conformance with the standards and practices set forth in 40 CFR Part 
312. 
 
A copy of the June 2013 Phase I ESA is included in Appendix A. 
 
7.0 REFERENCES 

 MDEQ Operational Memorandum No. 1 “Part 201 Cleanup Criteria and Part 213 Risk-based 
Screening Levels,” Revised March 25, 2011 and in accordance with Section 20120a(1); 

 MDEQ Operational Memorandum No. 4 “Site Characterization and Remediation Verification 
– Attachment 10, Peer Review Draft Groundwater Not in an Aquifer,” February 2007; 

 MDEQ Operational Memorandum No. 2 “Sampling and Analysis,” October 22, 2004, 
Revised July 5, 2007; 

 MDEQ Baseline Environmental Assessment Submittal Form (EQP 4025), dated March  
2011; 

 Modified Phase I Environmental Site Assessment (ESA), October 6, 2009, SME; 
 Phase II ESA, July 14, 2010, TEC; 
 Tier 1 LUST Closure Report, January 7, 2011, Materials Testing Consultants, Inc.; and 
 Phase I ESA, June 25, 2013, PM.         
 



Figures 













Tables 



TABLE 1 (1 OF 1)
SUMMARY OF SOIL ANALYTICAL RESULTS

VOLATILE ORGANIC COMPOUNDS, POLYNUCEAR AROMATIC COMPOUNDS, POLYCHLORINATED BIPHENYLS and METALS
100 EAST MAPLE, TROY, MICHIGAN

PM PROJECT # 02-6518-2

Le
ad

Total1

Various Various 1336363 7440439 16065831 7439921

Sample Date Sample Depth (bgs) VOCs PNAs PCBs
06/28/2013 9.0-10.0 ND ND <330 210 7,730 9,020

06/28/2013 10.0-11.0 ND ND <330 <200 5,410 6,520

06/28/2013 12.0-13.0 ND ND <330 330 7,140 6,440

NA NA NA 1,200 18,000 21,000

Various Various NLL 6,000 30,000 700,000

Various Various NLL 7,730 {G,X} 3300 (VI) 
6.9E+9 (III) 8.3E+6 {G,X}

Various Various NA 3,000 {G,X} 3.5E+9 {G,X} 2.5E+6 {G,X}

Various Various NLL 2.3E+08 1.4E+08 ID

Various Various 3.0E+06 NLV NLV NLV

Various Various 240,000 NLV NLV NLV

Various Various 7.9E+06 NLV NLV NLV

Various Various 7.9E+06 NLV NLV NLV

Various Various 5.2E+06 1.70E+06 260,000 NA

Various Various {T} 550,000 2.50E+06 400,000

Various Various NLL 6,000 30,000 700,000

Various Various 1.6E+07 NLV NLV NLV

Various Various 810,000 NLV NLV NLV

Various Various 2.8E+07 NLV NLV NLV

Various Various 2.8E+07 NLV NLV NLV

Various Various 6.5E+06 2.2E+06 240,000 NA

Various Various {T} 2.1E+06 9.2E+06 900,000 (DD)

Various Various NA NA NA NA

{G}  Metal GSIP Criteria for Surface Water Not Protected for Drinking Water Use based on 417.5 mg/L CaCO3 Hardness: 
        Station ID 630003, River Rouge AT Wattles Road Bridge; City of Troy, MI.

{T} Refer to the Toxic Substance Control Act (TSCA), 40 CFR 761, Subparts D and G, as amended, to determine the applicability
of TSCA cleanup standards.  Alternatives to compliance with the standards listed below are possible under Subpart D.  
New Releases may be subject to the standards identified in Subpart G.  Use Part 201 soil direct contact criteria in the table below 
where TSCA standards are not applicable.

LAND USE CATEGORY TSCA, Subpart D Part 201
Residential 4,000 µg/Kg
Nonresidential 16,000 µg/Kg

  Applicable Criteria Exceeded 
BOLD   Value Exceeds Applicable Criteria

bgs   Below Grade Surface (feet)
1   Maximum of analyzed or calculated total lead value.

Sample ID
PSB-3

Volatile Organic Compounds, Polynuclear Aromatic Compmounds, 
Polychlorinated Biphenyls (PCBs)

&
Metals (Cadmium, Chromium, & Lead)

(µg/Kg) Po
ly

ch
lo

rin
at

ed
Bi

ph
en

yl
s

C
ad

m
iu

m

C
hr

om
iu

m

Ambient Air Particulate Soil Inhalation (Nonres PSI)

Ambient Air Infinite Source Volatile Soil Inhalation (Res VSI)

Direct Contact (Res DC)

Residential (µg/Kg)

Chemical Abstract Service Number (CAS#)

PSB-4

1,000 µg/Kg, or
10,000 µg/Kg if 

Soil Saturation Concentration Screening Levels (Csat)

Soil Volatilization to Indoor Air Inhalation (Nonres SVII)
Ambient Air Infinite Source Volatile Soil Inhalation (Nonres VSI)
Ambient Air Finite VSI for 5 Meter Source Thickness
Ambient Air Finite VSI for 2 Meter Source Thickness

Screening Levels (µg/Kg)

Direct Contact (Nonres DC)

Drinking Water Protection (Nonres DWP)

Operational Memorandum No. 1: Part 201 Cleanup Criteria and Part 213 Risk-based Screening Levels (RBSLs), 
Attachment 1: Soil Tables 2 and 3 Residential and Nonresidential Part 201 Generic Cleanup Criteria and Screening Levels; Part 213 Tier 1 RBSLs, 

September 28, 2012

Nonresidential (µg/Kg)

Ambient Air Finite VSI for 5 Meter Source Thickness
Ambient Air Finite VSI for 2 Meter Source Thickness
Ambient Air Particulate Soil Inhalation (Res PSI)

Po
ly

nu
cl

ea
r 

Ar
om

at
ic

 
C

om
po

un
ds

Vo
la

til
e 

O
rg

an
ic

 
C

om
po

un
ds

PSB-5

Soil Volatilization to Indoor Air Inhalation (Res SVII)

Metals

GSIP Human Drinking Water

Statewide Default Background Levels

Drinking Water Protection (Res DWP)

Groundwater Surface Water Interface Protection (GSIP)

Groundwater Contact Protection (GCP)



TABLE 2 (1 OF 1)
SUMMARY OF GROUNDWATER ANALYTICAL RESULTS

VOLATILE ORGANIC COMPOUNDS, POLYNUCLEAR AROMATIC COMPOUNDS, POLYCHLORINATED BIPHENYLS and METALS
100 EAST MAPLE, TROY, MICHIGAN

PM PROJECT # 02-6518-2

Vi
ny

l c
hl

or
id

e 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

O
th

er
 V

O
C

s

Po
ly

nu
cl

ea
r 

Ar
om

at
ic

 
C

om
po

un
ds

Po
ly

ch
lo

rin
at

ed
Bi

ph
en

yl
s

C
ad

m
iu

m

C
hr

om
iu

m

Le
ad

75014 Various Various 1336363 7440439 16065831 7439921

Sample ID Sample Date Screen Depth (bgs) Depth to Groundwater 
(bgs) PNAs PCBs

TMW-1 06/28/2013 2.05-7.05 2.2 <1 ND ND NA NA NA NA

TMW-2 06/28/2013 1.0-6.0 3.0 <1 ND ND NA NA NA NA

TMW-3 06/28/2013 0.90-5.90 1.12 3 ND ND <0.1 <0.5 <5 <3

TMW-5 06/28/2013 0.0-5.0 0.90 <1 ND ND <0.1 <0.5 <5 <3

2.0 {A} Various Various 0.5 {A} 5.0 {A} 100 {A} 4.0 {L}

NL Various Various NL NL NL NL

2.0 {A} Various Various 0.5 {A} 5.0 {A} 100 {A} 4.0 {L}

NL Various Various NL NL NL NL

13 {X} Various Various 0.2 {M}; 2.6E-5 6.4 {G,X} 11 (VI)  240 (III) 47 {G,X}

17,000 Various Various ID {G} {G} {G}

NA Various Various NA 2.5 {G,X} 120 {G,X} 14 {G,X}

1,100 Various Various 45 {S} NLV NLV NLV

13,000 Various Various 45 {S} NLV NLV NLV

1,000 Various Various 3.3 {AA} 1.90E+05 4.60E+05 ID

4.8 Various Various 4.5 NLV NLV NLV

19 Various Various 18 NLV NLV NLV

2.76E+06 Various Various 44.7 NA NA NA

33,000 Various Various ID ID ID ID

ID Various Various ID ID ID ID

{G}  Metal GSIP Criteria for Surface Water Not Protected for Drinking Water Use based on 417.5 mg/L CaCO3 Hardness: 

        Station ID 630003, River Rouge AT Wattles Road Bridge; City of Troy, MI.

  Applicable Criteria/RBSL Exceeded 

BOLD   Value Exceeds Applicable Criteria

bgs   Below Grade Surface (feet)

ND   Not detected at levels above the laboratory Method Detection Limit (MDL) or Minimum Quantitative Level (MQL)
1 Rule 323.1057 of Part 4 Water Quality Standards
2   Tier 1 GVII Criteria based on 3 meter (or greater) groundwater depth
3   (Program Redesign 2009 Draft) Screening Levels based on depth to groundwater less than 3 meters and not in contact with building foundation

Volatile Organic Compounds, Polynuclear Aromatic Compounds, Polychlorinated Biphenyls 
(PCBs), & Metals (Cadmium, Chromium, & Lead)

(µg/L)

Chemical Abstract Service Number (CAS#)

Residential Drinking Water (Res DW)
Residential Health Based Drinking Water Values

Residential/Nonresidential (µg/L)

Nonresidential Drinking Water (Nonres DW)

Residential Groundwater Volatilization 
to Indoor Air Inhalation (Res GVII) ²

Groundwater Surface Water Interface (GSI) 

GSI Final Acute Values (FAV) 1

Metals

Operational Memorandum No. 1: Part 201 Cleanup Criteria and Part 213 Risk-based Screening Levels (RBSLs), 
Attachment 1: Table 1. Groundwater: Residential and Nonresidential Part 201 Generic Cleanup Criteria and Screening Levels; Part 213 Tier 1 RBSLs, September 28, 2012

Nonresidential Health Based Drinking Water Values

VOCs

Groundwater Contact (GC) 

GSI Human Drinking Water 

Water Solubility

Screening Levels (µg/L)

Acute Inhalation Screening Level
Flammability and Explosivity Screening Level

Nonresidential Groundwater Vapor Intrusion Screening Levels ³
Residential Groundwater Vapor Intrusion Screening Levels ³

Nonresidential Groundwater Volatilization
to Indoor Air Inhalation (Nonres GVII) ²



TABLE 3 (1 OF 1)
SUMMARY OF SOIL VAPOR ANALYTICAL RESULTS

VOLATILE ORGANIC COMPOUNDS  
100 EAST MAPLE, TROY, MICHIGAN

PM PROJECT # 02-6518-2

Ac
et

on
e

Be
nz

en
e

C
ar

bo
n 

di
su

lfi
de

C
hl

or
of

or
m

C
yc

lo
he

xa
ne

D
ic

hl
or

od
ifl

uo
ro

m
et

ha
ne

Et
ha

no
l

Et
hy

lb
en

ze
ne

4-
Et

hy
lto

lu
en

e

H
ep

ta
ne

H
ex

an
e

2-
H

ex
an

on
e

Is
op

ro
py

l A
lc

oh
ol

M
et

hy
le

ne
 c

hl
or

id
e

M
et

hy
l e

th
yl

 k
et

on
e

M
et

hy
l I

so
bu

ty
l K

et
on

e

M
et

hy
l T

er
t B

ut
yl

 E
th

er

1,
2,

4-
Tr

im
et

hy
lb

en
ze

ne

1,
3,

5-
Tr

im
et

hy
lb

en
ze

ne

2,
2,

4-
Tr

im
et

hy
lp

en
ta

ne

Te
rti

ar
y 

Bu
ty

l A
lc

oh
ol

Te
tra

ch
lo

ro
et

hy
le

ne

Te
tra

hy
dr

of
ur

an

To
lu

en
e

Tr
ic

hl
or

oe
th

yl
en

e

Tr
ic

hl
or

of
lu

or
om

et
ha

ne

m
,p

-X
yl

en
e

o-
Xy

le
ne

Xy
le

ne
s 

(to
ta

l)

O
th

er
 V

O
C

s

VOCsppbv06102013 67641 71432 75150 67663 110827 75718 64175 100414 622968 142825 110543 591786 67630 75092 78933 108101 1634044 95636 108678 540841 75650 127184 109999 108883 79016 75694 1330207 95476 1330207 Various

Sample ID Sample Date Sample Duration (min) Flow Rate (ml/min)

SSG-1 6/28/2013 5.0 520 7.1 9.2 0.62 J 4.3 0.52 J 24.3 3.9 1.1 9.6 23.8 2.1 2.7 1.5 19.4 22.9 0.17 J 4.7 1.4 0.75 J 3.5 4 1.6 26.4 0.81 0.77 J 11 4.3 15.3 ND

82,000 32 7,400 73 58,000 3.30E+05 NDC 640 NDC 28,000 6,600 250 NDC 880 56,000 24,000 27,000 1,500 1,500 25,000 NDC 170 200 44,000 12 3.30E+05 760 760 760 Various

8.20E+05 320 74,000 730 5.80E+05 3.30E+06 NDC 6,400 NDC 2.80E+05 66,000 2,500 NDC 8,800 5.60E+05 2.40E+05 2.70E+05 15,000 15,000 2.50E+05 NDC 1,700 2,000 4.40E+05 120 3.30E+06 7,600 7,600 7,600 Various

1.40E+06 650 1.20E+05 1,500 9.70E+05 5.60E+06 NDC 13,000 NDC 4.70E+05 1.10E+05 4,100 NDC 18,000 9.40E+05 4.10E+05 4.60E+05 25,000 25,000 4.20E+05 NDC 3,300 3,400 7.40E+05 210 5.60E+06 13,000 13,000 13,000 Various

1.40E+07 6,500 1.20E+06 15,000 9.70E+06 5.60E+07 NDC 1.30E+05 NDC 4.70E+06 1.10E+06 41,000 NDC 1.80E+05 9.40E+06 4.10E+06 4.60E+06 2.50E+05 2.50E+05 4.20E+06 NDC 33,000 34,000 7.40E+06 2100 5.60E+07 1.30E+05 1.30E+05 1.30E+05 Various

25,000 390 1,900 29 NDC NDC NDC NDC NDC NDC NDC NDC NDC 6,400 4,200 NDC 1,900 NDC NDC NDC NDC 2,800 NDC 9,300 74,000 NDC 4,800 4,800 4,800 Various

8.28E+05 13,000 63,000 970 NDC NDC NDC NDC NDC NDC NDC NDC NDC 2.15E+05 1.40E+05 NDC 63,000 NDC NDC NDC NDC 93,000 NDC 3.10E+05 2.48E+06 NDC 1.60E+05 1.60E+05 1.60E+05 Various

Applicable Criteria/RBSL Exceeded 

BOLD Value Exceeds Applicable Criteria

bgs Below Ground Surface (feet)

ND Not detected at levels above the laboratory Method Detection Limit (MDL) or Minimum Quantitative Level (MQL)

NLV A hazardous substance is "Not Likely to Volatilize". This designation is given to any hazardous substance with a Henry’s Law Constant of less than 1.0 x 10-5 atm-m3/mol.

ID "Insufficient Data" was available to the MDEQ in order to develop a criterion at the date of publication.

NDC "No Defined Criteria" by the Michigan Department of Environmental Quality (MDEQ)
1 The IAC and SGC presented in this table are health-based values. The applicable IAC and SGC are based on the higher of the health-based value and the appropriate analytical reporting limit.

IRASL Immediate Response Acute Vapor Intrusion Screening Levels 

RL Reporting Limit

E Indicates value exceeds calibration range

J Indicates estimated value

B Indicates analyte found in associated method blank

N Indicates presumptive evidence of a compound

IRASL Indoor Air (AIAvi)
IRASL Soil Gas (ASGvi)

DRAFT Acute Vapor Intrusion Screening Levels for Indoor Air and Soil Gas; Residential and Nonresidential Land Use, February 2013 (ppbv)

Vapor Intrusion Shallow Sub-Slab Soil Gas Screening Levels (≤ 1.5m bgs) (SGVI-SS)

Vapor Intrusion Deep Soil Gas Screening Levels (SGVI)

Vapor Intrusion Shallow Sub-Slab Soil Gas Screening Levels (≤ 1.5m bgs) (SGVI-SS)

Vapor Intrusion Deep Soil Gas Screening Levels (SGVI)

VOLATILE ORGANIC COMPOUNDS

(ppbv)

Nonresidential Screening Levels (ppbv)

VOCs

MDEQ Guidance Document For The Vapor Intrusion Pathway, Policy and Procedure Number: 09-017, Appendix D Vapor Intrusion Screening Values, May 2013

Residential Screening Levels (ppbv)

Chemical Abstract Service Number (CAS#)                                 



Testing Engineers & Consultants, Inc. Table 1: Soil Analytical Data Summary TEC Project 50484-1

Phase II ESA

100 East Maple Road

Troy, Michigan

Page 1 of 2

Indoor Air

D
ri

n
k

in
g

 W
a

te
r 

P
ro

te
c

ti
o

n
 

C
ri

te
ri

a
 &

 R
B

S
L

s

G
ro

u
n

d
w

a
te

r 

S
u

rf
a

c
e

 W
a

te
r 

In
te

rf
a

c
e

 P
ro

te
c

ti
o

n
 

C
ri

te
ri

a
 &

 R
B

S
L

s

G
ro

u
n

d
w

a
te

r 

C
o

n
ta

c
t 

P
ro

te
c

ti
o

n
 

C
ri

te
ri

a
 &

 R
B

S
L

s

S
o

il
 V

o
la

ti
li

z
a

ti
o

n
 

to
 I

n
d

o
o

r 
A

ir
 

In
h

a
la

ti
o

n
 C

ri
te

ri
a

 

&
 R

B
S

L
s

In
fi

n
it

e
 S

o
u

rc
e

 

V
o

la
ti

le
 S

o
il

 

In
h

a
la

ti
o

n
 C

ri
te

ri
a

 

(V
S

IC
) 

&
 R

B
S

L
s

P
a

rt
ic

u
la

te
 S

o
il

 

In
h

a
la

ti
o

n
 

C
ri

te
ri

a
 &

 R
B

S
L

s

D
ir

e
c

t 
C

o
n

ta
c

t 

C
ri

te
ri

a
 &

 R
B

S
L

s

S
o

il
 S

a
tu

ra
ti

o
n

 

C
o

n
c

e
n

tr
a

ti
o

n
 

S
c

re
e

n
in

g
 L

e
v

e
ls

SB-1-1

1' bgs

0 ppm

March 23, 2010

SB-3-2.5

2.5' bgs

0 ppm

March 23, 2010

SB-5-1.5

1.5' bgs

0 ppm

March 23, 2010

SB-7-0.5

0.5' bgs

0 ppm

March 23, 2010

SB-9-1

1' bgs

3.5 ppm

March 23, 2010

SB-9-1D

1' bgs

3.5 ppm

March 23, 2010

SB-10-1.5

1.5' bgs

0.5 ppm

March 23, 2010

SB-12-1

1' bgs

0 ppm

March 23, 2010

Total Metals

Cadmium (B) 7440439 1,200 6,000 (G, X) 2.3E+8 NLV NLV 1.7E+6 5.5E+5 NA --- --- ND ND ND --- ND ND

Chromium VI (B,H) 18540299
18,000

(total)
30,000 3,300 1.4E+8 NLV NLV 2.6E+5 2.5E+6 NA --- --- 18,900 11,200 9,900 --- 11,000 8,800

Lead (B) 7439921 21,000 7.0E+5 (G, X) ID NLV NLV 1.0E+8 4.0E+5 NA --- --- 9,100 4,800 14,600 --- 6,100 4,500

Polychlorinated Biphenyls 

(PCBs)

Aroclor-1016 --- --- ND ND ND --- ND ND

Aroclor-1221 --- --- ND ND ND --- ND ND

Aroclor-1232 --- --- ND ND ND --- ND ND

Aroclor-1242 --- --- ND ND ND --- ND ND

Aroclor-1248 --- --- ND ND ND --- ND ND

Aroclor-1254 --- --- ND ND ND --- ND ND

Aroclor-1260 --- --- ND ND ND --- ND ND

Total Polychlorinated Biphenyls 

(J, T)
1336363 NA NLL NLL NLL 3.0E+6 2.4E+5 5.2E+6 (T) NA --- --- ND ND ND --- ND ND

Polynuclear Aromatics  (PNAs)

Anthracene 120127 NA 41,000 ID 41,000 1.0E+9 (D) 1.4E+9 6.7E+10 2.3E+8 NA ND ND ND ND --- --- ND ND

Acenaphthene 83329 NA 3.0E+5 4,400 9.7E+5 1.9E+8 8.1E+7 1.4E+10 4.1E+7 NA ND ND ND ND --- --- ND ND

Acenaphthylene 208968 NA 5,900 ID 4.4E+5 1.6E+6 2.2E+6 2.3E+9 1.6E+6 NA ND ND ND ND --- --- ND ND

Benzo(a)anthracene (Q) 56553 NA NLL NLL NLL NLV NLV ID 20,000 NA ND ND ND ND --- --- ND ND

Benzo(a)pyrene 50328 NA NLL NLL NLL NLV NLV 1.5E+6 2,000 NA ND ND ND ND --- --- ND ND

Benzo(b)fluoranthene 205992 NA NLL NLL NLL ID ID ID 20,000 NA ND ND ND ND --- --- ND ND

Benzo(g,h,i)perylene 191242 NA NLL NLL NLL NLV NLV 8.0E+8 2.5E+6 NA ND ND ND ND --- --- ND ND

Benzo(k)fluoranthene 207089 NA NLL NLL NLL NLV NLV ID 2.0E+5 NA ND 19.5 ND ND --- --- ND ND

Chrysene (Q) 218019 NA NLL NLL NLL ID ID ID 2.0E+6 NA ND 28.4 ND ND --- --- ND ND

Dibenzo(a,h)anthracene (Q) 53703 NA NLL NLL NLL NLV NLV ID 2,000 NA ND ND ND ND --- --- ND ND

Fluoranthene 206440 NA 7.3E+5 5,500 7.3E+5 1.0E+9 (D) 7.4E+8 9.3E+9 4.6E+7 NA ND 43.5 ND ND --- --- ND ND

Fluorene 86737 NA 3.9E+5 5,300 8.9E+5 5.8E+8 1.3E+8 9.3E+9 2.7E+7 NA ND ND ND ND --- --- ND ND

Indeno(1,2,3-cd)pyrene 193395 NA NLL NLL NLL NLV NLV ID 20,000 NA ND ND ND ND --- --- ND ND

Naphthalene 91203 NA 35,000 870 2.1E+6 2.5E+5 3.0E+5 2.0E+8 1.6E+7 NA ND ND ND ND --- --- ND ND

2-Methylnaphthalene 91576 NA 57,000 ID 5.5E+6 ID ID ID 8.1E+6 NA ND ND ND ND --- --- ND ND

Phenanthrene 85018 NA 56,000 5,300 1.1E+6 2.8E+6 1.6E+5 6.7E+6 1.6E+6 NA ND 21.4 ND ND --- --- ND ND

Pyrene 129000 NA 4.8E+5 ID 4.8E+5 1.0E+9 (D) 6.5E+8 6.7E+9 2.9E+7 NA ND 30.7 ND ND --- --- ND ND

Volatile Organic Compounds 

(VOCs)

All VOCs --- --- ND ND ND ND ND ND

Semi-Volatile Organic 

Compounds (SVOCs)

All SVOCs --- --- --- --- ND --- --- ---Varies by Compound

Parameter

No criteria available

No criteria available

No criteria available

Michigan DNRE Generic Residential Cleanup Criteria (GRCC) units = µµµµg/kg

C
h

e
m

ic
a

l 
A

b
s

tr
a

c
t 

S
e

rv
ic

e
 N

u
m

b
e

r Groundwater Protection Ambient Air (Y) Direct Contact

S
ta

te
w

id
e

 D
e

fa
u

lt
 

B
a

c
k

g
ro

u
n

d
 L

e
v

e
ls

Sample ID, Depth, PID Reading, Collection Date, and Results units = µµµµg/kg

No criteria available

No criteria available

No criteria available

No criteria available

Varies by Compound



Testing Engineers & Consultants, Inc. Table 1: Soil Analytical Data Summary TEC Project 50484-1

Phase II ESA

100 East Maple Road

Troy, Michigan

Page 2 of 2

Footnotes:

B - Background, as defined in R 299.5701(b), may be substituted if higher than the calculated cleanup criterion. 

Background levels may be less than criteria for some inorganic compounds.

D - Calculated criterion exceeds 100 percent, hence it is reduced to 100 percent or 1.0E+9 parts per billion (ppb). 

G - Groundwater surface water interface (GSI) criterion depends on the pH or water hardness, or both, of the receiving surface water.

H - Valence-specific chromium data (Cr III and CR IV) shall be compared to valence specific cleanup criteria

J - Hazardous substance may be present is everal isomer forms. Isomer-specific concentrations shall be added together for comparison to criteria

Q - Criteria for carcinogenic polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons were developed using relative potential potencies to benzo(a)pyrene.

T - Refer to the Toxic Substances Control Act (TSCA) for cleanup standards

X - The GSI criterion shown in the generic cleanup criteria tables is not protective for surface water that is used as a drinking water source.

Y - Source size modifiers shown in the following table shall be used to determine soil inhalation criteria for ambient air when the 

    source size is not one-half acre.

bgs - Below ground surface

bold - Values presented in bold represent exceedence of laboratory reported detection limit.

ID - Insufficient data to develop criterion. 

NA - A criterion or value is not available or, in the case of background and CAS numbers, not applicable.

ND - Analyte was not detected at or above method detection limits.

NLL - Hazardous substance is not likely to leach under most soil conditions.

NLV - Hazardous substance is not likely to volatilize under most conditions.

ppm - Parts per million

µg/kg - Micrograms per kilogram (ppb).

--- Sample not analyzed for compound.
- Numbers in yellow-shaded boxes represent exceedence of relevant criteria.
- Numbers in green-shaded boxes represent relevant criteria exceeded.



Testing Engineers & Consultants, Inc. Table 2: Groundwater Analytical Data Summary TEC Project 50484-1

Phase II ESA

100 East Maple Road

Troy, Michigan

Page 1 of 3

R
e
s
id

e
n

ti
a
l 

&
 C

o
m

m
e
rc

ia
l 

I 

D
ri

n
k
in

g
 W

a
te

r

C
ri

te
ri

a
 &

 R
B

S
L

s

In
d

u
s
tr

ia
l 

&
 C

o
m

m
e
rc

ia
l 

II
, 

II
I 

&
 I

V
 D

ri
n

k
in

g
 W

a
te

r 

C
ri

te
ri

a
 &

 R
B

S
L

s

G
ro

u
n

d
w

a
te

r 
S

u
rf

a
c
e
 W

a
te

r

 I
n

te
rf

a
c
e
 C

ri
te

ri
a
 &

 R
B

S
L

s

R
e
s
id

e
n

ti
a
l 

&
 C

o
m

m
e
rc

ia
l 

I 

G
ro

u
n

d
w

a
te

r 
V

o
la

ti
li

z
a
ti

o
n

to
 I

n
d

o
o

r 
A

ir
 I

n
h

a
la

ti
o

n

C
ri

te
ri

a
 &

 R
B

S
L

s

In
d

u
s
tr

ia
l 

&
 C

o
m

m
e
rc

ia
l 

II
, 

II
I 

&
 I

V
 G

ro
u

n
d

w
a
te

r 

V
o

la
ti

li
z
a
ti

o
n

 

to
 I

n
d

o
o

r 
A

ir
 I

n
h

a
la

ti
o

n
 

C
ri

te
ri

a
 &

 R
B

S
L

s

G
ro

u
n

d
w

a
te

r 
C

o
n

ta
c
t 

C
ri

te
ri

a
 &

 R
B

S
L

s

W
a
te

r 
S

o
lu

b
il

it
y

F
la

m
m

a
b

il
it

y
 a

n
d

 E
x
p

lo
s
iv

it
y
 

S
c
re

e
n

in
g

 L
e
v
e
l

A
c
u

te
 I

n
h

a
la

ti
o

n

S
c
re

e
n

in
g

 L
e
v
e
l

SB-1

2'-7' bgs

March 23, 2010

SB-2

3'-8' bgs

March 23, 2010

SB-3

3'-8' bgs

March 23, 2010

SB-3D

3'-8' bgs

March 23, 2010

SB-4

3'-8' bgs

March 23, 2010

SB-6

3'-8' bgs

March 23, 2010

SB-8

3'-8' bgs

March 23, 2010

SB-11

3'-8' bgs

March 23, 2010

FB-1

Not Applicable

March 23, 2010

TB-1

Not Applicable

March 23, 2010

Total Metals

Cadmium (B) 7440439 5.0 (A) 5.0 (A) (G,X) NLV NLV 1.9E+5 NA ID ID ND ND ND --- ND ND ND ND --- ---

Chromium VI (B,H) 18540299 100 (A) 100 (A) 11 NLV NLV 4.6E+5 NA ID ID 542 11.2 12.3 --- 214 8.4 32.5 ND --- ---

Lead (B) 7439921 4.0 (L) 4.0 (L) (G,X) NLV NLV ID NA ID ID 49.5 10.3 10.6 --- 124 13.4 31.6 ND --- ---

Polychlorinated Biphenyls (PCBs)

Aroclor-1016 ND ND --- --- --- ND ND ND --- ---

Aroclor-1221 ND ND --- --- --- ND ND ND --- ---

Aroclor-1232 ND ND --- --- --- ND ND ND --- ---

Aroclor-1242 ND ND --- --- --- ND ND ND --- ---

Aroclor-1248 ND ND --- --- --- ND ND ND --- ---

Aroclor-1254 ND ND --- --- --- ND ND ND --- ---

Aroclor-1260 ND ND --- --- --- ND ND ND --- ---

Total Polychlorinated Biphenyls (J, T) 1336363 0.5 (A) 0.5 (A)
0.2 (M); 2.6E-

5
45 (S) 45 (S) 3.3 (AA) 44.7 ID ID ND ND --- --- --- ND ND ND --- ---

Polynuclear Aromatics  (PNAs)

Anthracene 120127 43 (S) 43 (S) ID 43 (S) 43 (S) 43 (S) 43.4 ID ID ND 0.047 ND --- ND ND --- ND --- ---

Acenaphthene 83329 1,300 3,800 19 4,200 (S) 4,200 (S) 4,200 (S) 4240 ID ID ND 0.052 ND --- ND ND --- ND --- ---

Acenaphthylene 208968 52 150 ID 3,900 (S) 3,900 (S) 3,900 (S) 3930 ID ID ND ND ND --- ND ND --- ND --- ---

Benzo(a)anthracene (Q) 56553 2.1 8.5 ID NLV NLV 9.4 (S,AA) 9.4 ID ID 0.39 0.10 ND --- 0.14 ND --- ND --- ---

Benzo(a)pyrene 50328 5.0 (A) 5.0 (A) ID NLV NLV
1.0 (M,AA); 

0.64
1.62 ID ID

0.58 0.088 ND --- 0.20 ND --- ND --- ---

Benzo(b)fluoranthene 205992 1.5 (S, AA) 1.5 (S, AA) ID ID ID 1.5 (S,AA) 1.5 ID ID 0.79 0.071 ND --- 0.21 ND --- ND --- ---

Benzo(g,h,i)perylene 191242
1.0 (M); 0.26 

(S)

1.0 (M); 0.26 

(S)
NA NLV NLV

1.0 (M,AA); 

0.26 (S)
.26 ID ID

0.66 0.059 ND --- 0.19 ND --- ND --- ---

Benzo(k)fluoranthene 207089
1.0 (M); 0.8 

(S)

1.0 (M); 0.8 

(S)
NA NLV NLV

1.0 (M,AA); 

0.8 (S)
.8 ID ID

0.54 0.096 ND --- 0.22 ND --- ND --- ---

Chrysene (Q) 218019 1.6 (S) 1.6 (S) ID ID ID 1.6 (S,AA) 1.6 ID ID 0.70 0.12 ND --- 0.22 ND --- ND --- ---

Dibenzo(a,h)anthracene (Q) 53703 2.0 (M); 0.21 2.0 (M); 0.85 ID NLV NLV
2.0 (M,AA); 

0.31
2.49 ID ID

ND ND ND --- ND ND --- ND --- ---

Fluoranthene 206440 210 (S) 210 (S) 1.6 210 (S) 210 (S) 210 (S) 206 ID ID 1.1 0.36 ND --- 0.50 ND --- ND --- ---

Fluorene 86737 880 2,000 (S) 12 2,000 (S) 2,000 (S) 2,000 (S) 1980 ID ID ND ND ND --- ND ND --- ND --- ---

Indeno(1,2,3-cd)pyrene 193395
2.0 (M); 

0.022 (S)

2.0 (M); 

0.022 (S)
ID NLV NLV

2.0 (M, AA); 

0.022 (S)
0.022 ID ID

0.48 0.051 ND --- 0.15 ND --- ND --- ---

Naphthalene 91203 520 1,500 13 31,000 (S) 31,000 (S) 31,000 (S) 31000 NA 31,000 (S) ND 0.096 ND --- ND ND --- ND --- ---

2-Methylnaphthalene 91576 260 750 ID ID ID 25,000 (S) 24600 ID ID 0.19 ND ND --- ND ND --- ND --- ---

Phenanthrene 85018 52 150 2.4 1,000 (S) 1,000 (S) 1,000 (S) 1000 ID ID 0.60 0.15 ND --- 0.16 ND --- ND --- ---

Pyrene 129000 140 (S) 140 (S) ID 140 (S) 140 (S) 140 (S) 135 ID ID 0.88 0.34 ND --- 0.36 ND --- ND --- ---

Volatile Organic Compounds (VOCs)

Acetone 67641 730 2,100 1,700 1.0E+9 (D,S) 1.0E+9 (D,S) 3.1E+7 1.0E+9 1.5E+7 1.0E+9 (D) ND ND ND ND ND ND ND ND ND ND

Carbon Disulfide (I, R) 75150 800 2300 ID 2.5E+5 5.5E+5 1.2E+6 (S) 1.19E+6 13,000 ID ND 2.9 ND ND ND ND ND ND ND ND

cis-1,2-Dichloroethylene 156592 70 (A) 70 (A) 620 93,000 2.1E+5 2.0+E5 3.50E+6 5.3E+5 ID ND ND ND ND ND ND ND ND ND ND

Diethyl Ether 60297 10 (E) 10 (E) ID 6.1E+7 (S) 6.1E+7 (S) 3.5E+7 6.10E+7 6.5E+5 6.10E+7 (S) ND ND ND ND ND ND ND 1.8 ND ND

Methylene Chloride 75092 5.0 (A) 5.0 (A) 940 (X) 2.2E+5 1.4E+6 2.2E+5 1.70E+7 ID ID ND ND ND ND ND ND 1.2 ND ND ND

Methyl-tert-butyl-ether (MTBE) 1634044 40 (E) 40 (E) 730 (X) 4.7E+7 (S) 4.7E+7 (S) 6.1E+5 4.68E+7 ID ID ND ND ND ND ND ND ND ND ND ND

Styrene 100425 100 (A) 100 (A) 80 1.7E+5 3.1E+5 (S) 9,700 3.10E+5 1.4E+5 3.1E+5 (S) ND ND ND ND ND ND ND ND 72.0 ND

Vinyl Chloride 75014 2.0 (A) 2.0 (A) 15 1,100 13,000 1,000 2.76E+6 33,000 ID ND ND ND ND ND ND ND 6.9 ND ND

All Remaining VOCs ND ND ND ND ND ND ND ND ND ND

Semi-Volatile Organic Compounds 

(SVOCs)

All SVOCs --- --- --- --- --- --- ND --- --- ---Varies by Compound

Parameter

No criteria available

No criteria available

No criteria available

Michigan DNRE Generic Residential Cleanup Criteria (GRCC) units = µµµµg/l

C
h

e
m

ic
a
l 

A
b

s
tr

a
c
t 

S
e
rv

ic
e
 N

u
m

b
e
r

Varies by Compound

Sample ID, Well Screen Interval Depth, Collection Date, and Results units = µµµµg/l

No criteria available

No criteria available

No criteria available

No criteria available



Testing Engineers & Consultants, Inc. Table 2: Groundwater Analytical Data Summary TEC Project 50484-1

Phase II ESA

100 East Maple Road

Troy, Michigan

Page 2 of 3

R
e
s
id

e
n

ti
a
l 
&

 C
o

m
m

e
rc

ia
l 
I 

D
ri

n
k
in

g
 W

a
te

r

C
ri

te
ri

a
 &

 R
B

S
L

s

In
d

u
s
tr

ia
l 
&

 C
o

m
m

e
rc

ia
l 

II
, 
II
I 
&

 I
V

 D
ri

n
k
in

g
 W

a
te

r 

C
ri

te
ri

a
 &

 R
B

S
L

s

G
ro

u
n

d
w

a
te

r 
S

u
rf

a
c
e
 W

a
te

r

 I
n

te
rf

a
c
e
 C

ri
te

ri
a
 &

 R
B

S
L

s

R
e
s
id

e
n

ti
a
l 
&

 C
o

m
m

e
rc

ia
l 
I 

G
ro

u
n

d
w

a
te

r 
V

o
la

ti
li
z
a
ti

o
n

to
 I
n

d
o

o
r 

A
ir

 I
n

h
a
la

ti
o

n

C
ri

te
ri

a
 &

 R
B

S
L

s

In
d

u
s
tr

ia
l 
&

 C
o

m
m

e
rc

ia
l 

II
, 
II
I 
&

 I
V

 G
ro

u
n

d
w

a
te

r 

V
o

la
ti

li
z
a
ti

o
n

 

to
 I
n

d
o

o
r 

A
ir

 I
n

h
a
la

ti
o

n
 C

ri
te

ri
a
 

&
 R

B
S

L
s

G
ro

u
n

d
w

a
te

r 
C

o
n

ta
c
t 

C
ri

te
ri

a
 &

 R
B

S
L

s

W
a
te

r 
S

o
lu

b
il
it

y

F
la

m
m

a
b

il
it

y
 a

n
d

 E
x
p

lo
s
iv

it
y
 

S
c
re

e
n

in
g

 L
e
v
e
l

A
c
u

te
 I
n

h
a
la

ti
o

n

S
c
re

e
n

in
g

 L
e
v
e
l

MW1-052710

3'-8' bgs

May 27, 2010 

MW2-052710

1'-6' bgs

May 27, 2010 

MW3-052710

3'-8' bgs

May 27, 2010 

MW4A-052710

3'-8' bgs

May 27, 2010 

MW4B-052710

3'-8' bgs

May 27, 2010 

TB-052710

Not Applicable

May 27, 2010

EB-052710

Not Applicable

May 27, 2010

Total Metals

Cadmium (B) 7440439 5.0 (A) 5.0 (A) (G,X) NLV NLV 1.9E+5 NA ID ID ND ND ND ND ND --- ND

Chromium VI (B,H) 18540299 100 (A) 100 (A) 11 NLV NLV 4.6E+5 NA ID ID ND 9.5 ND ND ND --- ND

Lead (B) 7439921 4.0 (L) 4.0 (L) (G,X) NLV NLV ID NA ID ID ND ND ND ND ND --- ND

Volatile Organic Compounds (VOCs)

Acetone 67641 730 2,100 1,700 1.0E+9 (D,S) 1.0E+9 (D,S) 3.1E+7 1.0E+9 1.5E+7 1.0E+9 (D) 39.6 ND ND ND ND ND ND

Carbon Disulfide (I, R) 75150 800 2300 ID 2.5E+5 5.5E+5 1.2E+6 (S) 1.19E+6 13,000 ID ND ND ND ND ND ND ND

cis-1,2-Dichloroethylene 156592 70 (A) 70 (A) 620 93,000 2.1E+5 2.0+E5 3.50E+6 5.3E+5 ID ND ND ND 1.1 1.1 ND ND

Diethyl Ether 60297 10 (E) 10 (E) ID 6.1E+7 (S) 6.1E+7 (S) 3.5E+7 6.10E+7 6.5E+5 6.10E+7 (S) ND ND ND 1.3 1.2 ND ND

Methylene Chloride 75092 5.0 (A) 5.0 (A) 940 (X) 2.2E+5 1.4E+6 2.2E+5 1.70E+7 ID ID ND ND ND ND ND ND ND

Methyl-tert-butyl-ether (MTBE) 1634044 40 (E) 40 (E) 730 (X) 4.7E+7 (S) 4.7E+7 (S) 6.1E+5 4.68E+7 ID ID ND ND 1.4 ND ND ND ND

Styrene 100425 100 (A) 100 (A) 80 1.7E+5 3.1E+5 (S) 9,700 3.10E+5 1.4E+5 3.1E+5 (S) ND ND ND ND ND ND ND

Vinyl Chloride 75014 2.0 (A) 2.0 (A) 15 1,100 13,000 1,000 2.76E+6 33,000 ID ND ND 1.4 5.3 5.2 ND ND

All Remaining VOCs ND ND ND ND ND ND NDVaries by Compound

Sample ID, Well Screen Interval Depth, Collection Date, and Results units = µµµµg/l

Parameter

Michigan DNRE Generic Residential Cleanup Criteria (GRCC) units = µµµµg/l

C
h

e
m

ic
a
l 
A

b
s
tr

a
c
t 

S
e
rv

ic
e
 N

u
m

b
e
r



Testing Engineers & Consultants, Inc. Table 2: Groundwater Analytical Data Summary TEC Project 50484-1

Phase II ESA

100 East Maple Road

Troy, Michigan

Page 3 of 3

Footnotes:

A - Criterion is the state of Michigan drinking water standard established pursuant to Section 5 of 1976 PA 399, MCL 325.1005.

B - Background, as defined in R 299.5701(b), may be substituted if higher than the calculated cleanup criterion. 

Background levels may be less than criteria for some inorganic compounds.

D - Calculated criterion exceeds 100 percent, hence it is reduced to 100 percent or 1.0E+9 parts per billion (ppb). 

E - Criterion is the aesthetic drinking water value.

G - Groundwater surface water interface (GSI) criterion depends on the pH or water hardness, or both, of the receiving surface water.

H - Valence-specific chromium data (Cr III and CR IV) shall be compared to valence specific cleanup criteria.

I - Hazardous substance may exhibit the characteristic of ignitability.

J - Hazardous substance may be present in several isomer forms. Isomer-specific concentrations shall be added together for 

comparison to criteria.

L - Criteria for lead are derived using a biologically based model.

M - Calculated criterion is below the analytical target detection limit, therefore, the criterion defaults to the target detection limit.

Q - Criteria for carcinogenic polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons were developed using relative potential potencies to benzo(a)pyrene.

R - Hazardous substance may exhibit the characteristic of reactivity.

S - Criterion defaults to the hazardous substance-specific water solubility limit.

T - Refer to the Toxic Substances Control Act (TSCA) for cleanup standards.

X - The GSI criterion shown in the generic cleanup criteria tables is not protective for surface water that is used as a drinking 

water source.

AA - Comparison to these criteria may take into account an evaluation of whether hazardous substances are adsorbed to particulates 

rather than dissolved in water and whether filtered groundwater samples were used to evaluate groundwater.

bgs - Below ground surface.

bold - Values presented in bold represent exceedence of laboratory reported detection limit.

ID - Insufficient data to develop criterion. 

NA - A criterion or value is not available or, in the case of background and CAS numbers, not applicable.

ND - Analyte was not detected at or above practical quantification limits.

NLV - Hazardous substance is not likely to volatilize under most conditions.

µg/l - Micrograms per liter (approximately equivalent to parts per billion or ppb).

--- Sample not analyzed for compound.
- Numbers in yellow-shaded boxes represent exceedence of relevant criteria.
- Numbers in green-shaded boxes represent relevant criteria exceeded.



 

 

ISO 9001 REGISTERED 

 

ENVIRONMENTAL CONSULTING AND ENGINEERING SERVICES NATIONWIDE I WWW.PMENV.COM 
 

Q U A L I T Y      S E R V I C E      S O L U T I O N S  

 

P R O V I D I N G  S E R V I C E S  N A T I O N W I D E  

 
C o r p o r a t e  H e a d q u a r t e r s   –   L a n s i n g  M i c h i g a n  

Toll free: 800-485-0090 – Corporate fax: 877-884-5775 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

TROY BROWNFIELD 
REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 

 
 

BROWNFIELD PLAN 
(Version B: No 5 Year Additional Capture to LSRRF) 

 
August 23, 2013 

 
FOR THE PROPOSED MJR TROY GRAND 

LOCATED AT 100 EAST MAPLE ROAD,  
TROY, MICHIGAN 

 
 
 

 
Prepared on Behalf of: 
  
MJR Group, LLC 
41000 Woodward Avenue, Suite 135 East 
Bloomfield Hills, Michigan 48304 
Contact Person:  Mr. Michael Mihalich 
Telephone: (248) 548-8282 
 
Prepared By: 
 
PM Environmental, Inc. 
4080 West Eleven Mile Road 
Berkley, Michigan 48072 
Contact Person:  Michael T. Kulka, P.E., C.P. 
Telephone:  (248) 336-9988 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



Brownfield Plan for the Proposed MJR Troy Grand at 100 East Maple Road, Troy, MI 
PM Project No. 02-6518-1; August 23, 2013 

 

 

 PM Environmental, Inc. 
Table of Contents  

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 
PROJECT SUMMARY 1 

I. INTRODUCTION AND PURPOSE 2 

II. GENERAL DEFINITIONS AS USED IN THIS PLAN 2 

III. BROWNFIELD PROJECT 3 

 SUBJECT PROPERTY ................................................................................................. 3 

 PROJECT DESCRIPTION ............................................................................................ 4 

 BROWNFIELD PLAN ELEMENTS ................................................................................ 4 

 A. Description of Costs to Be Paid for With Tax Increment Revenues and 
Summary of Eligible Activities ....................................................................................... 4 

 B. Estimate of Captured Taxable Value and Tax Increment Revenues ................. 5 

 C. Method of Financing and Description of Advances by the Municipality ............. 5 

 D. Maximum Amount of Note or Bonded Indebtedness ......................................... 5 

 E. Duration of Brownfield Plan .............................................................................. 5 

 F. Estimated Impact of Tax Increment Financing on Revenues of Taxing     
Jurisdictions .................................................................................................................. 5 

 G. Legal Description, Property Map, Statement of Qualifying Characteristics and 
Personal Property ......................................................................................................... 6 

 H. Estimates of Residents and Displacement of Families ...................................... 6 

 I. Plan for Relocation of Displaced Persons ......................................................... 6 

 J. Provisions for Relocation Costs ........................................................................ 6 

 K. Strategy for Compliance with Michigan’s Relocation Assistance Law ............... 6 

 L. Description of Proposed Use of Local Site Remediation Revolving Loan Fund. 7 

 M. Other Material that the Authority or Governing Body Considers Pertinent ......... 7 

 
 
APPENDICES 
 
Appendix A Legal Description  
Appendix B Functional Obsolescence Documentation 
Appendix C Site Maps 
Appendix D Tax Increment Financing Estimates  
Appendix E Asbestos Inspection 
Appendix F Baseline Environmental Assessment  
 



Brownfield Plan for the Proposed MJR Troy Grand at 100 East Maple Road, Troy, MI 
PM Project No. 02-6518-1; August 23, 2013 

 

PM Environmental, Inc. 
Page 1 

 

 
PROJECT SUMMARY 
 
 
Project Name: 
 

MJR Troy Grand 
 

Project Location: 
 

The property is located in Township Two (2) North (T. 2N), 
Range eleven (11) east (R. 11E), Section 34, Troy, Oakland 
County, Michigan.  
 

Type of Eligible  
Property: 
 

Property is determined to be functionally obsolete by City 
Assessor Nino Licari, MMAO (4), PPE.   
 
The property is also considered a Facility 
 

Eligible Activities: 
 

Developer TIF Reimbursed Activities: 
Environmental Assessments, BRA Application Fee 
 
Local Site Remediation Revolving Fund TIF Reimbursed 
Activities: Due Care Activities, Demolition (including Building 
and Site Demolition, Asbestos Abatement Activities, Air 
Quality Monitoring, and Lighting Removal/Disposal, Brownfield 
Plan Preparation 
 

Reimbursable Costs: 
 

Developer TIF Reimbursement: $11,585 for Environmental 
Site Assessments and Brownfield Plan Application Fee 
 
Local Site Remediation Revolving Fund TIF Reimbursement: 
$498,079 for Eligible Activities 
  

Years to Complete  
Payback to RLF: 
 

Approximately 8 years 

Estimated Capital  
Investment: 
 

Approximately $16 Million 

Project Overview:     MJR Group, LLC intends to demolish and redevelop the 
currently vacant underutilized property with a new Digital Cinema.  The new Cinema will 
include 74,000 square feet with 16 Screens including an Epic Studio. Seating capacity will 
range from 101 seats to 440 seats.  The new theater will include a lobby area, concessions, 
and bar area. The project will include installation of new asphalt, sidewalks, and landscaping 
surrounding the theater building.    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Brownfield Plan for the Proposed MJR Troy Grand at 100 East Maple Road, Troy, MI 
PM Project No. 02-6518-1; August 23, 2013 

 

PM Environmental, Inc. 
Page 2 

 

I. INTRODUCTION AND PURPOSE 
 
In order to promote the revitalization of environmentally distressed and blighted areas within 
the boundaries of the City of Troy (“the City”), the City has established the City of Troy 
Brownfield Authority (TBRA) pursuant to the Brownfield Redevelopment Financing Act, 
Michigan Public Act (PA) 381 of 1996, as amended.  
 
The primary purpose of this Brownfield Plan (“Plan”) is to promote the redevelopment of and 
private investment in certain “Brownfield” properties within the City.  Inclusion of property within 
this Plan will facilitate financing of environmental response and other eligible activities at 
eligible properties, and will also provide tax incentives to eligible tax payers willing to invest in 
revitalization of eligible sites, commonly referred to as Brownfields.  By facilitating 
redevelopment of Brownfield properties, this Plan is intended to promote economic growth for 
the benefit of the residents of the City. 
 
The Property is currently zoned MRF – Maple Road (form based zones), is commercially 
developed, and located in an area of the City of Troy characterized by commercial and 
residential Properties.  
 
The identification or designation of a developer or proposed use for the eligible property that is 
subject to this Plan shall not be integral to the effectiveness or validity of this Plan.  This Plan is 
intended to apply to the eligible property identified in this Plan and, to identify and authorize the 
eligible activities to be funded.  Any change in the proposed developer or proposed use of the 
eligible property shall not necessitate an amendment to this Plan, affect the application of this 
Plan to the eligible property, or impair the rights available to the Authority under this Plan. 
 
This plan is intended to be a living document which may be modified or amended as necessary 
to achieve the purposes of Act 381.  The applicable sections of Act 381 are noted throughout 
the plan for reference purposes. 
 
This Brownfield Plan contains information required by Section 13(1) of Act 381. 
 
This Brownfield Plan is of a single phase associated with the redevelopment of the property.   
 
II. GENERAL DEFINITIONS AS USED IN THIS PLAN 
 
Terms used in this Brownfield Plan are defined as provided in the following statutes, as 
appropriate: 
 
The Brownfield Redevelopment Financing Act, 1996 Mich. Pub. Acts. 381, M.C.L. § 125.2651 
et seq., as amended. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Brownfield Plan for the Proposed MJR Troy Grand at 100 East Maple Road, Troy, MI 
PM Project No. 02-6518-1; August 23, 2013 

 

PM Environmental, Inc. 
Page 3 

 

III. BROWNFIELD PROJECT  
 
SUBJECT PROPERTY 
 
The subject property consists of one (1) legal parcel with a street address of 100 East Maple 
Road, Troy, Michigan.  The tax ID number of the subject property is 88-20-34-101-023. The 
parcel number and legal description are also included in Appendix A. 
 
The parcels and all tangible personal property located thereon will comprise the eligible 
property and is referred to herein as the “Property”. 
 
The subject property included in this plan can be considered “eligible property” as defined by 
Section 2 of Act 381, as amended because (a) it is located within the City of Troy; and (b) the 
Property is determined to be functionally obsolete as determined by City Assessor Nino Licari, 
MMAO (4), PPE.   
 
100 East Maple Road (88-20-34-101-023) 
 
Standard and other historical sources indicate the subject property was developed prior to 
1940 for agricultural purposes.  Agricultural activities ceased between 1957 and 1963, and the 
central portion of the current building was constructed in 1964.  Additions were constructed in 
1968, 1992, and 2000.  The property was occupied by various retail stores, restaurants, and 
automotive service operations from 1964 until 2009.  The building has been unoccupied since 
between 2009 and 2011.   
 
The subject building totals approximately 118,201 square feet, and contains a former service 
area, former retail areas, storage areas, utility rooms, offices, and restrooms.  Interior finish 
materials in the former service area include metal deck ceilings, cinderblock walls, and 
concrete floors. Interior finish materials in the remainder of the building include metal deck 
ceilings, two foot by four foot ceiling tiles, two foot by two foot ceiling tiles, cinderblock walls, 
drywall walls, wood paneling, concrete floors, and 12 inch by 12 inch floor tiles. The property 
also has five in-ground hoists and an underground vault in the former service area. Asphalt 
paved driveways and parking areas surround the building.   
 
Identification of the Property as “Functionally Obsolete” 
 
The subject property has been determined functionally obsolete by City Assessor, Nino Licari, 
MMAO (4), PPE. 
 
A 2013 Valuation Report and Record Card provided by the City are included in Appendix B, 
showing the property’s obsolescence status.  
 
Identification of the Property as a “Facility” 
 
PM Environmental, Inc. (PM) has completed a Baseline Environmental Assessment (BEA) for 
the vacant retail property (Parcel ID #88-20-34-101-023) located at 100 East Maple Road in 
Troy, Oakland County, Michigan (hereafter referred to as the “subject property”). 
 
Contaminant concentrations identified on the subject property indicate exceedances to the Part 
201 Residential and Nonresidential DW cleanup criteria. Therefore, the subject property is a 



Brownfield Plan for the Proposed MJR Troy Grand at 100 East Maple Road, Troy, MI 
PM Project No. 02-6518-1; August 23, 2013 

 

PM Environmental, Inc. 
Page 4 

 

"facility" in accordance with Part 201 of P.A. 451, as amended, and the rules promulgated 
thereunder. 
 
The Baseline Environmental Assessment text, figures, and tables stating the property is a 
facility is located in Appendix F. 
 
PROJECT DESCRIPTION 
 
MJR Group, LLC intends to demolish and redevelop the currently vacant underutilized property 
with the new Digital Cinema, MJR Troy Grand.  MJR Troy Grand will include 74,000 square 
feet with 16 Screens including an Epic Studio. Seating capacity will range from 101 seats to 
440 seats.  The new theater will include a lobby area, concessions, and bar area. The project 
will include installation of new asphalt, sidewalks, and landscaping surrounding the theater 
building.  
 
Demolition of the current building will require the removal of fluorescent light tubes, PCB 
ballasts, mercury vapor bulbs and mercury switches, fire extinguishers, CFC refrigerants, 
hydraulic lifts, and facility owned pad mounted transformer (includes packaging, transportation 
and disposal/recycling), asbestos abatement activities and air monitoring, and the removal, 
disposal, and sampling oversight associated with the five (5) hydraulic hoists.  
 
This entire project also includes the completion of Phase I and Phase II Environmental Site 
Assessments (ESA), Baseline Environmental Site Assessment (BEA), and Due Care Plan.  
 
The project is estimated to begin demolition mid to late summer of 2013, with project 
completion before the end of the year.  
 
BROWNFIELD PLAN ELEMENTS 
 
A. Description of Costs to Be Paid for With Tax Increment Revenues 

 
Tax increment financing revenues will be utilized to reimburse the City of Troy’s Local Site 
Remediation Revolving Loan Fund (LSRRLF), for loan reimbursements made to MJR Group, 
LLC for eligible activities completed during development of the Property and as defined in this 
Plan. The activities funded through the LSRRLF are listed in section “M” of this plan.  

 
Tax Increment Revenues will also pay the Developer for Environmental Site Assessments and 
the TBRA application fee.  
 
The TBRA administrative fees, 3% simple interest on unreimbursed costs.  
 
These costs are presented in section “G” of this plan and Table 1 (eligible activities) and 2 (tax 
increment financing projections) in Appendix D. 

 
B. Summary of Eligible Activities 
 
LSRRLF will be reimbursed for Due Care Activities, Demolition and associated activities, and 
Preparation of the Brownfield Plan.  These activities are further outlined in section “M” of this 
plan and included in Appendix D.  



Brownfield Plan for the Proposed MJR Troy Grand at 100 East Maple Road, Troy, MI 
PM Project No. 02-6518-1; August 23, 2013 

 

PM Environmental, Inc. 
Page 5 

 

 
The Developer will be reimbursed for eligible activities that include environmental site 
assessments and the TBRA application fee.  These costs are presented in Table 1 of Appendix 
D. 
 
C. Estimate of Captured Taxable Value and Tax Increment Revenues 
 
The taxable value of the real property was $1,025,640 for the current tax year; no personal 
property is associated with the site. The estimated taxable value of the completed development 
is $4,500,000 at completion of the development. This assumes a one-year phase-in for 
completion of the redevelopment, which has been incorporated into the tax impact and cash 
flow assumptions for this plan. An annual increase in taxable value of 1% has been used for 
calculation of future tax increments in this plan.  T  
 
The estimated captured taxable value and tax increment revenues for the eligible property for 
each year of the plan are presented in Table 2 in Appendix D. 
 
D. Method of Financing and Description of Advances by the Municipality 
 
LSRRLF reimbursements will be made by the City to the developer, MJR Group, LLC in an 
amount not to exceed $498,079 for completed eligible expenses based on the receipt of proper 
documentation. 
 
The invoicing procedure is summarized as follows: 
 

1. MJR pays an invoice for the eligible expenses 
2. The invoices with proof of payment of eligible expenses are then submitted to the 

City 
3. The City then cuts a check from the LSRRF to MJR for those eligible expenses 
4. The LSRRF is repaid through TIF Capture 

 
E. Maximum Amount of Note or Bonded Indebtedness 
 
The City of Troy will not incur a financial note or bonded indebtedness for this project.  
Therefore, a reporting on indebtedness is not required. 
 
F. Duration of Brownfield Plan 
 
The duration of this Plan should be not less than the period required to reimburse all eligible 
activities. The approval date of the Brownfield Plan by the City council will mark the beginning 
of the reimbursement period, unless modified at the discretion of the City as allowed under Act 
381, as amended. In no event, however, shall this Plan extend beyond the maximum term 
allowed by Section 13(1) (a) of Act 381, as amended for the duration of this Plan, currently 
limited to 30 years. 
 
G. Estimated Impact of Tax Increment Financing on Revenues of Taxing     

Jurisdictions 
 
The following tables show the anticipated impact of tax increment financing (TIF) on revenues 
of taxing jurisdictions. Developer reimbursements for environmental assessment activities will 
occur within the first year of TIF reimbursement (totaling $11,585), and LSRRLF 



Brownfield Plan for the Proposed MJR Troy Grand at 100 East Maple Road, Troy, MI 
PM Project No. 02-6518-1; August 23, 2013 

 

PM Environmental, Inc. 
Page 6 

 

reimbursement will occur within 8 years from the start of tax TIF reimbursements.  An 
additional year is anticipated for repayment of interest, with an additional 5 years of capture to 
continue building the LSRRLF.  
 
Description of Eligible Activities (see Table 1) Estimated Costs 

1. Environmental Assessment Activities    $                           10,085  
2. BRA Application Fee     $                             1,500  
3. Due Care Activities      $                           13,004  
4. Demolition 

  
   $                         479,095  

5. Preparation of Brownfield Plan 
 

   $                             5,980  
Total           $                         509,664  

 
 

     Total Activities to be Captured by TIF   Estimated Costs 

Developer Reimbursement      $                           11,585  
Local Site Remediation Revolving Loan Fund Reimbursement  $                         498,079  
LSRRLF 3% Interest Capture  $                           65,891  
TBRA Administrative Fee      $                           21,964  
Total           $                         597,519  

       Detailed tax increment financing tables and a list of eligible expenses are located in Appendix 
D. 
 
H. Legal Description, Property Map, Statement of Qualifying Characteristics and 

Personal Property 
 

The legal description of the property included in this plan is attached in Appendix A.   
 
A 2013 Valuation Report and Record Card provided by the City are included in Attachment B, 
showing the property’s obsolescence status.  
 
A property location map, site map, and preliminary development plans are attached in 
Appendix C of this plan.  
 
I. Estimates of Residents and Displacement of Families 
 
No displacement of residents or families is expected as part of this project. 
 
J. Plan for Relocation of Displaced Persons 
 
No displacement of residents or families is expected as part of this project. 
 
K. Provisions for Relocation Costs 
 
No relocation is expected as part of this project. 
 
L. Strategy for Compliance with Michigan’s Relocation Assistance Law 
 



Brownfield Plan for the Proposed MJR Troy Grand at 100 East Maple Road, Troy, MI 
PM Project No. 02-6518-1; August 23, 2013 

 

PM Environmental, Inc. 
Page 7 

 

No relocation is expected as part of this project. 
 
M. Description of Proposed Use of Local Site Remediation Revolving Loan Fund 
 
The LSRRLF will be used to finance “eligible activities” (as defined by Section 2 of Act 381, as 
amended) as permitted under the Brownfield Redevelopment Financing Act that includes: 
Preparation of the Brownfield Plan, Due Care Activities, and Demolition as described in this 
Plan. A complete listing of these activities is included in Table 1 of Appendix D.  
 
The following eligible activities and budgeted costs are intended as part of the development of 
the property and are to be financed solely by the developer prior to reimbursement from the 
LSRRLF.   
 

1. Preparation of the Brownfield Plan $5,980 
 

2. Due Care Activities totaling approximately $13,004; this includes the removal and 
disposal of five hoists, removal and disposal of associated contaminated soil at 
approximately 5 yards per hoist, and hoist removal monitoring and assessment 
activities.   
 

3. Demolition costs totaling approximately $479,095; this includes building and site 
demolition, demolition oversight, asbestos abatement activities and air monitoring 
associated with the building demolition, and the proper removal of fluorescent light 
tubes, PCB ballasts, mercury vapor bulbs and mercury switches, fire extinguishers, 
CFC refrigerants, hydraulic lifts, and facility owned pad mounted transformer (includes 
packaging, transportation and disposal/recycling).  

 
All activities are intended to be “eligible activities” under Act 381, as amended.  The total cost 
of eligible activities that are subject to payment or reimbursement from LSRRLF will not exceed 
$498,079. In addition, the LSRRLF will capture 3% simple interest on the unreimbursed eligible 
expenses, which will total approximately $65,891.  Reimbursements will also not exceed the 
provided invoices/proof of expenses; the developer will only be reimbursed for the costs that 
are incurred. A 15% contingency has been built in to each individual line item estimate. 
 
In addition, the TBRA will capture 1% of unreimbursed eligible expenses as an administrative 
fee for the authority.  
 
N. Other Material that the Authority or Governing Body Considers Pertinent 
 
The asbestos inspection conducted by the landlord is included in Appendix E. The asbestos 
inspection of the property occurred when the building and its electrical systems were still active 
and therefore limited dismantling of the electrical, heating, and ventilation systems was 
conducted to complete the initial inspection activities. Consequently, it is possible that asbestos 
containing linings or insulation (i.e., transite asbestos or paper insulation, etc.) may exist within 
these systems not accessed during the initial survey but would still need abatement during 
building demolition activities. The 15% contingency that has been built into the Brownfield Plan 
should account for any additional asbestos containing materials uncovered during demolition. 
 



Appendix A 



Assessing Report for 88-20-34-101-023
Parcel Number 88-20-34-101-023
Property Address 100 E MAPLE -120
Property Address 
Apt

-120

Property Address 
Zip

48083-2761

Owner Name 1 GERSHENSON REALTY & INVESTMENT
Owner Name 2
Neighborhood 
Code

VLCOM

State Equalized 
Value (SEV)

2175240

Taxable Value 1025640
Summary Land 
Value

4350480

Property Class 201
School District TROY
Principal 
Residence 
Exemption

0

Last Sale Amount 0
Last Sale Date
Owner Street 
Address

31500 NORTHWESTERN STE 100

Owner City FARMINGTON
Owner State MI
Owner Zip Code 48334
Taxpayer Street 
Addr
Frontage 0
Depth of Parcel 0
Summary Res 
Floor Area

0

Num Res 
Buildings

0

Summary Res 
Garage Area

0

Summary Res 
Year Built

0

Summary Res 
Style Alph

0

Summary Res 
Num Bed

0

Summary Res 
Num Half Bath

0

Summary Res 
Num Full Bath

0

Summary Res 
Basement Area

0

Num CI Buildings 1
Summary CI Floor 
Area

118201

Summary CI 
Stories

1

Summary CI Year 
Built

1964

Legal Description T2N, R11E, SEC 34 PART OF W 1/2 OF NW 1/4 BEG AT PT DIST N 89-59-30 E 235 FT & S 00-02-15 W 60 FT FROM NW SEC COR, TH N 89-
59-30 E 324 FT, TH S 00-02-15 W 205 FT, TH N 89-59-30 E 198 FT, TH N 00-02-15 E 205 FT, TH N 89-59-30 E 48 FT, TH S 00-02-15 W 300 FT, 

Subscribe to City 
News & Updates 

Search City of Troy GO

Live Here Work Here Play Here Government Resources Contact Calendar

Page 1 of 2City of Troy, MI > ParcelDataSearch > ParcelDataSearchReport

6/12/2013http://www.troymi.gov/ParcelDataSearch/ParcelDataSearchReport.aspx?pin=88-20-34-10...



Resources
• Public Records • Press Releases
• Newsletters • Maps
• Forms • Newspapers
• Permits

Government
• Employment • Public Hearings
• City Council Meeting • Elections
• Code and Charter • FAQ
• City Manager • Web Broadcasts
• City Council Agenda

Contact
• Directions to City Hall
• Phone Directory

Calendar
• Weekly View
• Suggest New Item

City of Troy
Copyright © 2013
500 W. Big Beaver Rd · Troy, Michigan 48084 · Ph: 248.524.3300 City Hall Hours: 8am-4:30pm

TH N 89-59-30 E 125 FT, TH S 00-02-15 W 445 FT, TH S 89-59-30 W 870 FT, TH N 00-02-15 E 595 FT, TH N 89-59-30 E 175 FT, TH N 00-02-15 
E 150 FT TO BEG 12.48 A 6-13-96 FR 020 & 021

Page 2 of 2City of Troy, MI > ParcelDataSearch > ParcelDataSearchReport

6/12/2013http://www.troymi.gov/ParcelDataSearch/ParcelDataSearchReport.aspx?pin=88-20-34-10...



Appendix B 



Valuation Report
DB: Bsaassessing-2013

06/28/2013
01:18 PM

   2,175,240   2,175,240   2,175,240         1,025,640    1,025,640            0
2013 Assessed       MBOR      S.E.V.            Capped   ->Taxable<-     PRE/MBT
           0           0           0                 0       24,030            0
2013     New  Eq. Adjustment    Loss         Additions   Tax Adjustment   Losses
   2,175,240   2,175,240   2,175,240         1,001,610      2.40
2012 Assessed       MBOR      S.E.V.      Base for Cap    C.P.I.
Est. TCV/Total Floor Area = 36.81
2013 Est. T.C.V. 88-20-34-101-023                                  =   4,350,480

Total Estimated True Cash Value of Commercial/Industrial Buildings =           0

                                             Total Depreciated Cost =          0
Eff.Age:42   Phy.%Good/Abnr.Phy./Func./Econ./Overall %Good: 35 /100/0  /100/0.0
                                      Reproduction/Replacement Cost =  7,334,231

 118,201 Sq.Ft. of Sprinklers @  1.72,  County Mult.:1.42  Cost New =    288,694

Total Floor Area: 118,201             Base Cost New of Upper Floors =  7,045,536

County Multiplier: 1.42, Final Square Foot Cost for Upper Floors = 59.606

Refined Square Foot Cost for Upper Floors: 41.98
 Ave. Floor Area: 118,201       Perimeter: 1551       Perim. Multiplier: 0.812
Average Height per Story: 19               Height per Story Multiplier: 1.055
1  Stories                                Number of Stories Multiplier: 1.000

Adjusted Square Foot Cost for Upper Floors = 49.00
(10) Heating system: Package Heating & Cooling    Cost/SqFt:  0.00   100%

Base Rate for Upper Floors = 49.00

Class: C    Quality: Average    Percent Adj: +0
<<<<<                     Calculator Cost Computations                     >>>>>
Costs are taken from the Store, Discount cost schedules.

Cost Estimates for Commercial/Industrial Building/Section:  1        Built 1964

                        12.48 Total Acres    Total Est. Land Value =   4,350,480
B-123 SQ F B-123 SQ FT     543810 SqFt  8.00000  100                   4,350,480
Description   Frontage  Depth  Front  Depth  Rate %Adj. Reason             Value
                               * Factors *
Land Value Estimates for Land Table B-123.B-123

6-13-96 FR 020 & 021
TO BEG 12.48 A
W 870 FT, TH N 00-02-15 E 595 FT, TH N 89-59-30 E 175 FT, TH N 00-02-15 E 150 FT
00-02-15 W 300 FT, TH N 89-59-30 E 125 FT, TH S 00-02-15 W 445 FT, TH S 89-59-30
 TH N 89-59-30 E 198 FT, TH N 00-02-15 E 205 FT, TH N 89-59-30 E 48 FT, TH S
00-02-15 W 60 FT FROM NW SEC COR, TH N 89-59-30 E 324 FT, TH S 00-02-15 W 205 FT
T2N, R11E, SEC 34 PART OF W 1/2 OF NW 1/4 BEG AT PT DIST N 89-59-30 E 235 FT & S

Map #: 88-20-34-101-023       CITY OF TROY                  TROY, MI 48083-2761           
Property Class: 201                                         100 E MAPLE -120              
88-20-34-101-023              2013 Est. T.C.V.              GERSHENSON REALTY & INVESTMENT

licarila
Highlight

licarila
Highlight

licarila
Highlight



*** Information herein deemed reliable but not guaranteed***

OAKLANDCounty:CITY OF TROYJurisdiction: Printed onParcel Number: 88-20-34-101-023

1,247,628C1,247,628T3,190,4801,015,2402,175,2402010

1,268,837C2,834,520A2,834,520659,2802,175,2402011

1,001,610C2,175,24002,175,2402012

1,025,640C2,175,24002,175,2402013

Taxable
Value

Tribunal/
Other

Board of
Review

Assessed
Value

Building
Value

Land
Value

Year

D/W/P: Asphalt Paving                1.61     1.42    306115     0             0

                               * Factors *
Description   Frontage  Depth  Front  Depth  Rate %Adj. Reason             Value
B-123 SQ F B-123 SQ FT     543810 SqFt  8.00000  100                   4,350,480
                        12.48 Total Acres    Total Est. Land Value =   4,350,480

Land Value Estimates for Land Table B-123.B-123

Who     When       What

Level
Rolling
Low
High
Landscaped
Swamp
Wooded
Pond
Waterfront
Ravine
Wetland
Flood Plain

X

Topography of 
Site

Dirt Road
Gravel Road
Paved Road
Storm Sewer
Sidewalk
Water
Sewer
Electric
Gas
Curb
Street Lights
Standard Utilities
Underground Utils.

X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X

Public
Improvements

VacantImprovedX

The Equalizer.  Copyright (c) 1999 - 2009.
Licensed To: City of Troy, County of 
Oakland, Michigan

01/04/12: REMOVED ALL BLDG IMPROVEMENTS. 
1964 VINTAGE S/B DEMO'D.  NL

Comments/Influences

T2N, R11E, SEC 34 PART OF W 1/2 OF NW 1/4
BEG AT PT DIST N 89-59-30 E 235 FT & S
00-02-15 W 60 FT FROM NW SEC COR, TH N
89-59-30 E 324 FT, TH S 00-02-15 W 205 FT
 TH N 89-59-30 E 198 FT, TH N 00-02-15 E
205 FT, TH N 89-59-30 E 48 FT, TH S
00-02-15 W 300 FT, TH N 89-59-30 E 125 FT
 TH S 00-02-15 W 445 FT, TH S 89-59-30 W
870 FT, TH N 00-02-15 E 595 FT, TH N
89-59-30 E 175 FT, TH N 00-02-15 E 150 FT
TO BEG 12.48 A
6-13-96 FR 020 & 021

Tax Description

GERSHENSON REALTY & INVESTMENT
31500 NORTHWESTERN STE 100
FARMINGTON MI 48334

Owner's Name/Address

100 E MAPLE -120

Property Address

0PM2000-241610/24/2000MECHANICAL, HEAT2013 Est TCV 4,350,480 TCV/TFA: 36.81

0PM2000-241710/24/2000MECHANICAL, AIRMAP #: 88-20-34-101-023

20,000PB2005-002801/18/2005COMMERCIAL, ADD/ALTERP.R.E.   0%  

20,000PB2005-009902/18/2005COMMERCIAL, ADD/ALTERSchool: TROY

AmountNumberDateBuilding Permit(s)Zoning: B-2 (Class: 201 COMM IMP

Prcnt.
Trans.

Verified
By

Liber
& Page

Terms of SaleInst.
Type

Sale
Date

Sale
Price

GranteeGrantor

06/28/2013

licarila
Highlight



Bsmnt Insul.Thickness

 (40) Exterior Wall:

 (39) Miscellaneous:

 (14) Roof Cover:

 (13) Roof Structure:   Slope=0 

Incandescent
Fluorescent
Mercury
Sodium Vapor
Transformer

Flex Conduit
Rigid Conduit
Armored Cable
Non-Metalic
Bus Duct

Few
Average
Many
Unfinished
Typical

XFew
Average
Many
Unfinished
Typical

X

Fixtures:Outlets:

 (11) Electric and Lighting:

Hand Fired
Boiler

Coal
Stoker

Gas
Oil

X

 (10) Heating and Cooling:

 (9) Sprinklers:

Urinals
Wash Bowls
Water Heaters
Wash Fountains
Water Softeners

Total Fixtures
3-Piece Baths
2-Piece Baths
Shower Stalls
Toilets

Few
None

Average
Typical

Many
Above Ave.

 (8) Plumbing:

 (7) Interior:

 (6) Ceiling:

 (5) Floor Cover:

 (4) Floor Structure:

 (3) Frame:

BlockBrick/StonePoured ConcX

Footings (2) Foundation:

 (1) Excavation/Site Prep:

<<<<<                     Calculator Cost Computations                     >>>>>
Class: C    Quality: Average    Percent Adj: +0

Base Rate for Upper Floors = 49.00

(10) Heating system: Package Heating & Cooling    Cost/SqFt:  0.00   100%
Adjusted Square Foot Cost for Upper Floors = 49.00

1  Stories                                Number of Stories Multiplier: 1.000
Average Height per Story: 19               Height per Story Multiplier: 1.055
 Ave. Floor Area: 118,201       Perimeter: 1551       Perim. Multiplier: 0.812
Refined Square Foot Cost for Upper Floors: 41.98

County Multiplier: 1.42, Final Square Foot Cost for Upper Floors = 59.606

Total Floor Area: 118,201             Base Cost New of Upper Floors =  7,045,536

 118,201 Sq.Ft. of Sprinklers @  1.72,  County Mult.:1.42  Cost New =    288,694

                                      Reproduction/Replacement Cost =  7,334,231
Eff.Age:42   Phy.%Good/Abnr.Phy./Func./Econ./Overall %Good: 35 /100/0  /100/0.0
                                             Total Depreciated Cost =          0

  **  **  Calculator Cost Data  **  **
Quality: Average    Adj: %+0  $/SqFt:0.00
Heat#1: Package Heating & Cooling     100
Heat#2: Package Heating & Cooling     0%
Ave. SqFt/Story: 118201
Ave. Perimeter: 1551
Has Elevators:

         *** Basement Info ***
Area:
Perimeter:
Type:
Heat: Hot Water, Radiant Floor

          * Mezzanine Info *
Area #1:
Type #1: Open               (No Rates)
Area #2:
Type #2: Office             (No Rates)

          * Sprinkler Info *
Area: 118201
Type: Average

LowAve.XAbove Ave.High

Construction Cost

Comments:

Overall Bldg
Height

19

Year Built
Remodeled

1964
2005

Depr. Table    : 3%
Effective Age  : 42
Physical %Good: 35
Func. %Good   
Economic %Good: 100

Class: C
Floor Area: 118,201
Stories Above Grd: 1
Average Sty Hght : 19
Bsmnt Wall Hght  

Desc. of Bldg/Section: 
Calculator Occupancy: Store, Discount                         

*** Information herein deemed reliable but not guaranteed***

Commercial/Industrial Building/Section 1 of 1 Printed onParcel Number: 88-20-34-101-023 06/28/2013



Appendix C 









TRANS.

CJ
CJ

CJ

CJ

CJ

CJ

CJ

CJ

CJ

CJCJ

C
J

C
J

CJ

CJ

CJ

CJ

CJ

CJ

CJCJ

CJCJCJ

CJCJCJ

CJCJ

CJCJ

CJ

CONDIMENTS
CONDIMENTS

POP

POP

CASH x2

CANDY

CASH x2

CANDY

CASH x2

CANDY

CASH x2

CANDY

CASH x2

CANDY

CASH x2

CANDY

POP

CASH x2

CANDY

CASH x2

CANDY

POP

POP
POP

WARMER

POPPOP
WARMERWARMER

POPPER
POPCORN

POP

POPPER
POPCORN

POP POP

WARMER

POP

ICEE x2 ICEE x2

CJ

CJ

CJ

CJ

CJ

CJ CJ

CJ

CJ

CJ

CJ

CJ

CJ CJ

POPPER
POPCORN

DOGS
HOT

PIZZADOGS
HOT

FRIDGE FRIDGE
MACHINE
ICE

MACHINE
ICE

FREEZER FREEZER FREEZER FREEZER FREEZER

3-COMP SINK

HAND SINK

RACK

MACHINE

STORAGE

ICE

BAG-IN-BOX

RACK
STORAGE STORAGE STORAGE

RACKRACK RACK
STORAGE

STORAGE

RACKRACK
STORAGE STORAGE

FR
EE

ZE
R

R
AC

K
ST

O
R

AG
E

R
AC

K
ST

O
R

AG
E

ST
O

R
AG

E
R

AC
K

R
AC

K

R
AC

K

ST
O

R
AG

E

R
AC

K
ST

O
R

AG
E

ST
O

R
AG

E
ST

O
R

AG
E

R
AC

K

R
AC

K
R

AC
K

ST
O

R
AG

E
R

AC
K

ST
O

R
AG

E
ST

O
R

AG
E

R
AC

K
ST

O
R

AG
E

R
AC

K
ST

O
R

AG
E

R
AC

K
ST

O
R

AG
E

R
AC

K
ST

O
R

AG
E

R
AC

K
ST

O
R

AG
E

R
AC

K
ST

O
R

AG
E

R
AC

K
ST

O
R

AG
E

R
AC

K
ST

O
R

AG
E

R
AC

K
ST

O
R

AG
E

RACK
STORAGE

RACK

21
1'

-1
1"

 O
VE

R
AL

L 
D

EP
TH

W
ES

TL
AN

D
 1

72
'-4

" O
VE

R
AL

L 
D

EP
TH

432'-8" OVERALL LENGTH
WESTLAND 419'-3" OVERALL LENGTH

MJR TROY GRAND 16 SCREEN THEATER
SCALE: NOT TO SCALE DATE: MAY 29, 2013

Phone: (616) 785 - 5656       
Fax: (616) 785 - 5657 
www.ParadigmAE.com      

550 3 Mile Road N.W.
Suite B
Grand Rapids, MI  49544

STUDIO #1
283 SEATS

STUDIO #2
224 SEATS

STUDIO #3
101 SEATS

STUDIO #4
155 SEATS

STUDIO #5
198 SEATS

STUDIO #16
289 SEATS

STUDIO #15
211 SEATS

STUDIO #10
211 SEATS STUDIO #9

297 SEATS

EPIC STUDIO #8
440 SEATS

STUDIO #7
101 SEATS

STUDIO #11
101 SEATS

STUDIO #14
101 SEATS

ST
U

D
IO

 #
13

15
5 

SE
AT

S
ST

U
D

IO
 #

12
15

5 
SE

AT
S

STUDIO #6
155 SEATS

BAR
46'-7"L x 23'-0"w

MARKETPLACE BAR
39'-10"L x 21'-9"w

WAITING AREA
650 S.F.
30'-4"L x 21'-5"w

LOBBY
8,242 S.F
113'-0"L x 78'-0"w

MGR
OFFICE

CASH
OFFICE

OFFICE

ASST.
MGR
OFFICE

F.P.
ROOM

STORAGE

ELEC.

CONC.
STORAGE

LOUNGE

COMPACTOR
ENCLOSURE

STORAGE

STORAGE

ST
O

R
AG

E
ST

O
R

AG
E

ST
O

R
AG

E
ST

O
R

AG
E

ST
O

R
AG

E

JANITOR JANITOR

MEN'SUNISEX

WOMEN'S MEN'S

WOMEN'S



Appendix D 



Item/Activity Total Estimated 
Cost Comments

Phase I  $                2,400 
Phase II/BEA/Due Care Plan  $                7,685 

BRA Application Fee  $                1,500 
Developer Reimbursed Total  $              11,585 

Hoist removal, disposal (5 hoists)  $                6,785 
Hoist removal monitoring and assessment  $                5,141 
Contaminated soil removal and disposal associated with hoist removal (approximate 25 yards)  $                1,078 

Building Demolition  $            140,000 
Site Demolition  $            128,000 
Demolition Oversight  $              17,710 
Asbestos Abatement  $            131,100 
Air Quality Monitoring and Oversight associated with Asbestos Abatement  $              17,538 
Temporary Power required to conduct Asbestos Abatement  $              17,147 
Removal of fluorescent light tubes, PCB ballasts, mercury vapor bulbs and mercury switches, fire 
extinguishers, CFC refrigerants, hydraulic lifts, and facility owned pad mounted transformer (includes 
packaging, transportation and disposal/recycling)

 $              27,600 

Brownfield Plan  $                5,980 
Local Site Remediation Revolving Loan Fund Reimbursed Total  $            498,079 
Project Subtotal (Developer and LSRRLF Reimbursement)  $            509,664 

3% Simple Interest of unreimbursed costs  $              65,891 
TBRA Administrative Fee  $              21,964 
Total Cost of Eligible Activities to be Funded through TIF  $            597,519 

Capture to City Brownfield Redevelopment Authority

Table 1- 100 East Maple, Troy - Estimated Costs of Eligible Activities 

Baseline Environmental Assessment Activities

Preparation of Brownfield Plan and Act 381 Workplan

Due Care Activities

Demolition

Local Site Remediation Revolving Loan Fund Reimbursed Activities

Developer Reimbursed Activities

Brownfield Authority Application Fee



Tax Increment Financing Estimates
Table 2

100 East Maple, Troy, MI

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
Current Taxable Value 1,025,640$   1,025,640$   1,025,640$   1,025,640$   1,025,640$   1,025,640$   1,025,640$   1,025,640$   1,025,640$   1,025,640$   
Estimated Tax Increment Value (estimated increase of 1%/year) 4,500,000$   4,500,000$   4,545,000$   4,590,450$   4,636,355$   4,682,718$   4,729,545$   4,776,841$   4,824,609$   
Incremental Difference (New Taxes-Existing) 3,474,360$   3,474,360$   3,519,360$   3,564,810$   3,610,715$   3,657,078$   3,703,905$   3,751,201$   3,798,969$   

Local Taxes - Millage
County Operating 4.1900 14,558$        14,558$        14,746$        14,937$        15,129$        15,323$        15,519$        15,718$        15,918$        136,404$      
Library 0.7000 2,432$          2,432$          2,464$          2,495$          2,528$          2,560$          2,593$          2,626$          2,659$          22,788$        
County Parks 0.2415 839$             839$             850$             861$             872$             883$             894$             906$             917$             7,862$          
H/CL Metro Auth 0.2146 746$             746$             755$             765$             775$             785$             795$             805$             815$             6,986$          
OCPTA Smart 0.5900 2,050$          2,050$          2,076$          2,103$          2,130$          2,158$          2,185$          2,213$          2,241$          19,207$        
City General 6.5000 22,583$        22,583$        22,876$        23,171$        23,470$        23,771$        24,075$        24,383$        24,693$        211,606$      
City Capital 1.5300 5,316$          5,316$          5,385$          5,454$          5,524$          5,595$          5,667$          5,739$          5,812$          49,809$        
City Refuse 1.0500 3,648$          3,648$          3,695$          3,743$          3,791$          3,840$          3,889$          3,939$          3,989$          34,182$        
ISD Extra Voted 3.1687 11,009$        11,009$        11,152$        11,296$        11,441$        11,588$        11,737$        11,886$        12,038$        103,156$      
ISD Operating 0.2003 696$             696$             705$             714$             723$             733$             742$             751$             761$             6,521$          
OCC 1.5844 5,505$          5,505$          5,576$          5,648$          5,721$          5,794$          5,868$          5,943$          6,019$          51,580$        
Total Local Taxes (capturable) 19.9695 650,102$      

Debt Millages (not capturable)
School Debt Service 4.9600 17,233$        17,233$        17,456$        17,681$        17,909$        18,139$        18,371$        18,606$        18,843$        161,472$      
City Debt 0.7000 2,432$          2,432$          2,464$          2,495$          2,528$          2,560$          2,593$          2,626$          2,659$          22,788$        
Total Debt Millages (not capturable) 5.6600 184,260$      

Total Millages 25.6295

Total Capturable Millages 19.9695

Annual Incremental Capture Local Taxes 69,381$        69,381$        70,280$        71,187$        72,104$        73,030$        73,965$        74,910$        75,864$        
TBRA Administrative Fee* 4,981$          4,453$          3,803$          3,139$          2,458$          1,762$          1,049$          320$             -$              21,964$        
Incremental Capture after Administrative Fees 64,400$        64,929$        66,477$        68,049$        69,646$        71,268$        72,916$        74,590$        75,864$        
Total Cumulative Tax Capture 64,400$        129,329$      195,806$      263,854$      333,501$      404,769$      477,685$      552,275$      628,138$      

Capture for Reimbursement to Developer
Unreimbursed Eligible Expenses 11,585$        -$              -$              -$              -$              -$              -$              -$              -$              -$              

Capture for LSRRLF
Unreimbursed Eligible Expenses 498,079$      445,263$      380,334$      313,858$      245,809$      176,163$      104,895$      31,978$        (42,611)$       -$              

Interest, 3% Simple Interest 14,942$        13,358$        11,410$        9,416$          7,374$          5,285$          3,147$          959$             65,891$        
Interest Running Total 28,300$        39,710$        49,126$        56,500$        61,785$        64,932$        65,891$        23,280$        
Reimbursed Interest to LSRRLF 42,611$        23,280$        65,891$        

*Administrative fee is 1% of the unreimbursed LSRRLF expenses

3. Due Care Activities

4. Demolition
5. Preparation of Brownfield Plan
Total 

Developer Reimbursement

TBRA Administrative Fee
Total 

9 Years: LSRRLF Interest 
Capture Complete

8 Years: LSRRLF Reimbursement Complete

597,519$                              

 $                              509,664 

Local Site Remediation Revolving Loan Fund Reimbursement
LSRRLF 3% Interest Capture  $                                65,891 

Total Activities to be Captured by TIF

1 Year: Developer Reimbursement Complete

10,085$                                
1,500$                                  

13,004$                                

 $                                  5,980 

Description of Eligible Activities (see Table 1)

2. BRA Application Fee
1. Environmental Assessment Activities

Estimated Costs

479,095$                              

 $                                21,964 

Estimated Costs
 $                                11,585 
 $                              498,079 



Appendix E 



Testing Engineers & Consultants, Inc.
1343 Rochester Road· PO Box 249 • Troy, Michigan 48099.{)249

(248) 588-6200 or (313) T-E-S-T-i-N-G • Fax (248) 588-6232
www.testingengineers.com

TEe Report Number: 53362-01
Date Issued: April 19, 2013

Mr. Mark Perkoski
Maple & Livernois, LLC
31500 Northwestern Highway
Suite 100
Farmington Hills, Michigan 48334

Telephone: (248) 785-2300
Email: mark@gershensomealty.com

Re: Asbestos Survey Report. Project: Former K-Mart Building located at 100 East Maple Road;
Troy, MI 48083.

Dear Mr. Perkoski:

Enclosed please find our report of a pre-demolition asbestos survey at the above referenced
location. We hope that you fmd this report complete and self-explanatory.

We are pleased to provide this service. Should you have any questions regarding this report or
require additional llformation, please contact this office at your convenience.

Respectfully Yours,
TESTING ENGINEERS & CONSULTANTS, INC.

/~ee~
Scott M. Chandler, CIH, LEED AP
Manager
Industrial Hygiene Services

SC/rfm
Enclosure

~M.?~
Jennifer M. Pendley
Assistant Manager
Industrial Hygiene Services

Copyright 2007 Testing Engineers & Consultants, Inc. Alt rights reserved.

All services undertaken are subject 10 the following policy. Reports are submitted for exclusive use of the clients to whom they are addressed. Their significance is
subject to the adequacy and representative character ofthe samples and the comprehensiveness of the tests, examinations and surveys made. No quotation from
reports or use arTEe's name is permitted except as expressly authorized by TEC in wriling.

CONSULTING ENGINEERS & FULL-SERVICE PROFESSIONAL TESTING AND INSPECTION
OFFICES IN ANN ARBOR, DETROIT, AND TROY

FOUNDED IN 1966



Testing Engineers & Consultants, Inc.

Table of Contents

Section:

1

2

2.1

2.2

2.3

2.4

3

4

Appendices:

A

B

C

D

Executive Summary

Introduction

Summary of Findings

Homogenous Material Listing

Recommendations for ACM

List by Functional Space

List by Homogenous Material

Bulk Sample Report, Laboratory Data and Chain of Custody Docurnent(s)

Functional Space Listing

DefInitions of Terms and Assessment Criteria

Bulk Sampling Protocol and Analytical Methods

Summary of Regulatory Requirements

Photographs



Testing Engineers & Consultants, Inco
Maple and Livernois, LLC
Mr. Mark Perkoski
April 19,2013

TEC Report Number: 53362-01

Executive Summary

Testing Engineers & Consultants, Inc. (TEC) was retained by Maple & Livernois, LLC to perform a
National Emission Standard for Hazardous Air Pollutants (NESHAP) style asbestos survey of the former
K-Mart building located at 100 East Maple Road; Troy, MI 48083. A vacant, one story commercial
building (former K-Mart) is located on the site.

The following known or assumed asbestos-containing materials were identified in the survey area:

SMffSIIMMF/NFOfM tOlDHM# Homol!eneous a ena eSCrIDlIOn
15 Mastic on HM# 14 NF MM
16 9" x 9" Gray Floor Tile NF MM
17 Mastic on HM# 16 NF MM
18 Mudded Pipe Fittings on Fiberglass Straight Pipe F TSI
20 12" x 12" Gray wi Gray Streak Floor Tile NF MM
21 Mastic on HM# 20 NF MM
23 Mastic on HM# 22 NF MM
26 Mastic on HM# 25 NF MM
27 Original Drywall and Joint Compound NF MM
29 Roof Drain Conductor Insulation F TSI
36 Mastic on HM# 35 NF MM
41 Tagged Fire Door NF MM
44 Woven HVAC Expansion Fabric NF MM
45 Black and Yellow Carpet Adhesive NF MM
47 Interior Boiler Insulation F TSI
48 Boiler Flue Exhaust Insulation F TSI

HM # Homogeneous Material Number
FINF Friable or Non-Friable
SM Surfacing Material
TSI Thermal Systems Insulation
MM Miscellaneous Material

Executive Summary Page I



Testing Engineers & Consultants, Inc.
Maple and Livernois, LLC
Mr. Mark Perkoski
April 19, 2013

TEC Report Number: 53362-01

Section 1 Introduction

This report is based on requirements of the National Emission Standard for Hazardous Air Pollutants
(NESHAP) for renovation and/or demolition projects. NESHAP requires that building owners conduct
surveys for asbestos-containing materials (ACM) in buildings that are to be renovated or demolished.
The Environmental Protection Agency defmes an asbestos-containing material as one which contains
greater than one percent asbestos, using standardized analytical methods (polarized light microscopy).
Building materials containing greater than one percent asbestos are referred to as asbestos-containing
building materials (ACBM).

This survey addresses friable and non-friable suspect asbestos-containing building materials to meet
NESHAP requirements for renovation and/or demolition activities. Friable materials are those that can
be crumbled, pulverized or reduced to powder by hand pressure when dry. This includes products such
as spray-applied fireproofing on structural steel members, spray-applied acoustical ceiling materials, and
thermal systems insulation. Because friable materials are more likely to release asbestos fibers into the
air when disturbed than non-friable materials, they are considered a greater health concern.

All other materials such as floor tile, adhesives, plaster, stucco, and sheet rock mudding compounds are
considered non-friable materials. Non-friable materials can become friable through various mechanical
means such as crushing, sanding, sawing, and shot-blasting or by natural means such as weathering.

On April 11 and 12,2013, Richard Michalski (A25681) s State of Michigan accredited Building
Inspector from TEC, performed an asbestos survey of the building in accordance with NESHAP and
project requirements.

All identified suspect asbestos-containing materials are summarized in Section 2.1. Information
regarding all suspect materials including locations, recommended response actions and quantities are
described in Section 2.2 through 2.4.

DISCLAIMER

Tllis report was prepared for the express use and benefit of Maple and Livernois, LLC, its agents and
employees. The information in this report or portions thereof may be required to be included in
notifications to residents, employees, contractors, regulators or other visitors to the building. This repOli
is not intended to be used by the owner or its agents as a specification or work plan for any of the work
suggested or recommended herein.

This report is based upon conditions observed at the property and information made available to the
surveyor. This report does not intend to identify all hazards nor indicate that other hazards or unsafe
practices do 110t exist at the prenlises.

Section 1 Introduction Page 1



Testing Engineers & Consultants, Inc.
Maple and Livernois, LLC
Mr. Mark Perkoski
April 19, 2013

TEC Report Number: 53362-01

TEC made their best effort to determine the location of inaccessible ACBM. TEC shall not be
responsible for identifying all ACBM located behind walls and/or columns, beneath flooring, above
solid ceilings, underground or any other inaccessible areas.

Polarized light microscopy (PLM) is not consistently reliable in detecting asbestos in a small percentage
of samples that contain asbestos. Certain flooring materials (floor tile, linoleum) may contain very small
asbestos fibers that are not visible by PLM. The fibers may also be bound or obscured by the organic
matrix of the material. Thus, negative PLM results are not guaranteed by the laboratory. TEC
recommends that any samples reported as <I % or below limit of detection should be further tested by
transmission electron microscopy (TEM) to positively determine if the material is an ACM.

Standard PLM also is not consistently reliable in detecting asbestos in vermiculite insulation due to its
heterogeneous nature. TEC recommends that any vermiculite insulation samples reported as below limit
of detection should be further tested for asbestos using the California Air Resources Board Method 435,
which includes a fine milling of the sample to create a homogeneous mixture.

Section 1 Introduction Page 2



Testing Engineers & Consultants, Inc.
Maple and Livernois, LLC
Mr. Mark Perkoski
April 19,2013

TEC Report Number: 53362-01

Section 2 Summary of Findings for Suspect Materials

Section 2 consists of several tables summarizing the findings of the building survey performed by TEC.
Descriptions of each table are found below.

Section 2.1 consists of a table of all suspect building materials identified by the building inspector in the
survey area. The materials are listed by Homogeneous Material Number (HM#). Each suspect material
is assigned a unique HM#. The table also describes the material type (surfacing material, thermal
systems insulation or ruiscellaneous material), its friability and whether it is an ACM.

Section 2.2 is a table summarizing our recommendations for each ACM or assumed ACM identified in
the survey area. Please note that the recommendations provided are based upon the condition of
the ACM identified at the time of the inspection as well as our understanding of the scope of work.

The table in Section 2.3 describes suspect ACM found in each Functional Space Number (FS#)
identified in the survey area. For survey purposes, a building is divided into smaller units called
Functional Spaces. A Functional Space is defined as a room, group of rooms, or other spatially
distinct building unit as designated by an accredited asbestos building inspector. Each
Functional Space is assigned a number and a description is provided. During the survey, the
building inspector identifies the suspect ACM that are present in the functional space or that may
be impacted during renovation work, in the case oflimited surveys. All materials listed in this
section were determined to be in good condition except where noted in the table.

Section 2.4 is organized by Homogeneous Material Number (HM#) and depicts which
Functional Spaces contain them. Other information, such as quantities, ACM designation,
friability and material category are also included in this table.

See Appendix A for definitions of terms used in the tables throughout Section 2.

Section 2 Summary of Findings Page 1



Section 2.1

Homogenous Material Listing



Testing Engineern & Consultants, Inc. Maple and Livernois, LLC Section 2.1
Fonner K-Mart Building

HM Listing

HM# Homogelleous Material Description ACM? FINF SM/TSIIMM
1 Drywall and Joint Compound No NP MM
2 4" Covebase Adhesive No NP MM
3 Round Fiberglass HVAC Duct Nnn-suspect
4 Gray Window Caulk No NP MM
5 12" x 12" White wfran Speck Floor Tile No NP MM
6 Adhesive on HM# 5 No NP MM
7 2' x 4' GyPsum Suspended Ceiling Tile No F MM
8 2' x 4' Gray Suspended Ceiling Tile No F MM
9 12" x 12" Off-white wi Blue Streak Floor Tile No NP MM
10 Adhesive on HM# 9 No NP MM
11 Fiherglass Straight Pipe and Fitting Insulation Non-suspect
11 Fiberglass Straight Pipe and Fiberglass Fitting Insulation Non-suspect
12 Metal-Jacketed Door Insulation No F MM
13 2' x 4' White Bumhy Suspended Ceiling Tile No F MM
14 12" x 12" Cream Busy Floor Tile No NP MM
15 Mastic on HM# 14 Yes NY MM
16 9" x 9" Gray Floor Tile Yes NY MM
17 Mastic on HM# 16 Yes NF MM
18 Mudded Pipe Fittings on Fiberglass Straight Pipe Yes F TSI
19 Joint Compound on Plywood No NP MM
20 12" x 12" Gray wi Gray Streak Floor Tile Yes NY MM
21 Mastic on HM# 20 Yes NY MM
22 12" x 12" Pink Busy Floor Tile No NP MM
23 Mastic on HM# 22 Yes NF MM
24 Green Linoleum with Burlap Backing No NP MM
25 12" x 12" Dark Gray Floor Tile No NP MM
26 Mastic on HM# 25 Yes NY MM
27 Original Drywall and Joint Compound Yes NY MM
28 2' x 4' Pinhole Suspended Ceiling Tile No F MM
29 Roof Drain Conductor !nsuaUion Yes F TSI
30 Coating on Fiherglass Ceiling Panel No F SM
31 12" x 12" Red Brick "Sticky-back" Floor Tile No NP MM
32 I' xl' Randon Hole Glued-on Ceiling Tile No F MM
33 Glue Pod on HM# 32 No NP MM
34 Wallboard No NP MM
35 12" x 12" Cream Floor Tile No NP MM
36 Mastic on HM# 35 Yes NY MM
37 I' xl' Randon Pin Hole Glued-on Ceiling Tile No F MM
38 Glue Pod on HM# 37 No NP MM
39 Fiberglass Straight Pipe wi Tar Layer No F TSI
40 Popcorn Texturing Material No F SM
41 Tagged Fire Door Yes (Assumed) NY MM
42 12 11 x 12" Multi-colored "Stie -Back" Floor Tile No NP MM
43 Square Fiberglass HVAC Duct Insulation Non~suspect

44 Woven HVAC Expansion Fabric Yes NY MM
45 Black and Yellow Carpet Adhesive Yes NY MM
46 Yellow Carpet Adhesive No NP MM
47 Interior Boiler Insulation Yes (Assumed) F TSI
48 Boiler Flue Exhaust Insulation Yes F TSI
49 White Sink Undercoating No NP MM

TPr U pnnrt Nllmhp.r· ')::rUi2-0 I I of 2



Testing Engineers & Consultants, Inc. Maple and Livernois, LLC
Fonner K-Mart Building

HM Listing

Section 2.1

HM# HOlllogelleol/s Material Descriptloll ACM? FINF SMlTSIIMM

50 Asphalt and Gravel Roofing Material No NF MM
51 Rubber Membrane Roofing Material No NF MM
52 Exterior Door Frame Caulk No NF MM

2. of 2



Section 2.2

Recommendations for ACM



Testing Engineers & Consultants inc. Maple and Livernois, LLC
Fonner K-Mart Building

Recommendations for ACM

Section 2.2

HM#

15
16
17
18
20
21
23
26
27
29
36
41
44
45
47
48

footnotes:

HomogeJleous Material Descriptio" Amount V/lirs EPA CateNory

Mastic on HM# 14 75,500 SF Category 1Non-Friable ACM

9" x 9" Gray Floor Tile 575 SF Category I Non-Friable ACM
Mastic 00 HM# 16 575 SF Category I Non-Friable ACM

Mudded Pipe Fittings on Fiberglass Straight Pipe 285 SF Friable ACM
12" x 12" Gray wi Gray Streak Floor Tile 800 Sf CategOl)' 1Non-Friable ACM

Mastic on I-lM# 20 800 SF Category 1Non-Friable ACM
Mastic on HM# 22 1,800 SF Category I Noo-friable ACM
Mastic on HM# 25 850 SF Category I Noo-friable ACM

Original Drywall and Joint Compound 4,500 SF Category 11 Non-Friable ACM
RoofDrain Conductor Tnsualtion 32 EA Friable ACM

Mastic on HM# 35 175 Sf Category I Non-Friable ACM
Tagged fire Door 1 EA Category 11 Non-Friable ACM

Woven HVAC Expansion Fabric 45 SF Friable ACM
Black and Yellow Carpet Adhesive ISO SF Category I Non-Friable ACM

interior Boiler insulation 200 SF Friable ACM
Boiler Flue Exhaust Insulation 150 SF Friable ACM

ReconunentlaJioll

Remove Prior to Demolition
Remove Prior to Demolition
Remove Prior to Demolition
Remove Prior to Demolition
Remove Prior to Demolition
Remove Prior to Demolition
Remove Prior to Demolition
Remove Prior to Demolition
Remove Prior to Demolition
Remove Prior to Demolition
Remove Prior to Demolition
Remove Prior to Demolition
Remove Prior to Demolition
Remove Prior to Demolition
Remove Prior to Demolition
Remove Prior to Demolition

t. For asbestos-containing malerials which are currently in good condition and are to remain in place during demolition, they must remain non-friable during aU phases of demolition when
using allowable demolilion techniques (bulldozers, implosion, wrecking balls, cranes or hydraulic excavators). No visible emissions allowed during any stage of demolition. Demolition debris
conlaining Category [and U non-friable ACM does not require disposal at a facility licensed to accept asbestos waste.

2. Ifall ACM are removed prior to demolition, the remainder ofthe demolition debris may be either recycled (if appropriate) or disposed as general construction debris at a facility licensed to
accept this waste.

3. Asbestos-containing materials removed in a non-friable maimer and which remain non-friable during handling, transporting and disposal, can be disposed as general conslruction debris at a
facility licensed to acceplthis waste. Contact disposal facility and inquire about the policies regarding acceptance of Category I and 11 non-friable ACM.

TEC Report Number: 53362-01 lofl



Section 2.3

List by Functional Space



Testing Engineers & Coosultants, Inc. Maple and Livernois, LLC
Fonner K-Mart Building
List by FUllctional Space

Section 2.3

iY# - FS Descriptio" _ noo, - FS.Notis _ _ HM# - Jlu7twgenwUs MiitUial DiSiiJption 11M Nol;:; _ "AiiiiJlmrUnlrs ACM1
I Entrance 1 I Dl}'Wail and Joint Compound 72S SF No
1 Entrance 1 2 4" Covcbasc Adhesive 10 LF No
I Enlr.wcc 1 3 Rouud Fiberglass HVAC Duct NA Non-suspect
I Entrancc 1 4 Gray Window Caulk 2 SF No
I Entrance I 5 12"" 12" White wfl'an Speck Floor Tile 350 SF No
I Entrance 1 6 Adhesive on HM# 5 350 SF No
2 Food Service Area 1 1 Drywall wlcl Joint Compound 825 SF No
2 Food Service Area 1 2 4" Covcbasc Adhesive 60 LF No
2 Food Service Area 1 3 Rawld Fiberglass HVAC Duct NA Non-suspect
2 Food Service Area 1 7 2'" 4' Gypswu Suspended Ceiling Tile 375 SF No
2 Food Service Area I 8 2' x 4' Gray Suspended Ceiling Tile 475 SF No
2 Food Service Area 1 9 12" x 12" Orr-white wI Blue Streak Floor Tile 675 SF No
2 Food Service Area 1 to Adhcsive on HM# 9 675 SF No
2 Food Servicc Area 1 11 Fiberglass Strolight Pipe and Fitting Insulation NA Non-suspect

15 Mastic on llM# 14 75,500 SF Yes

13 2'" 4' White Bumby Suspended Ceiling Tile Replaccment tiles 675 SF No
14 12" " 12" Cream Busy Floor Tile 75,500 SF No

3 Round Fiberglass HVAC Duet NA No
Includes Pharmacy 12 Metal-Jacketed Door Insnlntion 1 EA No

Dressing Rooms and Sales
1 Drywall Md Joint Compound Displays 3,750 SF No
2 4" Covebase Adhesive 135 Ui No

y"
y"
Ycs
No
Yes
Yes
No
y"
No
No
y"

12" x 12" Pink Busy Floor Tile 1,800 SF
Mastic on HM# 22 1,800 SF

Green Linoleum with Burlap Backing 400 SF
12" X 12" Dark Gmy Floor Tile 775 SF

Mastic ou HM# 25 775 SF

Materiifroulld under wall
malerial at lhc Ilerimctcr of
north llDd south sidc and small

9" x 9" Gray Floor Tile office 400 SF
Mastic on HM# 16 400 SF

Mudded Pille Fittings on Fiberglass Straight Pille 52 EA
Joint Compound on Plywood 325 SF

12" x 12" Gray wI Gray Streak Floor Tilc HOO SF
Mastic on HM# 20 HOU SF

22
23
2.
25
26

.!§.

.!l
1.
12:
.<!l.
21

3 Retail Area
3 Retail Area
3 Retail Area
3 Retail Area
3 . Retail Area
3 Retail Area
3 Uctail Area

3 Retail Area
3 Retail Area
3 Retail Area
3 Retail Area
3 Retail Area
3 Retail Area
3 Retail Area
3 RetaiJ Area
3 Relail Area
3 Retail Area
3 Retail Area

Extcrior Willis and various arcas
3 Retllil Area 1 27 Origiual Drywall and Joint Compound .llbove SCI' 4,500 SF Yes
3 Retail Area 1 28 2' x 4' Pinhole Suspended Ceiling Tile 125 SF No
3 Retail Area I 29 Roof Drain Conductor InsualtioD 15 EA Yes
3 Retail Arc<l 1 31 12"" 12" Red Brick "Sticky-back" Floor Tile Small Office area 45 SF No
4 Garden Department 1 J DrywalllllJd Joint Compound 1,875 SF No
4 Garden Department 1 2 4" Covebase Adhesive 42 LF No
4 Garden Department I 11 Fiberglass Stnli!Wt Pipe and Fiberglass Fitting Insulation NA Non-suspect
5 Automotive Service Area I Includes Restroom I Drywall and Joint Compound 55 SF No
5 Automotive Service Area 1 2 4" Covcbase Adhesive Restroom 18 LF No
5 Automotive Serviee Area 1 4 Gray Window Caulk 2 SF No
5 Automotive Serviee Area 1 12 Metal-Jacketed Door Insulation Restroom I EA No
5 Automotive Service Arca I 18 Mudded Pille FittinJ::,s on FiberAlass Strai~ht Pille 1U EA Yes
5 Automotive Serviee Area I 30 Coating 011 Fiberglass Ceiling Panel 2,400 SF No

TEC Report Number: 53362-0 I lof3



Testing Engineers & Consultants, inc. Maple and Livernois, LLC
Former K-Mart Building
List by Functional Space

Section 2.3

~# - FS Descrie~io~l__ MOD' - FS Notes - HM# 11o",o'l!n~o1lSMalU;al DucriptiJJn JIM Noles
5 Automotive Scrvice Area I 40PopcoruTexturing Material On Straight Pipe Insul
S Automotive Service Storage Room I 12 Metal-Jacketed Door lrumlation

Anuumt Units ACM'
135 SF No

lEA No
24 EA V"

450 SF No
45 LF No

tEA No

225 SF No
225 SF V"

16U 51/ V"Mnteriallocated on far west side

Intcnnediate Hallway/Security Area I 14 12" x 12" Cream Busy Floor Tile
Intermediate I-lallwlly/Secul'ity Area 1 IS Mastic on HM# 14

5 Automotive Service Storllge noom I 18 Mudded Pille Fittings on Fiberglass Straight Pipe
7 Intennediate Hallway/Security Area I I Drywnll and Joint Compound
7 lntennediate Hallway/Security Area 1 2 4" Covebase Adhesive
7 lntenucdiatc Hallway/Security Area t 12 Metal-}~ekeled Door Insulatio!1_ Food StomAc Room

Mlltcriallocated ill Storage room
and each cnlmllcc7

7

7 Intermediate HalhvaylS«ul'ity Area 1 16 9" x 9" Gray Floor Tile

7 Intermediate I-lalhvaylSecurily Area 1 17 Mastic on .WHI6 M.. teriallocated 00 rar west side 160 SF Yes
7 Intermediate HallwaylSecurily Arcll 1 20 ~_"_x 12" GClIY w/ Gray Streak Floor Tile Food Storagc Room 160 SF Yes
7 Intermcdinte Hnllwny/SecurHy Area I 21 Mastic on HM# 20 Food Storage Roonl 160 SF Yes
7 Intermediate Hallway/Security Area I 32 l' x I' Randon Hole Glued-on Ceiling Tile Hallway at each Entrauce 175 SF No
7 Intermediate Hallway/Security Area 1 33 Glue Pod on HM# 32 Hallway 175 SF No
7 lutermcdiate HallwaY/Security Area J 34 Wallboard Hallway 175 SF No
7 Intennediate Hallway/Security Area 1 35 12" x 12" Cream Floor Tile Food StomBo Roow 140 SF No
7 Intermediate HallwaY/S«urity Area I 36 Mastic on HM# 35 Food Storage Room 140 SF Yes
7 lntcnncdiate Hallway/Security Area I 37 I' x I' Randall Pill Hole Glucd-on Ceiling Tile Food Storage Room 140 SF No
7 Intennediate Hallway/Security Aren I 38 Glue Pod on HM# 37 FoodStoragc Room 140 SF No
8 iJllermediate Hallway/Security Room 2 11 FibcrKlnss Straight Pipe and Fibcrglilss Fittiug lusulatiOIl NA Non-suspect
g lnlennediate Hallway/Security Room 2 43 Square Fiberglass HVAC Duct Insulation NA Non-suspect
9 Rear StomBe Area 1 I Drywall and Joint Compound Receiving Office 80 SF No
9 Rcar Storage Area I 18 Mudded Pipe Fittings on Fiberglass Straight Pipe Ih.-ceiving area 6 EA Yes
9 Real' Storage Area I 29 RuorDrllin Conductor Insualtion Receiving area 1 EA Yes
9 Rear Storage Area I Area divided by concrete block wall 34 Wnllboard 375 SF No
9 Rear Storage Area 1 Includes Receiving Offices 39 Fiberglass Straight Pipe w/ Tar Layer South side 225 LF No
9 Rellr Storage Area I 41 Tagged Fire Door ReceivinG Office 1 EA Yes (Assumed)
9 Rear Storage Area I 42 12" X12" Multi-colored "Sticky-Back" Floor Tile 35 SF No
10 Rcar Storage Area 2 Area divided by concrete block wall 18 Mudded Pipe l~i"inA$ 011 FibcrJ!:lass Strai~ht Pille 69 EA Yc:s
10 Rcar Slorage Area 2 29 Roor Drain Conductor InSllaltioll 3 EA Yes
10 Rear Stumge Area 2 34 Wallboard 175 SF No
11 Stomgc Room I 2 4" Covebasc Adhesive 25 LF No
11 Storage Room I 12 Metal-Jacketed Door Insulation 1 EA No
II Stomge Room I 14 12" x 12" Cream Busy Floor Tile 145 SF No
11 Storage Room 1 15 Mastic on HM# 14 145 81;' Yes
II Stomge Room 1 18 Mudded Pille Fittings OD Fiberglass Straight Pipe 3 EA Yes
12 Fan and Compressor Room J I Drywall and Joint CompoWld 45 SF No
12 FanandCompressorRoom I 12 Metal-Jackctcd Door Insulation 3 EA No
12 Fan and Compressor Room 1 18 Mudded Pille Fittings on Ji'ibcrglass Straigbt Pipe 3S EA Yes
12 Fan and Compressor Room I 29 RoufDrllin Conductor Iusualtioll 1 EA Yes
12 F.:IlI and Compressor Room J 44 Woven HVAC Expansion Fabric on I unit 15 SF Yes
13 Office Arca I 1 Drywall and Joint Compowld 575 SF No
13 Office Area 1 2 4" Covcbase Adhesive 135 LF No
13 Office Arca I 12 Metal-Jacketed Door Insulation 2 EA No
i3 Office Area 1 13 2' x 4' While Dumby Suspcnded Ceiling Tile 450 SF No
13 OffiecArca 1 14 12"xI2"CreamBusyFloorTilc 325 SF No
13 Office Arcn I IS Mllstic on HM# 14 325 SF Yes

TEC Report NllIIIber: 53362-0 I 200



Testing Engineers & Consultants, Inc. Maple and Livtrllois, LLC
FOlmer K-Mart Buildi.ug
List by FWlctional Space

Section 2.3

FS DiiC"rijilwll FlO;;-FS Nota J1MII-JIomogeIU!D11S MinDiliJ DiiCripl10n HM Noles AiiiO;u;t-uliits ACM?
I Office Area 1 32
I ornCt Area I 33
I Office Area 1 4S

I OfficcArca I 46
I Boiler Room 1 11
I Boiler Room I 12
I Boiler Room 1 18
I Boiler Room 1 47
I Doilel' Hoom 1 4.
5 Restroom Area I I
5 Restroom Area I 2
5 Reslroom Area I 3
5 Restroom Area I 11, Restroom Area I 12, Restroom Area I 13, Restroom Area I 14, Restroom Arc:. 1 IS
5 n.estroom Area 1 I.
5 Restroom Area 1 2', Restroom Area I 49
6 Electrical Panel Room I 11
7 Extcrior E '0
7 Exterior E Sl
7 Exterior E '2

TEC Report Number: 53362-01

l' x I' Randoll Hole Glucd-on Ceiling Tile Above scr 825 SF No
Glue Pod ou HM# 32 825 SF No

Blad. and Yellow Cllr,lI~t Adhesive Front lind Back Office 150 SF Yes
YeUowCarpelAdhcsive 175 SF No

Fiberglass SlJaight Pipe and Fiberglass Fitting Insulation NA Non-suspect
Metal·Jaeketed Door Insulation I EA No

Mudded Pipe Fittings Oil Fiberglass Straigllt Pipe 60 EA Yes
Interior Boiler Insulation 200 SF Yes (Assumed)

Boiler Irlue Exbausiinsulation Mag Material 125 SF Yes
Drywnll and Joim Compound 1,250 SF No

4" Covebase Adhesive 65 LF No
Round Fiberglass HVAC Duct NA Non-suspect

Fiberglass Straight Pipe and Fiberglass Fitting Insulation NA Non-suspecl
Metal-Jacketed Door Insulation 5 EA No

2' x 4' White Bumby Suspended Ceiling Tile 175 SF No
12" 1( 12~ Cream Busy Floor Tile 375 SF No

M.:r..slic on HMN 14 375 SF Yes
Mudded Pipe Fittin~s 011 Fibere.lass Straie.lit Pipe 4 EA YeS

Roof Drain Conductor lnsnallion 2 EA Yes
White Sink Undercoating I sink 4 SF No

Fiberglass Straight Pipe and Fiberglass Fittiug Insulation NA Non-suspect
Asphalt and Gravel Roofing Material 60.000 SF No
Rubber Membrane Roofing Material 20.000 SF No

Exterior Door Frame Caulk 6 SF No

30f3



Section 2.4

List by Homogenous Material



TcSling Enginccrs & COlisulllU1tS. Inc. Maille and Livernois, LLC
Fonner K-MIlIt Buildiug

LiSI by HM

Section 2.4

~N JIUlIIugl!llf!l)IlS MaLulul Do·crlpLioll _. JIM NOla _ _ FSII FS Dcscrqllwn 1',(J(Jr FS NuLo· Alnullnt Units IlCMP

1 DrywulJ a.ud Joint CompowId I Entrance I 725 SF No
2 4- Covcbasc Adhesive 1 Entrance 1 10 LF No
3 Rowld Fiberglass HVAC Duct I EnlrallCC 1 NA Noo-suspect
4 Gmy Window C::lUlk I Entmncc I 2 SF No
, Ir x 12" White wrrilll Speck noorTito I EnlrwlCC I 350 SF No
6 Adhesive all. HMfJ 5 I Entrancc t 350 SF No
I Dlywall and Joint Compound 2 Food Scrvice Area 1 825 SF No
2 4" CovdJasc Adhcsive 2 Food Servieo Area 1 60 LF No
3 ROWld Fibccglass HVAC Duct 2 Food Service Arc::l1 I NA ~on-suspcct

7 2' x 4' Gypsum Suspended Ceiling Tile 2 Food Service ArC'd I 375 Sf' No
8 2' x 4' Gray Suspended Ceiling Tile 2 Food Scrvi" Area I 475 SF No
9 12" x 12" OfT-white w/ Dlue Streak Floor Tile 2 Food Service Area 1 675 SF No
to Adhesive on HMII- 9 2 Food Service Area , 675 SF No
II Fiberl5.lu:;:; Straight PiP'? and Fitting Insulation 2 Food Service Arell I NA Non-suspect
I Drywall and Joint Compound Dressing Rooms and Sules Displays 3 Remil Area I 3,750 SF No
2 4" Covebase Adhesive 3 Relail Area 1 135 LF No
3 Round Fibers.!a5S HVAC Duel 3 Rctuil Area I NA Non-suspect

12 Melal-JtlCketed Door Insulation J Relail Area I Includes Phlli'UUlC}' I fA No
13 2' x 4' Wbile Ownby Suspended Ceiling Tile Replacement tiles 3 Rtlail Area 1 675 SF No
14 12" x 12" Cream Busy FioorTile 3 Retail Area 1 75,500 SF No
15 Mastic on HM# 14 3 Retail Arta I 75,500 SF Yes

Material founll ullllcr WHD wllterlal at the
flcrimeter of north aoll south sille lind

IG 9" x 9" Gray Floor Tile snlall uffice 3 Rttllil Arta 1 400 SI~ Yes
17 Mastic on IIM# 16 3 Retail Area 1 400 SI~ Yes
18 Mudded Pipe Fittings 00 Iliberglau Straight I'lpe 3 RellaiJ Area 1 52 EA Yes
19 Joint Compound on Plywood 3 Retail Area I 325 SF No
2U 12":0; 12" Grayw/GrllY Streak Floor Tilc 3 Retllil Arta 1 800 SF Yes
21 M:lSticon HMII 20 3 U.etBilArca 1 800 SF Yes
22 12" x 12" Pink Busy Floor Tile 3 Relail Area I 1,800 SF No
23 Mastic 00 HM# 22 3 RetliU Area I 1,80U Sil Yt..t
24 Green Linoleum with Burlap BackinG 3 RCl.ail Area 1 400 SF No
25 12" x IZW Dark Gray Floor Tile 3 Retail Area 1 775 SF No
26 Maslie on Hl\1# 25 3 Retail Area I 775 SF Yes
27 Original Drywall aud Joint COlUltOUlll1 ExicriorwllUS 3 Retail Area I 4,500 SF Yes
28 2' x 4' Pinhole Susrcndell Ceiling Tile 3 Relail Area I 125 SF No
29 Roof Drain Conductor lnsullltioll J Uetail Area I 15 I~A Yes
J"l 12" x 12" Red Brick "Sticky-back" Floor Tilo Small Office urea 3 Relail Area I 45 SF No
I Drywall and Joint Compound 4 Garden Department I 1,875 SF No
2 4" Covebasc Adhesive 4 Garden Depurtment I 42 LF No
II Fiberglass Straight Pipc and l'iberylass Fittillg Im;ulation 4 Garden Department I NA Non-suspect
I Drywalllllld Joint Compowid 5 Automotive Service Area I Includes Restroom 55 SF No
2 4" Covcbasc Adhesive Restroom 5 Automotive Service Area 1 18 LF No
12 Melal-Jacketed Door1nsuiUlioll Restroom 5 AulOlllotive Service Area 1 I EA No
4 Gmy Window Caulk 5 AUlomoLive Service Area 1 2 SF No
J8 Mulltl~d Pille Fittings on J7ilJer!!lass Stl'pighl J'ine 5 Automotive Service Area 1 JO EA Yes
30 CoalinB on Fiberglass CeilitlK Panel 5 Automotive Service Area 1 2,400 SF No
40 Popcorn Texturing Material On Slrnight Pipe Insulation 5 Automotive Service Area I 135 SF No
12 MetaJ-JackeledDoorJnsulation 6 AutoworiveServiceStorllaeRoom 1 I EA No
IS Mudded Pille Fittings Oil Fibergl.w StJ"uight I'iue 6 Automotive Servin Storage Room 1 24 EA Yes
1 Dlywall and Joinl Compound 7 Imcrmcdiute HailwaylSccurity Area I 450 SF No
2 4" Covcbasc Adhesive 7 Intermediato l-Iullwny/Sccurity Area I 45 LF No
12 Melal-Jacketed Door Insulation Food Storoj.!,e Room 7 Intermediate Hallway/Security Area I I EA No

FINF SMrfSUMM

NC MM
NF MM

NF MM
NF MM
NF MM
NF MM
NF MM

F MM
F MM

NF MM
NF MM
C· TSI

NF MM
NF MM

F MM
F MM

NF MM
NF MM

NF MM
NF MM
F TSI

NF MM
N" MM
NI' MM
NF MM
Nl~ MM
NF MM
NF MM
N" MM
NF MM
F MM
F TSI

NF MM
NF MM
NF MM

NF MM
NF MM
F MM

NF MM

.,' 1'SI
F SM
F SM
F MM
I' TS'

NF MM
NF MM
C MM

TEC Report Number: 53362-0 I lof3



Tcsling Engineers & COllsult:Ulls, lne. Maple aud Livernois, LLC
110nner K-Mart Building

ListbyHM

Section 2.4

9" x 9" Gloor 1?loor Tile M:l!criallucaletl 011 farwcsl side 7 Inlel'Wooiale HaUway/Security Area 1 160 S[l' Ycs
Maslic 011 I·IMN 16 Malcrialloeatctl 011 rar wcst side 7 Intermediate HaliwayfSecurity Area I 160 SF' Yes
I' X I' Rundon Hole Glued-on Ceilinij Tile Hallway at each Enlrance 7 l.lltennodialc Hallway/SC1;urity Area I 175 SF No
Gluo Pod on HM/I 32 HaUway 7 Intenncdiate Hailway/SccW'"ity Arell 1 175 SF No
Wallbollfd Hallway 7 IJllcnm:diute Hullway/Security Area 1 175 SF No

, 111cludcs Receiviug
Fibcrglass Slrnip.ht Pipe w/ Tar Lllycr Soulh side 9 Rear Storage An:a I Offices 225 LF No
Tag~ Fire Door _Reccivilll:. Office 9 RcaI' Storage Area 1 I EA Yes (Assumed)

MlI!criailoctltcd. in Slorage cooUland caeb
12" x 12" Creulll Busy floor Tile eotronee 7 Intermedinl!: HailwaylSecnrity Areu 1 225 SF No
Mastic un J-1M1I14 7 Inlermel1illle HaUw:Ly/Seeurily Area 1 225 SF Yes

FINF S/II/fSUMM

NF MM
NF MM
NF MM
NF MM
F MM

NF MM
NF MM
NI' MM
NF MM
NF MM
NF MM
F MM

NF MM

NF MM
I' TSI

I" TSI

NF MM

F TS'
Nl~ Ml\1
NF MM

F TSI
F TSI

NI; MM
NF MM
NF MM
NF MM
F MM
F TSI

NF MM
F MM
I' TS'
I' TSI

Nl' MM
NF MM
NF MM
F MM
F MM

NF MM
NF MM
F MM

NF MM
Nit' MM
NF MM

F MM
F TSI
F TSI

ACIIUAmount UnwJi10tJr FS NtJto·FSII FS DescriptjlJnJIM Nolo;

I'll: l' RWLdon Pin Holc Glued-Oil Ceilillg 1ile Food StOt:lgc Room 7 lnlcnnediatc HailwaylSceuritx Area 1 140 SF No
Glue Pod aLI HM# 37 Food Storugo Room 7 IJllermcdiale Hallway/Securily Areu I 140 SF No
Pibcqdass Sln.Light Pipo and Fiberaluss Fittiuglnsuilltioll II Intennediale Hailway/SccW'"itx Room 2 NA Non-suspcCI
Squurc Piberll.!ass HVAC Duct Insolatioll S Intermediate Hallway/Security Room 2 NA Non-suspect
Drywull and Joint Compound Rcccivinll. Office 9 Rear StOnJl:e Area I 80 SF No

4"CovelJ::llleAdhcsive 13 OfficoAreu 1 135 Lv No
Mclal-Jackelcd Door lusullllioll 13 Office Area 1 2 EA No
2'x4'WhiteBulllloYSusrcndcdCeilingTiJe 13 OfficeAtc::l I 450 SF No
12" x lr Cream Busy floor Tile 13 Office Area 1 325 SF No
Muslic ou HM" 14 J3 Office Arca 1 325 Sl~ Yes
I' x I' Randon Hole Glued-on Ceiling Tile Abovo SCT 13 Office Area I 825 SF No
Gluc Pod on HMII32 13 Office Area I 825 SF No
lII:ld. alld Yellow Cal'jlct Adhesivc li'ronl aJllI Duel. Office 13 Office Area I 150 SF Ya
Yellow Carpet Adhesivo 13 Offico Area 1 175 SF No
Fibcl'xlllSS Slrai!.;hl Pipe and Fibcrxluss Filtingillsoilifion 14 Boilee Room 1 NA NOli-suspect
MClal-Juckctcd Door lnsulatiou 14 Boiler Room IlEA No
Mudl1ed Pipe Fittings 011 (1'illen:lass Stnlighl J1iHC 14 Doilel'Room 1 (jQ EA Yes
Inlel'ior Hoiler lnsullllioll 14 Boilcl' Hoom 1 200 SF Ycs (Assulllel1)

12" x 12" Grny wi GrllY Slrclll( F1uurTile FOOlJ SlUl"'.lge Ruol1l 7 11Ilcrnlcllillic Hlllhvay!Securily Area 1 160 SF Yes
Mnslic on 11M//. 20 Foull Slomge Room 7 lntcrmedilltc HallwaylSceurity Area 1 160 gil' Yes
12" x 12" Cream Floorl'i1e Food StOl"UgCl Room 7 lnlcrmediulo Hallway/Security Area 1 140 SF No
Mastic 00 I1MfI 35 Food Stornl:C !loom 7 10lermcdillte HaUway/Securlly Area I 140 SF Ycs

MllIhlel1llille Fillings olll"i(jergl:l~~Straight Pillc Heeciving nrc;! 9 Uear StorugeAren 1 6 EA Yes
RoorDrul1l Conlluelor JlIsullllion Rcedving lIrea 9 near Slorllge Area IlEA Yes

Area divided by
Wallboard 9 ReW" Storage Area I concrclc block wall 375 SF No

12" x Ir Mulli-eolorcd "Slicky-Back" Floor Tile 9 Rear Storage Area I 35 SF No
Area dividcd by

Mudded l'illC l'illings un Fiberglass Sh'aightl'iue 10 Hear Storllgc Arc:J 2 concrele IJlock wull 69 Ir.A Yes
ltoorVrllill Conl1oclor IlisunUiOIi 10 Uear StoraGc Area 2 3 EA Yes
Wallboard 10 Rear Storugc Area 2 175 SF No
4" Covebase Adhesivc 11 Slor:JBe Room 1 25 LF No
Irx 12" Cre::lm Busy Floornle II StorngeRoom I 145 SF' No
Maslic (In 11M" 14 ] I Stornge Room 1 145 SII Yes
Melal-Jacketed Door Insulation 11 Stocago Room IlEA No
Mul1licll I'Jpe Fittings 011 l?ilocn:hlss Slraigbll'ipe 11 Storllge Room 1 3 EA Yes
Drywall lIud Join! Compouud 12 Fnn WId Comprl:SSOr Room I 45 SF No
Mellll-Jackclctl Door lnSUllitioll 12 FaulUld Compressor Room I 3 EA No
Mudded Iljuc I?itl'ings on li'iloen:llI~~ Slraight Pille 12 111111 aud COmJlfes~ol"Room I 35 EA Yell
Rouf Drain ComluclOf luSlilIllioli 12 Villi and Compressor Uoom IlEA Yes
Wovell I:IVAC EIIJ:lnsioli [l'alo.'ic on 1 unit 12 FaD aDd Compressor Room I 15 Sit Yes
Drywlllllllld Joint Compound 13 Office Area 1 575 SF No

JlulllugcnwulI Matcrj,,' D~t:r1pflUlI

TEC Report Number. 53362-0 I 20f3



Tesling Engineers & COIlSultaUls, Inc. Maple and Livcrnoi~.LLC
Fonncr K-Mart Building

List by HM

Scction 2.4

till lIomogcnf!l)/u MaluioJ Descrlptio/' HAl Nutes nN FS Description Floor FS Nulo' Amuunt UniJg ACMl

18 Boiler 1'llIc Exh:allst lnslll.atioll Mag M:aterial 14 noiler Room 1 125 SF Yes
I Dlywull wld JointColUPound 15 RestroomArc:a I 1,250 SF No
Z 4" CovcbascAdhcsivc 15 Restroom Area 1 65 LF No
3 Round Fiberglass HVAC Duel IS Restroom Area J NA Non-suspect
1 Fi\)crglass Str-light Pipe WId Fibc~g lnsululion 15 Restroom At"C3 I NA Non·suspcct
2 Metal-Jacketed Door lllsuilltion 15 Restroom Area I 5 EA No

13 2';x4'Whilcl3umbySll~pcndcdCcilillgTi1c 15 Restroom Area I 175 SF No
14 Ir x 12" Creum Busy FloorTilc IS Restroom Area I 375 SF No
IS l\b,lic on liMN 14 J5 I{estroom Acea 1 315 S'" Yes
18 Mudded Pipc Fittings 011 Fiberglll.u Straight l'illC JS I{estroom Area I 4 EA Yes
~9 UOOrDl'iliu Conduclor InsunlliOll 15 Restroum Aren 1 2 EA Yes
19 Whitu Sink Undcrcoalinll. I sink 15 Restroom Area 1 4 SF No
~lass Sttaight Pipe and Fibcn$lass Fitting ln~ulaljOIl 16 Electrical Panel Room I NA NOll-su~pecl

)0 ASp"hall and Gravel Roofing MalCl'ial 11 Exterior E 60,000 SF No
it Rubber Mcrnbr.lllc Roofing Material 17 Exterior E 20,000 SF No
52 8xterior Door Frame Caulk 11 Exterior E 6 SF No

FINF ~'M/rSUMM

I' TSI
NF MM
NF MM

F MM
F MM

NF MM
NF MM

" TSI
F TSI

NF MM

NF MM
NF MM
N1' MM

TEC Repol't Number: 53362-01 3 aD



Section 4

Functional Space Listing



Testing Engineers & Cnnsultants, Inc. Maple and Livernois, LLC Section 4
Former K-Marl Building
Functional Space Listing

FSH FS Description Floor

I Entrance I

2 Food Service Area I

3 Retail Area I

4 Garden Department I

5 Automotive Service Area I

6 Automotive Service Storage Room I

7 Intennediate Hallway/Security Area I

8 Intermediate Hallway/Security Room 2

9 Rear Storage Area

10 Rear Storage Area 2

II Storage Room 1

12 Fan and Compressor Room I

13 Office Area I

14 Boiler Room I

IS Restroom Area I

16 Electrical Panel Room I

17 Exterior E

I nf' 1



Appendix A

Definitions of Terms and Assessment Criteria



Definitions of Terms and Assessment Criteria

This survey report organizes infonnation on each suspect ACBM that was identified. This
appendix describes how to interpret the data found in this report.

Material description contains the description of the suspect homogeneous asbestos-containing building materiaL

Material Serial Number is used to reference the material for reinspections, etc.

ACM Asbestos-Containing Materials. Materials containing greater than I percent (> I%) asbestos.

ACBM Asbestos-Containing Buildhlg Materials means surfacing ACM, thennal system insulation ACM, or
miscellaneous ACM that is found in or on interior structural members or other parts of a building.

Asbestos type and content describes the type of asbestos and its percentage in the materiaL

Asbestos Results for positive materials are shown as a percentage. Samples having less than I% asbestos are
reported as contairllng "Trace" amounts ofasbestos and samples with no detected asbestos are reported as "BLD" or
below limit ofdetection.

Sample number(s) identifies a particular material sample obtained from a specific sample location. Sample
nmnbers are used prhnarily for laboratory identification.

Sample Location identifies where the samples ofthis material were obtained.

Material Category categorizes each material as surfacing, TSI or miscellaneous.
Surfacing Materials (SM) - Asbestos-containing materials that are sprayed-on, troweled-on or otherwise applied to
surfaces, such as acoustical plaster on ceilings and frreproofmg on structural members, or other materials on surfaces
for acoustical, fireproofing, or other purposes.

Thermal Systems Insulation (TSI) - Asbestos-containing materials applied to pipes, fittings, boilers, breaching, tanks,
ducts or other interior structural components to prevent heat loss or gain or water condensation.

Miscellaneous Materials (MM) - Asbestos-containing materials applied to or a part of building components that are
not classified as surfacing materials or thennal systems insulation.

Quantity & Units reports approxhnate total quantity per unit of measure for each materiaL

Building(s) & Floor(s) specifies where a material is located.

Material Location describes where the material is found throughout the building.

Friability identifies the material as Friable, Non-friable or Jacketed (for thennal systems insulation only) if asbestos
is present.

Friable (F) - An asbestos-containing material that can be crumbled, pulverized or reduced to powder, when dry, by
hand pressure, such as spray applied fU'eproofmg on structmal steel members, spray applied acoustical ceiling
materials or damaged thermal systems insulation. Friable materials are of greatest concern due to their potential
fiber release.

Non-Friable (NF) - An asbestos-containing material where the asbestos is bound tightly in a matrix or sealed by a
protective layer. Non-friable materials can become fi-iable by being rendered to a crumbled, pulverized or powdered
state, when dty, by crushing, sanding, sawing, shot-blasting, severe weathering or by other mechanically induced
means. Common examples of non-friable materials are adhesives, floor tiles, transite and roofmg materials.



Jacketed (J) - An asbestos-containing material applied to thennal systems insulation and "jacketed" with a
protective outer layer such as canvas or metal to keep the material in good condition. Undamaged jacketed ACBM
is considered non-friable. If the jacketing is damaged, the material is considered fi·iable.

Damage Category describes the type of damage, if any, to the material. The following damage categories are used:
None, Physical, Air, and Water.

Material Assessment identifies the condition ofthe material in relation to physical and water damage, delamination
of the material from its substrate, the extent of the damage and the potential for damage from bUilding conditions,
such as, accessibility by building occupants, influence of vibration, etc. The six standard assessment categories
ranked by hazard potential, with the fll"St being the lowest hazard are as follows: I) Friable ACBM or TSI in Good
Condition with Low Potential for Damage, 2) Friable ACBM or TSI in Good Condition with Moderate Potential for
Damage 3) Friable ACBM or TSI in Good Condition with Potential for Significant Damage, 4) Damaged Friable
ACBM or TSI with Low Potential for Damage, 5) Damaged Friable ACBM or TSI with Moderate Potential for
Damage, 6) Damaged Friable ACBM or TSI with Potential for Significant Damage, and 7) Significantly Damaged
ACBM or TSI. Only friable materials are assessed under AHERA regulations. Non-friable materials are not
assessed.

Material Condition

Good - Material with no visible damage or deterioration, or showing only very limited damage or deterioration.

Damaged - The damage or deterioration ofthe material results in inadequate cohesion or adhesion with crumbling,
blistering, water stains, marring or otherwise abraded over less than on-tenth (1/10) of the surface if the damage is
evenly distributed or one-fourth (1/4) ifthe damage is localized.

Significant Damage - The damage or deterioration of the material results in inadequate adhesion or cohesion and the
damage is extensive and severe with one or more of the following characteristics: I) Cnunbling or blistering over at
least one-tenth (1/10) ofthe surface if evenly distributed, one-fourth (1/4) ifthe damage is localized; 2) Areas ofthe
material hanging from the surface, delaminated, or showing adhesive failure; 3) Water stains, gouges or marred.

Recommended Response suggests the appropriate options for controlling or maintaining ACBM in a safe manner.
For non-school buildings, TEC selects between five options:

Operations & Maintenance (O&M) - A program of work practices to maintain friable ACBM in good condition,
ensure cleanup ofasbestos fibers previously released, and prevent further release by minimizing and controlling
friable ACBM disturbance or damage.

Repair - The restoration of damaged or deteriorated asbestos-containing building materials to an intact condition.
Once the intact condition is established, the material should be included in an O&M program. The material is
usnally only required to be removed ifit is significantly damaged, prior to demolition of the building or if it will be
disturbed by renovation activities.

Abate Due to Condition - This material is significantly damaged and is unsafe in its current condition. The access
to tlle area should be restricted to persoll1lel equipped with appropriate personal protection. This material should be
properly removed by a licensed conh'actor using workers h'ained in the safe removal of asbestos.

Abate Prior to Renovation - This material should be properly removed prior to planned renovation activities by a
licensed contractor using workers trained in the safe removal of asbestos. This recommendation is usually made
only on survey reports prepared prior to planned renovation activities.

Abate Prior to Demolition - This material shonld be properly removed prior to planned demolition activities by a
licensed contractor using workers h'ained in the safe removal of asbestos. This recommendation is nsually made
only on survey reports prepared prior to planned demolition activities.

For school buildings, AHERA provides five response actions to choose from:

Removal - The taking ant or stripping of snbstantially all ACBM from danlaged Area, a functional space or a
homogenous area in a school building.



Repair - Returning damaged ACBM to an undamaged condition or to intact state so as to prevent fiber release.

Encapsulation - Means the treatment of ACBM with material that surrounds or embeds asbestos fibers in an
adhesive matrix to prevent the release of fibers, as the encapsulant creates a membrane over the surface (bridging
encapsulant) or penetrates the material and binds its components together (penetrating encapsulant).

Enclosure - An airtight, impermeable, pennanent banier around ACBM to prevent the release of asbestos fibers into
the air.

Operations and Maintenance - see defInition above.

Comments & Damage Description contains any additional infonnation and or specific details of material damage
are noted here.

EPA Category provides the appropriate material category as outlined in the NESHAPS regulation. The options are
friable, Category I and Category II non-friable ACM.

Friable - Materials containing greater than I% asbestos are always considered Regulated Asbestos-containing
Materials (RACM) that require removal prior to building renovation or demolition activities that impact the
material.

Category I non·friable ACMmeans asbestos-containing packings, gaskets, resilient floor covering, and asphalt
roofmg prodncts containing more than I percent asbestos.

Category II non-friable ACMmeans any material, excluding Category I non-friable ACM, containing more than I
percent asbestos that, when dIy, cannot be crumbled, pulverized, or reduced to powder by hand pressure.

Needs Determination - Materials tbat the individual designing the abatement and demolition project needs to inspect
and evaluate to detennine the potential for the material to become RACM and/or evaluate the asbestos content for
the composite and individual layers of the material. For sheet rock with mudding compounds only, the EPA allows
nsing the composite sample resnlt. If the composite resnlt by Point Counting the sample is below 1% asbestos, the
material is not RACM.



AppendixB

Bulk Sampling Protocol and Analytical Methods



Bulk Sampliug Protocol aud Analytical Methods

Bulk samples of suspect asbestos-containing building materials were obtained using standard industrial
hygiene tecimiques including wetting the material to minimize fiber release.

Our sampling strategy for suspect liiable surfacing materials was based on the guidelines outlined in the
EPA publication Asbestos in Buildings: Simplified Sampling Scheme for Friable Surfacing Materials,
and the procedures outlined in 40 CFR 763, Subpart E (AHERA). For non-friable suspect materials,
AHERA requires the building inspector to determine the appropriate number of samples to obtain and
analyze. Usually one to three samples of non-friable materials are collected.

For each homogeneous material identified by visual inspection as suspect material, random samples are
obtained. A single bulk sample is randomly selected from each homogeneous material for first-round
testing. If the sample is positive, the remaining samples are not analyzed; if the sample is negative, the
other samples are submitted for study. Every sample must be reported negative if the material is to be
considered non-asbestos-containing.

The bulk samples were delivered to an independent laboratory that participates in the bulk sample
proficiency analysis program conducted by the United States Environmental Protection Agency and is
accredited by the National Voluntary Laboratory Program (NVLAP). The samples were analyzed using
Polarized Light Microscopy (PLM) with dispersion staining to estimate tile percent of asbestos
composition by volume. Samples with no observable asbestiform minerals are designated as None
Detected. Samples in which asbestifonll minerals are observed, but exist in concentrations of less than
one percent, are designated as present in Trace amounts; all other samples are designated as asbestos
containing Witll the appropriate percent of asbestos noted.



AppendixC

Summary of Regulatory Requirements



Summary of Regulatory Requiremeuts

This appendix provides a summary of building owner and manager requirements illlder various asbestos regulations
promulgated by the Michigan Occupational Safety and Health Administration (MIOSHA) and the Enviromnental
Protection Agency (EPA) to protect building occupants and employees from exposure to asbestos.

Survey Requirements

Prior to any renovation activity, MIOSHA and EPA regulations require that a complete asbestos survey be
performed to determine if asbestos is present in any suspect asbestos-containing material that will be present in the
construction or work area. This survey report addresses accessible materials. It is recommended that prior to
renovation activities, inaccessible areas that could contain asbestos materials be inspected.

Notification and Posting Requirements

Regulatory agencies feel that the building owner or manager should be responsible for knowing and cOlmnunicating
the locations ofasbestos in their buildings to building employees, outside contractors and tenants to prevent
exposure to asbestos.

Under tbe Michigan Occupational Safety and Health Act (Act 154), building owners and managers are required to
provide annual notifications regarding known asbestos-containing materials in their buildings to building employees,
tenants, vendors and outside contractors. Therefore, specific information contained in this survey report is required
to be included in the notification.

MIOSHA requires building employees, outside contractors, vendors and construction contractors bidding on or
performing work in buildings be provided with notification regarding asbestos-containing materials in their work
areas. MIOSHA also requires that asbestos warning sigus be posted in mechanical rooms.

DemolitionlRenovation Requirements

The National Emission Standard for Hazardous Air Pollutants (40 CFR Part 61; Subpart M) provides specific
notification requirements for both renovations and demolitions ofbnildings. Either the owner, operator (contractor)
or their representatives must file the notices. According to NESHAP, an operation is considered a demolition if the
overall project involves the wrecking or taking out of any load SUppOltlng strnctural members at the subject facility.
Notification is required even ifthere are no asbestos-containing materials in the facility. Notification must be
provided to the Michigan Department of Enviromnental Quality (MDEQ), Air Quality Division no later than 10
working days prior to the scheduled demolition.

For the scheduled demolition of structures having RACM, the RACM must be removed prior to demolition. RACM
are either friable asbestos-containing materials, Category I non-friable ACM that has become friable or will become
friable (such as floor coverings), or Category II non-friable ACM that has a high probability of becoming friable
during the demolition process notification would be required 10 working days prior to beginning asbestos removal
and demolition.

If a facility to be demolished contains less than the cutoff amount ofRACM, this would be termed a demolition
below the cutoff and notification would be required 10 working days prior to beginning demolition.

In a demolition above the cutoff, both the removal and demolition operations should be repOlted on the same
notification fann and all required information submitted at least 10 days prior to the beginning ofthe asbestos
removal. For all work outside Wayne County, a completed copy of the notification fOffilmust be sent to the Air
Quality Division of the MDEQ as well as to the United States Enviromnental Protection Agency (Region V). For
work in Wayne Connty (including the city of Detroit), completed fonns must be sent to the NESHAP Asbestos
Progr8lll Detroit Field Office, MDEQ, AQD.

NESHAP defines llplanned renovations ll as a renovation operation or a number of renovation operations in which
RACM will be removed or stripped within a given period of time and can be predicted. For p],umed renovations
above the cutoff (where amounts ofRACM to be removed equals or exceeds 260 linear feet on pipes, or at least 160
square feet on other facility components), NESHAP requires notification no later than 10 working days before
removing or disturbing the RACM.



Michigan Act 135 (Section 220(1-4) or (8) also requires notification when removing asbestos-containing materials
greater than 10 linear feet or 15 square feet. For projects involving the removal ofRACM prior to demolition, a
copy of the same fonn must also be submitted to the Michigan Department Licensing and Regulatory Affairs
(LARA) Asbestos Program Office at least 10 days prior to the scheduled removal.

Removal Requirements

Under EPA regulations, asbestos-containing materials must be properly removed by licensed asbestos abatement
contractors prior to renovation or demolition activities that would disturb friable materials or cause non-friable
materials to become friable and a regulated material. All ACM should be collected, processed, packaged,
transported and disposed ofaccording to applicable federal, state and local regulations, which includes but is not
limited to NESHAP 40 CFR Section 61.150 and the Asbestos Standards for ConstlUction 29 CFR 1926.1101.

Repair of Damaged Materials and Cleanup of Debris

MIOSHA requires that asbestos-containing debris be innnediately cleaned up. It is recommended that damaged
materials that may release fibers be repaired as soon as possible to prevent fiher release and potential exposures.

Training Requirements

MIOSHA requires employers whose employees are likely to or required to disturb asbestos to receive an asbestos
training course. Refresher training is required to be provided armually.



Appendix F



 

 

BASELINE ENVIRONMENTAL 
ASSESSMENT 

100 East Maple Road | Troy, Michigan 
PM Project Number 02-6518-2 
 

Prepared by: 

PM Environmental, Inc. 
4080 West 11 Mile Road 
Berkley, Michigan 48072 

Prepared for: 

MJR Group, LLC 
41000 Woodward Avenue, Suite 135 East 
Bloomfield Hills, Michigan 48304 



 
 1 EQP 4025 (06/2013) 
 

        MICHIGAN DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY – REMEDIATION AND  
REDEVELOPMENT DIVISION PO BOX 30426, LANSING, MICHIGAN  48909-7926,  
Phone 517-373-9837, Fax 517-373-2637 

 
    Baseline Environmental Assessment Submittal Form 
 
This form is for submittal of a Baseline Environmental Assessment (BEA), as defined by Part 201, Environmental Remediation and Part 213, Leaking 
Underground Storage Tanks, of the Natural Resources and Environmental Protection Act, 1994 PA 451, as amended, for the purpose of establishing an 
exemption to liability pursuant to Section 20126(1)(c) and Section 21323a(1)(b) for a new owner or operator of property that is a facility as defined by Section 
20101(1)(s) or Property as defined by Section 21303(d). The BEA report must be conducted either prior to or within 45 days after becoming the owner or 
operator, whichever is earliest.  This form and the BEA report must be submitted within 6 months of becoming the owner or operator whichever is earliest.  A 
separate BEA is required for each legal entity that is or will be a new owner or operator of the property. To maintain the exemption to liability, the owner and 
operator must also disclose the BEA to any subsequent purchaser or transferee before conveying interest in the property pursuant to Section 20126(1)(c) and 
Section 21323a(1)(b). An owner or operator of a facility or Property also has due care obligations under Section 20107a and Section 21304c with respect to 
any existing contamination to prevent unacceptable exposure; prevent exacerbation; take reasonable precautions; provide reasonable cooperation, 
assistance, and access to authorized persons taking response activities at the property; comply with land use restrictions associated with response activities; 
and not impede the effectiveness of response activities implemented at the property. Documentation of due care evaluations and response activities need to 
be available, but not submitted, to the DEQ within 8 months of becoming the owner or operator of a facility. 
 
Section A:  Legal Entity Information          
Name of legal entity that will own or operate the property: 
   MJR Group, LLC 

Contact for BEA questions if different from submitter 
Name & Title:  Christie Santiago – Senior Project Mgr. 

Address: 41000 Woodward Avenue, Suite 135 East 
City: Bloomfield Hills                          State: MI          Zip:  48304 

Company: PM Environmental, Inc. 

Contact person (Name & Title): Michael Mihalich – Member of 
MJR Group, LLC 
Telephone: (248) 548-8282 E-Mail: mmihalich@mjrtheatres.com 
 

Address: 4080 West Eleven Mile Road 
City:   Berkley                        State:  MI          Zip:  48072 
Telephone:  248.336.9988 E-Mail:  santiago@pmenv.com 

Section B:  Property Information 
Street Address of Property: 100 East Maple Road                                 
 
City:  Troy                                  State:  MI      Zip: 48083 

County: Oakland 
 
City/Village/Township: Troy 
 
Town:   2N          Range: 11E              Section: 34 
Quarter: NW         Quarter-Quarter: NW    
 
Decimal Degrees Latitude: 42.547 north  
Decimal Degrees Longitude: -83.1453 west 
 
Reference point for latitude and longitude:    
     Center of site       Main/front door        
      Front gate/main entrance       Other     
 
Collection method:     
      Survey        GPS        Interpolation    

Property Tax ID (include all applicable IDs): 88-20-34-101-023 
 
Address according to tax records, if different than above (include 
all applicable addresses):  
   
City:                       State:  Zip: 

Status of submitter relative to the property (check all that apply):    
                     Former         Current       Prospective 
Owner       
Operator      

Section C:  Source of contamination at the property (check all that are known to apply): 
Facility regulated under Part 201, other source, or source unknown 
Part 201 Site ID, if known: 
 

Leaking Underground Storage Tank regulated pursuant to Part 213 
Part 211/213.  Facility ID, if known:   
 

Oil or gas production and development regulated pursuant to Part 615 or 625 
 

Licensed landfill regulated pursuant to Part 115   
 

Licensed hazardous waste treatment, storage, or disposal facility regulated pursuant to Part 111 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
Section D:  Applicable Dates (provide date for all that are relevant):      MM/DD/YYYY 
Date All Appropriate Inquiry (AAI) Report or Phase I Environmental Assessment Report completed:                 06/25/2013          
Date Baseline Environmental Assessment Report conducted:  07/26/2013 
Date submitter first became the owner:  
Date submitter first became the operator (if prior to ownership): 07/24/2013 
Anticipated date of becoming the owner for prospective owners:  
Anticipated date of becoming the operator for prospective operators: 
If former owner or operator of this property, prior dates of being the owner or operator: 

FOR DEQ USE ONLY 
BEA SUBMITTAL # 
 
____________________

_ 



 
 2 EQP 4025 (06/2013) 
 

 

Section E:  Check the appropriate response to each of the following questions:             YES          NO 
1. Is the property at which the BEA was conducted a “facility” as defined by Section 20101(1)(s) or a 

Property as defined by Section 21303(d)?              
 
2. Is the All Appropriate Inquiry (AAI) compliant with 40 CFR 312, or is the Phase I Environmental 

Assessment compliant with ASTM E1527-05?          
 
3. Was the BEA, including the AAI and sampling, conducted either prior to or within 45 days of the date of 

becoming the owner, operator, or of foreclosure, whichever is earliest.?      
            

4. Is this BEA being submitted to the department within 6 months of the submitter first becoming the owner 
or operator, or foreclosing?   

 
5. Does the BEA provide sufficient rationale to demonstrate that the data are reliable and relevant to define 

conditions at the property at the time of purchase, occupancy, or foreclosure, even if the BEA relies on 
studies of data prepared by others or conducted for other purposes?   

 
6. Does this BEA contain the legal description of the property addressed by the BEA? 
 
7. Does this BEA contain the environmental analytical results, a scaled map showing the sample locations, 

and the basis for the determination that the property is a facility as defined by Section 20101(1)(s) or the 
basis for the determination that the property is a Property as defined by Section 21303(d)?  

 

           
 

           
 

             
 
 
 
 

            
 
 

           
 
 

            
 
 

                     
                                              

Section F:  Environmental Consultant Signature:           
I certify to the best of my knowledge and belief, that this BEA and all related materials are true, accurate, and complete.  I 
certify that an All Appropriate Inquiry (AAI) was conducted in conformance with the scope and limitations of the All 
Appropriate Inquiry Rule, 40 CFR 312 or a Phase I Environmental Site Assessment (Phase I) in conformance with the scope 
and limitations of the ASTM E1527-05.  I certify that the property is a facility as defined by Section 20101(1)(s) or a Property 
as defined by Section 21303(d) and have provided the sampling and analyses that support that determination.  I certify that 
any exceptions to, or deletions from, the All Appropriate Inquiry Rule or ASTM E1527-05 are described in Section 1 of the 
BEA report.  

 
Signature:  ____________________________________________     Date:  ______________________ 

 

Printed Name:  Christie L. Santiago 

Company: PM Environmental, Inc. 

Mailing Address: 4080 West Eleven Mile Road              City:  Berkley                          State:   MI     Zip:  48072 

Telephone:     248.336.9988                                                                      E-Mail:     santiago@pmenv.com  
Section G:  Legal Entity Signature: 
With my signature below, I certify that to the best of my knowledge and belief, this BEA and all related materials are true, 
accurate, and complete.   

 
Signature:  ________________________________________     Date:  _________________________ 
                  (Person legally authorized to bind the legal entity) 

Printed Name: Michael Mihalich 

Title and Relationship of signatory to submitter: Member of MJR Group, LLC 

Address:  41000 Woodward Avenue, Suite 135 East       City:  Bloomfield Hills                   State:     MI    Zip:  48304 

Telephone:  (248) 548-8282                                E-Mail:  mmihalich@mjrtheatres.com 
 

 
Submit the BEA report and this form to the DEQ District Office for the county in which the property is located.   

A district map is located at www.michigan.gov/bea or www.michigan.gov/deqrrd. 

http://www.michigan.gov/bea
http://www.michigan.gov/deqrrd


 
 
 

 

ISO 9001 REGISTERED 

Detroit 
4080 W. 11 Mile Rd 
Berkley, MI 48072 

f:  877-884-6775 

t:  248-336-9988 

Lansing 
3340 Ranger Road 
Lansing, MI 48906 

f:  877-884-6775 

t:  517-321-3331 

 

Grand Rapids 
77 Monroe Center, NW 
Suite 602 
Grand Rapids, MI 49503 

f:  877-884-6775 

t:  616-285-8857 

 
 
 

 
ALABAMA I FLORIDA I ILLINOIS I MICHIGAN I MISSISSIPPI I NEW JERSEY I NORTH CAROLINA I OHIO I TENNESSEE I WWW.PMENV.COM 

 

Q U A L I T Y      S E R V I C E      S O L U T I O N S  

 

 
 
 
July 26, 2013 
 
District Clerk 
Michigan Department of Environmental Quality 
Southeast Michigan District Office 
27700 Donald Court 
Warren, MI 48092-2793 
 
RE: Baseline Environmental Assessment for the  

Vacant Retail Property 
 Located at 100 East Maple Road, Troy, Michigan  
 Parcel Identification No. 88-20-34-101-023 

PM Environmental, Inc. Project No. 02-6518-2 
  
Dear District Clerk: 
 
Enclosed is a copy of the Baseline Environmental Assessment prepared for the above 
referenced subject property in accordance with Section 20126(1)(c) of Part 201, Environmental 
Remediation, of the Natural Resources and Environmental Protection Act (NREPA), P.A. 451 of 
1994 (Part 201), as amended. 
 
If you have any questions regarding the information in this report, please contact us at 248-336-
9988. 
 
Sincerely, 
PM ENVIRONMENTAL, INC. 

  
Christie Santiago Michael T. Kulka, P.E. 
Senior Project Engineer    Principal 
 
cc:  Michael Mihalich – MJR Group, LLC 
 
Enclosure 
 



 
 
 

 

ISO 9001 REGISTERED 

 
ALABAMA I FLORIDA I ILLINOIS I MICHIGAN I MISSISSIPPI I NEW JERSEY I NORTH CAROLINA I OHIO I TENNESSEE I WWW.PMENV.COM 

 

Q U A L I T Y      S E R V I C E      S O L U T I O N S  

 

Detroit 
4080 W. 11 Mile Rd 
Berkley, MI 48072 

f:  877-884-6775 

t:  248-336-9988 

Lansing 
3340 Ranger Road 
Lansing, MI 48906 

f:  877-884-6775 

t:  517-321-3331 

 

Grand Rapids 
77 Monroe Center, NW 
Suite 602 
Grand Rapids, MI 49503 

f:  877-884-6775 

t:  616-285-8857 

 
 
 

 
July 26, 2013 
 
Mr. Michael Mihalich 
MJR Group, LLC 
41000 Woodward Avenue, Suite 135 East 
Bloomfield Hills, Michigan 48304 
 
RE: Baseline Environmental Assessment for the  

Vacant Retail Property 
 Located at 100 East Maple Road, Troy, Michigan  
 Parcel Identification No. 88-20-34-101-023 

PM Environmental, Inc. Project No. 02-6518-2 
   
Dear Mr. Mihalich: 
 
Enclosed is a copy of the above-referenced document prepared in accordance with Section 
20126(1)(c) of Part 201, Environmental Remediation, of the Natural Resources and 
Environmental Protection Act (NREPA), P.A. 451 of 1994 (Part 201), as amended.   
 
THIS BASELINE ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT WAS PERFORMED FOR THE 
EXCLUSIVE USE OF MJR GROUP, LLC, WHO MAY RELY ON THE REPORT’S CONTENTS. 
 
If you have any questions regarding the information in this report, please contact our office at 
248-336-9988. 
 
Sincerely, 
PM ENVIRONMENTAL, INC.  

  
Christie Santiago Michael T. Kulka, P.E. 
Senior Project Engineer    Principal 
 
Enclosure 



Baseline Environmental Assessment of the Vacant Retail Property 
Located at 100 East Maple Road, Troy, Michigan 

PM Project No. 02-6518-2; July 26, 2013 

 

 

PM Environmental, Inc. 

Table of Contents Page i 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
1.0 INTRODUCTION AND DISCUSSION ............................................................................. 1 

1.1  Owner/Operator Information ........................................................................... 1 
1.2  Intended Use of the Subject Property ............................................................. 1 
1.3 Summary of All Appropriate Inquiry Phase I Environmental Assessment .................. 1 

1.3.1 Phase I ESA Exceptions or Deletions ............................................................. 3 
1.3.2 Phase I ESA Data Gaps ................................................................................. 3 

1.4  Summary of Site Investigation ........................................................................ 3 
1.4.1 Summary of Previous Site Investigations ........................................................ 3 
1.4.2 Summary of Current Site Investigations .......................................................... 4 
1.4.3 Geology and Hydrogeology ............................................................................ 7 

2.0 LOCATION OF CONTAMINATED MEDIA ON THE SUBJECT PROPERTY .................. 7 
2.1  Soil and Groundwater Analytical Results ........................................................ 7 
2.2  Soil Gas Analytical Results ............................................................................. 9 
2.3  Subject Property Site Status ..........................................................................10 

3.0 PROPERTY INFORMATION .........................................................................................10 
3.1  Legal Description of Subject Property ............................................................10 
3.2 Map of Subject Property ..........................................................................................10 
3.3 Subject Location and Analytical Summary Maps .....................................................10 
3.4 Subject Property Location Map ................................................................................10 
3.5 Subject Property Address ........................................................................................10 
3.6 Subject Spatial Data ................................................................................................11 

4.0 FACILITY STATUS OF SUBJECT PROPERTY ............................................................11 
4.1 Summary Data Tables .............................................................................................11 
4.2 Laboratory Reports and Chain of Custody Documentation ......................................11 

5.0 IDENTIFICATION OF BEA AUTHOR ............................................................................11 
6.0 AAI REPORT OR ASTM PHASE I ESA .........................................................................12 
7.0 REFERENCES ..............................................................................................................12 
 
 



Baseline Environmental Assessment of the Vacant Retail Property 
Located at 100 East Maple Road, Troy, Michigan 

PM Project No. 02-6518-2; July 26, 2013 

 

 

PM Environmental, Inc. 

Table of Contents Page ii 

FIGURES 
 
Figure 1: Property Vicinity Map 
Figure 2: Generalized Diagram of the Subject Property and Adjoining Properties 
Figure 3: Soil Boring/Temporary Monitoring Well/Soil Gas Location Map with Soil 

Analytical Results 
Figure 4: Soil Boring/Temporary Monitoring Well/Soil Gas Location Map with Groundwater 

Analytical Results 
Figure 5: Soil Boring/Temporary Monitoring Well/Soil Gas Sample Location Map with Soil 

Gas Analytical Results 
 
TABLES 
 
Table 1: Summary of Soil Analytical Results – Volatile Organic Compounds, Polynuclear 

Aromatic Compounds, Polychlorinated Biphenyls, and Metals 
Table 2: Summary of Groundwater Analytical Results – Volatile Organic Compounds,  

Polynuclear Aromatic Compounds, Polychlorinated Biphenyls, and Metals 
Table 3: Summary of Soil Vapor Analytical Results – Volatile Organic Compounds 
Table 4: TEC Table 1 Soil Analytical Data Summary  
Table 5: TEC Table 2 Groundwater Analytical Summary  
 
APPENDICES 
  
Appendix A: Phase I ESA Report and Previous Site Investigations 
Appendix B: Laboratory Analytical Results 
Appendix C: Boring Logs 
Appendix D: Assessing Records and Legal Description 
Appendix E: Professional Qualification Statements 
Appendix F: Proposed Site Plan 

 
 
 
 



Baseline Environmental Assessment of the Vacant Retail Property 
Located at 100 East Maple Road, Troy, Michigan 

PM Project No. 02-6518-2; July 26, 2013 

 

 

PM Environmental, Inc. 

Page 1 

1.0 INTRODUCTION AND DISCUSSION 
 
PM Environmental, Inc. (PM) has completed a Baseline Environmental Assessment (BEA) for 
the vacant retail property (Parcel ID #88-20-34-101-023) located at 100 East Maple Road in 
Troy, Oakland County, Michigan (hereafter referred to as the “subject property”).  The subject 
property consists of a 12.48-acre parcel of land, located at the southeast corner of Main Street 
and East Maple Road (Figure 1).  The subject building totals approximately 118,201 square 
feet, and contains a former service area, former retail areas, storage areas, utility rooms, 
offices, and restrooms.   Asphalt paved driveways and parking areas surround the building, with 
landscaped areas adjacent to the right-of-ways.  Currently the subject property is vacant.  
 
Standard and other historical sources indicate the subject property was developed prior to 1940 
for agricultural purposes.  Agricultural activities ceased between 1957 and 1963, and the central 
portion of the current building was constructed in 1964.  Additions were constructed in 1968, 
1992, and 2000.  The property was occupied by various retail stores, restaurants, and 
automotive service operations from 1964 until 2009.  The building has been unoccupied since 
approximately 2010.  Historical interior waste streams associated with the former automotive 
service operations would have consisted of general hazardous substances and/or petroleum 
products.   
 

1.1  Owner/Operator Information 
 
MJR Group, LLC, 41000 Woodward Avenue, Suite 135 East, Bloomfield Hills, Michigan, began 
leasing the property from the current owner on July 24, 2013. 
 

1.2  Intended Use of the Subject Property 
 
MJR Group, LLC, intends to redevelop the subject property and construct a movie theater 
complex.  Refer to Appendix F for the proposed site plan.     
 

1.3 Summary of All Appropriate Inquiry Phase I Environmental Assessment 
 
PM performed a Phase I ESA for the subject property, dated June 25, 2013, in conformance 
with the scope and limitations of American Society for Testing and Materials (ASTM) Practice E 
1527-05 (i.e., the ‘ASTM Standard’).  A copy of the June 25, 2013, Phase I ESA, including 
photographs of the subject property, is included in Appendix A. 
 
The following recognized environmental conditions (RECs) were identified in PM’s June 25, 
2013, Phase I ESA: 
 

 The subject property was formerly occupied by various automotive service operations 
from 1964 until approximately 2010.  Historical interior waste streams associated with the 
former automotive service operations would have consisted of general hazardous 
substances and/or petroleum products.  Based upon review of the previous subsurface 
investigations, groundwater contamination is present which exceeds the current Part 201 
Residential and Nonresidential Generic Cleanup Criteria.  Based on these analytical 
results, the subject property would be classified as a “facility,” as defined by Part 201 of 
P.A. 451 of the Michigan Natural Resources Environmental Protection Act (NREPA), as 
amended.  Additionally, concentrations of vinyl chloride in groundwater have been 
identified above Michigan Department of Environmental Quality (MDEQ) Residential 



Baseline Environmental Assessment of the Vacant Retail Property 
Located at 100 East Maple Road, Troy, Michigan 

PM Project No. 02-6518-2; July 26, 2013 

 

 

PM Environmental, Inc. 

Page 2 

Groundwater Vapor Intrusion Screening Levels, but below the Nonresidential Vapor 
Intrusion Screening Levels.  
 

 During the site reconnaissance, PM observed five in-ground hydraulic hoists in the former 
service area.  In-ground hoists have an underground reservoir for hydraulic fluids, which 
can contain petroleum products and polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs).  Although 
previous site investigations indicate contamination associated with the hoists was not 
detected above MDEQ Part 201 Generic Cleanup Criteria in 2010, the potential exists 
that a release occurred from the hydraulic hoist systems and/or underground reservoirs 
since 2010.   
 

 PM observed staining in areas associated with the former automotive service operations.  
Although previous site investigations indicate contamination was not detected above 
MDEQ Part 201 Generic Cleanup Criteria in areas of staining in 2010, the potential exists 
for general hazardous substances and/or petroleum products to have seeped through the 
concrete into subsurface soils since 2010. 

 
 PM observed an underground vault in the former service area.  At the time of the site 

reconnaissance, the vault contained an unknown liquid.  The underground vault may 
have contained hazardous substances and/or petroleum products.  The structural 
integrity of the vault is unknown.  Although previous site investigations indicate 
contamination was not detected above MDEQ Part 201 Generic Cleanup Criteria 
associated with the vault in 2010, the potential exists that a release occurred from the 
underground vault since 2010.   
 

The following adjoining and/or nearby REC has been identified: 
 

 The northwest adjoining property, identified as 20 East Maple Road, was occupied by a 
gasoline service station from between 1957 and 1963 until between 1980 and 1981.  PM 
was unable to determine if the underground storage tanks (USTs) have been removed 
from the property.  Based on the close proximity to the subject property, the potential 
exists that a release has occurred on this property and migrated onto the subject 
property. 

 
A historical REC (HREC), as defined in the ASTM Standard, is an environmental condition that 
in the past would have been identified as a REC, but has been adequately addressed and 
therefore no longer represents a REC.  The following HREC was identified: 
 

 In PM’s professional opinion, the previous site investigations adequately assessed the 
release associated with the former 1,000-gallon used oil UST on the subject property.  
Limited soil and groundwater contamination was identified above current MDEQ Part 213 
Drinking Water (DW) and Groundwater Surface Water Interface (GSI) Risk Based 
Screening Levels (RBSLs); however, based on the limited, discontinuous groundwater at 
the subject property, these pathways are not applicable, and the release was granted 
closure in 2011.  Based on the limited residual contamination, removal of the UST, and 
closed LUST status, PM has identified the former UST and LUST status as a HREC.  

 



Baseline Environmental Assessment of the Vacant Retail Property 
Located at 100 East Maple Road, Troy, Michigan 

PM Project No. 02-6518-2; July 26, 2013 

 

 

PM Environmental, Inc. 

Page 3 

1.3.1 Phase I ESA Exceptions or Deletions 
 
During the completion of the June 25, 2013, Phase I ESA, there were no exceptions or deletions 
from the Federal All Appropriate Inquiry Rule under 40 CFR 312, or the ASTM Standard.  To the 
best of PM’s knowledge, no special terms or conditions applied to the preparation of the Phase I 
ESA. 

1.3.2 Phase I ESA Data Gaps 
 
PM did not identify any significant data gaps during the completion of the June 25, 2013, Phase 
I ESA. 
 

1.4  Summary of Site Investigation 
 

1.4.1 Summary of Previous Site Investigations  
 
PM reviewed the following reports pertaining to previous environmental investigations 
completed at the subject property.  Copies of the previous site investigations reports, including 
sample location maps and analytical summary tables, are included in Appendix C of the June 
25, 2013, Phase I ESA Report (Appendix A).  
 

Name of Report Date of 
Report Company that Prepared Report 

Modified Phase I ESA 10-6-2009 Soil and Materials Engineers, Inc. (SME) 
Phase II ESA 7-14-2010 Testing Engineers & Consultants, Inc. (TEC) 

Tier 1 LUST Closure Report 1-7-2011 Materials Testing Consultants, Inc. 
 
The following table provides a brief summary of the previous investigation completed on the 
subject property.  Additional details regarding the locations where soil and groundwater 
contamination exceed the applicable Part 201/Part 213 Nonresidential Risk-Based Screening 
Levels (RBSLs)/cleanup criteria are also included below. 
 
Open or Closed LUST Site: Closed 
Release Identification(s): C2428-90 / C-2385-90 
Release Date(s) January 1, 1990 / October 15, 1990 
Is soil contamination present above an 
applicable regulatory level? No 

Is soil contamination delineated in all 
directions? Not applicable 

Is groundwater contamination present 
above an applicable regulatory level? Yes 

Is groundwater contamination delineated 
in all directions? Yes 

Significant deficiencies identified? No 
Additional information: See below 

 
The scope of work for the 2009 Modified Phase I ESA included interviews with knowledgeable 
contacts, review of municipal records, and a site reconnaissance.  The report identified similar 
regulatory database listings and municipal information as identified by this Phase I ESA.  The 
2009 Modified Phase I ESA identified RECs including the former open LUST status, the 
potential for former and/or current USTs to be present, the unknown waste management 
practices associated with a vault in the automotive service garage, presence of in-ground hoists 



Baseline Environmental Assessment of the Vacant Retail Property 
Located at 100 East Maple Road, Troy, Michigan 

PM Project No. 02-6518-2; July 26, 2013 

 

 

PM Environmental, Inc. 

Page 4 

and the potential for associated releases, stained concrete within the automotive service 
garage, and the unknown waste management practices associated with the potential former 
onsite septic system.  PM did not identify any deficiencies with the 2009 report; however, the 
scope of work did not include a review of historical sources sufficient to document the former 
use of the subject property and adjoining properties, or the potential for a former septic system 
to be present. 
 
The 2011 LUST Closure Report indicated that a release was discovered from the former 1,000-
gallon used oil UST located west of the automotive service garage.  The release was reported in 
January 1990 based on visual indications and was reported again in October 1990 based on the 
results of laboratory analysis indicating detectable concentrations of total petroleum 
hydrocarbons (TPH) from samples collected during the removal.  Approximately 221 cubic yards 
of potentially impacted soil was excavated and disposed in 1992.  Subsurface investigation 
activities conducted in 2009 included the advancement of five soil borings, and the collection 
and laboratory analysis of soil and groundwater samples for volatile organic compounds 
(VOCs), polynuclear aromatic compounds (PNAs), PCBs, cadmium, chromium, and lead, or 
some combinations thereof.  Analytical results did not identify concentrations of target 
parameters above applicable MDEQ Part 213 RBSLs.  Limited soil and groundwater 
contamination was identified above current MDEQ Part 213 Drinking Water (DW) and 
Groundwater Surface Water Interface (GSI) RBSLs; however, based on the limited, 
discontinuous groundwater at the subject property, these pathways were not applicable, and the 
release was granted closure in 2011.   
 
Based upon review of the previous subsurface investigations to investigate former service 
operations, groundwater contamination is present which exceeds the current Part 201 
Residential and Nonresidential Generic Cleanup Criteria.  Based on these analytical results, the 
subject property would be classified as a “facility,” as defined by Part 201 of P.A. 451 of the 
Michigan Natural Resources Environmental Protection Act (NREPA), as amended.  Additionally, 
concentrations of vinyl chloride in groundwater have been identified above MDEQ Residential 
Groundwater Vapor Intrusion Screening Level, but below the Nonresidential Vapor Intrusion 
Screening Level.   
 
Refer to Section 2.1 for additional details regarding the results of the previous subsurface 
investigations conducted by TEC.   
 

1.4.2 Summary of Current Site Investigations  
 
On June 28, 2013, PM completed a scope of work consisting of the advancement of five soil 
borings (SB-1 through SB-5), installation of four temporary monitoring wells (TMW-1 through 
TMW-3 and TMW-5), installation of one sub-slab soil gas sampling point (SSG-1), and the 
collection of soil, groundwater, and soil gas samples.  The soil and groundwater samples were 
submitted for laboratory analysis of VOCs, PNAs, PCBs, cadmium, chromium and lead, or some 
combination thereof; while the soil gas sample was submitted for VOCs. 
 

1.4.2.1 Subsurface Investigation 
 
Soil borings were advanced to assess the RECs identified in the Phase I ESA completed by PM 
in June 2013.  Specifically, the Phase II ESA activities were conducted in the following areas of 
the subject property:  



Baseline Environmental Assessment of the Vacant Retail Property 
Located at 100 East Maple Road, Troy, Michigan 

PM Project No. 02-6518-2; July 26, 2013 

 

 

PM Environmental, Inc. 

Page 5 

Description of Soil Boring/Temporary Monitoring Well Locations 

Location and 
Total Depth 
(feet bgs) 

Soil 
Sample 
Depth 

(feet bgs) 

TMW 
Screen and 

DTW 
(feet bgs) 

Analysis Objectives Sample Selection 
(justification) 

PSB/TMW-1 
(15.0) 

Not 
Applicable 

2.05-7.05 
(2.2) 

VOCs and 
PNAs 

Assess potential 
contaminant 

migration from 
the former 
northwest 

adjoining gas 
station 

Soil: Due to the absence 
of visual/olfactory evidence 
of contamination, a soil 
sample was not collected  
GW: Sampled 

PSB/TMW-2 
(16.0) 

Not 
Applicable 

1.0-6.0 
(3.0) 

VOCs and 
PNAs 

Assess potential 
contaminant 

migration from 
the former 
northwest 

adjoining gas 
station 

Soil: Due to the PID 
readings ranging from 0.3 
ppm to 1.9 ppm within the 
saturated zone, a soil 
sample was not collected 
GW: Sampled 

PSB/TMW-3 
(10.0) 9.0-10.0 0.90-5.90 

(1.12) 

VOCs, 
PNAs, 
PCBs, 

cadmium, 
chromium, 
and lead 

Assess the 
historical service 
operations and 
hydraulic hoists 

Soil: Due to the absence 
of visual/olfactory evidence 
of contamination, a sample 
was collected at the 
sand/clay interface 
GW: Sampled 

PSB-4 
(15.0) 10.0-11.0 Not 

Applicable 

VOCs, 
PNAs, 
PCBs, 

cadmium, 
chromium, 
and lead 

Assess the 
historical service 

operations, 
hydraulic hoists, 

and 
underground 

vault 

Soil: Due to the absence 
of visual/olfactory evidence 
of contamination, a sample 
was collected at the 
sand/clay interface 
GW: Not sampled 

PSB/TMW-5 
(15.0) 12.0-13.0 0.0-5.0 

(0.90) 

VOCs, 
PNAs, 
PCBs, 

cadmium, 
chromium, 
and lead 

Assess the 
historical service 

operations, 
hydraulic hoists, 

and 
underground 

vault 

Soil: Due to the absence 
of visual/olfactory evidence 
of contamination, a sample 
was collected at the 
sand/clay interface 
GW: Sampled 

GW – Groundwater      TMW – temporary monitoring well 
DTW – Depth to Water     bgs – below ground surface 
PID – Photoionization Detector 
   

1.4.2.2 Soil Gas Investigation 
 
On June 28, 2013, PM installed one temporary sub-slab sampling points (SSG-1) and collected 
one soil gas sample to assess the indoor air inhalation pathway at the subject property.  The 
sample was collected in general accordance with MDEQ Guidance Document for the Vapor 
Intrusion Pathway, dated May 2013. 
 



Baseline Environmental Assessment of the Vacant Retail Property 
Located at 100 East Maple Road, Troy, Michigan 

PM Project No. 02-6518-2; July 26, 2013 

 

 

PM Environmental, Inc. 

Page 6 

Description of Soil Gas Sampling Locations 
 

Location Sample 
Depth Analysis Objectives 

SSG-1 Sub-slab VOCs Assess potential vapor intrusion in the area of MW-4 
 

1.4.2.4 Subsurface Investigations Techniques and QA/QC 
Procedures  

 
The soil borings were advanced to the desired depth using a model 6610DT Geoprobe® drill rig.  
Soil sampling was performed for soil classification, verification of subsurface geologic 
conditions, and for investigating the potential and/or extent of soil and groundwater 
contamination at the subject property.  Soil samples were generally collected on a continuous 
basis using a 5-foot long macro-core sampler.  
 
During drilling operations, the drilling equipment was cleaned to minimize the possibility of cross 
contamination.  These procedures included cleaning equipment with a phosphate free solution 
(i.e., Alconox®) and rinsing with distilled water after each sample collection.  Drilling and 
sampling equipment was also cleaned in this manner prior to initiating field activities. 
 
Soils collected from discrete sample intervals were screened using a photoionization detector 
(PID) to determine if VOCs were present.  Soil from specific depths was placed in plastic bags, 
sealed, and allowed to volatilize. The headspace within each bag was then monitored with the 
PID.  The PID is able to detect trace levels of organic compounds in the air space within the 
plastic bag.  The PID utilizes a 10.2 electron volts (eV) lamp.  Soil samples were collected from 
the soil borings based upon the highest PID reading, visual/olfactory evidence, a change in 
geology, surficial soil, and/or directly above saturated soil. 
 
Soil samples for VOC analysis were preserved with methanol, in accordance with 
Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) method 5035, and then placed in appropriately labeled 
containers with Teflon lined lids and/or sanitized glass jars, placed in an ice packed cooler, and 
transported under chain of custody procedures for laboratory analysis within applicable holding 
times.   
 
Temporary monitoring wells were installed in select soil borings to collect groundwater samples 
for chemical analysis.  A new well assembly was used for each temporary well, consisting of a 
5-foot long, one-inch diameter, 0.010-inch slot, schedule 40, PVC screen and a 1-inch diameter 
PVC casing. After the screen for the well was set to the desired depth, natural sands were 
allowed to collapse around the well screen.  The well was developed using either a new 
disposable 0.9-inch diameter bailer or peristaltic pump equipped with new, chemically inert, 3/8-
inch diameter polyethylene and silicon tubing.  Well development was performed by purging 
until clear, turbid free groundwater was observed coming from the well.   
 
Groundwater samples were placed in appropriately labeled containers, placed in an ice packed 
cooler, and transported under chain of custody procedures for laboratory analysis within 
applicable holding times. 
 
Soil gas sampling activities were conducted in general accordance with the guidelines 
established by the ASTM in the Standard Practice for Vapor Encroachment Screening on 
Property Involved in Real Estate Transactions Designation E 2600-10 (ASTM Standard Practice 



Baseline Environmental Assessment of the Vacant Retail Property 
Located at 100 East Maple Road, Troy, Michigan 

PM Project No. 02-6518-2; July 26, 2013 

 

 

PM Environmental, Inc. 

Page 7 

E 2600-10) and MDEQ May 2013 Guidance For The Vapor Intrusion Pathway.  This included 
purging three gas point/sand pack volumes at low-flow (200 ml/minute) from each soil gas 
monitoring point, followed by the collection of one soil gas sample, using summa canister 
methods, for laboratory analysis of VOCs.  The summa canisters were regulated with a flow rate 
of 200 ml/minute, which was pre-set at the laboratory.  
 
The sub-slab sampling point was installed into the void created by a hammer drill in the 
concrete slab foundation and were confirmed to be secure and sealed.  Additionally, an isolation 
chamber was utilized during soil gas sample collection was placed over each soil gas sample 
location to confirm the system was tight and representative samples were collected.  Helium gas 
(i.e., as a tracer gas) was pumped into each bucket chamber and monitored in the field during 
the collection of each soil gas sample to assess the integrity of the surface seal and piping 
associated with each sample point. 
 
Three soil samples and four groundwater sample were submitted to Merit Laboratories, Inc. in 
East Lansing, Michigan.  One soil gas sample was submitted to Accutest Laboratories in 
Dayton, New Jersey for chemical analysis.  Tables 1 through Table 3 and Figures 3 through 5 
summarize the soil, groundwater, and soil gas analytical results.  Complete laboratory reports 
are presented in Appendix B. 
 
Upon completion of the investigation, the temporary well materials were removed from the soil 
boring and the soil borings were abandoned by placing the soil cuttings back into the borehole, 
filling the void with bentonite chips, hydrating the chips, resurfacing and returning the area to its 
pre-drilling condition. 
 

1.4.3 Geology and Hydrogeology 
 
A review of the 7.5 Minute, Birmingham, Michigan Quadrangle (Figure 1) prepared by the 
United States Geological Survey (USGS), dated 1968 (photo revised 1971), indicates that the 
subject property is approximately 669 feet relative to the National Geodetic Vertical Datum 
(NGVD).  The immediate subject site area appears to be relatively flat with no discernible slope.   
 
The general native soil stratigraphy consisted of up to 12.0 feet of sand followed by clay to 16.0 
feet bgs.  Previous assessment activities indicated up to 7.0 feet of sand followed by clay to at 
least 12.0 feet bgs.  Groundwater was encountered in all soil borings within the sand unit at 
depths ranging from 0.90 to 2.2.  Based on the 2013 assessment activities completed at the 
subject property documenting a saturated thickness ranging from 3.0 to 11.0 feet thick, the 
groundwater would meet the definition of an “aquifer” as defined in MDEQ Peer Review Draft 
Operation Memorandum No. 4 Attachment 10 “Groundwater Not in an Aquifer” dated February 
2007.    
 
The soil boring logs are included in Appendix C, which consist of site specific geology, sample 
depths, and temporary monitoring well details. 
 
2.0 LOCATION OF CONTAMINATED MEDIA ON THE SUBJECT PROPERTY 

 
2.1  Soil and Groundwater Analytical Results 
 

The analytical results for soil and groundwater samples collected by PM were compared with 
the MDEQ cleanup criteria as presented in Attachment 1 to MDEQ Operational Memorandum 



Baseline Environmental Assessment of the Vacant Retail Property 
Located at 100 East Maple Road, Troy, Michigan 

PM Project No. 02-6518-2; July 26, 2013 

 

 

PM Environmental, Inc. 

Page 8 

Number 1 “Part 201 Cleanup Criteria and Part 213 Risk-Based Screening Levels,” September 
28, 2012 using the applicable RBSL.  The analytical results are summarized in Tables 1 and 2 
(including CAS #) and in Figures 3 and 4.  Appendix B contains the laboratory analytical report. 

Summary of Soil and Groundwater Exceedances 

Location and 
Total Depth 
(feet bgs) 

Soil 
Sample 
Depth 

(feet bgs) 

TMW 
Screen 

and DTW 
(feet bgs) 

Analysis Objectives 

Exceedance 
of applicable MDEQ Part 

201 Cleanup Criteria 

Soil GW 

PSB/TMW-1 
(15.0) 

Not 
Applicable 

2.05-7.05 
(2.2) 

VOCs and 
PNAs 

Assess potential 
contaminant 

migration from the 
former northwest 

adjoining gas station 

Not 
Applicable None 

PSB/TMW-2 
(16.0) 

Not 
Applicable 

1.0-6.0 
(3.0) 

VOCs and 
PNAs 

Assess potential 
contaminant 

migration from the 
former northwest 

adjoining gas station 

Not 
Applicable None 

PSB/TMW-3 
(10.0) 9.0-10.0 0.90-5.90 

(1.12) 

VOCs, 
PNAs, 
PCBs, 

cadmium, 
chromium, 
and lead 

Assess the historical 
service operations 

and hydraulic hoists 
None 

Vinyl 
Chloride:  

DW 

PSB-4 
(15.0) 10.0-11.0 Not 

Applicable 

VOCs, 
PNAs, 
PCBs, 

cadmium, 
chromium, 
and lead 

Assess the historical 
service operations 

and hydraulic hoists 
None Not 

Applicable 

PSB/TMW-5 
(15.0) 12.0-13.0 0.0-5.0 

(0.90) 

VOCs, 
PNAs, 
PCBs, 

cadmium, 
chromium, 
and lead 

Assess the historical 
service operations 

and hydraulic hoists 
None None 

 
Soil analytical results from the 2013 site assessment activities indicate that no VOCs, PNAs, or 
PCBs were identified above the laboratory method detection levels (MDLs).   Concentrations of 
cadmium, chromium, and lead were identified above the laboratory MDLs; however, 
concentrations were below the Michigan Statewide Default Background Levels.   
 
Groundwater analytical results from the 2013 site assessment activities indicate that no PNAs, 
PCBs, cadmium, chromium, and lead were identified above the laboratory MDLs.  A 
concentration of the VOC species vinyl chloride was identified at TMW-3 above the Residential 
and Nonresidential Drinking Water Generic Cleanup Criteria.  All other VOCs samples collected 
were non-detect.    
 



Baseline Environmental Assessment of the Vacant Retail Property 
Located at 100 East Maple Road, Troy, Michigan 

PM Project No. 02-6518-2; July 26, 2013 

 

 

PM Environmental, Inc. 

Page 9 

Historical Data Summary 
 
Previous site investigation reports, including analytical results for soil and groundwater samples 
collected at the subject property are included in Appendix C of the June 2013 Phase I ESA 
(Appendix A).   
 
A summary of the most recent soil data obtained for the subject property by TEC during March 
and May 2010 indicates a concentration of cadmium at SB-5 above the Michigan Statewide 
Default Background levels and the Groundwater Surface Water Interface Protection (GSIP) 
Criteria, based on the more conservative MDEQ chromium VI valence comparison.  However, 
because the property is not known to historically been involved in metal plating operations, the 
MDEQ criterion for chromium III valence may be a more reasonable comparison.  The observed 
concentration at SB-5 is below the MDEQ GSIP (6.9 E+9 µg/Kg) criterion for chromium III.  
Figure 3 depicts the soil sample locations along with a summary of the associated TEC soil 
analytical results.   TEC Table 1 “Soil Analytical Data Summary,” includes a summary of soil 
analytical data along with a comparison to the applicable Part 201 cleanup criteria, and is 
included as Table 4 of this BEA. 
 
Groundwater analytical results indicate groundwater concentrations of vinyl chloride, chromium, 
and lead are present above the MDEQ DW and/or GSI cleanup criteria.  However, since no 
significantly elevated chromium and lead concentrations were identified in soils on the site, it is 
likely the elevated chromium and lead results in groundwater is a result of residual silty 
sampling conditions in temporary monitoring wells.  Analytical data collected in May 2010 from 
permanent monitoring wells, which were installed with a filter pack and properly developed, 
showed no significant metal impact.  Therefore, the chromium and lead impact is not 
representative of a metal release at the subject property.  Groundwater impact is defined in all 
directions horizontally, and is vertically defined by the confining clay unit present across the 
subject property.  Figure 4 depicts temporary and permanent monitoring well locations from 
which groundwater samples were collected at the subject property along with a summary of 
TEC’s March and May 2010 groundwater analytical results.   TEC Table 2 “Groundwater 
Analytical Data Summary”, includes a summary of the groundwater analytical data along with a 
comparison to the applicable Part 201 cleanup criteria, and is included as Table 5 of this BEA. 
 

2.2  Soil Gas Analytical Results 
 
The analytical results for the soil gas samples collected by PM on June 28, 2013 were 
compared with the MDEQ May 2013 Guidance for the Vapor Intrusion Pathway Guidance 
Document.   
 
The analytical results are summarized in the table below: 

 
Summary of Soil Gas Exceedances 

 
Location Sample Depth Analysis Objectives Soil Gas 

Exceedance 

SSG-1 Sub-slab VOCs Assess potential vapor 
intrusion in the area of MW-4  None 

  



Baseline Environmental Assessment of the Vacant Retail Property 
Located at 100 East Maple Road, Troy, Michigan 

PM Project No. 02-6518-2; July 26, 2013 

 

 

PM Environmental, Inc. 

Page 10 

The soil gas analytical results from the sample location (SSG-1) that was collected by PM on 
June 28, 2013 are summarized in Table 3 and on Figure 5.  Appendix B contains the laboratory 
report. 
 
Concentrations of various VOCs were identified in the soil gas sample above laboratory MDLs, 
but below the Residential and Nonresidential Screening Levels.   

 
2.3  Subject Property Site Status 

 
Contaminant concentrations identified on the subject property indicate exceedances to the Part 
201 Residential and Nonresidential DW cleanup criteria.  Therefore, the subject property is a 
"facility" in accordance with Part 201 of P.A. 451, as amended, and the rules promulgated 
thereunder.   
 
3.0 PROPERTY INFORMATION 
 

3.1  Legal Description of Subject Property 
 
Assessing records bearing a legal description of the subject property are included in Appendix 
D. 
 

3.2 Map of Subject Property 
 
A map of the subject property which depicts the property/parcel boundaries is included as 
Figure 2. 
 

3.3 Subject Location and Analytical Summary Maps 
 
Figure 2 provides a scaled map of the subject property with site structures.   
 
Figure 3 provides a summary of the March 2010 and June 2013 soil analytical data collected by 
TEC and PM.    
 
Figure 4 provides a summary of the March and May 2010 and June 2013 groundwater 
analytical data collected by TEC and PM.    
 
Figure 5 provides a summary of the June 2013 soil gas analytical data collected by PM.   
 
The previous site investigation reports identified in Section 1.4.1 is included in Appendix C of 
PM’s June 2013 Phase I ESA (Appendix A). 
 

3.4 Subject Property Location Map 
 
Figure 1 provides a scaled area map depicting the subject property location in relation to the 
surrounding area. 

 
3.5 Subject Property Address 

 
As indicated in Section 1.0, the subject property (Parcel ID #88-20-34-101-023) is located at 
100 East Maple, Troy, Oakland County, Michigan (Figure 1).   



Baseline Environmental Assessment of the Vacant Retail Property 
Located at 100 East Maple Road, Troy, Michigan 

PM Project No. 02-6518-2; July 26, 2013 

 

 

PM Environmental, Inc. 

Page 11 

 
3.6 Subject Spatial Data 

 
As depicted in Figure 1, the subject property is located in the northwest quarter of the northwest 
quarter of Section 34 in Township two North (T2N), Range 11 East (R11E), Troy, Oakland 
County, Michigan.   
 
According to the MDEQ Groundwater Mapping Project Website, the subject property is located 
at latitude 42.547 north and a longitude of -83.1453 west. 
 
4.0 FACILITY STATUS OF SUBJECT PROPERTY 

As indicated in Section 2.0, based upon documented exceedances of the Part 201 Residential 
and Nonresidential DW cleanup criteria; the subject property is a facility under Part 201 of P.A. 
451, and the rules promulgated thereunder.   
 

4.1 Summary Data Tables 

The analytical results for the soil and groundwater samples collected by PM were compared 
with the MDEQ GCC as presented in Attachment 1 to MDEQ Operational Memorandum 
Number 1 “Part 201 Cleanup Criteria and Part 213 Risk-Based Screening Levels,” September 
28, 2012, using the applicable cleanup criteria.  The analytical results are summarized in Tables 
1 and 2.  CAS numbers associated with each target analyte identified above the laboratory 
MDLs and maximum contaminant concentrations are also presented in Tables 1 and 2.   
 
The soil gas analycial results, including CAS numbers associated with each target analyte, are 
summarized in Table 3 along with a comparison to the MDEQ May 2013 Guidance for the Vapor 
Intrusion Pathway Guidance Document.   
 
The analytical results for the most recent soil and groundwater samples collected from the 
subject property by TEC are presented in Tables 4 and 5.  Those tables include the following: 
 
Table 4: TEC Table 1 Soil Analytical Data Summary  
Table 5: TEC Table 2 Groundwater Analytical Data Summary  

 
Previous site investigation reports, including summary data tables, are included in Appendix A.  
 

4.2 Laboratory Reports and Chain of Custody Documentation 

Soil, groundwater, and soil gas samples collected by PM were submitted under chain of custody 
procedures and within applicable holding times.  Refer to Appendix B for the laboratory 
analytical report and associated chain of custody documentation. 
 
Laboratory chain of custody documentation for TEC is included in the previous site investigation 
reports included in Appendix C of PM’s June 2013 Phase I ESA (Appendix A).  
 
5.0 IDENTIFICATION OF BEA AUTHOR 

This BEA was conducted on July 26, 2013, by Ms. Christie L. Santiago, Senior Project Engineer 
and Mr. Michael T. Kulka, P.E., Principal, PM Environmental, Inc., which is prior to or within 45 



Baseline Environmental Assessment of the Vacant Retail Property 
Located at 100 East Maple Road, Troy, Michigan 

PM Project No. 02-6518-2; July 26, 2013 

 

 

PM Environmental, Inc. 

Page 12 

days of becoming the property owner or operator.  Qualification statements are provided as 
Appendix E.  
 
I declare that, to the best of my professional knowledge and belief, I meet the definition of 
Environmental Professional as defined in §312.10 of 40 CFR 312 and I have the specific 
qualifications based on education, training, and experience to assess a property of the nature, 
history, and setting of the subject property.  I have developed and performed the all appropriate 
inquires in conformance with the standards and practices set forth in 40 CFR Part 312. 

   
Christie Santiago  Michael T. Kulka, P.E. 
Senior Project Engineer     Principal 
 
6.0 AAI REPORT OR ASTM PHASE I ESA 

As indicated in Section 1.3, PM performed a Phase I ESA of the subject property, June 25, 
2013, in conformance with the scope and limitations of ASTM Practice E 1527-05 for the subject 
property (Parcel ID: 88-20-34-101-023) located at 100 East Maple, Troy, Michigan 48083.  The 
scope of the Phase I ESA included consideration of hazardous substances as defined in 
Section 20202(1)(x) of P.A 451 of 1994, as amended, and constituted the performance of an All 
Appropriate Inquiry in conformance with the standards and practices set forth in 40 CFR Part 
312. 
 
A copy of the June 2013 Phase I ESA is included in Appendix A. 
 
7.0 REFERENCES 

 MDEQ Operational Memorandum No. 1 “Part 201 Cleanup Criteria and Part 213 Risk-based 
Screening Levels,” Revised March 25, 2011 and in accordance with Section 20120a(1); 

 MDEQ Operational Memorandum No. 4 “Site Characterization and Remediation Verification 
– Attachment 10, Peer Review Draft Groundwater Not in an Aquifer,” February 2007; 

 MDEQ Operational Memorandum No. 2 “Sampling and Analysis,” October 22, 2004, 
Revised July 5, 2007; 

 MDEQ Baseline Environmental Assessment Submittal Form (EQP 4025), dated March  
2011; 

 Modified Phase I Environmental Site Assessment (ESA), October 6, 2009, SME; 
 Phase II ESA, July 14, 2010, TEC; 
 Tier 1 LUST Closure Report, January 7, 2011, Materials Testing Consultants, Inc.; and 
 Phase I ESA, June 25, 2013, PM.         
 



Figures 













Tables 



TABLE 1 (1 OF 1)
SUMMARY OF SOIL ANALYTICAL RESULTS

VOLATILE ORGANIC COMPOUNDS, POLYNUCEAR AROMATIC COMPOUNDS, POLYCHLORINATED BIPHENYLS and METALS
100 EAST MAPLE, TROY, MICHIGAN

PM PROJECT # 02-6518-2

Le
ad

Total1

Various Various 1336363 7440439 16065831 7439921

Sample Date Sample Depth (bgs) VOCs PNAs PCBs
06/28/2013 9.0-10.0 ND ND <330 210 7,730 9,020

06/28/2013 10.0-11.0 ND ND <330 <200 5,410 6,520

06/28/2013 12.0-13.0 ND ND <330 330 7,140 6,440

NA NA NA 1,200 18,000 21,000

Various Various NLL 6,000 30,000 700,000

Various Various NLL 7,730 {G,X} 3300 (VI) 
6.9E+9 (III) 8.3E+6 {G,X}

Various Various NA 3,000 {G,X} 3.5E+9 {G,X} 2.5E+6 {G,X}

Various Various NLL 2.3E+08 1.4E+08 ID

Various Various 3.0E+06 NLV NLV NLV

Various Various 240,000 NLV NLV NLV

Various Various 7.9E+06 NLV NLV NLV

Various Various 7.9E+06 NLV NLV NLV

Various Various 5.2E+06 1.70E+06 260,000 NA

Various Various {T} 550,000 2.50E+06 400,000

Various Various NLL 6,000 30,000 700,000

Various Various 1.6E+07 NLV NLV NLV

Various Various 810,000 NLV NLV NLV

Various Various 2.8E+07 NLV NLV NLV

Various Various 2.8E+07 NLV NLV NLV

Various Various 6.5E+06 2.2E+06 240,000 NA

Various Various {T} 2.1E+06 9.2E+06 900,000 (DD)

Various Various NA NA NA NA

{G}  Metal GSIP Criteria for Surface Water Not Protected for Drinking Water Use based on 417.5 mg/L CaCO3 Hardness: 
        Station ID 630003, River Rouge AT Wattles Road Bridge; City of Troy, MI.

{T} Refer to the Toxic Substance Control Act (TSCA), 40 CFR 761, Subparts D and G, as amended, to determine the applicability
of TSCA cleanup standards.  Alternatives to compliance with the standards listed below are possible under Subpart D.  
New Releases may be subject to the standards identified in Subpart G.  Use Part 201 soil direct contact criteria in the table below 
where TSCA standards are not applicable.

LAND USE CATEGORY TSCA, Subpart D Part 201
Residential 4,000 µg/Kg
Nonresidential 16,000 µg/Kg

  Applicable Criteria Exceeded 
BOLD   Value Exceeds Applicable Criteria

bgs   Below Grade Surface (feet)
1   Maximum of analyzed or calculated total lead value.

Sample ID
PSB-3

Volatile Organic Compounds, Polynuclear Aromatic Compmounds, 
Polychlorinated Biphenyls (PCBs)

&
Metals (Cadmium, Chromium, & Lead)

(µg/Kg) Po
ly

ch
lo

rin
at

ed
Bi

ph
en

yl
s

C
ad

m
iu

m

C
hr

om
iu

m

Ambient Air Particulate Soil Inhalation (Nonres PSI)

Ambient Air Infinite Source Volatile Soil Inhalation (Res VSI)

Direct Contact (Res DC)

Residential (µg/Kg)

Chemical Abstract Service Number (CAS#)

PSB-4

1,000 µg/Kg, or
10,000 µg/Kg if 

Soil Saturation Concentration Screening Levels (Csat)

Soil Volatilization to Indoor Air Inhalation (Nonres SVII)
Ambient Air Infinite Source Volatile Soil Inhalation (Nonres VSI)
Ambient Air Finite VSI for 5 Meter Source Thickness
Ambient Air Finite VSI for 2 Meter Source Thickness

Screening Levels (µg/Kg)

Direct Contact (Nonres DC)

Drinking Water Protection (Nonres DWP)

Operational Memorandum No. 1: Part 201 Cleanup Criteria and Part 213 Risk-based Screening Levels (RBSLs), 
Attachment 1: Soil Tables 2 and 3 Residential and Nonresidential Part 201 Generic Cleanup Criteria and Screening Levels; Part 213 Tier 1 RBSLs, 

September 28, 2012

Nonresidential (µg/Kg)

Ambient Air Finite VSI for 5 Meter Source Thickness
Ambient Air Finite VSI for 2 Meter Source Thickness
Ambient Air Particulate Soil Inhalation (Res PSI)

Po
ly

nu
cl

ea
r 

Ar
om

at
ic

 
C

om
po

un
ds

Vo
la

til
e 

O
rg

an
ic

 
C

om
po

un
ds

PSB-5

Soil Volatilization to Indoor Air Inhalation (Res SVII)

Metals

GSIP Human Drinking Water

Statewide Default Background Levels

Drinking Water Protection (Res DWP)

Groundwater Surface Water Interface Protection (GSIP)

Groundwater Contact Protection (GCP)



TABLE 2 (1 OF 1)
SUMMARY OF GROUNDWATER ANALYTICAL RESULTS

VOLATILE ORGANIC COMPOUNDS, POLYNUCLEAR AROMATIC COMPOUNDS, POLYCHLORINATED BIPHENYLS and METALS
100 EAST MAPLE, TROY, MICHIGAN

PM PROJECT # 02-6518-2

Vi
ny

l c
hl

or
id

e 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
 

O
th

er
 V

O
C

s

Po
ly

nu
cl

ea
r 

Ar
om

at
ic

 
C

om
po

un
ds

Po
ly

ch
lo

rin
at

ed
Bi

ph
en

yl
s

C
ad

m
iu

m

C
hr

om
iu

m

Le
ad

75014 Various Various 1336363 7440439 16065831 7439921

Sample ID Sample Date Screen Depth (bgs) Depth to Groundwater 
(bgs) PNAs PCBs

TMW-1 06/28/2013 2.05-7.05 2.2 <1 ND ND NA NA NA NA

TMW-2 06/28/2013 1.0-6.0 3.0 <1 ND ND NA NA NA NA

TMW-3 06/28/2013 0.90-5.90 1.12 3 ND ND <0.1 <0.5 <5 <3

TMW-5 06/28/2013 0.0-5.0 0.90 <1 ND ND <0.1 <0.5 <5 <3

2.0 {A} Various Various 0.5 {A} 5.0 {A} 100 {A} 4.0 {L}

NL Various Various NL NL NL NL

2.0 {A} Various Various 0.5 {A} 5.0 {A} 100 {A} 4.0 {L}

NL Various Various NL NL NL NL

13 {X} Various Various 0.2 {M}; 2.6E-5 6.4 {G,X} 11 (VI)  240 (III) 47 {G,X}

17,000 Various Various ID {G} {G} {G}

NA Various Various NA 2.5 {G,X} 120 {G,X} 14 {G,X}

1,100 Various Various 45 {S} NLV NLV NLV

13,000 Various Various 45 {S} NLV NLV NLV

1,000 Various Various 3.3 {AA} 1.90E+05 4.60E+05 ID

4.8 Various Various 4.5 NLV NLV NLV

19 Various Various 18 NLV NLV NLV

2.76E+06 Various Various 44.7 NA NA NA

33,000 Various Various ID ID ID ID

ID Various Various ID ID ID ID

{G}  Metal GSIP Criteria for Surface Water Not Protected for Drinking Water Use based on 417.5 mg/L CaCO3 Hardness: 

        Station ID 630003, River Rouge AT Wattles Road Bridge; City of Troy, MI.

  Applicable Criteria/RBSL Exceeded 

BOLD   Value Exceeds Applicable Criteria

bgs   Below Grade Surface (feet)

ND   Not detected at levels above the laboratory Method Detection Limit (MDL) or Minimum Quantitative Level (MQL)
1 Rule 323.1057 of Part 4 Water Quality Standards
2   Tier 1 GVII Criteria based on 3 meter (or greater) groundwater depth
3   (Program Redesign 2009 Draft) Screening Levels based on depth to groundwater less than 3 meters and not in contact with building foundation

Volatile Organic Compounds, Polynuclear Aromatic Compounds, Polychlorinated Biphenyls 
(PCBs), & Metals (Cadmium, Chromium, & Lead)

(µg/L)

Chemical Abstract Service Number (CAS#)

Residential Drinking Water (Res DW)
Residential Health Based Drinking Water Values

Residential/Nonresidential (µg/L)

Nonresidential Drinking Water (Nonres DW)

Residential Groundwater Volatilization 
to Indoor Air Inhalation (Res GVII) ²

Groundwater Surface Water Interface (GSI) 

GSI Final Acute Values (FAV) 1

Metals

Operational Memorandum No. 1: Part 201 Cleanup Criteria and Part 213 Risk-based Screening Levels (RBSLs), 
Attachment 1: Table 1. Groundwater: Residential and Nonresidential Part 201 Generic Cleanup Criteria and Screening Levels; Part 213 Tier 1 RBSLs, September 28, 2012

Nonresidential Health Based Drinking Water Values

VOCs

Groundwater Contact (GC) 

GSI Human Drinking Water 

Water Solubility

Screening Levels (µg/L)

Acute Inhalation Screening Level
Flammability and Explosivity Screening Level

Nonresidential Groundwater Vapor Intrusion Screening Levels ³
Residential Groundwater Vapor Intrusion Screening Levels ³

Nonresidential Groundwater Volatilization
to Indoor Air Inhalation (Nonres GVII) ²



TABLE 3 (1 OF 1)
SUMMARY OF SOIL VAPOR ANALYTICAL RESULTS

VOLATILE ORGANIC COMPOUNDS  
100 EAST MAPLE, TROY, MICHIGAN

PM PROJECT # 02-6518-2

Ac
et

on
e

Be
nz

en
e

C
ar

bo
n 

di
su

lfi
de

C
hl

or
of

or
m

C
yc

lo
he

xa
ne

D
ic

hl
or

od
ifl

uo
ro

m
et

ha
ne

Et
ha

no
l

Et
hy

lb
en

ze
ne

4-
Et

hy
lto

lu
en

e

H
ep

ta
ne

H
ex

an
e

2-
H

ex
an

on
e

Is
op

ro
py

l A
lc

oh
ol

M
et

hy
le

ne
 c

hl
or

id
e

M
et

hy
l e

th
yl

 k
et

on
e

M
et

hy
l I

so
bu

ty
l K

et
on

e

M
et

hy
l T

er
t B

ut
yl

 E
th

er

1,
2,

4-
Tr

im
et

hy
lb

en
ze

ne

1,
3,

5-
Tr

im
et

hy
lb

en
ze

ne

2,
2,

4-
Tr

im
et

hy
lp

en
ta

ne

Te
rti

ar
y 

Bu
ty

l A
lc

oh
ol

Te
tra

ch
lo

ro
et

hy
le

ne

Te
tra

hy
dr

of
ur

an

To
lu

en
e

Tr
ic

hl
or

oe
th

yl
en

e

Tr
ic

hl
or

of
lu

or
om

et
ha

ne

m
,p

-X
yl

en
e

o-
Xy

le
ne

Xy
le

ne
s 

(to
ta

l)

O
th

er
 V

O
C

s

VOCsppbv06102013 67641 71432 75150 67663 110827 75718 64175 100414 622968 142825 110543 591786 67630 75092 78933 108101 1634044 95636 108678 540841 75650 127184 109999 108883 79016 75694 1330207 95476 1330207 Various

Sample ID Sample Date Sample Duration (min) Flow Rate (ml/min)

SSG-1 6/28/2013 5.0 520 7.1 9.2 0.62 J 4.3 0.52 J 24.3 3.9 1.1 9.6 23.8 2.1 2.7 1.5 19.4 22.9 0.17 J 4.7 1.4 0.75 J 3.5 4 1.6 26.4 0.81 0.77 J 11 4.3 15.3 ND

82,000 32 7,400 73 58,000 3.30E+05 NDC 640 NDC 28,000 6,600 250 NDC 880 56,000 24,000 27,000 1,500 1,500 25,000 NDC 170 200 44,000 12 3.30E+05 760 760 760 Various

8.20E+05 320 74,000 730 5.80E+05 3.30E+06 NDC 6,400 NDC 2.80E+05 66,000 2,500 NDC 8,800 5.60E+05 2.40E+05 2.70E+05 15,000 15,000 2.50E+05 NDC 1,700 2,000 4.40E+05 120 3.30E+06 7,600 7,600 7,600 Various

1.40E+06 650 1.20E+05 1,500 9.70E+05 5.60E+06 NDC 13,000 NDC 4.70E+05 1.10E+05 4,100 NDC 18,000 9.40E+05 4.10E+05 4.60E+05 25,000 25,000 4.20E+05 NDC 3,300 3,400 7.40E+05 210 5.60E+06 13,000 13,000 13,000 Various

1.40E+07 6,500 1.20E+06 15,000 9.70E+06 5.60E+07 NDC 1.30E+05 NDC 4.70E+06 1.10E+06 41,000 NDC 1.80E+05 9.40E+06 4.10E+06 4.60E+06 2.50E+05 2.50E+05 4.20E+06 NDC 33,000 34,000 7.40E+06 2100 5.60E+07 1.30E+05 1.30E+05 1.30E+05 Various

25,000 390 1,900 29 NDC NDC NDC NDC NDC NDC NDC NDC NDC 6,400 4,200 NDC 1,900 NDC NDC NDC NDC 2,800 NDC 9,300 74,000 NDC 4,800 4,800 4,800 Various

8.28E+05 13,000 63,000 970 NDC NDC NDC NDC NDC NDC NDC NDC NDC 2.15E+05 1.40E+05 NDC 63,000 NDC NDC NDC NDC 93,000 NDC 3.10E+05 2.48E+06 NDC 1.60E+05 1.60E+05 1.60E+05 Various

Applicable Criteria/RBSL Exceeded 

BOLD Value Exceeds Applicable Criteria

bgs Below Ground Surface (feet)

ND Not detected at levels above the laboratory Method Detection Limit (MDL) or Minimum Quantitative Level (MQL)

NLV A hazardous substance is "Not Likely to Volatilize". This designation is given to any hazardous substance with a Henry’s Law Constant of less than 1.0 x 10-5 atm-m3/mol.

ID "Insufficient Data" was available to the MDEQ in order to develop a criterion at the date of publication.

NDC "No Defined Criteria" by the Michigan Department of Environmental Quality (MDEQ)
1 The IAC and SGC presented in this table are health-based values. The applicable IAC and SGC are based on the higher of the health-based value and the appropriate analytical reporting limit.

IRASL Immediate Response Acute Vapor Intrusion Screening Levels 

RL Reporting Limit

E Indicates value exceeds calibration range

J Indicates estimated value

B Indicates analyte found in associated method blank

N Indicates presumptive evidence of a compound

IRASL Indoor Air (AIAvi)
IRASL Soil Gas (ASGvi)

DRAFT Acute Vapor Intrusion Screening Levels for Indoor Air and Soil Gas; Residential and Nonresidential Land Use, February 2013 (ppbv)

Vapor Intrusion Shallow Sub-Slab Soil Gas Screening Levels (≤ 1.5m bgs) (SGVI-SS)

Vapor Intrusion Deep Soil Gas Screening Levels (SGVI)

Vapor Intrusion Shallow Sub-Slab Soil Gas Screening Levels (≤ 1.5m bgs) (SGVI-SS)

Vapor Intrusion Deep Soil Gas Screening Levels (SGVI)

VOLATILE ORGANIC COMPOUNDS

(ppbv)

Nonresidential Screening Levels (ppbv)

VOCs

MDEQ Guidance Document For The Vapor Intrusion Pathway, Policy and Procedure Number: 09-017, Appendix D Vapor Intrusion Screening Values, May 2013

Residential Screening Levels (ppbv)

Chemical Abstract Service Number (CAS#)                                 



Testing Engineers & Consultants, Inc. Table 1: Soil Analytical Data Summary TEC Project 50484-1

Phase II ESA

100 East Maple Road

Troy, Michigan

Page 1 of 2

Indoor Air

D
ri

n
k

in
g

 W
a

te
r 

P
ro

te
c

ti
o

n
 

C
ri

te
ri

a
 &

 R
B

S
L

s

G
ro

u
n

d
w

a
te

r 

S
u

rf
a

c
e

 W
a

te
r 

In
te

rf
a

c
e

 P
ro

te
c

ti
o

n
 

C
ri

te
ri

a
 &

 R
B

S
L

s

G
ro

u
n

d
w

a
te

r 

C
o

n
ta

c
t 

P
ro

te
c

ti
o

n
 

C
ri

te
ri

a
 &

 R
B

S
L

s

S
o

il
 V

o
la

ti
li

z
a

ti
o

n
 

to
 I

n
d

o
o

r 
A

ir
 

In
h

a
la

ti
o

n
 C

ri
te

ri
a

 

&
 R

B
S

L
s

In
fi

n
it

e
 S

o
u

rc
e

 

V
o

la
ti

le
 S

o
il

 

In
h

a
la

ti
o

n
 C

ri
te

ri
a

 

(V
S

IC
) 

&
 R

B
S

L
s

P
a

rt
ic

u
la

te
 S

o
il

 

In
h

a
la

ti
o

n
 

C
ri

te
ri

a
 &

 R
B

S
L

s

D
ir

e
c

t 
C

o
n

ta
c

t 

C
ri

te
ri

a
 &

 R
B

S
L

s

S
o

il
 S

a
tu

ra
ti

o
n

 

C
o

n
c

e
n

tr
a

ti
o

n
 

S
c

re
e

n
in

g
 L

e
v

e
ls

SB-1-1

1' bgs

0 ppm

March 23, 2010

SB-3-2.5

2.5' bgs

0 ppm

March 23, 2010

SB-5-1.5

1.5' bgs

0 ppm

March 23, 2010

SB-7-0.5

0.5' bgs

0 ppm

March 23, 2010

SB-9-1

1' bgs

3.5 ppm

March 23, 2010

SB-9-1D

1' bgs

3.5 ppm

March 23, 2010

SB-10-1.5

1.5' bgs

0.5 ppm

March 23, 2010

SB-12-1

1' bgs

0 ppm

March 23, 2010

Total Metals

Cadmium (B) 7440439 1,200 6,000 (G, X) 2.3E+8 NLV NLV 1.7E+6 5.5E+5 NA --- --- ND ND ND --- ND ND

Chromium VI (B,H) 18540299
18,000

(total)
30,000 3,300 1.4E+8 NLV NLV 2.6E+5 2.5E+6 NA --- --- 18,900 11,200 9,900 --- 11,000 8,800

Lead (B) 7439921 21,000 7.0E+5 (G, X) ID NLV NLV 1.0E+8 4.0E+5 NA --- --- 9,100 4,800 14,600 --- 6,100 4,500

Polychlorinated Biphenyls 

(PCBs)

Aroclor-1016 --- --- ND ND ND --- ND ND

Aroclor-1221 --- --- ND ND ND --- ND ND

Aroclor-1232 --- --- ND ND ND --- ND ND

Aroclor-1242 --- --- ND ND ND --- ND ND

Aroclor-1248 --- --- ND ND ND --- ND ND

Aroclor-1254 --- --- ND ND ND --- ND ND

Aroclor-1260 --- --- ND ND ND --- ND ND

Total Polychlorinated Biphenyls 

(J, T)
1336363 NA NLL NLL NLL 3.0E+6 2.4E+5 5.2E+6 (T) NA --- --- ND ND ND --- ND ND

Polynuclear Aromatics  (PNAs)

Anthracene 120127 NA 41,000 ID 41,000 1.0E+9 (D) 1.4E+9 6.7E+10 2.3E+8 NA ND ND ND ND --- --- ND ND

Acenaphthene 83329 NA 3.0E+5 4,400 9.7E+5 1.9E+8 8.1E+7 1.4E+10 4.1E+7 NA ND ND ND ND --- --- ND ND

Acenaphthylene 208968 NA 5,900 ID 4.4E+5 1.6E+6 2.2E+6 2.3E+9 1.6E+6 NA ND ND ND ND --- --- ND ND

Benzo(a)anthracene (Q) 56553 NA NLL NLL NLL NLV NLV ID 20,000 NA ND ND ND ND --- --- ND ND

Benzo(a)pyrene 50328 NA NLL NLL NLL NLV NLV 1.5E+6 2,000 NA ND ND ND ND --- --- ND ND

Benzo(b)fluoranthene 205992 NA NLL NLL NLL ID ID ID 20,000 NA ND ND ND ND --- --- ND ND

Benzo(g,h,i)perylene 191242 NA NLL NLL NLL NLV NLV 8.0E+8 2.5E+6 NA ND ND ND ND --- --- ND ND

Benzo(k)fluoranthene 207089 NA NLL NLL NLL NLV NLV ID 2.0E+5 NA ND 19.5 ND ND --- --- ND ND

Chrysene (Q) 218019 NA NLL NLL NLL ID ID ID 2.0E+6 NA ND 28.4 ND ND --- --- ND ND

Dibenzo(a,h)anthracene (Q) 53703 NA NLL NLL NLL NLV NLV ID 2,000 NA ND ND ND ND --- --- ND ND

Fluoranthene 206440 NA 7.3E+5 5,500 7.3E+5 1.0E+9 (D) 7.4E+8 9.3E+9 4.6E+7 NA ND 43.5 ND ND --- --- ND ND

Fluorene 86737 NA 3.9E+5 5,300 8.9E+5 5.8E+8 1.3E+8 9.3E+9 2.7E+7 NA ND ND ND ND --- --- ND ND

Indeno(1,2,3-cd)pyrene 193395 NA NLL NLL NLL NLV NLV ID 20,000 NA ND ND ND ND --- --- ND ND

Naphthalene 91203 NA 35,000 870 2.1E+6 2.5E+5 3.0E+5 2.0E+8 1.6E+7 NA ND ND ND ND --- --- ND ND

2-Methylnaphthalene 91576 NA 57,000 ID 5.5E+6 ID ID ID 8.1E+6 NA ND ND ND ND --- --- ND ND

Phenanthrene 85018 NA 56,000 5,300 1.1E+6 2.8E+6 1.6E+5 6.7E+6 1.6E+6 NA ND 21.4 ND ND --- --- ND ND

Pyrene 129000 NA 4.8E+5 ID 4.8E+5 1.0E+9 (D) 6.5E+8 6.7E+9 2.9E+7 NA ND 30.7 ND ND --- --- ND ND

Volatile Organic Compounds 

(VOCs)

All VOCs --- --- ND ND ND ND ND ND

Semi-Volatile Organic 

Compounds (SVOCs)

All SVOCs --- --- --- --- ND --- --- ---Varies by Compound

Parameter

No criteria available

No criteria available

No criteria available

Michigan DNRE Generic Residential Cleanup Criteria (GRCC) units = µµµµg/kg

C
h

e
m

ic
a

l 
A

b
s

tr
a

c
t 

S
e

rv
ic

e
 N

u
m

b
e

r Groundwater Protection Ambient Air (Y) Direct Contact

S
ta

te
w

id
e

 D
e

fa
u

lt
 

B
a

c
k

g
ro

u
n

d
 L

e
v

e
ls

Sample ID, Depth, PID Reading, Collection Date, and Results units = µµµµg/kg

No criteria available

No criteria available

No criteria available

No criteria available

Varies by Compound



Testing Engineers & Consultants, Inc. Table 1: Soil Analytical Data Summary TEC Project 50484-1

Phase II ESA

100 East Maple Road

Troy, Michigan

Page 2 of 2

Footnotes:

B - Background, as defined in R 299.5701(b), may be substituted if higher than the calculated cleanup criterion. 

Background levels may be less than criteria for some inorganic compounds.

D - Calculated criterion exceeds 100 percent, hence it is reduced to 100 percent or 1.0E+9 parts per billion (ppb). 

G - Groundwater surface water interface (GSI) criterion depends on the pH or water hardness, or both, of the receiving surface water.

H - Valence-specific chromium data (Cr III and CR IV) shall be compared to valence specific cleanup criteria

J - Hazardous substance may be present is everal isomer forms. Isomer-specific concentrations shall be added together for comparison to criteria

Q - Criteria for carcinogenic polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons were developed using relative potential potencies to benzo(a)pyrene.

T - Refer to the Toxic Substances Control Act (TSCA) for cleanup standards

X - The GSI criterion shown in the generic cleanup criteria tables is not protective for surface water that is used as a drinking water source.

Y - Source size modifiers shown in the following table shall be used to determine soil inhalation criteria for ambient air when the 

    source size is not one-half acre.

bgs - Below ground surface

bold - Values presented in bold represent exceedence of laboratory reported detection limit.

ID - Insufficient data to develop criterion. 

NA - A criterion or value is not available or, in the case of background and CAS numbers, not applicable.

ND - Analyte was not detected at or above method detection limits.

NLL - Hazardous substance is not likely to leach under most soil conditions.

NLV - Hazardous substance is not likely to volatilize under most conditions.

ppm - Parts per million

µg/kg - Micrograms per kilogram (ppb).

--- Sample not analyzed for compound.
- Numbers in yellow-shaded boxes represent exceedence of relevant criteria.
- Numbers in green-shaded boxes represent relevant criteria exceeded.



Testing Engineers & Consultants, Inc. Table 2: Groundwater Analytical Data Summary TEC Project 50484-1

Phase II ESA

100 East Maple Road

Troy, Michigan

Page 1 of 3

R
e
s
id

e
n

ti
a
l 

&
 C

o
m

m
e
rc

ia
l 

I 

D
ri

n
k
in

g
 W

a
te

r

C
ri

te
ri

a
 &

 R
B

S
L

s

In
d

u
s
tr

ia
l 

&
 C

o
m

m
e
rc

ia
l 

II
, 

II
I 

&
 I

V
 D

ri
n

k
in

g
 W

a
te

r 

C
ri

te
ri

a
 &

 R
B

S
L

s

G
ro

u
n

d
w

a
te

r 
S

u
rf

a
c
e
 W

a
te

r

 I
n

te
rf

a
c
e
 C

ri
te

ri
a
 &

 R
B

S
L

s

R
e
s
id

e
n

ti
a
l 

&
 C

o
m

m
e
rc

ia
l 

I 

G
ro

u
n

d
w

a
te

r 
V

o
la

ti
li

z
a
ti

o
n

to
 I

n
d

o
o

r 
A

ir
 I

n
h

a
la

ti
o

n

C
ri

te
ri

a
 &

 R
B

S
L

s

In
d

u
s
tr

ia
l 

&
 C

o
m

m
e
rc

ia
l 

II
, 

II
I 

&
 I

V
 G

ro
u

n
d

w
a
te

r 

V
o

la
ti

li
z
a
ti

o
n

 

to
 I

n
d

o
o

r 
A

ir
 I

n
h

a
la

ti
o

n
 

C
ri

te
ri

a
 &

 R
B

S
L

s

G
ro

u
n

d
w

a
te

r 
C

o
n

ta
c
t 

C
ri

te
ri

a
 &

 R
B

S
L

s

W
a
te

r 
S

o
lu

b
il

it
y

F
la

m
m

a
b

il
it

y
 a

n
d

 E
x
p

lo
s
iv

it
y
 

S
c
re

e
n

in
g

 L
e
v
e
l

A
c
u

te
 I

n
h

a
la

ti
o

n

S
c
re

e
n

in
g

 L
e
v
e
l

SB-1

2'-7' bgs

March 23, 2010

SB-2

3'-8' bgs

March 23, 2010

SB-3

3'-8' bgs

March 23, 2010

SB-3D

3'-8' bgs

March 23, 2010

SB-4

3'-8' bgs

March 23, 2010

SB-6

3'-8' bgs

March 23, 2010

SB-8

3'-8' bgs

March 23, 2010

SB-11

3'-8' bgs

March 23, 2010

FB-1

Not Applicable

March 23, 2010

TB-1

Not Applicable

March 23, 2010

Total Metals

Cadmium (B) 7440439 5.0 (A) 5.0 (A) (G,X) NLV NLV 1.9E+5 NA ID ID ND ND ND --- ND ND ND ND --- ---

Chromium VI (B,H) 18540299 100 (A) 100 (A) 11 NLV NLV 4.6E+5 NA ID ID 542 11.2 12.3 --- 214 8.4 32.5 ND --- ---

Lead (B) 7439921 4.0 (L) 4.0 (L) (G,X) NLV NLV ID NA ID ID 49.5 10.3 10.6 --- 124 13.4 31.6 ND --- ---

Polychlorinated Biphenyls (PCBs)

Aroclor-1016 ND ND --- --- --- ND ND ND --- ---

Aroclor-1221 ND ND --- --- --- ND ND ND --- ---

Aroclor-1232 ND ND --- --- --- ND ND ND --- ---

Aroclor-1242 ND ND --- --- --- ND ND ND --- ---

Aroclor-1248 ND ND --- --- --- ND ND ND --- ---

Aroclor-1254 ND ND --- --- --- ND ND ND --- ---

Aroclor-1260 ND ND --- --- --- ND ND ND --- ---

Total Polychlorinated Biphenyls (J, T) 1336363 0.5 (A) 0.5 (A)
0.2 (M); 2.6E-

5
45 (S) 45 (S) 3.3 (AA) 44.7 ID ID ND ND --- --- --- ND ND ND --- ---

Polynuclear Aromatics  (PNAs)

Anthracene 120127 43 (S) 43 (S) ID 43 (S) 43 (S) 43 (S) 43.4 ID ID ND 0.047 ND --- ND ND --- ND --- ---

Acenaphthene 83329 1,300 3,800 19 4,200 (S) 4,200 (S) 4,200 (S) 4240 ID ID ND 0.052 ND --- ND ND --- ND --- ---

Acenaphthylene 208968 52 150 ID 3,900 (S) 3,900 (S) 3,900 (S) 3930 ID ID ND ND ND --- ND ND --- ND --- ---

Benzo(a)anthracene (Q) 56553 2.1 8.5 ID NLV NLV 9.4 (S,AA) 9.4 ID ID 0.39 0.10 ND --- 0.14 ND --- ND --- ---

Benzo(a)pyrene 50328 5.0 (A) 5.0 (A) ID NLV NLV
1.0 (M,AA); 

0.64
1.62 ID ID

0.58 0.088 ND --- 0.20 ND --- ND --- ---

Benzo(b)fluoranthene 205992 1.5 (S, AA) 1.5 (S, AA) ID ID ID 1.5 (S,AA) 1.5 ID ID 0.79 0.071 ND --- 0.21 ND --- ND --- ---

Benzo(g,h,i)perylene 191242
1.0 (M); 0.26 

(S)

1.0 (M); 0.26 

(S)
NA NLV NLV

1.0 (M,AA); 

0.26 (S)
.26 ID ID

0.66 0.059 ND --- 0.19 ND --- ND --- ---

Benzo(k)fluoranthene 207089
1.0 (M); 0.8 

(S)

1.0 (M); 0.8 

(S)
NA NLV NLV

1.0 (M,AA); 

0.8 (S)
.8 ID ID

0.54 0.096 ND --- 0.22 ND --- ND --- ---

Chrysene (Q) 218019 1.6 (S) 1.6 (S) ID ID ID 1.6 (S,AA) 1.6 ID ID 0.70 0.12 ND --- 0.22 ND --- ND --- ---

Dibenzo(a,h)anthracene (Q) 53703 2.0 (M); 0.21 2.0 (M); 0.85 ID NLV NLV
2.0 (M,AA); 

0.31
2.49 ID ID

ND ND ND --- ND ND --- ND --- ---

Fluoranthene 206440 210 (S) 210 (S) 1.6 210 (S) 210 (S) 210 (S) 206 ID ID 1.1 0.36 ND --- 0.50 ND --- ND --- ---

Fluorene 86737 880 2,000 (S) 12 2,000 (S) 2,000 (S) 2,000 (S) 1980 ID ID ND ND ND --- ND ND --- ND --- ---

Indeno(1,2,3-cd)pyrene 193395
2.0 (M); 

0.022 (S)

2.0 (M); 

0.022 (S)
ID NLV NLV

2.0 (M, AA); 

0.022 (S)
0.022 ID ID

0.48 0.051 ND --- 0.15 ND --- ND --- ---

Naphthalene 91203 520 1,500 13 31,000 (S) 31,000 (S) 31,000 (S) 31000 NA 31,000 (S) ND 0.096 ND --- ND ND --- ND --- ---

2-Methylnaphthalene 91576 260 750 ID ID ID 25,000 (S) 24600 ID ID 0.19 ND ND --- ND ND --- ND --- ---

Phenanthrene 85018 52 150 2.4 1,000 (S) 1,000 (S) 1,000 (S) 1000 ID ID 0.60 0.15 ND --- 0.16 ND --- ND --- ---

Pyrene 129000 140 (S) 140 (S) ID 140 (S) 140 (S) 140 (S) 135 ID ID 0.88 0.34 ND --- 0.36 ND --- ND --- ---

Volatile Organic Compounds (VOCs)

Acetone 67641 730 2,100 1,700 1.0E+9 (D,S) 1.0E+9 (D,S) 3.1E+7 1.0E+9 1.5E+7 1.0E+9 (D) ND ND ND ND ND ND ND ND ND ND

Carbon Disulfide (I, R) 75150 800 2300 ID 2.5E+5 5.5E+5 1.2E+6 (S) 1.19E+6 13,000 ID ND 2.9 ND ND ND ND ND ND ND ND

cis-1,2-Dichloroethylene 156592 70 (A) 70 (A) 620 93,000 2.1E+5 2.0+E5 3.50E+6 5.3E+5 ID ND ND ND ND ND ND ND ND ND ND

Diethyl Ether 60297 10 (E) 10 (E) ID 6.1E+7 (S) 6.1E+7 (S) 3.5E+7 6.10E+7 6.5E+5 6.10E+7 (S) ND ND ND ND ND ND ND 1.8 ND ND

Methylene Chloride 75092 5.0 (A) 5.0 (A) 940 (X) 2.2E+5 1.4E+6 2.2E+5 1.70E+7 ID ID ND ND ND ND ND ND 1.2 ND ND ND

Methyl-tert-butyl-ether (MTBE) 1634044 40 (E) 40 (E) 730 (X) 4.7E+7 (S) 4.7E+7 (S) 6.1E+5 4.68E+7 ID ID ND ND ND ND ND ND ND ND ND ND

Styrene 100425 100 (A) 100 (A) 80 1.7E+5 3.1E+5 (S) 9,700 3.10E+5 1.4E+5 3.1E+5 (S) ND ND ND ND ND ND ND ND 72.0 ND

Vinyl Chloride 75014 2.0 (A) 2.0 (A) 15 1,100 13,000 1,000 2.76E+6 33,000 ID ND ND ND ND ND ND ND 6.9 ND ND

All Remaining VOCs ND ND ND ND ND ND ND ND ND ND

Semi-Volatile Organic Compounds 

(SVOCs)

All SVOCs --- --- --- --- --- --- ND --- --- ---Varies by Compound

Parameter

No criteria available

No criteria available

No criteria available

Michigan DNRE Generic Residential Cleanup Criteria (GRCC) units = µµµµg/l

C
h

e
m

ic
a
l 

A
b

s
tr

a
c
t 

S
e
rv

ic
e
 N

u
m

b
e
r

Varies by Compound

Sample ID, Well Screen Interval Depth, Collection Date, and Results units = µµµµg/l

No criteria available

No criteria available

No criteria available

No criteria available



Testing Engineers & Consultants, Inc. Table 2: Groundwater Analytical Data Summary TEC Project 50484-1

Phase II ESA

100 East Maple Road

Troy, Michigan

Page 2 of 3

R
e
s
id

e
n

ti
a
l 
&

 C
o

m
m

e
rc

ia
l 
I 

D
ri

n
k
in

g
 W

a
te

r

C
ri

te
ri

a
 &

 R
B

S
L

s

In
d

u
s
tr

ia
l 
&

 C
o

m
m

e
rc

ia
l 

II
, 
II
I 
&

 I
V

 D
ri

n
k
in

g
 W

a
te

r 

C
ri

te
ri

a
 &

 R
B

S
L

s

G
ro

u
n

d
w

a
te

r 
S

u
rf

a
c
e
 W

a
te

r

 I
n

te
rf

a
c
e
 C

ri
te

ri
a
 &

 R
B

S
L

s

R
e
s
id

e
n

ti
a
l 
&

 C
o

m
m

e
rc

ia
l 
I 

G
ro

u
n

d
w

a
te

r 
V

o
la

ti
li
z
a
ti

o
n

to
 I
n

d
o

o
r 

A
ir

 I
n

h
a
la

ti
o

n

C
ri

te
ri

a
 &

 R
B

S
L

s

In
d

u
s
tr

ia
l 
&

 C
o

m
m

e
rc

ia
l 

II
, 
II
I 
&

 I
V

 G
ro

u
n

d
w

a
te

r 

V
o

la
ti

li
z
a
ti

o
n

 

to
 I
n

d
o

o
r 

A
ir

 I
n

h
a
la

ti
o

n
 C

ri
te

ri
a
 

&
 R

B
S

L
s

G
ro

u
n

d
w

a
te

r 
C

o
n

ta
c
t 

C
ri

te
ri

a
 &

 R
B

S
L

s

W
a
te

r 
S

o
lu

b
il
it

y

F
la

m
m

a
b

il
it

y
 a

n
d

 E
x
p

lo
s
iv

it
y
 

S
c
re

e
n

in
g

 L
e
v
e
l

A
c
u

te
 I
n

h
a
la

ti
o

n

S
c
re

e
n

in
g

 L
e
v
e
l

MW1-052710

3'-8' bgs

May 27, 2010 

MW2-052710

1'-6' bgs

May 27, 2010 

MW3-052710

3'-8' bgs

May 27, 2010 

MW4A-052710

3'-8' bgs

May 27, 2010 

MW4B-052710

3'-8' bgs

May 27, 2010 

TB-052710

Not Applicable

May 27, 2010

EB-052710

Not Applicable

May 27, 2010

Total Metals

Cadmium (B) 7440439 5.0 (A) 5.0 (A) (G,X) NLV NLV 1.9E+5 NA ID ID ND ND ND ND ND --- ND

Chromium VI (B,H) 18540299 100 (A) 100 (A) 11 NLV NLV 4.6E+5 NA ID ID ND 9.5 ND ND ND --- ND

Lead (B) 7439921 4.0 (L) 4.0 (L) (G,X) NLV NLV ID NA ID ID ND ND ND ND ND --- ND

Volatile Organic Compounds (VOCs)

Acetone 67641 730 2,100 1,700 1.0E+9 (D,S) 1.0E+9 (D,S) 3.1E+7 1.0E+9 1.5E+7 1.0E+9 (D) 39.6 ND ND ND ND ND ND

Carbon Disulfide (I, R) 75150 800 2300 ID 2.5E+5 5.5E+5 1.2E+6 (S) 1.19E+6 13,000 ID ND ND ND ND ND ND ND

cis-1,2-Dichloroethylene 156592 70 (A) 70 (A) 620 93,000 2.1E+5 2.0+E5 3.50E+6 5.3E+5 ID ND ND ND 1.1 1.1 ND ND

Diethyl Ether 60297 10 (E) 10 (E) ID 6.1E+7 (S) 6.1E+7 (S) 3.5E+7 6.10E+7 6.5E+5 6.10E+7 (S) ND ND ND 1.3 1.2 ND ND

Methylene Chloride 75092 5.0 (A) 5.0 (A) 940 (X) 2.2E+5 1.4E+6 2.2E+5 1.70E+7 ID ID ND ND ND ND ND ND ND

Methyl-tert-butyl-ether (MTBE) 1634044 40 (E) 40 (E) 730 (X) 4.7E+7 (S) 4.7E+7 (S) 6.1E+5 4.68E+7 ID ID ND ND 1.4 ND ND ND ND

Styrene 100425 100 (A) 100 (A) 80 1.7E+5 3.1E+5 (S) 9,700 3.10E+5 1.4E+5 3.1E+5 (S) ND ND ND ND ND ND ND

Vinyl Chloride 75014 2.0 (A) 2.0 (A) 15 1,100 13,000 1,000 2.76E+6 33,000 ID ND ND 1.4 5.3 5.2 ND ND

All Remaining VOCs ND ND ND ND ND ND NDVaries by Compound

Sample ID, Well Screen Interval Depth, Collection Date, and Results units = µµµµg/l

Parameter

Michigan DNRE Generic Residential Cleanup Criteria (GRCC) units = µµµµg/l

C
h

e
m

ic
a
l 
A

b
s
tr

a
c
t 

S
e
rv

ic
e
 N

u
m

b
e
r



Testing Engineers & Consultants, Inc. Table 2: Groundwater Analytical Data Summary TEC Project 50484-1

Phase II ESA

100 East Maple Road

Troy, Michigan

Page 3 of 3

Footnotes:

A - Criterion is the state of Michigan drinking water standard established pursuant to Section 5 of 1976 PA 399, MCL 325.1005.

B - Background, as defined in R 299.5701(b), may be substituted if higher than the calculated cleanup criterion. 

Background levels may be less than criteria for some inorganic compounds.

D - Calculated criterion exceeds 100 percent, hence it is reduced to 100 percent or 1.0E+9 parts per billion (ppb). 

E - Criterion is the aesthetic drinking water value.

G - Groundwater surface water interface (GSI) criterion depends on the pH or water hardness, or both, of the receiving surface water.

H - Valence-specific chromium data (Cr III and CR IV) shall be compared to valence specific cleanup criteria.

I - Hazardous substance may exhibit the characteristic of ignitability.

J - Hazardous substance may be present in several isomer forms. Isomer-specific concentrations shall be added together for 

comparison to criteria.

L - Criteria for lead are derived using a biologically based model.

M - Calculated criterion is below the analytical target detection limit, therefore, the criterion defaults to the target detection limit.

Q - Criteria for carcinogenic polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons were developed using relative potential potencies to benzo(a)pyrene.

R - Hazardous substance may exhibit the characteristic of reactivity.

S - Criterion defaults to the hazardous substance-specific water solubility limit.

T - Refer to the Toxic Substances Control Act (TSCA) for cleanup standards.

X - The GSI criterion shown in the generic cleanup criteria tables is not protective for surface water that is used as a drinking 

water source.

AA - Comparison to these criteria may take into account an evaluation of whether hazardous substances are adsorbed to particulates 

rather than dissolved in water and whether filtered groundwater samples were used to evaluate groundwater.

bgs - Below ground surface.

bold - Values presented in bold represent exceedence of laboratory reported detection limit.

ID - Insufficient data to develop criterion. 

NA - A criterion or value is not available or, in the case of background and CAS numbers, not applicable.

ND - Analyte was not detected at or above practical quantification limits.

NLV - Hazardous substance is not likely to volatilize under most conditions.

µg/l - Micrograms per liter (approximately equivalent to parts per billion or ppb).

--- Sample not analyzed for compound.
- Numbers in yellow-shaded boxes represent exceedence of relevant criteria.
- Numbers in green-shaded boxes represent relevant criteria exceeded.



APPLICANT INFORMATION

All information must be completed before submission

Company Name (applicant must be occupant/operator) Standard Industrial Classification Code (SIC)

Facility Address/Parcel ID School District where facility is located

The application shall contain or be accompanied with a description of the site assessment activities 

completed to date.  Also, describe the overall project, and how loan funding advances project goals.

Attach additional pages if more room is needed.

Please see attached 

Cost of land and building improvements **

  * attach list of improvements and associated costs

Cost of machinery, equipment, furniture and fixtures **

   * attach itemized listing with month and year of expected installation

Total Real and Personal Property Costs

Total approved eligible project costs

   * attach itemized list of eligible project costs

The undersigned, authorized officer of the company making this application certifies that, to the best of his/her

knowledge, no information contained herein or in the attachments hereto is false in any way and that all are

truly descriptive of the property and project for which this application is being submitted.

Jessica Besaw 517-325-9875 877-884-6774 besaw@pmenv.com

PM Environmental, Inc.

Same as above Same as above Same as above Same as above

6,000,000.00$           

498,079.00$              

Mr. Michael Mihalich

Contact Person Telephone Number Fax Number e-mail address

Name of Company Officer

16,000,000.00$         

**Costs provided are estimates, exact costs and timeframe will be determined following a bid process and are not all 

available at this time

Signature of Company Officer

100 East Maple Road; 88-20-34-101-023 Troy

MJR Group, LLC 7830

Preparer Name Telephone Number Fax Number e-mail address

10,000,000.00$         

mailto:besaw@pmenv.com




 

 

ISO 9001 REGISTERED 

 

ENVIRONMENTAL CONSULTING AND ENGINEERING SERVICES NATIONWIDE I WWW.PMENV.COM 
 

Q U A L I T Y      S E R V I C E      S O L U T I O N S  

 

P R O V I D I N G  S E R V I C E S  N A T I O N W I D E  

 
C o r p o r a t e  H e a d q u a r t e r s  –  L a n s i n g  M i c h i g a n  

Toll free: 800-485-0090 – Corporate fax: 877-884-5775 
 

 
 
 
 
Site Assessment Activities & Project Description 
 
MJR Group, LLC intends to demolish and redevelop the currently vacant underutilized 
property with a new Digital Cinema.  The new Cinema will include 74,000 square feet with 16 
Screens including an Epic Studio. Seating capacity will range from 101 seats to 440 seats.  
The new theater will include a lobby area, concessions, and bar area. The project will include 
installation of new asphalt, sidewalks, and landscaping surrounding the theater building.  
 
This entire project also includes the completion of Phase I and Phase II Environmental Site 
Assessments (ESA), Baseline Environmental Site Assessment (BEA), and Due Care Plan.  
 
A Phase I ESA was completed June 25, 2013 for MJR Group, LLC and identified recognized 
environmental conditions (RECs) associated with the subject property and a single REC 
associated with the northwest adjoining property.  
 
RECs connected with the subject property included various automotive service operations 
located on the subject property, underground reservoirs for hydraulic fluids associated with 
five in-ground hydraulic hoists on the subject property, staining in areas associated with the 
former automotive service operations, and an underground vault in the former service area. 
The northwest adjoining property identified as a REC, was occupied by a gasoline service 
station, based on the close proximity to the subject property, the potential exists that a 
release has occurred on this property and migrated onto the subject property. 
 
A Phase II ESA/Baseline Environmental Assessment was competed July, 26th 2013 to 
assess these RECs.  PM completed a scope of work consisting of the advancement of five 
soil borings (SB-1 through SB-5), installation of four temporary monitoring wells (TMW-1 
through TMW-3 and TMW-5), installation of one sub-slab soil gas sampling point (SSG-1), 
and the collection of soil, groundwater, and soil gas samples. The soil and groundwater 
samples were submitted for laboratory analysis of VOCs, PNAs, PCBs, cadmium, chromium 
and lead, or some combination thereof; while the soil gas sample was submitted for VOCs. A 
concentration of the VOC species vinyl chloride was identified at TMW-3 above the 
Residential and Nonresidential Drinking Water Generic Cleanup Criteria.  Based upon 
documented exceedances of the Part 201 Residential and Nonresidential DW cleanup 
criteria; the subject property is a facility under Part 201 of P.A. 451, and the rules 
promulgated thereunder. 
 
Demolition of the current building will require the removal of mercury vapor lighting, asbestos 
abatement and air monitoring, and the removal, disposal, and sampling oversight associated 
with the removal of five (5) hydraulic hoists.  
 
The City of Troy’s Local Site Remediation Revolving Loan Fund will provide funding to assist 
in the remediation costs associated with redeveloping this brownfield site, which would not 
exist on a greenfield site location.  
 
The project is estimated to begin demolition late summer to early fall of 2013, with project 
completion before the end of the year. 
 



Owner: MJR THEATRE GROUP Job No. 13-031
Contact: Dennis Redmer Latest Revision: 7/3/2013

Original Total 99's Exposure Current Variance
Cost Trade Item BUDGET CONTRACTOR Contract F.O. Misc. Allocation Project Savings Remarks
Code Amount Amount Changes Extra Work Commitment Over-Run

01-001 PRECONSTRUCTION SERVICES
01-002 PROJECT STAFF/TEMP. OFFICE FACILITIES

GENERAL REQUIREMENTS
01-500 TEMP. WATER, ELECTRIC BLDG. SERVICE HOOK-UP
01-530 MISC. SAFETY & TEMP/WEATHER BARRICADES
01-630 TEMP. CONSTRUCTION SIGNS/PROJECT SIGNS
01-540 SECURITY / NIGHT WATCHMEN
01-700 ON-GOING BUILDING CLEANING
01-700 FINAL BUILDING CLEANING
01-710 DUMPSTERS (MJR Equipment & Seats)
01-520 BLDG. ELECTRIC CONSUMPTION COSTS
01-520 BLDG. SPACE HEATING COSTS - FUEL
01-604 PLAN REPRODUCTION COSTS

TESTING & INSPECTIONS
01-410 TESTING - Building
01-410 TESTING - Site

LAYOUT & ENGINEERING
01-050 BUILDING LAYOUT & ENGINEERING

PERMITS
01-060 MUNICIPAL PERMITS & FEES ($62,966 Paid by MJR)

CONCRETE
03 1230 STADIUM RISERS

HAND RAILINGS
INSTALLATION OF FOAM / RISERS

03 3000 CONCRETE FOUNDATIONS
03 3000 CONCRETE FLATWORK

SLAB ON FOAM
MEZZANINE SLAB ON DECK

MASONRY
04 200 MASONRY
04 720 CAST STONE

METALS
05 1200 STRUCTURAL STEEL - MATERIAL & ERECTION
05 2100 STEEL JOISTS
05 3100 STEEL DECKING
05 5000 METAL FABRICATIONS
05 5100 METAL STAIRS
05 5213 PIPE AND TUBE RAILINGS
05 5300 METAL GRATINGS
05 4000 COLD FORMED METAL FRAMING

CARPENTRY
06 1000 ROUGH CARPENTRY
06 1600 SHEATHING
06 4023 INTERIOR ARCHITECTURAL WOODWORK
06 6400 PLASTIC PANELING

MOISTURE PROTECTION
07 1110 COMPOSITE SHEET WATERPROOFING
07 1113 BITUMINOUS DAMPROOFING
07 1326 SELF-ADHERING SHEET WATERPROOFING
07 2100 THERMAL INSULATION
07 2419 EIFS
07 4243 ALUMINUM WALL PANELS
07 4600 VINYL SIDING 
07 5323 EPDM ROOFING
07 6200 SHEET METAL FLASHING AND TRIM
07 7200 ROOF ACCESSORIES
07 9200 JOINT SEALANTS

DOORS & GLASS
08 1113 HOLLOW METAL DOORS AND FRAMES
08 1416 FLUSH WOOD DOORS
08 3113 ACCESS DOORS
08 3613 SECTIONAL DOORS
08 4113 ALUMINUM FRAMED ENTRANCES
08 4413 GLAZED ALUMINUM CURTAIN WALLS
08 8000 GLAZING
08 7110 FINISH HARDWARE

FINISHES
09 2216 NON-STRUCTURAL METAL FRAMING
09 2900 GYPSUM BOARD
09 5113 ACOUSTICAL CEILINGS
09 3000 HARD TILE

EXTERIOR TILE DETAIL
09 6513 RESILIENT BASE AND ACCESSORIES
09 6519 RESILIENT TILE FLOORING
09 6816 SHEET CARPETING
09 9113 EXTERIOR PAINTING
09 9123 INTERIOR PAINTING

INSTALLATION OF OWNER WALL CARPET
SPECIALTIES AND EQUIPMENT

10 2113 TOILET COMPARTMENTS
10 2800 TOILET & BATH ACCESSORIES
10 4413 FIRE EXTINGUISHERS CABINETS
10 4416 FIRE EXTINGUISHERS

ADA SIGNAGE
FIRE PROTECTION

21 0500 FIRE PROTECTION
MECHANICAL

22 0500 PLUMBING
23 0500 H.V.A.C. SYSTEMS

ELECTRICAL
26 0500 ELECTRICAL

COMMITMENT STATUS SUMMARY (Contract Update)

MJR Troy Grand Digital 16

1 of 2



Owner: MJR THEATRE GROUP Job No. 13-031
Contact: Dennis Redmer Latest Revision: 7/3/2013

Original Total 99's Exposure Current Variance
Cost Trade Item BUDGET CONTRACTOR Contract F.O. Misc. Allocation Project Savings Remarks
Code Amount Amount Changes Extra Work Commitment Over-Run

COMMITMENT STATUS SUMMARY (Contract Update)

MJR Troy Grand Digital 16

19-000 INSURANCE - GENERAL LIABILITY

19-000 RONCELLI FEE

SUBTOTAL 10,000,000

SITE CONSTRUCTION
02-200 FENCING - TRASH ENCLOSURE GATES
02-200 LANDSCAPING
02-200 IRRIGATION
02-200 ASPHALT / CURBS
02-200 SITE WORK
02-200 SITE UTILITIES
02-200 SITE CONCRETE ( BUILDING SIDEWALKS)
02-200 SITE ELECTRIC

SUBTOTAL 2,000,000

OWNER FF&E
SEATS
PROJECTION AND SOUND
DRAPERY
CARPET AND TILE
CONCESSION AND BOX OFFICE MILLWORK
NCR POINT OF SALE 
OFFICE MATERIALS
FURNITURE

POSTERCASES

SUBTOTAL 4,000,000

SUBTOTAL

CONSTRUCTION CONTINGENCY

EST. CONSTRUCTION COST 16,000,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 Current Savings

2 of 2



Due Care Activities
Hoist removal, disposal (5 hoists)  $    6,785 
Hoist removal monitoring and assessment  $    5,141 
Contaminated soil removal and disposal associated with hoist removal (approximately 25 
yards)  $    1,078 

Building Demolition  $ 140,000 
Site Demolition  $ 128,000 
Demolition Oversight  $  17,710 
Asbestos Abatement  $ 131,100 
Air Quality Monitoring and Oversight associated with Asbestos Abatement  $  17,538 
Temporary Power required to conduct Asbestos Abatement  $  17,147 
Removal of fluorescent light tubes, PCB ballasts, mercury vapor bulbs and mercury 
switches, fire extinguishers, CFC refrigerants, hydraulic lifts, and facility owned pad 
mounted transformer (includes packaging, transportation and disposal/recycling)

 $  27,600 

Brownfield Plan  $    5,980 
Local Site Remediation Revolving Loan Fund Reimbursed Total  $ 498,079 

Local Site Remediation Revolving Loan Fund Reimbursed Activities

Demolition

Preparation of Brownfield Plan and Act 381 Workplan



Draft Minutes - Brownfield Redevelopment Authority Special Meeting - August 27, 2013 
 

1 
 

The meeting was called to order at 3:00 p.m. in the Council Boardroom, Troy City Hall 
by Chairman Bruce Wilberding.   
 
Members Present: Bruce Wilberding, Chairman 
   Dan Brake 

Theodore Dziurman 
   Rosemary Kornacki 
   Robert Swartz 
   Joseph Vassallo 
 
Members Absent: None 
   
Also Present:  Mark F. Miller, Secretary/Treasurer 

Glenn Lapin, Economic Development Specialist 
Brian Kischnick, City Manager 
Lori Bluhm, City Attorney 
Nino Licari, City Assessor 
R. Brent Savidant, Planning Director 

 
OLD BUSINESS 
 
None 
 
NEW BUSINESS 
  
BRA Plan #6 – Brownfield Plan for the proposed MJR Troy Grand located at 100 East 
Maple Road, Troy, Michigan 
 
Mark Miller summarized the application and BRA process.  An explanation of the Local 
Site Remediation Revolving Fund was provided.  The LSRRF has a balance of 
approximately $551,558. 
 
Michael Mihalich, CEO and Founder of MJR Group, LLC, described the project and 
summarized the need for BRA assistance. 
 
Jessica Besaw, Brownfields Consultant & GIS Coordinator for PM Environmental 
(consultant to MJR Group, LLC), summarized BRA Plan #6 and the LSRRF application. 
 
General discussion took place. 
 
Brian Considine, Attorney from Dawda, Mann, Mulcahy & Sadler, PLC (attorney for MJR 
Group, LLC), discussed the issue of LSRRF loan collateral.  
 
Resolution # BRA-2013-08-01 
Moved by:  Joseph Vassallo  
Seconded by:  Robert Swartz  
 



Draft Minutes - Brownfield Redevelopment Authority Special Meeting - August 27, 2013 
 

2 
 

RESOLVED, that the Troy Brownfield Redevelopment Authority hereby recommends to 
the City Council that the Brownfield Redevelopment Plan #6 for the proposed MJR Troy 
Grand located at 100 East Maple Road, Troy, Michigan, be approved. 
 
FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Local Site Remediation Revolving Fund loan shall 
require collateral and may include a financial guarantee from MJR Group, LLC or lien 
rights from the subject property. 
 
Yes:  All (6)  
Absent:  None  
 
MOTION CARRIED 
 
BOARD MEMBER COMMENT 
 
None 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT 
 
None 
 
Meeting was adjourned at 3:55 p.m. 
 
The next scheduled meeting is October 15, 2013 – 3:00 p.m. 

 
 

 
Bruce Wilberding, Chairman 
 
 
 
Mark F. Miller, Secretary 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
g/my documents/BRA/2013 Agendas and Minutes/08.27.13 – Draft BRA Minutes 







 

 

 

CCIITTYY  CCOOUUNNCCIILL  AAGGEENNDDAA  IITTEEMM  
 

 
 
Date: October 1, 2013 
 
To:  Brian Kischnick, City Manager 
 
From: Mark F. Miller, Director of Economic & Community Development 
 R. Brent Savidant, Planning Director 
 
Subject: JOINT CITY COUNCIL/PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING – November 26, 2013  
 
 
City Council indicated a desire to participate in a joint meeting with the Planning Commission.  The 
date of the joint meeting will be Tuesday, November 26 at 6:00 PM in the Council Board Room of 
Troy City Hall. 
 
The topics to be discussed at the meeting include the following: 
 

1. City of Troy Master Plan amendments 
2. Infill development, including residential 
3. Big Beaver Road development not meeting increased density 
4. Sober Living Facilities 
5. Maximum building height in GB General Business District 
6. Other 

 
 
 
 
 
 
G:\PLANNING COMMISSION\Joint City Council Meetings\2013 11 26\CC Memo_ Joint Meeting 2013 10 07.doc 
 

stewartc
Text Box
I-04



CITY COUNCIL MINUTES-Draft September 23, 2013 
 

- 1 - 

Pastor Dan Lewis from Troy Christian Chapel performed the Invocation.  The Pledge of 
Allegiance to the Flag was given. 
 

A. CALL TO ORDER: 

A Regular Meeting of the Troy City Council was held on Monday, September 23, 2013, at City 
Hall, 500 W. Big Beaver Rd.  Mayor Slater called the meeting to order at 7:32 PM. 
 

B. ROLL CALL: 
Mayor Dane Slater 
Jim Campbell 
Wade Fleming 
Dave Henderson 
Maureen McGinnis 
Ed Pennington 
Doug Tietz 

 

C. CERTIFICATES OF RECOGNITION AND SPECIAL PRESENTATIONS:  
C-1 On Behalf of the City of Troy Employees’ for a Cause Program for the Months of 

May and June 2013, Community Affairs Director Cindy Stewart will Present a 
Check in the Amount of $792 to Janice Morgan, Judson Center Autism Connection 
(Introduced by:  Cindy Stewart, Community Affairs Director) 

 

D. CARRYOVER ITEMS: 
D-1 No Carryover Items 
 

E. PUBLIC HEARINGS: 
E-1 Adoption of Brownfield Redevelopment Plan #6 for MJR Troy Grand – 100 E. Maple 

Road 
 
The Mayor OPENED the Public Hearing.   
 
Resolution #2013-09-147 
Moved by McGinnis  
Seconded by Fleming  
 
WHEREAS, On September 23, 2013 at 7:30 p.m., Troy City Council held a Public Hearing at 
Troy City Hall located at 500 West Big Beaver Road, Troy, Michigan for the Brownfield 
Redevelopment Plan #6 for MJR Troy Grand, located at 100 East Maple Road, Troy, Michigan; 
and 
 
WHEREAS, Troy City Council would like to provide the public with full opportunity to comment 
on Brownfield Redevelopment Plan #6 per statute notice requirements; and 
 

stewartc
Text Box
J-02a



CITY COUNCIL MINUTES-Draft September 23, 2013 
 

- 2 - 

THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, That Troy City Council SHALL CONTINUE the September 
23, 2013 Public Hearing at its next regularly scheduled meeting on October 7, 2013 at 7:30 
p.m. 
 
Yes: All-7 
No: None 
 
MOTION CARRIED 
 

F. PUBLIC COMMENT FOR ITEMS ON THE AGENDA:  None 
 

G. CITY COUNCIL/CITY ADMINISTRATION RESPONSE/REPLY TO PUBLIC 
COMMENT: 

 

H. POSTPONED ITEMS: 
H-1 No Postponed Items 
 

I. REGULAR BUSINESS: 
I-1 Board and Committee Appointments: a) Mayoral Appointments – None; b) City 

Council Appointments – None 
 
a) Mayoral Appointments:  None 
 
b) City Council Appointments:   
 
Resolution #2013-09-148 
Moved by Fleming  
Seconded by McGinnis  
 
RESOLVED, That Troy City Council hereby APPOINTS the following nominated person(s) to 
serve on the Boards and Committees as indicated: 
 

Animal Control Appeal Board 
Appointed by Council 
5 Regular Members 

3 Year Term 
 
 
Term Expires:  9/30/2016 Patrick Carolan 
 Term currently held by: Patrick Carolan 
 

 
 

Parks and Recreation Board 



CITY COUNCIL MINUTES-Draft September 23, 2013 
 

- 3 - 

Appointed by Council 
7 Regular Members and 1 Troy School Board Member: 

Regular Member: 3 Year Term  /  Troy School Board Member: 1 Year Term 
 
 

Term Expires:  9/30/2016 Jeffrey Stewart 
 Term currently held by: Jeffrey Stewart 
 

Yes: All-7 
No: None 
 
MOTION CARRIED 
 
I-2 Board and Committee Nominations: a) Mayoral Nominations – Downtown 

Development Authority; b) City Council Nominations –Parks and Recreation Board 
 
a) Mayoral Nominations:   
 
Resolution #2013-09-149 
Moved by Slater  
Seconded by Fleming  
 
RESOLVED, That the Mayor of the City of Troy hereby FORWARDS the following nominated 
person(s) to serve on the Boards and Committees as indicated to the next Regular City 
Council Meeting for action:  
 

Downtown Development Authority 
Appointed by Mayor 
13 Regular Members 

4 Year Term 
 

Nominations to the Downtown Development Authority: 
 
Term Expires:  9/30/2017 Albert Papa (At Large) 
 Term currently held by: Albert Papa 
 

Yes: All-7 
No: None 
 
MOTION CARRIED 
 
b) City Council Nominations:   
 
The Mayor took NO ACTION on this Item. 
 
I-3 Request for Closed Session 
 
Resolution #2013-09-150 



CITY COUNCIL MINUTES-Draft September 23, 2013 
 

- 4 - 

Moved by Fleming  
Seconded by Campbell  
 
BE IT RESOLVED, That Troy City Council SHALL MEET in Closed Session, as permitted by 
MCL15.268 (e) (May, as Personal Representative of Jesus Gillard v. City of Troy, et. al). 
 
Yes: All-7 
No: None 
 
MOTION CARRIED 
 
I-4 Liquor License Application from Simbad, Inc. Regarding Transfer of All Stock 

Interest 
 
Resolution #2013-09-151 
Moved by Fleming  
Seconded by McGinnis  
 
a) Liquor License Renewal Application for Simbad, Inc. 
 
WHEREAS, Simbad, Inc. requests to transfer all stock interest in 2012 Class C and SDM 
licensed business with Sunday Sales Permit (PM), and Dance-Entertainment Permit wherein 
Sabah Garmo transfers 1,334 shares of stock to new stockholder, Loretta Garmo, and 666 
shares of stock to new stockholder, Muayad Gorgees {MLCC Request #668985}; and 
 
WHEREAS, The Troy City Council passed Resolution #2013-03-064 on March 18, 2013 to 
object to the renewal of Simbad’s liquor license due to the problems that were occurring at the 
business location; and 
 
WHEREAS, The Michigan Liquor Control Commission (MLCC) conducted a hearing and 
placed the license held by Simbad, Inc. in escrow effective May 1, 2013; and 
 
WHEREAS, The liquor license held by Simbad, Inc. will remain in escrow for one year or until 
the City adopts a Resolution approving renewal or transfer of the license; and 
 
WHEREAS, The new applicants, Loretta Garmo and Muayad Gorgees, have met with the City 
of Troy Attorney’s Office, Police Department, and the Troy Liquor Advisory Committee, and 
have answered questions and addressed the concerns regarding their application; 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, That the Troy City Council RECOMMENDS 
RENEWAL of the liquor license held by Simbad, Inc. for the 2013 license year and FURTHER 
RECOMMENDS that the 1,334 shares of stock are transferred to Loretta Garmo and 666 
shares are transferred to Muayad Gorgees as described above. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, That all serving employees receive TIPS or TAMS or other 
comparable training acceptable to the Troy Police Department, and that licensee PRESENT 
proof of this training to the Troy Police Department within 90 days of today’s date. 
 



CITY COUNCIL MINUTES-Draft September 23, 2013 
 

- 5 - 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, That Loretta Garmo and Muayad Gorgees AGREE that Haitham 
Izzat Zora shall not serve as manager of the liquor licensed establishment. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, That Loretta Garmo and Muayad Gorgees AGREE to an 
automatic review of the license when the City conducts its review hearings for the 2014 
licensing year. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, That a certified copy of this resolution shall be SENT to the 
Michigan Liquor Control Commission. 
 
b) Transfer All Stock Interest 
 
RESOLVED, That Troy City Council hereby CONSIDERS for APPROVAL a liquor license 
request as indicated below, and hereby AUTHORIZES the Mayor and City Clerk to EXECUTE 
the document, a copy of which shall be ATTACHED to the original Minutes of this meeting. 
 

Liquor License Applicant : Simbad, Inc. 

Type of License Requested : 

Transfer All Stock Interest in 2012 Class C and SDM licensed 
business with Sunday Sales Permit (PM), and Dance-
Entertainment Permit, wherein stockholder Sabah Garmo 
transfers 1,334 shares of stock to new stockholder, Loretta 
Garmo, and 666 shares of stock to new stockholder, Muayad 
Gorgees. 

Located at : 336 John R. Road,  Troy, MI 48083 
MLCC Request # : 668985 

 
and 
 
c) Agreement 
 
WHEREAS, The Troy City Council deems it necessary to enter into agreements with applicants 
for liquor licenses for the purpose of providing civil remedies to the City of Troy in the event 
licensees fail to adhere to Troy Codes and Ordinances; 
 
THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, That Troy City Council hereby APPROVES an agreement 
with the liquor license applicant named in the approved resolution above, and hereby 
AUTHORIZES the Mayor and City Clerk to EXECUTE the document, a copy of which shall be 
ATTACHED to the original Minutes of this meeting. 
 
Yes: All-7 
No: None 
 
MOTION CARRIED 
 
I-5 Request for Waiver of Bid for Purchase of Fire Apparatus 
 
Resolution #2013-09-152 



CITY COUNCIL MINUTES-Draft September 23, 2013 
 

- 6 - 

Moved by Pennington  
Seconded by Campbell  
 
RESOLVED, That Troy City Council hereby WAIVES formal bidding procedures and 
AUTHORIZES the City of Troy to purchase one (1) Heavy-Duty Fire Apparatus from Halt Fire 
Apparatus of Wixom, Michigan, for an estimated total cost of $508,347.00; utilizing the Western 
Wayne County Consortium Pricing; as detailed in the attached recommendation memo which 
shall be ATTACHED to the original Minutes of this meeting. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, That the award is CONTINGENT upon the contractor’s 
submission of properly executed Performance Bonds, and all other specified requirements. 
 
Yes: All-7 
No: None 
 
MOTION CARRIED 
 

J. CONSENT AGENDA: 
J-1a Approval of “J” Items NOT Removed for Discussion 
 
Resolution #2013-09-153 
Moved by McGinnis  
Seconded by Fleming  
 
RESOLVED, That Troy City Council hereby APPROVES all items on the Consent Agenda as 
presented. 
 
Yes: All-7 
No: None 
 
MOTION CARRIED 
 
J-1b  Address of “J” Items Removed for Discussion by City Council  
 
J-2  Approval of City Council Minutes 
 
Resolution #2013-09-153-J-2 
 
RESOLVED, That Troy City Council hereby APPROVES the following Minutes as submitted: 
 
a) City Council Meeting Minutes-Draft – September 9, 2013 
 
J-3 Proposed City of Troy Proclamations:  None Submitted 
 
J-4 Standard Purchasing Resolutions:   
 



CITY COUNCIL MINUTES-Draft September 23, 2013 
 

- 7 - 

a) Standard Purchasing Resolution #1:  Award to Low Bidder – Troywood Paving 
S.A.D. 

 
Resolution #2013-09-153-J-4a 
 
RESOLVED, That Contract No. 13-5, Troywood Paving S.A.D., be AWARDED to Florence 
Cement Company, 12585 23 Mile Road, Shelby Twp., MI 48315 for their low total bid amount 
of $118,270.00. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, That the award is CONTINGENT upon submission of proper 
contract and bid documents, including bonds, insurance certificates and all specified 
requirements, and if additional work is required such additional work is AUTHORIZED in an 
amount not to exceed 15% of the total project cost. 
 
b) Standard Purchasing Resolution 2:  Award to Low Bidder Meeting Specifications – 

LED Tri-Pod Lighting 
 
Resolution #2013-09-153-J-4b 
 
RESOLVED, That Troy City Council hereby AWARDS a contract to purchase seven (7) LED 
Tri-Pod Lights for the Fire Department to the low bidder meeting specifications, Priority One 
Emergency of Canton, MI for an estimated net total cost of $12,749.66 at unit prices contained 
in the bid tabulation opened September 12, 2013, a copy of which shall be ATTACHED to the 
original Minutes of this meeting. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, That the award is CONTINGENT upon the company’s 
submission of properly executed bid and contract documents. 
 
J-5 Mark R. Morin v City of Troy 
 
Resolution #2013-09-153-J-5 
 
RESOLVED, That the City Attorney is hereby AUTHORIZED and DIRECTED to represent the 
City of Troy in any and all claims and damages in the matter of Mark R. Morin v City of Troy 
(52-4 District Court Case No.13 CO2167 GC).  Furthermore, the City Attorney is AUTHORIZED 
to pay necessary costs and expenses and to retain any necessary expert witnesses to 
adequately represent the City.  
 
J-6 Municipal Credit and Community Credit Agreement 
 
Resolution #2013-09-153-J-6 
 
RESOLVED, That the request that the City transfer Municipal Credit funds in the amount of 
$79,648 and Community Credit funds in the amount of $88,586 to Troy Medi-Go Plus for the 
operation of transportation service for senior citizens and persons with disabilities is hereby 
APPROVED and the Mayor and City Clerk are AUTHORIZED TO EXECUTE the documents 
and copies shall be ATTACHED to the original Minutes of this meeting. 
 



CITY COUNCIL MINUTES-Draft September 23, 2013 
 

- 8 - 

J-7 Correction of Standard Purchasing Resolution #4 of June 17, 2013 – Special 
Assessment Roll No. 12.201.1 

 
Request to Rescind City Council Resolution #2013-06-113: Public Hearing to Establish a 
Special Assessment District for Asphalt Paving of the Westerly 324’ of Troywood in 
Section 22 – Standard Resolution #4 
 
Resolution #2013-09-153-J-7 
 
WHEREAS, Troy City Council approved Resolution #2013-06-113: Public Hearing to Establish 
a Special Assessment District for Asphalt Paving of the Westerly 324’ of Troywood in Section 
22 – Standard Resolution #4  on June 17, 2013; and 
 
WHEREAS, The amount of Special Assessment Roll 12.201.1 was incorrectly listed in the 
resolution as $60,100.00; and 
 
WHEREAS, The correct amount of Special Assessment Roll 12.201.1 is $20,500.00; 
 
THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, That Resolution #2013-06-113, Moved by McGinnis and 
Seconded by Campbell, as it appears below, be RESCINDED, as requested by City 
Administration: 
 

Resolution #2013-06-113 
Moved by McGinnis  
Seconded by Campbell  
 
WHEREAS, Troy City Council has caused Special Assessment Roll No. 12.201.1 
to be prepared for the purpose of defraying the Special Assessment District’s 
portion of the following described public improvement in the City of Troy; and 
 
Bituminous Paving of a portion of Troywood Street 
 
WHEREAS, Troy City Council and the City Assessor have met after due legal 
notice and have reviewed said Special Assessment Roll and have heard all 
persons interested in said Special Assessment Roll appearing at said hearing; 
and 
 
WHEREAS, Troy City Council is satisfied with said Special Assessment Roll as 
prepared by the City Assessor; 
 
THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, That Special Assessment Roll No. 12.201.1 in 
the amount of $60,100.00 is hereby CONFIRMED as prepared by the City 
Assessor, a copy of which shall be ATTACHED to, and become a part of the 
Minutes of this meeting. 
 
Yes:  Campbell, Henderson, McGinnis, Pennington, Tietz, Slater  
No:  None 
Absent: Fleming  



CITY COUNCIL MINUTES-Draft September 23, 2013 
 

- 9 - 

 
MOTION CARRIED 

 
Proposed Replacement Resolution for Public Hearing to Establish a Special Assessment 
District for Asphalt Paving of the Westerly 324’ of Troywood in Section 22 – Standard 
Resolution #4 
 
WHEREAS, Troy City Council has caused Special Assessment Roll No. 12.201.1 to be 
prepared for the purpose of defraying the Special Assessment District’s portion of the following 
described public improvement in the City of Troy: 
 

Bituminous Paving of a portion of Troywood Street 
 

and, 
 
WHEREAS, Troy City Council and the City Assessor have met after due legal notice and have 
reviewed said Special Assessment Roll and have heard all persons interested in said Special 
Assessment Roll appearing at said hearing; and, 
 
WHEREAS, Troy City Council is satisfied with said Special Assessment Roll as prepared by 
the City Assessor; 
 
THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, That Special Assessment Roll No. 12.201.1 in the amount 
of $20,500.00 is hereby CONFIRMED as prepared by the City Assessor, a copy of which shall 
be ATTACHED to, and become a part of the Minutes of this meeting. 
 

K. MEMORANDUMS AND FUTURE COUNCIL AGENDA ITEMS: 
K-1 Announcement of Public Hearings:  None Submitted 
 
K-2 Memorandums (Items submitted to City Council that may require consideration at 
 some future point in time):  None Submitted 
 

L. PUBLIC COMMENT FOR ITEMS NOT ON THE AGENDA: 

Sandra Miller Spoke about complaints with the Troy Public Library. 
Toby Gosselin Spoke about two awards recently given to Troy, and other various topics.  
Richard Peters Spoke about preserving wetland areas. 
Dan Brake Spoke about the City’s reserve fund. 
 

M. COUNCIL REFERRALS:  
Items Advanced to the City Manager by Individual City Council Members for 
Placement on the Agenda 

M-1  No Council Referrals Advanced 
 



CITY COUNCIL MINUTES-Draft September 23, 2013 
 

- 10 - 

N. COUNCIL COMMENTS: 
N-1  No Council Comments Advanced 
 
Council Member Campbell spoke encouraging speakers to use factual information during 
public comment. 
 
Mayor wished Council Member Henderson a quick recovery from a recent car accident. 
 
Mayor Slater commended Council Member McGinnis on her receipt of a Level Two: Leadership 
Award by the Michigan Municipal League.   
 
Mayor Slater congratulated Robin Beltramini on being this year’s recipient of the Honorary Life 
Membership Award from the Michigan Municipal League. 
 

O. REPORTS: 
O-1 Minutes – Boards and Committees:   
a) Liquor Advisory Committee-Final – September 10, 2012 
b) Election Commission-Final – March 28, 2013 
c) Building Code Board of Appeals-Final – July 10, 2013 
d) Zoning Board of Appeals-Draft – July 16, 2013 
e) Planning Commission Special/Study-Final – August 27, 2013 
f) Planning Commission Special/Study-Draft – August 27, 2013 
g) Building Code Board of Appeals-Draft – September 4, 2013 
h) Election Commission-Draft – September 9, 2013  
i) Liquor Advisory Committee-Draft – September 9, 2013  

Noted and Filed 
 
O-2 Department Reports:  None Submitted 
a) City of Troy Employee Retirement System Actuarial Valuation Report Dated December 

31, 2012 
b) Standard & Poor’s AAA Bond Rating Report for the City of Troy 
c) Citizen Comment Concerning the Assessor Using Less Than the CPI Increase in 

Taxable Value, in Order to Reduce City Revenues 
d) Building Department Activity Report – August, 2013  

Noted and Filed 
 
O-3 Letters of Appreciation:  
a) To Brian Kischnick from Irv Wengrow Regarding City Response to Storm Damage from 

September 11, 2013 
Noted and Filed 

 
O-4 Proposed Proclamations/Resolutions from Other Organizations: None Submitted 

Noted and Filed 
 



CITY COUNCIL MINUTES-Draft September 23, 2013 
 

- 11 - 

P. STUDY ITEMS: 
P-1  No Study Items 
 
The Meeting RECESSED at 8:34 PM. 
 
The Meeting RECONVENED at 8:43 PM. 

Q. CLOSED SESSION:  

Q-1 Closed Session 
 

R. ADJOURNMENT: 
 
The Meeting ADJOURNED at 9:18 PM. 
 
 
 
 
 

Mayor Dane Slater 
 
 
 
M. Aileen Bittner, CMC 
City Clerk 

 



 

 

1 
 

CCIITTYY  CCOOUUNNCCIILL  AAGGEENNDDAA  IITTEEMM  
 

Date:  September 17, 2013 
 
To:   Brian Kischnick, City Manager     
  
From:  MaryBeth Murz, Purchasing Manager 

Steve Pallotta, Building Operations Director 
  Timothy L. Richnak, Public Works Director 
 
Subject: Standard Purchasing Resolution 1: Award To Low Bidder – Electrical Services at City Hall 
 
History 
The original City Hall 1964 building power was fed by overhead electrical cables when originally 
constructed. When the addition to the original City Hall building was added in 1976, all electrical service to 
the buildings was put in the ground and rerouted to a primary substation in the basement of the 1976 Troy 
Hall of Justice Building. 
 
The primary service cable that provides power is a 13,200 volt transmission line that originates at the North 
side of the Drury Inn parking lot and continues under Big Beaver Road, and extends to an above ground 
electrical bunker located on the west side of City Hall by the Police Garage. 
 
In the past 37 years, the 13,200 volt primary power transmission line that provides power has either been hit 
by contractors and the cable itself has also burned and degraded. 
 
In the summer of 2011, the primary cable burned without being hit and caused a complete power outage to 
City Hall, Police/Fire, 52-4 District Court and the Troy Public Library. The power to all of these buildings was 
completely down from 8:30AM until 7:00PM, except for the Police/Fire which operated on standby generator 
until Detroit Edison was able to repair the primary electrical service cable. 
 
At the time of the last repairs, Detroit Edison informed the City of Troy that this primary service cable is in 
very bad condition and the wire itself within the cable has served well beyond the life expectancy. According 
to Detroit Edison, the life expectancy of the power cable is 25 years. 
 
Purchasing 
On September 5, 2013, a bid opening was conducted as required by City Charter and Code for Electrical 
Services for City Hall.  The bid was posted on the Michigan Inter-governmental Trade Network (MITN) 
website; www.mitn.info and the bid was also sent to the Troy Chamber of Commerce.  Six (6) bid responses 
were received.  Below is a detailed summary of potential vendors: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Companies notified via MITN 353 
Troy Companies notified via MITN 8 
Troy Companies notified Active email Notification 7 
Troy Companies notified Active Free 1 
Companies that viewed the bid  39 
Troy Companies that viewed the bid 0 

 
 

MITN provides a resourceful online platform to streamline the 
procurement process, reduce costs, and make it easier and more 
transparent for vendors to do business with the City of Troy. 
Active MITN members with a current membership and paying annual 
dues receive automatic electronic notification which allows instant 
access to Bids, RFPS and Quote opportunities with the City.   
Active MITN non-paying members are responsible to monitor and 
check the MITN website for opportunities to do business with the City. 
Inactive MITN member status can occur when a company does not 
renew their account upon expiration.  Inactive members cannot be 
notified of solicitations or access any bid information. 

 

http://www.mitn.info/�
stewartc
Text Box
J-04a



 

 

2 
 

CCIITTYY  CCOOUUNNCCIILL  AAGGEENNDDAA  IITTEEMM  
 

Purchasing (continued) 
In addition to install new electrical services including cable and conduit to City Hall in accordance with all bid 
specifications and drawings; Options were bid as follows: 

1. To provide temporary portable genset so as to provide demand load testing during swithover of 
primary service. 

2. In lieu of open cut, provide directional bore for entire length of primary route. 
3. Provide second additional 4” conduit with pull rope as “spare” for entire length of primary route. 

 
The bid award is based on the all-inclusive Base Bid Price and the Options as detailed above. 
 
Financial 
Funds are available in the Building Operations Emergency Repairs Capital Budget. 
 
Recommendation 
City management recommends awarding a contract to install new electrical services including cable and 
conduit to City Hall; as per bid specifications to the low bidder, Corby Energy Services, Inc. of Belleville, MI 
for an estimated total cost of $99,425.00 at unit prices contained in the bid tabulation opened June 7, 2013. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
G:\Bid Award 13-14 New Format\Award Standard Purchasing Resolution 1 Electrical Services ITB-COT 13-15.doc 
 



CITY OF TROY ITB-COT 13-15
BID TABULATION Page 1 of 2
ELECTRICAL SERVICES - CITY HALL

Rauhorn Electric, Inc. Corby Energy Services, 
Inc.

Transformer 
Inspection Retrofill 

Corporation
Macomb, MI Belleville, MI Royal Oak, MI

Ck# 9479209203 650637 507960
Ck. Amount $3,750.00 $3,750.00 $3,750.00

PROPOSAL:  To install new electrical services including cable and conduit to City Hall in accordance with all
bid specifications.

BASE BID FOR THE PRICE OF: $74,840.00 $86,975.00 $89,553.00

OPTION 1:  Provide temporary portable genset to provide demand load testing during switchover of primary service. Provide
personnel protection at existing switch during switchover. Provide temporary 120/280 volt power to genset for controls as
requested.

OPTION 1 PRICE:
For three (3) days: $34,530.00 $7,500.00 $16,503.00
For five (5) days: $48,470.00 $7,500.00 $18,533.00

OPTION 2:  In lieu of open cut, provide directional bore for entire length of primary route.

OPTION 2 PRICE: $2,665.00 $0.00 ($4,900.00)
add to or deduct from base bid

OPTION 3:  Provide second additional 4" conduit with pull rope as "spare" for entire length of primary route.

OPTION 3 PRICE: $2,825.00 $4,950.00 $10,153.00
add to or deduct from base bid

GRAND TOTAL BID PRICE: $128,800.00 $99,425.00 $113,339.00
Base bid, Option 1 (5 days), Option 2 and 3.

CONTACT INFORMATION:
Hours of Operation 8:00am - 5:00pm 7:30am - 4:00pm
24HR Phone # (586) 405-7774 (313) 350-2441 (248) 549-4026

PRE-BID MEETING: Y/N Yes Yes Yes

COMPLETION DATE:  
Can Meet Yes Yes Yes
Cannot Meet
Offers
Work Shall Commence

REFERENCES: Yes Yes Yes

INSURANCE: Can Meet Yes Yes Yes
Cannot Meet

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT SIGNED: Y OR N Yes Yes Yes

PAYMENT TERMS: Net 30 Days Net 30 Days Net 30 Days

EXCEPTIONS: None None None

WARRANTY: One (1) Year One (1) Year One (1) Year

FORMS COMPLETED:
Legal Status of Bidder: Y or N Yes Yes Yes
Non-Collusion Affidavit: Y or N Yes Yes Yes
Certification regarding Debarment: Y or N Yes Yes Yes
"Iran- Linked" Business Y or N Yes Yes Yes
ATTEST: BOLDFACE TYPE DENOTES: Low Bidder Meeting Specifications.
Sue Riesterer _______________________________
Enna Bachelor MaryBeth Murz,
Steve Pollata Purchasing Manager

Opening Date -- 9/5/2013
Date Reviewed -- 9/5/2013



CITY OF TROY ITB-COT 13-15
BID TABULATION Page 2 of 2
ELECTRICAL SERVICES - CITY HALL

Harlan Electric Company Huron Valley Electric Lee Contracting, Inc.

Rochester Hills, MI Ann Arbor, MI Pontiac, MI
Ck# 1440477 686017 583500
Ck. Amount $3,750.00 $3,750.00 $3,750.00

PROPOSAL:  To install new electrical services including cable and conduit to City Hall in accordance with all
bid specifications.

BASE BID FOR THE PRICE OF: $104,580.00 $118,000.00 $119,867.00

OPTION 1:  Provide temporary portable genset to provide demand load testing during switchover of primary service. Provide
personnel protection at existing switch during switchover. Provide temporary 120/280 volt power to genset for controls as
requested.

OPTION 1 PRICE:

For three (3) days: $21,810.00 $43,100.00 $33,790.00
For five (5) days: $21,810.00 $43,100.00 $44,370.00

OPTION 2:  In lieu of open cut, provide directional bore for entire length of primary route.

OPTION 2 PRICE: $0.00 $7,800.00 ($3,500.00)
add to or deduct from base bid

OPTION 3:  Provide second additional 4" conduit with pull rope as "spare" for entire length of primary route.

OPTION 3 PRICE: $2,000.00 $3,600.00 $17,840.00
add to or deduct from base bid

GRAND TOTAL BID PRICE: $128,390.00 $172,500.00 $178,577.00
Base bid, Option 1 (5 days), Option 2 and 3.

CONTACT INFORMATION:
Hours of Operation 7:30am - 4:00pm 8:00am - 5:00pm 7:00am - 5:00pm

24HR Phone # (248) 379-5446 (734) 323-0297 (248) 752-1336

PRE-BID MEETING: Y/N Yes Yes Yes

COMPLETION DATE:  
Can Meet Yes Yes Yes
Cannot Meet
Offers
Work Shall Commence

REFERENCES: Yes Yes Yes

INSURANCE: Can Meet Yes Yes Yes
Cannot Meet

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT SIGNED: Y OR N Yes Yes Yes

PAYMENT TERMS: Net 30 Days 60 Days Due upon Completion

EXCEPTIONS: None None Yes; see bid response

WARRANTY: One (1) Year One (1) Year One (1) Year

FORMS COMPLETED:
Legal Status of Bidder: Y or N Yes Yes Yes
Non-Collusion Affidavit: Y or N Yes Yes Yes
Certification regarding Debarment: Y or N Yes Yes Yes
"Iran- Linked" Business Y or N Yes Yes Yes

Opening Date -- 9/5/2013
Date Reviewed -- 9/5/2013



 

 
CCIITTYY  CCOOUUNNCCIILL  AAGGEENNDDAA  IITTEEMM  
 

 
Date:             September 24, 2013               
 
 
To:   Brian Kischnik, City Manager     
  
From:  William Nelson, Fire Chief 
  David Roberts, Assistant Fire Chief/Fire Marshal 
 
Subject: Fireworks Permit – Macy’s at Oakland Mall 
 
 
 
Macy’s at Oakland Mall along with Zambelli Fireworks, Inc., of New Castle, Pennsylvania, have 
submitted a permit application for a public fireworks display to celebrate the beginning of their holiday 
shopping season. Macy’s and Zambelli are requesting the Troy City Council grant a permit for an 
approximate fifteen-minute public fireworks display to occur on Friday, November 1, 2013, at 7:00 
PM. Macy’s northwest parking lot will accommodate the necessary distances required for the display.  
 
 
Legal Considerations  
 
Michigan law requires that before anyone can conduct a fireworks display, a permit must be obtained 
from the local unit of government. The law states that any person or group that would like to conduct 
a fireworks display must apply to the local unit of government for a permit. The law defines local unit 
of government as the council or commission of a city or village, or the township board of a township. 
 
 
Recommendation 
 
The Fire Department has reviewed the permit application and recommends that City Council approve 
a fireworks permit for Zambelli Fireworks, Inc. Enclosed for Council’s review is the permit application 
along with the permit itself to be signed and issued.  
 
 
City Attorney’s Review as to Form and Legality  
 
 
 
 
_____________________________ 
Lori Grigg Bluhm, City Attorney 
 
 
 
DR/M:\13-803\My Documents\Word\Macy’s Fireworks Agenda Item.docx 

stewartc
Text Box
J-05



 

 

CCIITTYY  CCOOUUNNCCIILL  AAGGEENNDDAA  IITTEEMM 

 
Date:    September 24, 2013 
 
To:   Brian Kischnick, City Manager 
 
From  Mark F. Miller, Director of Economic & Community Development 
  Steven J. Vandette, City Engineer 
  William J. Huotari, Deputy City Engineer/Traffic Engineer 
 
Subject: Traffic Committee Recommendations and Minutes – September 18, 2013 
 
 
At the Traffic Committee meeting of September 18, 2013, the following recommendations were made 
for City Council approval: 
 
5.  Establish Fire Lanes at 2000-2050 West Big Beaver 

 
RESOLVED, that the Traffic Committee recommends establishing fire lanes at 2000-2050 West 
Big Beaver Road.   

 
6.  Establish Fire Lanes at 2001 W. Maple Road 
 

RESOLVED, that the Traffic Committee recommends establishing fire lanes at 2001 West Maple 
Road.   

 
7.  Establish Fire Lanes at 1305 Stephenson Highway 
 

RESOLVED, that the Traffic Committee recommends establishing fire lanes at 1305 Stephenson 
Highway.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
WJH/wjhG:\Traffic\aaa Traffic Committee\2013\9_September 18\To CC re September 18 2013 TC Minutes.docx 

stewartc
Text Box
J-06



Traffic Committee Minutes – September 18, 2013  DRAFT 

Page 1 of 6 
 

A regular meeting of the Troy Traffic Committee was held Wednesday, September 18, 
2013 in the Lower Level Conference Room at Troy City Hall.  Pete Ziegenfelder called the 
meeting to order at 7:30 p.m. 
 
1. Roll Call 
 
PRESENT:  Tim Brandstetter 
    Ted Halsey 
    Richard Kilmer 
    Al Petrulis 
    Pete Ziegenfelder 
 
ABSENT:  Sarah Binkowski 
    Stevan Popovic     
 
Also present: Michael Johnson, 450 E. Square Lake 
    Chuck Roberts, Fire Department 
    Sgt. Mike Szuminski, Police Department 
    Bill Huotari, Deputy City Engineer/Traffic Engineer 
     
2. Minutes – July 17, 2013 
 
RESOLUTION # 2013-08-14 
  
Moved by Halsey  
Seconded by Kilmer 
 
To approve the July 17, 2013 minutes as printed. 
 
YES:   All-5 
NO:   None 
ABSENT:  2 (Binkowski, Popovic) 
 
MOTION CARRIED 

 
PUBLIC HEARINGS 
 
3.  Request for Sidewalk Waiver – 675 Vanderpool 
 
Item #3 and #4 were addressed at the same time by the petitioner and the Committee. 
 
Mike Johnson spoke at the meeting and reiterated his request for a waiver of the sidewalk 
required at 675 Vanderpool.  Mr. Johnson stated that there is no existing sidewalk on 
Vanderpool and that it would not connect to any other sidewalk.  The location of the new 
house is not in close proximity to a major road, so the likelihood of sidewalks connecting to 
a major road sidewalk in the future is very unlikely. 



Traffic Committee Minutes – September 18, 2013  DRAFT 

Page 2 of 6 
 

The Traffic Committee did receive an email in support of granting a waiver from Diane 
Stewart a resident and owner on Vanderpool. 
 
Mr. Ziegenfelder reiterated his support for sidewalks at all locations in the City. 
 
Mr. Kilmer stated that there are too many trees that would be affected by construction of a 
sidewalk. 
 
General discussion of the sidewalk waiver process followed. 
 
There were no other members of the public that made comments.   
 
RESOLUTION # 2013-08-15 
  
Moved by Kilmer  
Seconded by Halsey 
 
WHEREAS, City of Troy Ordinances, Chapter 34, allows the Traffic Committee to grant 
waivers of the City of Troy Design Standards for Sidewalks upon a demonstration of 
necessity; and 
 
WHEREAS, Mike Johnson has requested a waiver of the requirement to construct 
sidewalk due to the fact that there is no existing sidewalk on Vanderpool and it would not 
connect to any other sidewalk ; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Traffic Committee has determined the following: 

 
a. A waiver will not impair the public health, safety or general welfare of the 

inhabitants of the City and will not unreasonably diminish or impair established 
property values within the surrounding area, and 
 

b. A strict application of the requirements to construct a sidewalk would result in 
practical difficulties to, or undue hardship upon, the owners, and 
 

c. The construction of a new sidewalk would lead nowhere and connect to no other 
walk, and thus will not serve the purpose of a pedestrian travel-way. 

 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Traffic Committee grants a waiver of the 
sidewalk requirement for 675 Vanderpool contingent upon the execution of an “Agreement 
for Irrevocable Petition for Sidewalk”. 

 
YES:   4 (Brandstetter, Halsey, Kilmer, Petrulis) 
NO:   1 (Ziegenfelder) 
ABSENT:  2 (Binkowski, Popovic) 
 
MOTION CARRIED 



Traffic Committee Minutes – September 18, 2013  DRAFT 

Page 3 of 6 
 

4.  Request for Sidewalk Waiver – 687 Vanderpool 
 
Item #3 and #4 were addressed at the same time by the petitioner and the Committee. 
 
Mike Johnson spoke at the meeting and reiterated his request for a waiver of the sidewalk 
required at 687 Vanderpool.  Mr. Johnson stated that there is no existing sidewalk on 
Vanderpool and that it would not connect to any other sidewalk.  The location of the new 
house is not in close proximity to a major road, so the likelihood of sidewalks connecting to 
a major road sidewalk in the future is very unlikely. 
 
The Traffic Committee did receive an email in support of granting a waiver from Diane 
Stewart a resident and owner on Vanderpool. 
 
Mr. Ziegenfelder reiterated his support for sidewalks at all locations in the City. 
 
Mr. Kilmer stated that there are too many trees that would be affected by construction of a 
sidewalk. 
 
General discussion of the sidewalk waiver process followed. 
 
There were no other members of the public that made comments.   
 
RESOLUTION # 2013-08-16 
  
Moved by Kilmer  
Seconded by Halsey 
 
WHEREAS, City of Troy Ordinances, Chapter 34, allows the Traffic Committee to grant 
waivers of the City of Troy Design Standards for Sidewalks upon a demonstration of 
necessity; and 
 
WHEREAS, Mike Johnson has requested a waiver of the requirement to construct 
sidewalk due to the fact that there is no existing sidewalk on Vanderpool and it would not 
connect to any other sidewalk ; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Traffic Committee has determined the following: 

 
a. A waiver will not impair the public health, safety or general welfare of the 

inhabitants of the City and will not unreasonably diminish or impair established 
property values within the surrounding area, and 
 

b. A strict application of the requirements to construct a sidewalk would result in 
practical difficulties to, or undue hardship upon, the owners, and 
 

c. The construction of a new sidewalk would lead nowhere and connect to no other 
walk, and thus will not serve the purpose of a pedestrian travel-way. 



Traffic Committee Minutes – September 18, 2013  DRAFT 

Page 4 of 6 
 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Traffic Committee grants a waiver of the 
sidewalk requirement for 687 Vanderpool contingent upon the execution of an “Agreement 
for Irrevocable Petition for Sidewalk”. 

 
YES:   4 (Brandstetter, Halsey, Kilmer, Petrulis) 
NO:   1 (Ziegenfelder) 
ABSENT:  2 (Binkowski, Popovic) 
 
MOTION CARRIED 
 
REGULAR BUSINESS 
 
5.  Establish Fire Lanes at 2000-2050 West Big Beaver 
 
Section 8.28, Chapter 106, Troy City Code, provides for the establishment of fire lanes on 
private property.  The Fire Department recommends that fire lanes be provided to allow 
proper deployment of and travel by emergency vehicles (fire, police, medical). 
 
Chuck Roberts of the Troy Fire Department provided a brief summary of the requirements 
for fire lanes as well as a summary of the need for fire lanes at the site. 
 
RESOLUTION # 2013-08-17 
  
Moved by Halsey  
Seconded by Kilmer 
 
RESOLVED, that the Traffic Committee recommends establishing fire lanes at 2000-2050 
West Big Beaver Road.   
 
YES:   All-5 
NO:   None 
ABSENT:  2 (Binkowski, Popovic) 
 
MOTION CARRIED 

 
6.  Establish Fire Lanes at 2001 W. Maple Road 
 
Section 8.28, Chapter 106, Troy City Code, provides for the establishment of fire lanes on 
private property.  The Fire Department recommends that fire lanes be provided to allow 
proper deployment of and travel by emergency vehicles (fire, police, medical). 
 
Chuck Roberts of the Troy Fire Department provided a brief summary of the requirements 
for fire lanes as well as a summary of the need for fire lanes at the site. 
 
RESOLUTION # 2013-08-18 
  



Traffic Committee Minutes – September 18, 2013  DRAFT 

Page 5 of 6 
 

Moved by Kilmer  
Seconded by Petrulis 
 
RESOLVED, that the Traffic Committee recommends establishing fire lanes at 2001 West 
Maple Road.   
 
YES:   All-5 
NO:   None 
ABSENT:  2 (Binkowski, Popovic) 
 
MOTION CARRIED 

   
7.  Establish Fire Lanes at 1305 Stephenson Highway 
 
Section 8.28, Chapter 106, Troy City Code, provides for the establishment of fire lanes on 
private property.  The Fire Department recommends that fire lanes be provided to allow 
proper deployment of and travel by emergency vehicles (fire, police, medical). 
 
Chuck Roberts of the Troy Fire Department provided a brief summary of the requirements 
for fire lanes as well as a summary of the need for fire lanes at the site. 
 
RESOLUTION # 2013-08-19 
  
Moved by Halsey  
Seconded by Brandstetter 
 
SUGGESTED RESOLUTIONS: 
 
RESOLVED, that the Traffic Committee recommends establishing fire lanes at 1305 
Stephenson Highway.   
 
YES:   All-5 
NO:   None 
ABSENT:  2 (Binkowski, Popovic) 
 
MOTION CARRIED 
 
8. Public Comment 
 
There were no members of the public at the meeting with comments. 
 
9. Other Business 
 
Mr. Ziegenfelder asked about the pedestrian crossing time at Coolidge and Maple.  He 
reports that a resident contacted him to report that the pedestrian crossing time allocated 
is too short to cross Coolidge Road.  Traffic Engineering will request that the RCOC Traffic 



Traffic Committee Minutes – September 18, 2013  DRAFT 

Page 6 of 6 
 

Signal Engineer review the timing to ascertain if adjustments should be made. 
 
10. Adjourn 
 
The meeting adjourned at 8:13 p.m.  
 
                                          ___        
Pete Ziegenfelder, Chairperson    Bill Huotari, Recording Secretary 
 
 
G:\Traffic\aaa Traffic Committee\2013\9_September 18\Minutes_20130918_DRAFT.docx 



 

 
CCIITTYY  CCOOUUNNCCIILL  AAGGEENNDDAA  IITTEEMM  
 

 
Date:  September 30, 2013 
 
 
To:   Brian Kischnick, City Manager 
  
From:  Mark F. Miller, Director of Economic and Community Development 
  Steven J. Vandette, City Engineer 
    
Subject: Private Agreement – Contract for Installation of Municipal Improvements  
 Adria Estates Site Condominium - Project No. 13.914.3 
 
 
History 
 
The Adria Estates Site Condominium proposed by Mondrian Properties is located at Rochester Road 
between Square Lake and Long Lake Roads.   
 
Troy Planning Commission recommended preliminary site plan approval on July 9th, 2013.  
 
Site grading and utility plans for this development were reviewed and recently approved by the  
Engineering Department.  The plans include municipal improvements; Sanitary Sewer, Storm Sewer, 
Water Main, Concrete Pavement and Sidewalks, which will be constructed by Mondrian Properties on 
behalf of the City of Troy.  The required fees and refundable escrow deposits in the form of 
Performance Bond and 10% Cash, that will assure completion of the municipal improvements, have 
been provided by Mondrian Properties (see attached Private Agreement).  
 
Financial 
 
See attached summary of required deposits and fees for this Private Agreement. 
 
Recommendation 
 
Approval of the Contract for Installation of Municipal Improvements (Private Agreement) is 
recommended. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

stewartc
Text Box
J-07











ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS MEETING   FINAL JULY 16, 2013 

1 

On July 16, 2013, at 7:30 p.m., in the Council Chambers of Troy City Hall, Vice Chair Clark 
called the Zoning Board of Appeals meeting to order. 
 
1. ROLL CALL 

 
Present: 
Bruce Bloomingdale 
Glenn Clark 
Kenneth Courtney 
David Eisenbacher 
Thomas Krent 
 
Absent 
Allen Kneale 
David Lambert 
 
Also Present: 
Paul Evans, Zoning and Compliance Specialist 
Allan Motzny, Assistant City Attorney 
 

2. APPROVAL OF MINUTES – May 21, 2013 
 
Moved by Courtney 
Seconded by Eisenbacher 
 
RESOLVED, to approve the May 21, 2013 meeting minutes. 
 
Yes: All 
 
MOTION PASSED 

 
3. APPROVAL OF AGENDA – No changes 
 
4. HEARING OF CASE 
 

A. VARIANCE REQUEST, MICHAEL J. BLANEK, AIA, FOR STUCKY VITALE 
ARCHITECTS, 1125 NAUGHTON – In order to construct an addition to an existing 
building, a 4 foot variance to the required 10 foot side yard setback.  Zoning 
Ordinance Section 4.15 (C). 
 
Moved by Courtney 
Seconded by Krent 
 
RESOLVED, to grant the request. 
 
Yes: All 
 
MOTION PASSED 

stewartc
Text Box
O-01a





Traffic Committee Minutes – July 17, 2013  FINAL 

Page 1 of 6 
 

A regular meeting of the Troy Traffic Committee was held Wednesday, July 17, 2013 in 
the Lower Level Conference Room at Troy City Hall.  Pete Ziegenfelder called the meeting 
to order at 7:30 p.m. 
 
1. Roll Call 
 
PRESENT:  Sarah Binkowski 
    Ted Halsey 
    Richard Kilmer 
    Al Petrulis 
    Pete Ziegenfelder 
 
ABSENT:  Stevan Popovic     
 
Also present: Mary Lynn & Adam M. Bowen, 3888 Gatwick Drive 
    William & Gail Wilde, 2412 Wembley 
    Don Wanner, Wanner Prop., LLC, PO Box 81212, Rochester, MI 48308 
    Bill Huotari, Deputy City Engineer/Traffic Engineer 
     
2. Minutes – June 19, 2013 
 
RESOLUTION # 2013-07-10 
  
Moved by Halsey  
Seconded by Kilmer 
 
To approve the June 19, 2013 minutes as printed. 
 
YES:   All-5 
NO:   None 
ABSENT:  Popovic 
MOTION CARRIED 

 
REGULAR BUSINESS 
 
3.  Request for Sidewalk Waiver on John R Road abutting the property located in 

the John Arbor Subdivsion (Parcel # 88-20-01-112-014) 
 
Item #3 and #4 were addressed at the same time by the petitioner and the Committee. 
 
Donald Wanner spoke at the meeting and reiterated his request for a waiver of the 
sidewalk required on John R Road abutting the property located in the John Arbor 
Subdivision (Parcel #88-20-01-112-014). 
 
Petitioner stated that while the sidewalk can be installed with the building of the homes, 
the road construction on John R may damage, require removal or even change grade in 

stewartc
Text Box
O-01b



Traffic Committee Minutes – July 17, 2013  FINAL 

Page 2 of 6 
 

final grading”.   
 
Mr. Wanner, as the builder, is requesting that the sidewalk be waived and he will provide 
the city a check in the amount of $5,308.00 for the future construction of the sidewalk.  
These funds would be transferred to the Capital Fund and applied to the future widening 
and reconstruction project. 
 
The John R widening and reconstruction project is anticipated to begin in the winter of 
2015/16 and will construct a new 5-lane road with eight (8) foot wide sidewalks between 
Square Lake and South Boulevard. 
 
Mr. Ziegenfelder reiterated his support for sidewalks at all locations in the City. 
 
Mr. Kilmer asked about the John R schedule and funding.  The projects are currently in 
final design and it is still undecided if both projects will be bid and constructed as one large 
construction project or if they will be built one mile at a time starting in the winter of 2015.  
Funding is approved for John R, Long Lake to Square Lake in 2015 and for John R, 
Square Lake to South Boulevard in 2016. 
 
Mr. Halsey discussed the cash in escrow to be deposited by the builder.  The builder will 
deposit $5,308.00 with the City and these funds will be transferred to the Capital fund to 
offset the cost of the sidewalk when built with the road project. 
 
Ms. Binkowski asked about utility relocations.  There will be significant utility relocations as 
part of the road reconstruction and proposed locations have not been identified by the 
individual utility companies at this time. 
 
General discussion of the sidewalk waiver process followed. 
 
There were no other members of the public that made comments.   
 
RESOLUTION # 2013-07-11 
  
Moved by Halsey  
Seconded by Kilmer 
 
WHEREAS, City of Troy Ordinances, Chapter 34 allows the Traffic Committee to grant 
waivers of the City of Troy Design Standards for Sidewalks upon a demonstration of 
necessity; and 
 
WHEREAS, Donald Wanner has requested a waiver of the requirement to construct 
sidewalk due to the future John R widening project; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Traffic Committee has determined the following: 
 

a. A waiver will not impair the public health, safety or general welfare of 



Traffic Committee Minutes – July 17, 2013  FINAL 

Page 3 of 6 
 

the inhabitants of the City and will not unreasonably diminish or 
impair established property values within the surrounding area, and 

 
b. A strict application of the requirements to construct a sidewalk would 

result in practical difficulties to, or undue hardship upon, the owners, 
and 

 
c. The construction of a new sidewalk would lead nowhere and connect 

to no other walk, and thus will not serve the purpose of a pedestrian 
travel-way. 

 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Traffic Committee grants a waiver of 
the sidewalk requirement on John R Road abutting the property located in the John 
Arbor Subdivision (Parcel #88-20-01-112-014), contingent upon the submittal of cash 
or a check in the amount of $5,308.00 by the applicant. 

 
YES:   All-5 
NO:   None 
ABSENT:  Popovic 
MOTION CARRIED 
 
4.  Request for Sidewalk Waiver on John R Road abutting the property located in 

the John Arbor Subdivsion (Parcel # 88-20-01-112-016) 
 
Item #3 and #4 were addressed at the same time by the petitioner and the Committee. 
 
Donald Wanner spoke at the meeting and reiterated his request for a waiver of the 
sidewalk required on John R Road abutting the property located in the John Arbor 
Subdivision (Parcel #88-20-01-112-016). 
 
Petitioner stated that while the sidewalk can be installed with the building of the homes, 
the road construction on John R may damage, require removal or even change grade in 
final grading”.   
 
Mr. Wanner, as the builder, is requesting that the sidewalk be waived and he will provide 
the city a check in the amount of $5,308.00 for the future construction of the sidewalk.  
These funds would be transferred to the Capital Fund and applied to the future widening 
and reconstruction project. 
 
The John R widening and reconstruction project is anticipated to begin in the winter of 
2015/16 and will construct a new 5-lane road with eight (8) foot wide sidewalks between 
Square Lake and South Boulevard. 
 
Mr. Ziegenfelder reiterated his support for sidewalks at all locations in the City. 
 
Mr. Kilmer asked about the John R schedule and funding.  The projects are currently in 



Traffic Committee Minutes – July 17, 2013  FINAL 

Page 4 of 6 
 

final design and it is still undecided if both projects will be bid and constructed as one large 
construction project or if they will be built one mile at a time starting in the winter of 2015.  
Funding is approved for John R, Long Lake to Square Lake in 2015 and for John R, 
Square Lake to South Boulevard in 2016. 
 
Mr. Halsey discussed the cash in escrow to be deposited by the builder.  The builder will 
deposit $5,308.00 with the City and these funds will be transferred to the Capital fund to 
offset the cost of the sidewalk when built with the road project. 
 
Ms. Binkowski asked about utility relocations.  There will be significant utility relocations as 
part of the road reconstruction and proposed locations have not been identified by the 
individual utility companies at this time. 
 
General discussion of the sidewalk waiver process followed. 
 
There were no other members of the public that made comments.   
 
RESOLUTION # 2013-07-12 
  
Moved by Halsey  
Seconded by Kilmer 
 
WHEREAS, City of Troy Ordinances, Chapter 34 allows the Traffic Committee to grant 
waivers of the City of Troy Design Standards for Sidewalks upon a demonstration of 
necessity; and 
 
WHEREAS, Donald Wanner has requested a waiver of the requirement to construct 
sidewalk due to the future John R widening project; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Traffic Committee has determined the following: 
 

a. A waiver will not impair the public health, safety or general welfare of 
the inhabitants of the City and will not unreasonably diminish or 
impair established property values within the surrounding area, and 

 
b. A strict application of the requirements to construct a sidewalk would 

result in practical difficulties to, or undue hardship upon, the owners, 
and 

 
c. The construction of a new sidewalk would lead nowhere and connect 

to no other walk, and thus will not serve the purpose of a pedestrian 
travel-way. 

 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Traffic Committee grants a waiver of 
the sidewalk requirement on John R Road abutting the property located in the John 
Arbor Subdivision (Parcel #88-20-01-112-016), contingent upon the submittal of cash 



Traffic Committee Minutes – July 17, 2013  FINAL 

Page 5 of 6 
 

or a check in the amount of $5,308.00 by the applicant. 
 
YES:   All-5 
NO:   None 
ABSENT:  Popovic 
MOTION CARRIED 
 
5. Request for No Parking Zone – Beach Road, east side, from the south property 

line of 2412 Wembley to the north property line of 2412 Wembley. 
 
The City of Troy Parks Division requests that a No Parking Zone be established along the 
east side of Beach Road, from the south property line of 2412 Wembley to the north 
property line of 2412 Wembley. 
 
The entrance to Schroeder Park is a natural area and not well identified for individuals who 
may not be familiar with the area.  Often cars park along the east side of Beach Road, 
blocking the entrance to the park which prevents the Parks Division from gaining access. 
 
William Wilde of 2412 Wembley spoke in opposition to the change.  Mr. Wilde has 
concerns relative to the use of the park.  Ever since the entrance to the park was created 
there has been an issue with people parking on Beach Road.  Mr. Wilde believes that 
there could be a better entrance to the park for residents as well as the City’s tree and 
grass cutting contractors.  Currently, large equipment is brought in to the park site from the 
end of the cul-de-sac adjacent to the park.  He thought that if a No Parking zone was to be 
established that the entire street should be posted as No Parking to avoid moving the 
issue further to the north or south. 
 
Mr. Kilmer has been to the site on a few occasions and asked about a red truck that parks 
in the area (it was identified as a neighbors vehicle). 
 
Mr. Petrulis stated that there are three (3) entrances to the park from Beach and asked 
why they could not be utilized.   
 
Mr. Halsey asked if DPW could work with the Troy School District to secure access from 
the school property.  Mr. Halsey also asked if the No Parking zone should be for a larger 
area. 
 
Parks Division representatives were not in attendance at the meeting.  Due to the fact that 
several questions could not be answered and the opposition from Mr. Wilde who is directly 
across from the requested No Parking Zone, the item was tabled until the September 
Traffic Committee meeting or until a staff member responsible for the park could be in 
attendance at a future Traffic Committee meeting. 
 
RESOLUTION # 2013-07-13 
 
Moved by Binkowski 



Traffic Committee Minutes – July 17, 2013  FINAL 

Page 6 of 6 
 

Seconded by Kilmer 
 
RESOLVED, that the Traffic Committee tables the item until the September 18, 2013 
meeting or until a staff member responsible for park maintenance can be in attendance. 
 
YES:   5 
NO:   None 
ABSENT: Popovic 
MOTION CARRIED 
 
5. Public Comment 
 
Mary Lynn Bowen had questions about various topics including the 7-11 at Crooks and 
Wattles and Tim Hortons on southbound Rochester, across from Torpey.  She did state 
that the traffic situation on Torpey/Boyd was much improved with the changes made last 
year.  Traffic to and from the International Academy moved efficiently with the time 
changes and modifications made by the City and school. 
 
6. Other Business 
 
Mr. Kilmer asked about the status of speed limit signs in the Rockfield area.  Subsequent 
to the meeting Traffic Engineering requested that additional speed limit signs be placed on 
Hamman, Eleanor and Rockfield.  DPW has entered a service request and the signs 
should be in place by early August. 
 
7. Adjourn 
 
The meeting adjourned at 8:10 p.m.  
 
                                          ___        
Pete Ziegenfelder, Chairperson    Bill Huotari, Recording Secretary 
 
 
G:\Traffic\aaa Traffic Committee\2013\7_July 17\Minutes_20130717_FINAL.docx 



stewartc
Text Box
O-01c



PLANNING COMMISSION REGULAR MEETING – DRAFT SEPTEMBER 10, 2013 
  
 
 

1 
 

Chair Tagle called the Regular meeting of the Troy City Planning Commission to order at 
7:00 p.m. on September 10, 2013 in the Council Chamber of the Troy City Hall. 
 
1. ROLL CALL 

 
Present: 
Donald Edmunds 
Michael W. Hutson 
Tom Krent 
Philip Sanzica 
Gordon Schepke 
Robert Schultz 
Thomas Strat 
John J. Tagle 
 
Absent: 
Edward Kempen 
 
Also Present: 
Ben Carlisle, Carlisle/Wortman Associates, Inc. 
Allan Motzny, Assistant City Attorney 
Frank Boudon, Student Representative 
Kathy L. Czarnecki, Recording Secretary 
 

2. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 
Resolution # PC-2013-09-069 
Moved by: Schultz 
Seconded by: Strat 
 
RESOLVED, To approve the Agenda as prepared. 
 
Yes: All present (8) 
Absent: Kempen 
 

MOTION CARRIED 
 
3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

 
Resolution # PC-2013-09-070 
Moved by: Edmunds 
Seconded by: Krent 
 
RESOLVED, To approve the minutes of the August 27, 2013 Special/Study meeting as 
published. 
 
Yes: All present (8) 
Absent: Kempen 
 
MOTION CARRIED 

stewartc
Text Box
O-01d



PLANNING COMMISSION REGULAR MEETING – DRAFT SEPTEMBER 10, 2013 
  
 
 

2 
 

4. PUBLIC COMMENTS – Items not on the Agenda 
 
There was no one present who wished to speak. 
 
 

PRELIMINARY SITE PLAN REVIEW 
 
5. PRELIMINARY SITE PLAN REVIEW (File Number SP 979 A) – Proposed Galleria of 

Troy Phase II, North side of Big Beaver between Wilshire and I-75, Section 21, 
Currently Zoned BB (Big Beaver) District 
 
Mr. Carlisle reviewed the site plan application.  He briefly addressed site planning 
deficiencies noted in his report dated September 4, 2013.  Mr. Carlisle said of utmost 
importance is meeting the required 30 foot setback along Wilshire Drive and site 
access.  He stated the applicant must provide written documentation that Magna is in 
agreement to sharing the private drive, or an additional access point on Wilshire would 
be needed. 
 
Mr. Carlisle stated overall support of the conceptual development but recommended to 
postpone the item so the applicant can address specific site planning issues and 
architectural details to the satisfaction of the Planning Commission. 
 
James Butler of Professional Engineering Associates and Scott Bowers of Bowers & 
Associates were present to represent the applicant. 
 
Mr. Bowers presented updated elevations, circulated sample materials and displayed 
various renderings.  He addressed the enhanced architectural designs, site alternatives 
and integration between the hotel and restaurant developments. 
 
After further discussion, no action was taken on the application.  The applicant agrees 
to work with the Planning staff on the site planning issues and architectural designs and 
come back to the Planning Commission with revisions at a future date. 
 

OTHER BUSINESS 
 
6. PUBLIC COMMENTS – For Items on Current Agenda 

 
There was no one present who wished to speak. 

 
7. PLANNING COMMISSION COMMENTS 

 
There were no comments. 
 



PLANNING COMMISSION REGULAR MEETING – DRAFT SEPTEMBER 10, 2013 
  
 
 

3 
 

 
The Regular meeting of the Planning Commission adjourned at 7:52 p.m. 
 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
 
       
John J. Tagle, Chair 
 
 
 
 
       
Kathy L. Czarnecki, Recording Secretary 
 
 
G:\Planning Commission Minutes\2013 PC Minutes\Draft\2013 09 10 Regular Meeting_Draft.doc 



PLANNING COMMISSION REGULAR MEETING – FINAL SEPTEMBER 10, 2013 
  
 
 

1 
 

Chair Tagle called the Regular meeting of the Troy City Planning Commission to order at 
7:00 p.m. on September 10, 2013 in the Council Chamber of the Troy City Hall. 
 
1. ROLL CALL 

 
Present: 
Donald Edmunds 
Michael W. Hutson 
Tom Krent 
Philip Sanzica 
Gordon Schepke 
Robert Schultz 
Thomas Strat 
John J. Tagle 
 
Absent: 
Edward Kempen 
 
Also Present: 
Ben Carlisle, Carlisle/Wortman Associates, Inc. 
Allan Motzny, Assistant City Attorney 
Frank Boudon, Student Representative 
Kathy L. Czarnecki, Recording Secretary 
 

2. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 
Resolution # PC-2013-09-069 
Moved by: Schultz 
Seconded by: Strat 
 
RESOLVED, To approve the Agenda as prepared. 
 
Yes: All present (8) 
Absent: Kempen 
 

MOTION CARRIED 
 
3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

 
Resolution # PC-2013-09-070 
Moved by: Edmunds 
Seconded by: Krent 
 
RESOLVED, To approve the minutes of the August 27, 2013 Special/Study meeting as 
published. 
 
Yes: All present (8) 
Absent: Kempen 
 
MOTION CARRIED 

stewartc
Text Box
O-01e



PLANNING COMMISSION REGULAR MEETING – FINAL SEPTEMBER 10, 2013 
  
 
 

2 
 

4. PUBLIC COMMENTS – Items not on the Agenda 
 
There was no one present who wished to speak. 
 
 

PRELIMINARY SITE PLAN REVIEW 
 
5. PRELIMINARY SITE PLAN REVIEW (File Number SP 979 A) – Proposed Galleria of 

Troy Phase II, North side of Big Beaver between Wilshire and I-75, Section 21, 
Currently Zoned BB (Big Beaver) District 
 
Mr. Carlisle reviewed the site plan application.  He briefly addressed site planning 
deficiencies noted in his report dated September 4, 2013.  Mr. Carlisle said of utmost 
importance is meeting the required 30 foot setback along Wilshire Drive and site 
access.  He stated the applicant must provide written documentation that Magna is in 
agreement to sharing the private drive, or an additional access point on Wilshire would 
be needed. 
 
Mr. Carlisle stated overall support of the conceptual development but recommended to 
postpone the item so the applicant can address specific site planning issues and 
architectural details to the satisfaction of the Planning Commission. 
 
James Butler of Professional Engineering Associates and Scott Bowers of Bowers & 
Associates were present to represent the applicant. 
 
Mr. Bowers presented updated elevations, circulated sample materials and displayed 
various renderings.  He addressed the enhanced architectural designs, site alternatives 
and integration between the hotel and restaurant developments. 
 
After further discussion, no action was taken on the application.  The applicant agrees 
to work with the Planning staff on the site planning issues and architectural designs and 
come back to the Planning Commission with revisions at a future date. 
 

OTHER BUSINESS 
 
6. PUBLIC COMMENTS – For Items on Current Agenda 

 
There was no one present who wished to speak. 

 
7. PLANNING COMMISSION COMMENTS 

 
There were no comments. 
 





ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS MEETING   DRAFT SEPTEMBER 17, 2013 

1 

On September 17, 2013, at 7:30 p.m., in the Council Chambers of Troy City Hall, Chair Kneale 
called the Zoning Board of Appeals meeting to order. 
 
1. ROLL CALL 

 
Present: 
Allen Kneale 
Bruce Bloomingdale 
Kenneth Courtney 
David Eisenbacher 
Thomas Krent 
David Lambert 
Paul McCown 
 
Absent 
Glenn Clark 
 
Also Present: 
Paul Evans, Zoning and Compliance Specialist 
Julie Quinlan Dufrane, Assistant City Attorney 
 

2. APPROVAL OF MINUTES – July 16, 2013 
 
Moved by Courtney 
Seconded by Eisenbacher 
 
RESOLVED, to approve the July 16, 2013 meeting minutes. 
 
Yes: All 
 
MOTION PASSED 

 
3. APPROVAL OF AGENDA – No changes 
 
4. HEARING OF CASES 
 

A. Variance request, Kenneth and Rosemary Lugar, 3144 Upton – In order to 
construct an addition to the house, a 6 foot variance from the required 10 foot 
side yard setback, Zoning Ordinance Section 4.06 (C) R-1B Zoning District 
 
Moved by Courtney 
Seconded by Bloomingdale 
 
RESOLVED, to grant the request. 
 
Yes: All 
 
MOTION PASSED 

stewartc
Text Box
O-01f



ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS MEETING   DRAFT SEPTEMBER 17, 2013 

2 

B. Variance request, Paul R. and Linda R. Ford, 2726 Williams - In order to 
construct a new shed on an existing foundation, a 1 foot variance from the 
requirement that detached accessory buildings are no closer than 6 feet to a side 
lot line.  The shed is proposed to be set back 5 feet from the side lot line.  Zoning 
Ordinance Section 7.03 (B) (2) (d) 
 
Moved by Krent 
Seconded by Eisenbacher 
 
RESOLVED, to grant the request. 
 
Yes: All 
 
MOTION PASSED 

 
5. COMMUNICATIONS – None 
 
6. MISCELLANEOUS BUSINESS – None 
 
7. PUBLIC COMMENT – None 
 
8. ADJOURNMENT – The Zoning Board of Appeals meeting ADJOURNED at 7:57 p.m. 
 
 
 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
 
      _____ 
Allen Kneale, Chair 
 
 
 
 
      _____ 
Paul Evans, Zoning and Compliance Specialist 
 
 
G:\ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS\Minutes\2013\Draft\2013 09 17  ZBA Minutes Draft.doc 
 



ELECTION COMMISSION MINUTES – Draft September 26, 2013 
 
A meeting of the Troy Election Commission was held September 26, 2013, at City Hall, 
500 W. Big Beaver Road. City Clerk Bittner called the Meeting to order at 8:00 AM. 

Roll Call:  
 
PRESENT: David C. Anderson, M. Aileen Bittner – City Clerk, Timothy Dewan 

Approval of Minutes  
 
Resolution #EC-2013-09-008 
Moved by Dewan 
Seconded by Anderson 
 
RESOLVED, That the following Minutes are APPROVED as submitted: 
 
Election Commission Meeting – September 9, 2013 
 
Yes:  Anderson, Bittner, Dewan 
No:  None 
 
MOTION CARRIED 

Approval of Election Inspector Assignments – November 5, 2013 General Election 
 
Resolution # EC-2013-09-009 
Motion by Anderson 
Seconded by Dewan 
 
RESOLVED, That Election Inspectors be APPOINTED for the November 5, 2013 
General Election, as presented by the City Clerk. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, That the City Clerk is hereby AUTHORIZED to make 
emergency appointments of Election Inspectors as needed. 
 
Yes: Bittner, Dewan, Anderson 
No: None 
  
MOTION CARRIED 

Adjournment:  
 
The meeting was adjourned at 8:02 AM. 
 
 
 

M. Aileen Bittner, CMC 
City Clerk 

 

stewartc
Text Box
O-01g



stewartc
Text Box
O-05




	20131007 Agenda.pdf
	INVOCATION:  Pastor Stephen Husava from Northfield Hills Baptist Church
	PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE:
	A. CALL TO ORDER:
	B. ROLL CALL:
	C. CERTIFICATES OF RECOGNITION AND SPECIAL PRESENTATIONS:
	C-1 Troy Community Coalition Executive Director Nancy Morrison Will Present Information on the Troy Community Coalition’s Upcoming Programs (Introduced by:  Cindy Stewart, Community Affairs Director)
	C-2 2013 MPERLA Award Recognizing Peggy Sears (Introduced by:  Mayor Dane Slater)
	C-3 2013 Distinguished Citizen Proclamation Recognizing Cindy Stewart, Community Affairs Director (Introduced by:  Mayor Dane Slater)
	C-4 Troy Historical Society will Present Their 2013 Strategic Plan for the Troy Historical Village (Presented by:  Loraine Campbell and David Zuza)
	C-5 Transit Center Status Report – October 2013 (Introduced by:  Steve Vandette, City Engineer)

	D. CARRYOVER ITEMS:
	D-1 No Carryover Items

	E. PUBLIC HEARINGS:
	E-1 Adoption of Brownfield Redevelopment Plan #6 for MJR Troy Grand – 100 E. Maple Road

	F. PUBLIC COMMENT FOR ITEMS ON THE AGENDA:
	G. CITY COUNCIL/CITY ADMINISTRATION RESPONSE/REPLY TO PUBLIC COMMENT:
	H. POSTPONED ITEMS:
	H-1 No Postponed Items

	I.  REGULAR BUSINESS:
	I-1 Board and Committee Appointments: a) Mayoral Appointments – Downtown Development Authority; b) City Council Appointments – None
	I-2 Board and Committee Nominations: a) Mayoral Nominations – Downtown Development Authority; b) City Council Nominations –Parks and Recreation Board
	I-3 Request for Closed Session
	I-4 Request for Joint City Council/Planning Commission Meeting - November 26, 2013

	J.  CONSENT AGENDA:
	J-1a Approval of “J” Items NOT Removed for Discussion
	J-1b  Address of “J” Items Removed for Discussion by City Council
	J-2  Approval of City Council Minutes
	a) City Council Meeting Minutes-Draft – September 23, 2013

	J-3 Proposed City of Troy Proclamations:
	a) 2013 Distinguished Citizen Proclamation Recognizing Cindy Stewart, Community Affairs Director

	J-4 Standard Purchasing Resolutions:
	a) Standard Purchasing Resolution 1:  Award to Low Bidder – Electrical Services at City Hall

	J-5 Fireworks Permit – Macy’s at Oakland Mall
	J-6 Traffic Committee Recommendations and Minutes – September 18, 2013
	J-7 Private Agreement – Contract for Installation of Municipal Improvements – Adria Estates Site Condominium – Project No. 13.914.3

	K. MEMORANDUMS AND FUTURE COUNCIL AGENDA ITEMS:
	K-1 Announcement of Public Hearings:  None Submitted
	K-2 Memorandums (Items submitted to City Council that may require consideration at  some future point in time):  None Submitted

	L. PUBLIC COMMENT FOR ITEMS NOT ON THE AGENDA:
	M. COUNCIL REFERRALS:
	M-1  No Council Referrals Advanced

	N. COUNCIL COMMENTS:
	N-1  No Council Comments Advanced

	O. REPORTS:
	O-1 Minutes – Boards and Committees:
	a) Zoning Board of Appeals-Final – July 16, 2013
	b) Traffic Committee-Final – July 17, 2013
	c) Election Commission-Final – September 9, 2013
	d) Planning Commission-Draft – September 10, 2013
	e) Planning Commission-Final – September 10, 2013
	f) Zoning Board of Appeals-Draft – September 17, 2013
	g) Election Commission-Draft – September 26, 2013

	O-2 Department Reports:
	a) Transit Center Status Report – October 2013

	O-3 Letters of Appreciation:  None Submitted
	O-4 Proposed Proclamations/Resolutions from Other Organizations:  None Submitted
	O-5 Notice of Hearing for the Electric Customers of DTE Electric Company Case No. U-17322

	P. STUDY ITEMS:
	P-1  No Study Items

	Q. CLOSED SESSION:
	Q-1 Closed Session

	R. ADJOURNMENT:
	Monday, October 21, 2013 Regular Meeting
	Monday, November 11, 2013 Regular Meeting
	Monday, November 25, 2013 Regular Meeting
	Monday, December 2, 2013 Regular Meeting
	Monday, December 16, 2013 Regular Meeting

	Attachments
	20131007 Agenda - C-01  Troy Community Coalition Upcoming Programs.pdf
	20131007 Agenda - C-03  2013 Distinguished Citizen Proclamation Recognizing Cindy Stewart, Community Affairs Director
	20131007 Agenda - C-04  Troy Historical Society 2013 Strategic Plan for the Troy Historical Village
	20131007 Agenda - C-05 Transit Center Status Report - October 2013
	ADP29D5.tmp
	Request No. 16

	Transit Center-MDOT Reimb Requests16.pdf
	Request No. 16

	Transit Center-MDOT Reimb Requests16.pdf
	Request No. 16


	20131007 Agenda - E-01 Adoption of Brownfield Redevelopment Plan #6 for MJR Troy Grand - 100 E Maple
	5  08.27.13 Draft BRA Minutes.pdf
	OLD BUSINESS


	20131007 Agenda - I-04  Joint City Council Planning Commission Meeting - November 26, 2013
	20131007 Agenda - J-02a  City Council Minutes-Draft - September 23, 2013
	A. CALL TO ORDER:
	B. ROLL CALL:
	C. CERTIFICATES OF RECOGNITION AND SPECIAL PRESENTATIONS:
	C-1 On Behalf of the City of Troy Employees’ for a Cause Program for the Months of May and June 2013, Community Affairs Director Cindy Stewart will Present a Check in the Amount of $792 to Janice Morgan, Judson Center Autism Connection (Introduced by:...

	D. CARRYOVER ITEMS:
	D-1 No Carryover Items

	E. PUBLIC HEARINGS:
	E-1 Adoption of Brownfield Redevelopment Plan #6 for MJR Troy Grand – 100 E. Maple Road

	F. PUBLIC COMMENT FOR ITEMS ON THE AGENDA:  None
	G. CITY COUNCIL/CITY ADMINISTRATION RESPONSE/REPLY TO PUBLIC COMMENT:
	H. POSTPONED ITEMS:
	H-1 No Postponed Items

	I.  REGULAR BUSINESS:
	I-1 Board and Committee Appointments: a) Mayoral Appointments – None; b) City Council Appointments – None
	I-2 Board and Committee Nominations: a) Mayoral Nominations – Downtown Development Authority; b) City Council Nominations –Parks and Recreation Board
	I-3 Request for Closed Session
	I-4 Liquor License Application from Simbad, Inc. Regarding Transfer of All Stock Interest
	I-5 Request for Waiver of Bid for Purchase of Fire Apparatus

	J.  CONSENT AGENDA:
	J-1a Approval of “J” Items NOT Removed for Discussion
	J-1b  Address of “J” Items Removed for Discussion by City Council
	J-2  Approval of City Council Minutes
	a) City Council Meeting Minutes-Draft – September 9, 2013

	J-3 Proposed City of Troy Proclamations:  None Submitted
	J-4 Standard Purchasing Resolutions:
	a) Standard Purchasing Resolution #1:  Award to Low Bidder – Troywood Paving S.A.D.
	b) Standard Purchasing Resolution 2:  Award to Low Bidder Meeting Specifications – LED Tri-Pod Lighting

	J-5 Mark R. Morin v City of Troy
	J-6 Municipal Credit and Community Credit Agreement
	J-7 Correction of Standard Purchasing Resolution #4 of June 17, 2013 – Special Assessment Roll No. 12.201.1

	K. MEMORANDUMS AND FUTURE COUNCIL AGENDA ITEMS:
	K-1 Announcement of Public Hearings:  None Submitted
	K-2 Memorandums (Items submitted to City Council that may require consideration at  some future point in time):  None Submitted

	L. PUBLIC COMMENT FOR ITEMS NOT ON THE AGENDA:
	M. COUNCIL REFERRALS:
	M-1  No Council Referrals Advanced

	N. COUNCIL COMMENTS:
	N-1  No Council Comments Advanced

	O. REPORTS:
	O-1 Minutes – Boards and Committees:
	a) Liquor Advisory Committee-Final – September 10, 2012
	b) Election Commission-Final – March 28, 2013
	c) Building Code Board of Appeals-Final – July 10, 2013
	d) Zoning Board of Appeals-Draft – July 16, 2013
	e) Planning Commission Special/Study-Final – August 27, 2013
	f) Planning Commission Special/Study-Draft – August 27, 2013
	g) Building Code Board of Appeals-Draft – September 4, 2013
	h) Election Commission-Draft – September 9, 2013
	i) Liquor Advisory Committee-Draft – September 9, 2013

	O-2 Department Reports:  None Submitted
	a) City of Troy Employee Retirement System Actuarial Valuation Report Dated December 31, 2012
	b) Standard & Poor’s AAA Bond Rating Report for the City of Troy
	c) Citizen Comment Concerning the Assessor Using Less Than the CPI Increase in Taxable Value, in Order to Reduce City Revenues
	d) Building Department Activity Report – August, 2013

	O-3 Letters of Appreciation:
	a) To Brian Kischnick from Irv Wengrow Regarding City Response to Storm Damage from September 11, 2013

	O-4 Proposed Proclamations/Resolutions from Other Organizations: None Submitted

	P. STUDY ITEMS:
	P-1  No Study Items

	Q. CLOSED SESSION:
	Q-1 Closed Session

	R. ADJOURNMENT:

	20131007 Agenda - J-04a  SPR1 Award to Low Bidder - Electrical Services at City Hall
	ITB-COT 13-15 Electrical Services Bid Tab.pdf
	Sheet1
	Sheet2


	20131007 Agenda - J-05  Fireworks Permit - Macy's at Oakland Mall
	20131007 Agenda - J-06  Traffic Committee Recommendations and Minutes - September 18 2013
	20131007 Agenda - J-07  Private Agreement - Contract for Municipal Improvements - Adria Estates Site Condominium - Project No 13 914 3
	20131007 Agenda - O-01a  Zoning Board of Appeals-Final - July 16, 2013
	20131007 Agenda - O-01b  Traffic Committee-Final - July 17, 2013
	20131007 Agenda - O-01c  Election Commission-Final - September 9, 2013
	20131007 Agenda - O-01d  Planning Commission-Draft - September 10, 2013
	20131007 Agenda - O-01e  Planning Commission-Final - September 10, 2013
	20131007 Agenda - O-01f  Zoning Board of Appeals-Draft - September 17, 2013
	20131007 Agenda - O-01g  Election Commission-Draft - September 26, 2013
	Roll Call:
	Approval of Minutes
	Approval of Election Inspector Assignments – November 5, 2013 General Election
	Adjournment:

	20131007 Agenda - O-05  Notice of Hearing for the Electric Customers of  DTE - Case No U-17322




